CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

) 8

Notice of a meeting of
Cabinet

Tuesday, 11 February 2020
6.00 pm
Pittville Room - Municipal Offices

Membership

Councillors:

Steve Jordan, Flo Clucas, Chris Coleman, Rowena Hay,
Alex Hegenbarth, Peter Jeffries and Andrew McKinlay

Agenda

SECTION 1 : PROCEDURAL MATTERS

APOLOGIES

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
Minutes of the last meeting on 21* January 2020.

(Pages
3-10)

PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS
These must be received no later than 12 noon on the fourth
working day before the date of the meeting

SECTION 2 :THE COUNCIL
There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by the Council
on this occasion

SECTION 3 : OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on this occasion

SECTION 4 : OTHER COMMITTEES
There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by other
Committees on this occasion

SECTION 5 : REPORTS FROM CABINET MEMBERS
AND/OR OFFICERS

REALLOCATION OF FUNDS TO SUPPORT HIGH
STREET IMPROVEMENT PHASE 2
Report of the Cabinet Member Finance

(Pages
11 - 16)




6. PROPOSED COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACTION TO (Pages
SUPPORT DELIVERY OF THE PROPOSED WEST 17 - 30)
CHELTENHAM DEVELOPMENT SCHEME
Report of the Leader of the Council
7. ADOPTION OF REVISED SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT (Pages
VENUE POLICY 31-90)
Report of the Cabinet Member Development and Safety
8. ADOPTION OF REVISED STREET TRADING POLICY (Pages
Report of the Cabinet Member Development and Safety 91 -
128)
9. REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 | (Pages
DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE AND COVERT HUMAN 129 -
INTELLIGENCE SOURCE POLICY/INVESTIGATORY 180)
POWERS ACT 2016 ACQUISITION OF
COMMUNICATIONS DATA POLICY
Report of the Cabinet Member Corporate Services
10. APPROVAL TO CONSULT ON REVISED HOMESEEKER | (Pages
PLUS POLICY 181 -
Report of the Cabinet Member Housing 256)
1. QUARTERLY BUDGET MONITORING REPORT (Pages
OCTOBER 2019 - DECEMBER 2020 257 -
Report of the Cabinet Member Finance 272)
12. FINAL GENERAL FUND REVENUE AND CAPITAL
BUDGET PROPOSALS 2021
Report of the Cabinet Member Finance to follow
13. FINAL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) 2021 -
REVISED BUDGET 2020
Report of the Cabinet Member Finance to follow
SECTION 6 : BRIEFING SESSION
e Leader and Cabinet Members
14. BRIEFING FROM CABINET MEMBERS

SECTION 7 : DECISIONS OF CABINET MEMBERS
Member decisions taken since the last Cabinet meeting

SECTION 8 : ANY OTHER ITEM(S) THAT THE LEADER
DETERMINES TO BE URGENT AND REQUIRES A
DECISION

Contact Officer: Bev Thomas, Democratic Services Team Leader, 01242 264246

Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk



mailto:democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk

Agenda Iltem 3
Page 3

Cabinet

Tuesday, 21st January, 2020
6.00 -6.40 pm

Attendees

Councillors: Steve Jordan (Leader of the Council), Chris Coleman (Cabinet
Member Clean and Green Environment), Rowena Hay (Cabinet
Member Finance), Peter Jeffries (Cabinet Member Housing) and
Andrew McKinlay (Cabinet Member Development and Safety)

Minutes

1. APOLOGIES
Apologies were received from Councillors Clucas and Hegenbarth.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none.

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
The minutes of the meeting on 17" December 2019 were approved and signed

as a correct record.

4, PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS
Public questions

1. | Question from Tabitha Joy to the Cabinet Member Development and
Safety, Councillor Andrew McKinlay

The most recent data shows that town centre pollution, and traffic
volumes, are either actually increasing or staying the same. Does the
council therefore accept that the AQAP has been ineffective?

Response from Cabinet Member

The current AQMA (and resultant action plan) covers the entire borough.
Taken across the whole borough, the results do suggest a slow reduction
in NO2 levels. The area highlighted has seen less improvement, although
there is no method of assessing what levels would be without the current
AQAP. The revised AQMA, to be followed by a new AQAP, will focus on
securing improvements in pollution levels in precisely this area.

Supplementary question from Tabitha Joy

Oxford City Council has achieved a 39% reduction in CO2 levels in recent
years. Why has Cheltenham failed to achieve a similar reduction?

-1-
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on. Tuesday, 11 February 2020



Page 4

Response from Cabinet Member

Oxford City Council has been able to implement radical solutions to
greatly reduce the amount of traffic in its town centre over that period.
Cheltenham Borough Council has been unable to implement similarly
radical solutions, with one example being the decision to reopen Boots
Corner, which will have a material effect on CBC’s ability to reduce CO2.

2. | Question from Peter Frings to the Cabinet Member Development and
Safety, Councillor Andrew McKinlay

Is the council aware that a recent dispersion modelling study by another
consultancy firm, (Air Quality Consultants, hired by GCC, regarding the
proposed Leckhampton School) challenges the results given in the
Bureau Veritas report? Given that this highlights how unreliable the
modelling process used by both consultants is, how can the council base
such a major decision on such dubious methodology?

Response from Cabinet Member

There is a degree of uncertainty in all models. The detailed model
prepared by Bureau Veritas used data from across the town, rather than
a very limited area around a proposed development, and used different
source data, so unsurprisingly their results are different.

The boundaries of the AQMA are based on modelling and monitoring
results obtained over a number of years.

Supplementary question from Peter Frings

The questioner reiterated that the Leckhampton study used the exact
same model and followed the same verification process. CBC’s figures
indicate a dubious and unreliable approach, which is contradicted by the
Leckhampton study. The model and reality do not align, with an error of
14.3%. When this adjusted figure is applied, the end result is very
different.

Response from Cabinet Member

The Cabinet Member Development and Safety acknowledged that he is
not an expert on air quality monitoring, and will pass the query on to more
specialised officers. He reminded members that different data is collected
for different reasons. The methodology used by CBC is that approved by
DEFRA. He added that the Leckhampton data is being collected for other
reasons, not least to justify the development of a school on that site,
though he acknowledged that this is speculation. The Leader of the
Council added that technical officers will be able to give a more specific
answer.

3. | Question from Peter Frings to the Cabinet Member Development and
Safety, Councillor Andrew McKinlay

The modelling by Bureau Veritas predicts NO, exceedances at 4
locations. Why is the council proposing that the new AQMA only covers

2.
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 February 2020




Page 5

one of these?

Response from Cabinet Member

In section 5.1 The Detailed Model predicts exceedance or near
exceedance of the NO2 limit at 4 locations. Monitoring is being carried
out to further define the boundaries of any areas of exceedance. Of the
locations identified, the junction of Gloucester Road/Princess Elizabeth
Way is of most concern, and where monitoring resources will be
concentrated. This approach is in accordance with the recommendations
in section 6.3. . If our monitoring indicates failures of any limits then
further AQMAs will be declared but at this stage due to the relative
uncertainty associated with models we do not feel it appropriate to
declare AQMA’s based on this model alone.

Supplementary question from Peter Frings

The Bureau Veritas report says that based on their modelling there are
four sites within the margin of error. As this data could be unreliable,
more detailed investigation should be carried out. The Cabinet Member’s
initial response states that due to the relative uncertainty of these models,
further investigation will not be carried out. However, in the report, a key
recommendation refers to the very same model. Is there a double
standard as to whether the data is reliable?

Response from Cabinet Member

The other three areas, including the Princess Elizabeth Way/Tewkesbury
Road junction, have not been significantly scrutinised before but
invariably will be due to the West Cheltenham development. Other sites,
while previously high, are now on a downward trend, partly due to phases
1-3 of Cheltenham Transport Plan. The council is focusing on the area of
most significance. The change in area has been approved by DEFRA,
and fits their criteria.

4. | Question from Adrian Becker to the Cabinet Member Development
and Safety, Councillor Andrew McKinlay

Does the Council accept that in the light of the government's Clean Air
Strategy (May 2019), it must include a monitoring programme and action
plan for tackling PM, 5 particulate pollution in its proposed new AQAP?

Response from Cabinet Member

Monitoring of PM, 5 is being introduced from January 2020 at 9 locations
across the town. Results from this monitoring will be used to inform future
actions, which will be included in a new AQAP, and could include
declaration of further AQMAs.

Supplementary question from Adrian Becker

Can the locations of the council’s particulate monitoring be recorded in

-3-
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 February 2020




Page 6

the supplementary answer? Will the council consider introducing low-cost
particulate monitoring? This could be rolled out to many more locations
than the current nine, while engaging the help of parish councils and
residents’ groups.

Response from Cabinet Member

The nine locations for particulate monitoring are recorded in Appendix B
of the report. A further 27 locations using NOx tubes are also recorded in
the same place.

5. | Question from Adrian Becker to the Cabinet Member Development
and Safety, Councillor Andrew McKinlay

Initial evidence from monitoring of PM, 5 particulate pollution by
Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council shows that air quality in
Leckhampton is in breach of the WHO guidelines that the DEFRA Clean
Air Strategy is committed to achieving. Does the council therefore accept
that it makes no sense to restrict the AQMA just to a tiny area of the town
centre?

Response from Cabinet Member

The boundaries of the revised AQMA are based on data obtained over a
number of years from monitoring NO2 across the town. The AQMA is
focussed on dealing with the area of worst air pollution in the Borough.
This approach has received the approval of DEFRA. Monitoring of PM, 5
is being introduced from January 2020 and will be used to inform future
actions.

Supplementary question from Adrian Becker

At a time of increasing concern about particulate pollution, can the council
give any examples of other councils which have AQMAs of only a few
hundred yards?

Response from Cabinet Member

Before 2011, CBC’'s AQMA was much smaller, and was deliberately
expanded after 2011. The reduction in size recommended in this report
was approved by DEFRA.

Member questions

1. | Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Clean & Green
Environment, Councillor Chris Coleman

Q) The Clean Air Act gives the council powers to designate Smoke Control Areas. The
council’s online mapping suggests that only some parts of the town are covered. Given

-4 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 February 2020




Page 7

issues around polution (in this case PM10 and PM2.5 as well as climate change) can the
council consider whether it would be beneficial for all of the urban and proposed urban
extention parts of the town to be subject to these controls?

Response from Cabinet Member Clean & Green Environment

The government has consulted on repealing the Clean Air Act, as part of a wider review of
AQ powers. A final decision has not been made. The Act makes it an offence to emit
smoke from a chimney of residential premises, unless using an approved fuel or appliance.
To take any formal action you have to see the smoke and know what fuel is being burnt,
and on what appliance. There may be other controls that can be applied to new
developments through the planning process that are more appropriate.

Supplementary question

The current system of smoke control zones is clearly incomplete, with examples including
particular roads where one side is controlled while the other is not. Should the council not
take the smoke control system further, considering its declaration of a climate emergency?

Response from Cabinet Member

The Cabinet Member indicated a willingness to take this further, and offered to discuss it
with officers.

Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Clean & Green
Environment, Councillor Chris Coleman

Q) I am concerned about the following two locations: B4633 Gloucester Road outside
Gloucester Road Primary School and Alstone Lane close to level crossing. If there are
monitoring resources, getting a year’s worth of data would seem worthwhile. As far as |
can establish from the council’s Air Quality mapping data, those two locations in St Peter’s
ward have not had any monitoring in the period 2013-2018. The reason for my concerns
are details below for each location:

There is frequently queuing traffic heading westbound on Gloucester Road outside
Gloucester Road Primary School. These traffic queues feed directly into the proposed
shrunken AQMA.. | understand that studies have shown that air pollution has a worse
effect on children, so prior to the AQMA being shrunk, could | please request that
consideration is given to having air quality monitoring equipment installed outside
Gloucester Road Primary School?

Response from Cabinet Member Clean & Green Environment

There will be monitoring outside Gloucester Road School, starting in early 2020 We will
have a NOx tube there from the first changeover of 2020 We will have a Mesh pod
installed as soon as they are back from being serviced, updated, and calibrated.

Supplementary question

-5-

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 February 2020




Page 8

As a ward councillor, | see huge queues outside Gloucester Road Primary School. | am
keen to ensure that we don’t just monitor NOx but also particulates. CBC is responsible for
air quality, but the key contributor to pollution is highways. This is overseen by the county
council, which hasn’t shown serious commitment to combatting pollution. Can we ensure
that any strategy considers primary schools as a priority when seeking to improve air
quality?

Response from Cabinet Member

The Cabinet Member noted the concerns raised and agreed to consult officers.

Question from Councillor David Willingham to Cabinet Member Clean & Green
Environment, Councillor Chris Coleman

Q) In light of the considerable traffic queues caused by long barrier down times at the level
crossing and idling diesel trains in the sidings, could | request that air quality monitoring is
established in close proximity to Alstone Lane level crossing?

Response from Cabinet Member Clean & Green Environment

Alstone Lane is not on our plan for 2020. The modelled levels from the Detailed Modelling
Assessment we commissioned last year are published here:
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/7829/detailed _modelling_assessment 2019

That shows the nearest modelled NO2 levels at the junction of Gloucester Rd / St Georges
Rd / Alstone Lane as 24.9 & 29.8 ug/m3 at St Georges Gate and The Kings Arms,
respectively. These levels are considerably below the annual limit, and levels on approach
roads to that junction (even in proximity to the level crossing) will be lower. We only have
a limited budget for equipment, which is being deployed to areas of concern where we
need more data on pollutant levels.

Supplementary question

There is a level crossing in my ward which seems to be a particularly special case. There
are signs asking people to switch off their engine, but you can physically taste diesel in the
air. This is a remarkably bad situation which CBC seems to have missed, and requires
extra attention.

Response from Cabinet Member

The Cabinet Member agreed to look further into the issue and consult officers.

REVISION TO CHELTENHAM AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREA
The Cabinet Member Development and Safety presented the report. He

acknowledged that the report had already been explored to some degree during
the public and member questions. He reported that the council declared a
borough wide AQMA in 2011, as part of the broader context of the Transport
Plan. Specific goals included ending the ring-road around the centre of
Cheltenham, which was successful. This followed all the relevant legal

-6-

Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 February 2020



https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/7829/detailed_modelling_assessment_2019

Page 9

standards, and led to a steady reduction in the town centre’s level of air
pollution.

He explained that the formally monitored area is to be reduced from the whole
town to an area on the A4019, from the Gloucester Road junction through Poole
Way to St George’s Street. This is an area of continuing exceedances that
requires extra attention. The junction of Princess Elizabeth Way and
Tewkesbury Road also requires extra care. He stressed that the report is not an
excuse to remove air quality monitoring equipment from the town, and reminded
members that more monitoring will be done in the town centre than previously.
The AQMA is being reduced in line with DEFRA regulations. Air quality
monitoring data must be used to inform future decisions.

The Leader referred to air quality issues in his ward, and said he was pleased
that pollution levels have decreased. He added that reducing the AQMA does
not mean reduced monitoring. The overall issue of air quality is a major one, but
progress so far is good.

RESOLVED THAT:

1. The existing borough-wide AQMA be revoked;

2. Anew AQMA be declared in the area identified as having the worst
air pollution levels;

3. Theredeployment of existing equipment be approved to monitor
those sites which are closest to exceeding the legal limit.

PROSECUTION OF HOUSING AND TENANCY FRAUD ON BEHALF OF
SOCIAL HOUSING PROVIDERS

In the absence of the Cabinet Member Corporate Services, the Cabinet
Member Housing presented the report.

RESOLVED THAT:

1. the contents of the report be noted;

2. the use of appropriate enforcement powers and those powers set
out in the Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013 be
endorsed;

3. the prosecution (where appropriate) of housing and tenancy fraud
offences committed in relation to properties owned by the
Authority or Social Housing providers within the Borough be
supported.

BRIEFING FROM CABINET MEMBERS

The Cabinet Member Clean and Green Environment thanked Ubico for their
work over the Christmas period, ensuring that there were very few complaints
about collections despite difficult weather conditions. He reported that a brief
suspension of brown bins has been taken on board by customers, and the
service will be restarted very shortly.

-7 -
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 February 2020



Page 10

The Leader placed on record his concerns about the planned closure of Jack
Wills on the Promenade. This follows a national trend of branches closing. He
noted that the company as a whole has been bought by one of Mike Ashley’s
companies. It is important that the Promenade remains economically buoyant,
and we have seen increased footfall in the town centre in the last six months.
There is also a branch of House of Fraser in Cavendish House — House of
Fraser having also been taken over by Mike Ashley’s companies. The Leader
reported that he has written to Mike Ashley’s company suggesting that they
work together to ensure a positive future. This aligns with the work of the
Business Improvement District, demonstrating close cooperation with
businesses.

The Cabinet Member Finance outlined her decision to award a new contract to
CIVICA for the existing Revenues and Benefits System. She noted that there
are limited applications that can be done online, which becomes an increasing
issue as the population increases. CIVICA offers 24-7 support, which will
improve customer satisfaction.

The Cabinet Member Housing outlined his decision to formally amend a bid to
Homes England. The bid previously submitted in December 2019 related to 22
affordable rented dwellings, and has now been amended to 22 social rented
dwellings. The total grant request will therefore increase from £1.05m to
£2,122,328.

The Leader outlined his decision to approve a written resolution relating to
Ubico Limited, in his position as a shareholder. The resolution refers to the new
articles of association, which revise the board composition.

Chairman

-8-
Draft minutes to be approved at the next meeting on Tuesday, 11 February 2020



Agenda Iltem 5
Page 11

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet — 11" February 2020

Reallocation of Funds to Support High Street Improvement Phase2

Accountable members

Accountable officers

Ward(s) affected

Councillor Rowena Hay, Cabinet Member Finance

Tracey Crews — Director of Planning

All

Key Decision

Yes

Executive summary

Recommendations

In the budget outturn report that was considered by Council on 22" July
2019, the Council made an “in principle” decision that £400,000 be
reallocated to the High Street fund to support delivery of phase 2 of the
Cheltenham High Street improvement plans, subject to the production of this
report.

This report outlines the current situation with regard to a portion of the
Midwinter capital receipt retained by the Council in 2012 to make provision
for additional allotments, and allotment improvements following the sale of
former allotment land at Midwinter. It summarises the current situation with
regard to allotment demand, and outlines what improvements need to be
made to existing sites in line with the Small Holdings and Allotment Act 1908
in order to reallocate the remaining funds.

1. To approve the spending of £161,402 on the allotment improvement
works identified in this report. To reallocate the remaining £400,000
towards the Cheltenham High Street phase 2 improvements.

Financial implications

The report sets out the change in capital funding that is now set out in the
budget for 2020/21. The council need to be aware that should the demand
for allotments increase in the future then we will be required to provide
adequate provision. This should be covered by the monies set aside for
allotment improvements within section 4.1 on this report.

Contact officer: Andrew Knott

Andrew.knott@publicagroup.uk, Tel: 01242 264121

$fshugp3d

Page 1 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020



mailto:Andrew.knott@publicagroup.uk

Page 12

Legal implications

The duties of the Authority regarding the use of expenditure of a capital
receipt from the sale of statutory allotment land and the duty to provide
sufficient allotments is contained in S32(7) and S23(1) of the Small
Holdings and Allotments Act 1908, a summary of which is set out in
section 2 of this report. Provided that the Authority is satisfied that it has
discharged its duties, the Authority may use the remaining capital receipt
for matters on which capital money may be spent.

Should the demand for allotments increase, the Council will be required to
provide adequate provision.

Contact officer: Donna Ruck

donna.ruck@tewkesbury.gov.uk 01684 272696

HR implications
(including learning and
organisational
development)

None

Contact officer: julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk 01242 264355

Key risks

See appendix 1 of this report.

Corporate and
community plan
Implications

Reallocation of funds will directly contribute towards the Council's Key
Priority: “Continuing the revitalisation and improvement of our vibrant town
centre and public spaces.”

Environmental and
climate change

Regeneration of the town centre will contribute towards the Council’s travel
Plan, and “Habitat Cheltenham” objectives by enhancing biodiversity and

implications creating wildlife corridors.
Property/Asset Allotment site improvement works identified in this report would be
Implications scheduled to take place in financial year 2020/2021

Contact officer: dominic.stead@cheltenham.gov.uk 01242 264151

$fshugp3d

Page 2 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020



mailto:donna.ruck@tewkesbury.gov.uk
mailto:julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk
mailto:dominic.stead@cheltenham.gov.uk

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

Page 13
Background

In 2012 the Council ring-fenced £600,000 from the proceeds of the Midwinter sale for the
provision of new allotments to meet potential future demand. Elmfield Playing Field, situated next
to Midwinter Allotment site, was identified as the location where new allotments would be created
if demand led to the need for additional allotment provision within the Borough.

The use of allotments is monitored; allotment demand has been met comfortably by proactive
management by the Green Spaces Team together with upgrading parts of the existing Midwinter
site and bringing them back into active cultivation. Monitoring demonstrates that since the
decision in 2012, the demand for allotments has not led to the need for new allotments to be
provided

In 2014 Cabinet agreed to the spending of up to £50,000 of the ring-fenced money on
improvements to the Midwinter allotment site which included the installation of compost toilets and
other site improvements. The total now stands at £561,402.

In the intervening years Elmfield Playing Field has increased in prominence as a local community
green space seeing investment through the “Big Local” to create a valuable play space, with
further projects planned in partnership with the local community. Given these circumstances it is
unlikely that either the Council or the wider community would wish to develop all or part of the
playing field as allotments in the foreseeable future. Continued monitoring will take place and a
review of alternative sites, should a demand for allotments arise is underway.

Legal Duties

The Authority is under a duty to spend the capital receipt in accordance with Section 32(7) of the
Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908 as follows:

e either by way of a sinking fund or otherwise, the debts and liabilities of the Authority in
respect of the land acquired by the Authority for allotments, or

e in acquiring, adapting, and improving other land for allotments and

e any surplus remaining may be applied for any purpose for which capital money may be
applied,

¢ the interest thereon (if any) and any money received from the letting of the land may be
applied in acquiring other land for allotments, or shall be applied in like manner as receipts
from allotments under this Act are applicable.

The Authority is under a duty under Section 23(1) of the Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908
in non-parished areas to provide a sufficient number of allotments for residents of their area. It
also lays down the rule that if six parliamentary electors resident in the borough or parish consider
there is an ill met demand for allotments, they can require the Authority to consider the matter
formally.

A Summary of Allotment Demand in Cheltenham

Allotment demand follows longer-term trends and is also subject to more immediate short-term
stimuli.

In 2005, there were 85 applications for a Cheltenham Borough Council allotment, after which
demand steadily increased, reaching a peak in 2008 with 312 applications. Demand remained
high for several years and waiting lists grew.

Over the last 10 years, the number of applications has ranged from 147 to 210, with 193
applications received in both 2017 and 2018. With these rates of application, given plot turnover
and take-up rates, the waiting lists have been slowly shrinking and by the end of 2018, there was

$fshugp3d Page 3 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020



Page 14

the prospect of several sites not having a waiting list at all. (This is a problem because the vacant
plots become overgrown with weeds and problematic for other tenants.)

3.4 In 2019, there were 252 applications. It remains to be seen if this increased application rate was a
response to a particular set of circumstances (concerns about Brexit and food supplies) or if it is
the start of a more sustained period of increased demand.

3.5  The Midwinter site is the largest of the Cheltenham Borough Council allotment sites, with over
200 plots, of which about 40 change hands each year. The waiting list is quite short (generally a
wait for a plot of 6 months or less) and stable, indicating that the number of plots available is
broadly appropriate to meet current demand in the area.

4. Proposals

4.1  Given the legal duties and demand for allotments outlined in this report, the following is proposed:

o That the sum of £161,402 is allocated to undertake improvements to existing sites; namely
path improvements at Midwinter, and modifications to water supplies at all Borough
Council sites to ensure compliance with the Water Regulations Act.

e That £400,000 is reallocated to the Cheltenham High Street fund to support delivery of
phase 2 improvement works.

5. Alternative options considered

5.1 None.

6. Consultation and feedback

6.1 Inthe budget outturn report that went to full Council on 22nd July 2019, the authority made an “in
principle” decision that £400,000 be reallocated to the High Street fund to support delivery of
phase 2, subject to the production of this report.

6.2  Full regard has been had to the council’s monitoring data on allotments; this has formed to basis
of engagement with lead Cabinet portfolio holders.

Report author Contact officer: Green Space Manager

adam.reynolds@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices 1. Risk register

Background information | None

$fshugp3d Page 4 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020


mailto:adam.reynolds@cheltenham.gov.uk

Risk Assessment Appendix 1
The risk Original risk score Managing risk
(impact x likelihood)
Risk | Risk description Risk Date raised Impact | Likeli- | Score | Control Action Deadline Responsible Transferred
ref. Owner 1-5 hood officer to risk
1-6 register
If the Council does Director of | 06/01/2020 | 3 1 3 Reduce | Cabinet approves 11/2/20 | Head of
not improve allotment | Planning allocating portion of Property and
land with the Midwinter capital Asset
proceeds of the sale receipt to undertake Management
of Midwinter then it site improvements
could be detailed in this Green Space
demonstrated that it report. Development
has not performed it's Manager
duty under the small
holdings and
allotment act 1908
If the Council does Director of | 06/01/2020 | 2 3 6 Reduce | Monitoring and 11/2/20 | Head of
not allocate Planning review of alternative Planning
alternative land for sites
allotments for future Green Space
demand then it may Development
be unable to exercise Manager
its duties for the
provision of
allottments
If the Council does Director of | 06/01/2020 | 4 4 16 Reduce | Cabinet approves 11/2/20 | Townscape
not reallocate part of | Planning reallocation of Manager
the Midwinter capital funding as outlined
receipt to an in this report.
alternative scheme
then the Council may
not be able to achieve
the desired outcome
of phase 2 of the High
Street
If the Council does Director of | 06/01/2020 | 4 1 4 Reduce | Cabinet approves 11/2/20 | Head of
not undertake Planning spending of funds Property and
$fshugp3d Page 5 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020

GT abed



modifications to its
allotment water
supplies then it may
not be complying with
the Water Regulations

report.

on allotment site
improvements as
outlined in this

Asset
Management

Green Space
Development

$fshugp3d

Act 1999 Manager
If the demand for Chief 27/01/2020 Reduce | Ongoing monitoring | ongoing | Managing
allotments increases | Accountant and active Director —
once the remainder of management of Place and
the Midwinter capital allotment sites Growth
receipt is spent, the
Council will have to
allocate the funding
from other resources.

Page 6 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020

9T abed



Agenda Iltem 6
Page 17

Cheltenham Borough Council
11" February 2020

Proposed Compulsory Purchase action to support delivery of the
proposed West Cheltenham Development Scheme

Accountable member ClIr Steve Jordan, Leader of the Council

Accountable officer Tracey Crews, Director of Planning

Ward(s) affected Hesters Way, Springbank, St Marks , St Peters

Key{S_ignificant No

Decision

Executive summary The Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS)

allocates land at West Cheltenham (Policy A7) for approximately 1,100 new
homes and approximately 45 hectares of employment land to be focussed
upon a cyber security hub. Since adoption of the JCS in December 2017
the following progress has been made in moving towards comprehensive
delivery of development;

o £22m for infrastructure support via Gfirst LEP Growth Deal 3

¢ Joint commissioning by the local planning authorities of Cheltenham
and Tewkesbury of consultants to prepare a masterplan
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for West Cheltenham
(see Cyber Central Garden Community — Draft Supplementary
Planning Document — Cabinet Paper 17" December 2019)

e Cheltenham Borough Council purchased c¢.112 acres of land within
the strategic allocation (see West Cheltenham, Property Acquisition
— Cabinet Paper 14™ May 2019)

¢ Award of Garden Communities status to West Cheltenham by
Ministry Housing Communities and Local Government (June 2019)

To ensure progress to deliver comprehensive development at West
Cheltenham, this report considers whether compulsory purchase powers
(CPO) could potentially be used, if necessary, to support delivery.

At this stage of the process, the decision to use CPO would be an "in-
principle" decision that would enable the Council to gather relevant
information, carry out surveys, investigate land ownership and prepare, if
appropriate CPO statement of reasons. Should this information gathering
lead to the view that a CPO would be necessary and in the public interest,
then this would be subject of a further report to Cabinet. It should however
be stressed that using CPO powers is very much a matter of ‘last resort’.

Based upon the policy requirement and desire for a comprehensive
development, the red outline plan (see appendix 2) covers the West
Cheltenham strategic allocation as defined in the JCS and includes the

Page 1 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020



Page 18

Recommendations

related safeguarded land at West Cheltenham. This mirrors the area
included within the Draft SPD.

It is important to note that the red outline plan contains the area allocated in
the Joint Core Strategy and the Safeguarded land which includes the
Hayden operational sewerage treatment works. It should be noted that this
works, operated by Severn Trent Water, comprises operational land of the
statutory undertaker and is afforded special protection under the Acquisition
of Land Act 1981. Section 16 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 gives
special protection to land held by statutory undertakers such as Severn
Trent Water. A CPO will not be confirmed so as to affect Severn Trent's
sewerage treatment works if it would cause serious detriment to the carrying
on of the undertaking (unless replacement land is available for the
undertaking thereby avoiding any serious detriment). The Council will
therefore need to work closely with Severn Trent to ensure there would be
no serious detriment, and would need to investigate any mitigation
measures that might be required. In addition, this land lies wholly within the
administrative area of Tewkesbury Borough.

The administrative boundary between Tewkesbury and Cheltenham
Borough Councils runs through the West Cheltenham strategic allocation
north to south. The land in Tewkesbury’s area is subject to a separate report
seeking a similar resolution. This report seeks authority only for the land
within Cheltenham’s administrative area. There has been full engagement
between the two councils in the drafting of these reports.

In view of the risk that it may not be possible to acquire all necessary land
by agreement, it is prudent for the Council to now take investigative and
preparatory steps towards making a CPO to support the comprehensive
development of the site.

This Council will work with Tewkesbury Borough Council to ensure a
coordinated approach in the use of CPO, if deemed necessary to progress.

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Agree in-principle, for the reasons set out in this report, that the
Councils may need to use compulsory purchase powers to
acquire the land shown edged red on the plan, attached at
appendix 2 of this report, in order to achieve the following:

(a) Secure the delivery of the West Cheltenham development, its
housing and job-creation objectives together with contributing
to the promotion and improvement of the economic, social and
environmental well-being of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Boroughs in line with the emerging Cyber Central Garden
Community Supplementary Planning Document,

(b) Facilitate the development of the site by assembling the land
interests within a reasonable timeframe and at a reasonable
cost.

2. Authorise the Director of Planning to undertake the investigative
and preparatory work required for the compulsory purchase
process in collaboration with Tewkesbury Borough Council.
Cabinet notes that as an outcome of this recommendation, if it is
necessary and appropriate, for one or more compulsory purchase

Page 2 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020




Page 19

orders to be made, that a further report will be brought to Cabinet
seeking approval to the making of an Order.

3. Accept that costs of up to £100,000 may be incurred. This cost is
to be split equally between the two authorities (£50,000
contribution from Tewkesbury Borough Council).

Financial implications At this stage, an in-principle decision to use CPO powers is being
requested. Costs associated with this report are estimated to be under
£100,000 (equally shared with Tewkesbury Borough Council).
Cheltenham’s portion can be met from the budget already allocated by Full
Council for the delivery of Cyber Central. In the event however of
additional allocation being required to complete this stage of the CPO
process, a further report will be brought to Cabinet.

If following conclusion of the investigatory steps referred to in this report it
is considered that one or more CPO’s are necessary to facilitate the
comprehensive development of the whole site, a further cabinet resolution
would be required.

Contact officer:

paul.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk

Page 3 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020



mailto:paul.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk

Page 20

Legal implications

The making and confirmation of a CPO would enable the Council to
compulsorily acquire third party land interests. Persons who are affected
by a compulsory purchase order are entitled to compensation to make
good the loss, calculated in accordance with the Statutory Compensation
Code.

The exercise of a confirmed CPO should be considered a matter of last
resort in the event that attempts to acquire land by agreement fail.
However, guidance issued by The Ministry of Housing Communities and
Local Government titled “Guidance on Compulsory Purchase and the
Crichel Down Rules” (July 2019) states that it may be sensible to initiate
the formal compulsory purchase procedures in parallel with such
negotiations.

The most appropriate CPO enabling legislation in this case is likely to be
Section 226(1)(a) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (TCPA 1990)
under which an Acquiring Authority has a general power to make a CPO
for the acquisition of any land in their area in order to facilitate the carrying
out of development, redevelopment or improvement in relation to the land.
In order to exercise the powers under section 226 of the TCPA 1990 the
Acquiring Authority must demonstrate that the proposed
development/improvement is likely to contribute towards any of the
following objects, namely the promotion or improvement of the economic
or social or environmental well-being of their area. As stated in the
Guidance compulsory purchase is “intended to provide a positive tool to
help Acquiring Authorities with planning powers to assemble land where
this is necessary to implement their community strategies and Local
Development documents”.

If the Council decided to make a compulsory purchase order, the order
would not take effect unless it is confirmed by the Secretary of State.
Where there are objections to a compulsory purchase order the Secretary
of State will hold an inquiry in order to consider whether there is a
compelling case in the public interest for the compulsory order. Objectors
will have the right to be heard and challenge the Council’s case. The
Council will also be able to present its case and respond to objections in
such inquiry.

In deciding whether to make a compulsory purchase order (and in deciding
whether to confirm it) the decision maker must be satisfied that the
purposes for which it makes a CPO sufficiently justify interfering with the
human rights of those with interests in the land affected. Regard must be
had to the protocols to the European Convention on Human Rights and the
Human Rights Act 1998 and the Public Sector Equality Duty. The
Inspector will independently consider the case for the CPO and report to
the Secretary of State with a recommendation. For schemes of local rather
than national importance the CPO is likely to be confirmed by the Inspector
on behalf of the Secretary of State.

Legal advice has been obtained from Trowers LLP

Page 4 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020




Page 21

HR implications
(including learning and
organisational
development)

There are no HR implications arising from the recommendations in this
report at this time. Should the CPO progress then there will be an impact
on resources within the relevant teams, in appointing and managing
external consultants.

Contact officer:

julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk

Key risks

If the Council does not act to help facilitate the release of this land then the
ambitions for the government backed Cyber Central development and
overall West Cheltenham vision have the potential to be hindered or not
achieved with negative economic and social impacts for the town and
wider region.

To mitigate the risk of a land parcel within the site not being available to
come forward for development in-line with the remainder of the strategic
allocation/safe-guarded land, it is recommended that the compulsory
purchase order process is started and at the same time negotiations
continue with all land owners as per Government guidance. It must
however be recognised that initiating later stages of the process will be a
matter of last resort in line with the Guidance.

There is a risk of judicial review and/or objection to the CPO process. The
latter may trigger a Public Inquiry with consequential implications for staff
time and resources.

Corporate and
community plan
Implications

The Cyber Central vision is a key priority of the Corporate Plan together
with delivery of Policy A7 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury
Joint Core Strategy. Land acquisition will support the achievement of key
corporate plan priorities including making Cheltenham the Cyber capital of
the UK and increasing the supply of housing to build resilient communities
together with wider community planning and delivery of the Cheltenham
Place Vision.

Environmental and
climate change
implications

West Cheltenham has been allocated for development by the Gloucester,
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy. Any emerging
developments will be considered under the context of the Joint Core
Strategy and the Cheltenham Plan which collectively form the statutory
development plan for Cheltenham. These plans, together with the national
Planning Policy framework incorporate policies that encourage sustainable
development, economic growth and promote health, wellbeing and
biodiversity.

The site has now obtained ‘Garden Communities’ status which highlights
the government support and the requirement for a comprehensive
development creating a sustainable community with attractive green
space and public realm. A Supplementary Planning Document to support
the delivery of the Cyber Central Garden Community is well advanced and
scheduled for adoption by Council April 2020.

Page 5 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020



mailto:julie.mccarthy@publicagroup.uk

Page 22

Property/Asset
Implications

There are no CBC property portfolio implications arising from the
recommendations in this report.

Contact officer:

harry.lea@cheltenham.gov.uk

Page 6 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020



mailto:harry.lea@cheltenham.gov.uk

11

1.2

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Page 23

Introduction

To ensure the comprehensive and timely development of the strategic allocation and safe-
guarded land at West Cheltenham (Cyber Central), it is necessary to initiate the compulsory
purchase order (CPO) process. This utilises the Council’s powers to acquire land necessary to
deliver the local plan and the initial step, an in-principle resolution, will start the process to
evaluate which, if any land parcels are required.

In line with the Guidance, at the same time as starting the CPO process, negotiation continues
with all landowners in the site area with the objective of acquiring any land by agreement rather
than utilise the CPO process.

Background

The Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) was adopted by the
three JCS Councils December 2017. Policy A7 formally designates land at West Cheltenham for
approximately 1,100 new homes and approximately 45 hectares of employment land to be
focussed upon a cyber security hub, high technology and other high GVA generating
development.

The safe-guarded land at West Cheltenham is being considered for development as part of the
JCS Review and was put forward as supporting documentation within the Issues and Options
consultation November 2018 — January 2019. For this reason the red line associated with this
report includes the safeguarded land identified in the JCS and the Issues and Options
consultation. The Council notes the protections afforded to the statutory undertaker under section
16 of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981.

The following progress has been made in moving towards comprehensive delivery of
development;

e Joint commissioning by the local planning authorities of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury of
consultants to prepare a masterplan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for West
Cheltenham (see Cyber Central Garden Community — Draft Supplementary Planning
Document — Cabinet Paper 17th December 2019). The preparation of this SPD is now well
advanced. Early engagement with stakeholders and local communities took place at the
end of 2019; statutory consultation began on 13" January 2020 and will continue for 5
weeks. A final SPD will be presented to Council for adoption April 2020.

e Cheltenham Borough Council purchased c.112 acres of land within the strategic allocation
(see West Cheltenham, Property Acquisition — Cabinet Paper 14th May 2019)

o Award of Garden Communities status to West Cheltenham by Ministry Housing
Communities and Local Government (June 2019). This highlights the government support
for the site and the need for a comprehensive development creating a sustainable
community with attractive green space and public realm.

e The Cyber Park concept has significant central government backing, having secured
£22m for infrastructure support via Gfirst LEP Growth Deal 3 with the Department for
Transport. This investment will deliver transport improvements to the A40 corridor
(anticipated start on site summer 2020), with improved walking and cycling linkages to the
train station.

Cyber Central has the potential to support up to 2m ft2 of development and can accommodate up
to 7,000 jobs and is the single largest employment site being developed in Gloucestershire and
has significance both for Cheltenham and the wider region. Work to date is engendering
widespread interest from commercial and academic organisations.

Page 7 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020



2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

3.1

Page 24

To ensure the comprehensive, sustainable development of West Cheltenham, it is in the interest
of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Councils that there is certainty in each of the required land
parcels coming forward for development. Although negotiations are taking place with landowners,
there is no certainty all interests will be acquired by agreement within the necessary timeframe.
Therefore to ensure that the overall timing of land availability accords with the wider plan, it is
recommended to initiate work to support the making of a compulsory purchase order (CPO).

The area of land subject of this report is that as defined within the Cyber Central Garden
Community SPD (appendix 2). It is important to note that the red outline plan contains the area
allocated in the Joint Core Strategy and the Safeguarded land which includes the Hayden
operational sewerage treatment works.

The Hayden sewerage treatment works operated by Severn Trent Water lies wholly within the
administrative area of Tewkesbury Borough. It comprises operational land of the statutory
undertaker and is afforded special protection under the Acquisition of Land Act 1981. Section 16
of the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 gives special protection to land held by statutory undertakers
such as Severn Trent Water. The Council is in close collaboration with Severn Trent Water with
an open dialogue around the opportunities and constraints of the current facility. The Council will
continue to work closely with Severn Trent Water together with Tewkesbury Borough Council. A
CPO will not be confirmed so as to affect Severn Trent's sewerage treatment works if it would
cause serious detriment to the carrying on of the undertaking (unless replacement land is
available for the undertaking thereby avoiding any serious detriment).

This report seeks authority only for the land within Cheltenham’s administrative area. Should
Cheltenham Borough Council decide to make a CPO in the future, this would only authorise the
compulsory purchase of land within the administrative area of Cheltenham Borough Council. All
land in Tewkesbury’s administrative area falling within the red outline plan is subject to a separate
report seeking a similar resolution by Tewkesbury Borough Council.

The investigative and any preparatory work that may be carried out should the Cabinet approve
this report may include the following:

¢ Investigating land ownership and preparing a schedule of land interests,

e Producing a property cost estimate (estimate market values of property within the defined
scheme) so that the costs of delivering the scheme can be assessed;

o Further developing the planning strategy for the site;
¢ Refining the precise boundaries of the land that may need to be compulsorily acquired;

o Working on a statement of reasons which would set out the full justifications for the use of
CPO;

e Preparing a draft order and statutory notices;

¢ Developing an acquisition and delivery strategy and continuing with private treaty
negotiations in conjunction with partners.

Reasons for recommendations

Work to date has highlighted that landowners have varied opinions concerning their land release
and there is therefore a risk that some land may not come forward at a reasonable cost or within a
reasonable timeframe, which has the potential to cause delays to the delivery of the strategic
allocation.

Page 8 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

4.1

4.2

5.1

52

5.3

54

Page 25

In order for the authorities to meet their policy, corporate, and place making aspirations, it is
paramount that West Cheltenham comes forward as a comprehensive, sustainable development
— therefore the ability to utilise compulsory purchase powers may be required to assemble land in
a reasonable timescales to achieve the overall vision of a comprehensive development. The
Council will continue to seek to acquire all necessary interests by agreement prior to and in
parallel with any CPO process

The recommendations of this report authorises the Council to initiate the investigative and
preparatory work to progress with a CPO. This will include obtaining access onto the land for
ground investigations and undertaking surveys, obtaining detailed and up to date information
relating to land ownership, and preparing the legal documentation that would be required in order
to make a compulsory purchase order. It is key that contractors have the ability to access land for
necessary surveys to ensure there are no delays to the development programme. Therefore the
ability to utilise CPO may be required to assemble land in a reasonable timescales.

If it is deemed necessary to make a CPO, a further report will be brought to Cabinet for approval.
This report will need to set out the necessary funding information for such a land acquisition and
will clarify whether this be by a 3rd party, Government funding support or other means.

It is considered that in light of the planning policy framework and the complex land assembly
challenges faced by the project together with the need to deliver a comprehensive development,
there are compelling justifications in the public interest to pursue a compulsory purchase order.

Alternative options considered

The alternative option is for the Council not to prepare for the use of CPO. If the Council did not
proceed with the making of a resolution in principle to CPO, it would have less control in the
development of the West Cheltenham strategic allocation and the ambition for the delivery of
Cyber Central.

Should the Council not utilise its powers it runs the risk of significant delay to the project
programme and/or budget, which could ultimately frustrate the comprehensive development of the
site.

Communication, consultation and feedback

Lead members have been fully consulted in the drafting of this report. Full engagement has taken
place with Tewkesbury Borough Council. Further to this approval on-going and appropriate
consultation will be required to continue this process as well as under the Guidance, discussions
continue with the relevant landowners. The rationale behind the recommendation meets the views
of members as highlighted in previous decisions made on West Cheltenham.

Negotiations are on-going with key landowners and their advisers through the council’s property
team. During negotiations these landowners have been made aware of the likelihood of the
Councils to seek CPO if agreement is not reached.

The Director of Planning wrote to all landowners within the administrative boundary of
Cheltenham directly affected by this report on 17th January 2020. There are a total of 6
landowners. The letter summarised the recommendations in this report and encouraged them to
engage in the consultation of the SPD.

At this stage, it is not possible to define the precise extent of the scheme or land interests which
may be included in any CPO. This resolution will allow the necessary investigatory and

preparatory work to be undertaken to enable refining and definition of any CPO boundary based
on survey work and legal due diligence. To that extent some parcels have been included in this
resolution where it may only be necessary to seek rights or parcels which ultimately may not be

Page 9 of 12 Last updated 31 January 2020



Page 26

included within any CPO. All landowners identified within the resolution boundary have been

written to and afforded the opportunity to discuss this further.

6. Performance management — monitoring and review

6.1  Officers will continue to work in conjunction with legal representatives and real estate consultants

to undertake the investigative and preparatory stages in the process.

Report author

Contact officer: David Oakhill

David.Oakhill@cheltenham.gov.uk

Appendices

1. Risk Assessment

2. Red - outline plan

Page 10 of 12

Last updated 31 January 2020



mailto:David.Oakhill@cheltenham.gov.uk

Risk Assessment

Appendix 1

The risk

Original risk score
(impact x likelihood)

Managing risk

Risk
ref.

Risk description

Risk
Owner

Date raised

Impact
1-5

Likeli-

hood
1-6

Score

Control

Transferred to
risk register

Action Deadline Responsible

officer

1

If the Council
does not act
to help
facilitate land
release there
is a risk that
the full
potential of
the West
Cheltenham
strategic
allocation will
not be
realised, as
well as
delays in
delivery
timescales.

Tracey
Crews

16/01/20

5

4

20

Reduce

David
Oakhill

Obtain a
‘resolution in
principle’ to
CPO.

February
2020

Cyber
Central
programme
risk
register

/¢ abed

On the
making of a
‘resolution in
principle’ to
CPO there is
likely to be
gueries
raised by
associated
land owners.

Tracey
Crews

16/01/20

Accept

David
Oakhill

Communications
strategy in place
to manage.

February
2020

Cyber
Central
programme
risk
register

$tokeqdp4

Page 11 of 12

Last updated 31 January 2020



3 If preparatory | Tracey | 16/01/20 | 3 12 Accept Real Estate February | David Cyber
stages of Crews Consultants will | 2020 Oakahill Central
CPO startitis be appointed to programme
likely to be a assist officers. risk
strain on register
internal
resource.

4 There is a Tracey | 16/01/20 | 3 12 Accept Legal support Spring/ | David Cyber
risk of judicial | Crews will be appointed | Summer | Oakhill Central
review and/or to lead this 2020 programme
objection to process risk
the CPO register
process. The
latter may
trigger a
public inquiry LY
with 2
consequential D
implications N
for staff time (0]
and
resources.

$tokeqdp4

Page 12 of 12

Last updated 31 January 2020



7 a4
—_—— g

- ?oddington
- Coppite

i/ =
’ { o ) N Ve u{‘?ﬂ
\ Haycen Hill HT 7 I/ A, N ’}f‘ )
Fruit Farm ! o 3
el Y | e .

.

=

XL,
GXAN

N &
ISR

i .
Ay
Ay (42m —~

Hayden Knoll L& \;

I
¢
L)
*
D :
A [
"
1

N "
"‘ @ Tlolmlelgrg

Fiddlers Green
Farm
14

V\Zhuresronee.

\Farg’_\‘\_

&

el

BEN

T Caravan

~ E

T

./
/

/i rfi-{tf ield

/ 7‘7-
: Fnzhur
Pa

% |

7

P

)
i

[0

=

Dera ks

\Bamfurlong
\ F

~ Benhall “7!
'_’// A .'J"”“. .‘\ >: /'{I& < 3 {
© Crown copyrlghtang,’ggtabasg.‘r@ts 20190

Iy

T
/ N
ggqeis_‘erey 1000

1

1:10000 L
(] Cheltenham Borough/Tewkesbury Borough Boundary

07 January 2020 s
s [ ] Red Outline Boundary
CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7
Page 31

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet — 11 February 2020

Adoption of revised Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy

Accountable member
Accountable officer

Ward(s) affected

Councillor Andrew McKinlay, Cabinet Member Development and Safety
Mike Redman, Director of Environment

All

Key/Significant
Decision

No

Executive summary

Recommendations

The council has adopted a sexual entertainment venue licensing policy.
The current policy was adopted by Council in October 2014.

A review of the current policy has been undertaken and the Cabinet
Member Development and Safety has approved consultation on a revised
policy.

Consultation has been undertaken and Cabinet is asked to consider
feedback, approve the draft policy and recommend adoption to Council.

Cabinet is recommended to:
1. Note the consultation feedback;

2. Approve the revised policy document attached at Appendix 5;
and

3. Recommend to Council adoption of the revised policy
document attached at Appendix 5.

Financial implications

There are no financial implications to this paper.

Contact officer: Andrew Knott, Andrew.Knott@publicagroup.uk,
01242 264121

Review of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy Page 1 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020



Page 32

Legal implications

The Licensing Authority is required to prepare, publish and keep under
review, a statement of the principles it proposes to apply when exercising
its functions in licensing Sexual Entertainment Venues.

Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 came into force on 6 April
2010. This amended Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act and created a new
category of sex establishment, namely a sexual entertainment venue. This
category added to the existing categories of sex establishment, namely,
sex shops and sex cinemas.

Whereas the actual determination of an application for a Licence under the
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 is a Council
function, the function of formulating and adopting a Licensing Policy in
relation to this type of licensing is a Cabinet function because neither the
Act nor the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
Regulations 2000 preclude Cabinet from approving such a Policy.

Contact officer: Vikki.Fennell@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 272015

HR implications
(including learning and
organisational
development)

No direct HR implications arising from this report.

Contact officer: Clare Jones, Clare.Jones@publicagroup.uk

Key risks

As outlined in Appendix 1

Corporate and
community plan
Implications

A Community Impact Assessment has been undertaken and attached at
Appendix 5 of this report.

Environmental and
climate change
implications

N/A

Property/Asset
Implications

N/A

Contact officer: Dominic.Stead@cheltenham.gov.uk

Review of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy

Page 2 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020




11

1.2

1.3

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Page 33
Background

Sexual Entertainment Venues (“SEVs”) are regulated under Schedule 3 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act
20009.

The amended provisions were adopted by Council on the 11" of October 2010 and the authority’s
current SEV licensing policy was adopted in October 2014.

A review of this policy has been undertaken as outlined in this report and appendices.

Statutory Context

Section 27 of the Police and Crime Act 2009 (“2009 Act”) amended Schedule 3 of the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“1982 Act”) to introduce a new type of sex
establishment known as a sexual entertainment venue.

Any premises that want to offer “relevant entertainment” can only do so by obtaining a SEV
licence.

Relevant entertainment is defined as any live performance or any live display of nudity which is of
such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or
principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal
or other means).

Under the 2009 Act, a premises can provide relevant entertainment on an infrequent basis without
the need for a SEV licence. Infrequent relevant entertainment is defined as relevant entertainment
offered for no longer than 24 hours on no more than 11 occasions a year. Any premises that
want to offer relevant entertainment more frequently is required to apply for a SEV licence.

Current Policy Position

The authority does not take any moral stand in relation to the regulation of sexual entertainment.
The current policy recognises that Parliament has made it lawful to operate a sex establishment
and that such businesses are a legitimate part of the retail and leisure industries. It is this
authority’s role as the Licensing Authority to administer the licensing regime in accordance with
the law.

The authority is empowered by schedule 3 paragraph 12(4) of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (as amended) to set a limit on the number of licensed SEVs
permitted in the relevant locality of which zero can be a number. For information, the current
policy defines “relevant locality” as the local ward in which a SEV could be licensed.

The current policy position is set out in paragraph 11 of the policy stating:

Cheltenham is a relatively small urban borough that is predominantly residential in nature. The
Council has already resolved that it is inappropriate to licence SEVs in or in the vicinity of,
amongst others, residential areas. It is the Council’s policy therefore that there is no locality
outside of the adopted Central Shopping Area in which it would be appropriate to license a SEV.
Accordingly the appropriate number of SEVs for outside of the adopted Central Shopping Area is
nil. (paragraph 11.2)

Accordingly, there is currently one licensed SEV which is the Two Pigs Pub on Church Street
which is inside the relevant locality in which SEVs are permitted.

Review of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy Page 3 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020



4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

5.2.1

5.2.2

5.2.3

5.24

5.3

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

Page 34

Consultation

Consultation on the revised SEV policy was undertaken between 1 November 2019 and 6
January 2020.

Three responses were received. These are outlined, along with officer comments, at Appendix 2.
SEV Policy Scrutiny and Review Meeting

In July 2019, the authority’s Licensing Committee held a SEV scrutiny session to give opportunity
for Members of the committee to hear from key stakeholders in order to facilitate the review.

The stakeholders invited to attend were:

Gloucestershire Constabulary;

Ward Members in whose area SEV are, or have been, licensed,

SEV operators; and

Consultees who have previously engaged in the licensing process on a regular basis.

A copy of the minutes of that meeting is attached at Appendix 3 of this report.

SEVs in Cheltenham

Attached at Appendix 4 is the briefing paper that accompanied the scrutiny group meeting.
Members may find the briefing paper helpful in terms of gaining a contextual understanding of
SEVs in Cheltenham.

As outlined in the briefing paper, the authority has licensed and regulated SEVs in some form or
another for many years. SEVs are particularly prevalent during horse racing events in
Cheltenham on a scale that is not comparable with any other area outside of London.

As outlined above (under Statutory Context), sexual entertainment can either be licensed or take
place unlicensed as part of infrequent sexual entertainment.

Infrequent sexual entertainment is unlicensed by virtue of a statutory exemption that allows
premises to carry on sexual entertainment without a licence if the sexual entertainment is offered
for no longer than 24 hours on no more than 11 occasions a year.

Any premises that want to offer relevant entertainment more frequently is required to apply for a
SEV licence.

As Members will note from the scrutiny meeting minutes (Appendix 3), there is a lot of debate
about whether the authority should change its policy to set a zero limit to apply to the entire
borough.

Officer’s view is that a borough-wide policy of zero SEVs will not address the concerns raised by
people and organisations that are opposed to SEVs; the rationale being that a zero policy for the
borough will not achieve a reduction in the amount of sexual entertainment being offered in the
town. Instead, the consequence would be that operators will instead rely on the statutory
exemption by, instead of operating from one licensed venue, moving between premises around
the town but offering the same amount of sexual entertainment.

Under the circumstances described above and recognising that sexual entertainment is a lawful

Review of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy Page 4 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020



6.9

7.1

7.1.1

7.1.2

7.1.3

Page 35

activity, officers are of the view that it is better for the council to regulate SEV through licensing.
Venues operating under the statutory exemption are free of any licensing regulation and control.

It is therefore proposed that the policy positon with regards to limiting SEVs in Cheltenham not be
changed.

Proposed policy changes

In addition to minor updates to the policy such as removing references to fax, the following policy
changes are proposed:

Under paragraph 11.4 (Sensitive Locations), reference to specific sensitive locations and building
be removed in favour of a more general description of the types of locations that may be
considered sensitive. Specific examples have in the past limited the Licensing Committee’s
determination of SEVSs.

A number of conditions have been updated or amended as shown on the draft revised policy at
Appendix 5.

The “relevant locality” where the authority will permit the licensing of SEVs has been revised. The
rationale for this is:

7.1.3.1 Recognition that the adopted Central Shopping Area excludes a number of venues on the Bath

Road that can be considered as part of the “wider mix on offer, particularly in the night time
economy”; and

7.1.3.2 The Licensing Committee has already determined that the licensing of SEVs in the area referred

7.1.4

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.3.1

8.3.2

8.3.3

8.4

to above is appropriate.

It is also proposed that the authority include a waiver provision in the policy. Schedule 3,
paragraph 7 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 makes provision for
the council to issue waivers. The effect is that it will remove the requirement for a licence under
very limited circumstances as outlined under paragraph 3 of the revised policy.

Equality duties

An equality and community impact assessment has been undertaken to accompany this policy
review. The impact assessment is attached at Appendix 6 of this report.

Notwithstanding the fact that Parliament has made it lawful to operate a sex establishment, there
is still an overarching duty on the authority to comply with its Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
as defined by the Equality Act 2010.

The PSED places a duty on the authority to, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to
the need to:

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by
the 2010 Act.

Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not.

Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
Consideration of the authority’s PSED is particularly relevant to the licensing of sexual

entertainment. It’s licensing and regulation often creates a tension between the statutory right to
operate such a venue and equality issues relating to discrimination and objectification of primarily

Review of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy Page 5 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020



Page 36

women.

8.5  The starting point for the authority is the fact that it cannot take any moral stand in relation to
SEVs in recognition that Parliament has made it lawful to operate a sex establishment. This
starting point however does not mean that the authority is therefore bound by the primary
legislation at the expense of other statutory requirements such as the PSED.

8.6  Equality issues may be relevant to (not exhaustive):

8.6.1 The need to protect performers from harassment and threat;

8.6.2 The need to ensure that any protected characteristic group is not more, or less, welcome than
another;

8.6.3 The need to properly consider the fear of any protected characteristic group using and accessing
public spaces, facilities and infrastructure;

8.6.4 The need to properly understand the relevant locality and the need to ensure, taking into account
the relevant locality, any protected characteristic group’s view is taken into account such as those
relevant to religion or belief or race;

8.6.5 The need to consider the views and experiences of people with disabilities as a protected
characteristic group.

8.7  Some or all of these equality issues may be addressed through appropriate conditions and robust
enforcement. Equally, the licensing process may also be an important tool to achieve the same
outcome, for example, licence reviews and policy changes.

9. Reasons for recommendations

9.1 To secure adoption of the recommended revised policy as outlined in this report.

10. Alternative options considered

10.1 Cabinet can take the view that the policy changes proposed are not necessary and that the
current policy remains sufficient for the purpose of regulating SEVs in Cheltenham.

10.2 However, this is not recommended as changes to the policy are necessary to ensure information
is up to date and the policy continues to ensure SEVs are properly regulated.

Report author Contact officer: Louis Krog, louis.krog@cheltenham.gov.uk,

01242 262626

Appendices Risk Assessment

Consultation feedback
SEV Policy Review Meeting minutes
SEV Policy Scrutiny Group - briefing paper

Revised Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy Statement

o g M w N RF

Community impact assessment

Review of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy Page 6 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020




Page 37

Background information 1. Council, Monday, 13th October, 2014 2.30 pm (Agenda item 8)
2. Cabinet, Tuesday, 16th September, 2014 6.00 pm (Agenda item 9)

Review of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy Page 7 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020




Risk Assessment Appendix 1

The risk Original risk score Managing risk
(impact x likelihood)
Risk | Risk description Risk Date Impact | Likeli- | Score | Control Action Deadline Responsible | Transferred to
ref. Owner raised 1-5 hood officer risk register
1-6

If the authority does not Director of October | 2 3 6 Accept | Approve draft policy Licensing

approve draft changes to | Environment | 2019 change for Team

the policy it would be less consultation. Leader

able to effectively
regulate sexual
entertainment venues in
the borough.

If the authority is not Director of October | 2 3 6 Accept | Approve draft policy Licensing
mindful of its Public Environment | 2019 change for Team
Sector Equality Duty in consultation. Leader

reviewing the policy it
risks a breach of this duty
and the risk of
reputational damage and
legal challenge.

Explanatory notes

Impact — an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical)
Likelihood — how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant, 5 high and 6 a very high probability)

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close

$uylifdpj Page 8 of 8 Last updated 31 January 2020

g¢ abed



Appendix 2 — Consultation Feedback

Revised Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy

Comment

Officer comments

Clir Dr David Willingham

Dear Licensing,

| am writing in response to the SEV policy consultation.

1 | support the proposed designation of Bath Road for inclusion in the approved area.
Given that the Town Hall and some venues on A4015 The Promenade facing Imperial

Square also occasionally host SEV under the exemption, it might be worth including this
area to encourage them to properly licence those activities.

2 | believe that the following licensing conditions should be modified:

Venues should operate a Challenge 25 policy rather than a Challenge 21 policy to make it
more difficult for anyone underage to access the premises.

The prohibition on performers sharing personal details with customers should also be

Officers did not consult on the basis that Imperial Square
should be included inside the relevant locality.

If Members are minded to include this part of town,
separate consultation will be required on this point.

At the moment the frequency of sexual entertainment does
not meet the statutory licensing threshold and there is no
indication that this will change. It is therefore not proposed
that the relevant locality be changed to include Imperial
Square.

Noted and policy amended.

6¢ obed



modified to include a prohibition on sharing social media and electronic communication
identifiers.

A condition similar to the following should be added:
Literature and contact details of organisations that provide advice and counselling on
matters relating to:

(a) Modern slavery,
(b) Domestic abuse,
(c) Coercive control,
(d) Rape and sexual assault,

shall be made available to performers free of charge in their changing area.

The Council may wish to consider adopting the condition used by Manchester City
Council on their SEV policy, which states:

The use of any cruising cars or any other wheeled carriage [whether for the purposes of
hire or reward or not] by the premises to solicit customers and/or transport to or from
the premises is prohibited.

3 No comments.
4 | fully support the council’s view that a zero limit is not going to prevent sexual

entertainment from occurring in the town, but will mean that it is less well regulated and
lesser regulation puts the performers at greater risk.

Noted and policy amended.

Noted and policy amended.

Noted and policy amended.

Ms Tess Beck

In Cheltenham, SEVs and the lap dancing industry are only an issue during racing events
such as race week. It is some time since there was an SEV licensed year round (Fantasy)
and even then, for the last few years of its operation, it would only operate during race
week, standing empty and getting increasingly dilapidated for the rest of the year.

The link between lap dancing (sex-tourism) and race week is no more inevitable than the
link between hooliganism and football. Removing the sex tourism aspect of race week

The scope of this policy is limited to sexual entertainment as
defined in law. As outlined in the covering report (6.7 &

o abed



(of which lap dancing is only a part) would make the town centre much more pleasant for
many people (especially women) who visit or live and work in Cheltenham. Putting an
end to sex tourism in Cheltenham could potentially also help to reduce the market for
other parts of the sex industry such as trafficking.

Cheltenham’s nightlife is valued for its safety: this is reflected in its Purple Flag status.
But not during race week, when sexual harassment and even assault becomes
commonplace for women socialising or working in the town centre.

Community Impact Assessment

You state that you are confident that your policy is robust in addressing any disadvantage
caused to any groups.

As a woman, | can tell you that | experience greater levels of sexual harassment when in
the town centre during race week. This is worse in the evenings when the majority of
SEVs operate. But even during the day, when | worked in the town centre in a customer
facing role during race week, | would experience frequent sexual harassment (which |
rarely did at other times of the year). On many occasions, the men doing the harassing
would refer to lap dancing or other aspects of the sex industry. | have heard similar
experiences from many female friends of mine, many of whom take active steps to avoid
town during race week. Your policy has not been robust enough to address this.

Though you refer to performers in another part of the impact assessment, you fail to
acknowledge the gendered nature of SEV performers. Lap dancing is done exclusively by
female performers, almost always for a male audience. It is done in booths in a one to
one encounter. Though some performers may be paid per dance, they also rely on tips
from the punter, which can make it hard for performers to enforce boundaries. As
female sex workers, they routinely face discrimination. Their employment terms and

6.8), a zero limit on the number of licensed sexual
entertainment venues will be ineffective because operators
will instead rely on the statutory exemption which is entirely
free of licensing control.

Officer’s view is that it serves the public interest to license
sexual entertainment venues therefore.

The scope of this policy is limited to regulating sexual
entertainment venues. Comments generally about sexual
harassment during horse racing festivals falls outside this
scope and is a criminal matter to be reported to the police.

The authority’s policy recognises that Parliament has made it
lawful to operate sexual entertainment venues and to this
extent the authority’s policy is gender neutral.

In addition to the policy statement and licensing process,
there is a robust inspection and enforcement process in

T obed



conditions for performers in lap dancing clubs are usually worse than other workers in
the gig economy. This is quite different from the Dreamboys (for example) who are often
touted as a false equivalent. The Dreamboys perform a floorshow as a troupe, not one to
one in an enclosed space. Male performers do not experience the same discrimination as
female lap dancers.

You state that your policy is robust enough to protect children from exposure to the sex
industry. | can tell you that it isn’t. My youngest child (born in 2005) has been exposed to
aspects of the lap dancing industry many times. There was the van covered in a blown-up
hyper realist image of a naked woman in a porn pose. This was parked on the Lower High
Street near the Two Pigs when we went into town after school to get some new daps.
There have been the posters promoting lap dancing in shop windows along the route
into town, including next to McDonalds in the Lower High Street. There have been flyers
left on the streets promoting Eroticats lap dancing and their XXX chat lines and cam girls.
There have been the billboard trailers promoting lap dancing driven around the town
centre and up and down the route to the race course - which also happens to be
alongside Pittville Park and play area.

The distinction between the core commercial area and residential areas is a false one.
Many people live in the town centre (I believe there is an effort by CBC, the BID and
others to promote the increased use of the space above commercial premises for
residential purposes). Many more people like us within 5 or 10 minutes’ walk of the High
Street. It is not possible for us and our families to avoid the town centre for a week, nor
should we be expected to.

The licensing committee has repeatedly granted an SEV license to premises which are
outside this core commercial area. Your response in this draft of the policy is to extend
the Central Shopping Area. | do not agree with this response.

place to ensure compliance with licensing and legislative
requirements. The inspection regime is undertaken in
partnership with police licensing officers.

The policy conditions have been amended to remove the
right to use vehicles to promote or market licensed sexual
entertainment venues.

The policy conditions have also been strengthened in
respect of leaflets to address concerns and complaints.

The policy statement makes provision for consideration of
the character of the relevant locality including the proximity
of residential properties and buildings with sensitive uses.

The point remained that, as outlined in the covering report
(6.7 & 6.8), a zero limit on the number of licensed sexual
entertainment venues will be ineffective because operators
will instead rely on the statutory exemption which is entirely
free of licensing control.

2t obed



You admit your policy is not robust enough to prevent discrimination against people who
have a particular religion or belief. Although your SEV policy states that a licence would
be inappropriate when the premises are near a property which is sensitive for religious
purposes, e.g. a church, licences have repeatedly been granted for the Two Pigs which is
right next to St Mary’s churchyard. This is despite members of the church telling you that
the presence of sexual entertainment deters people from using church premises during
race week, especially young people who would normally attend youth club in the
evening. This is despite members of the church have telling you they regularly finding
used condoms, underwear and sanitary protection in the church yard when licensed SEV
activities are taking place in the Two Pigs during race week.

Your community impact assessment states that there is no direct of specific impact on
people who are attracted to the same sex. The Two Pigs when operating as an SEV used
to operate a sexist and homophobic door policy, banning women from entering as
customers. A representative of the licensee even stood up in front of the licensing
committee and stated that this policy was to prevent prostitution (I presume this was
because any women were assumed to be prostitutes). This resulted in female observers
from St Mary’s Church being refused entry. This resulted in female friends of mine who
are bisexual and were curious (and | think were expecting something a bit more like
burlesque) being refused entry. After this was drawn to licensing officers’ attention, Two
Pigs had to change this door policy, but it had already been operating for some time by
then.

The Statutory Exemption

| have sat through many licensing committee meetings where committee members have
stated that it is better to have the premises providing lap dancing to do this under the
auspices of the SEV licence than under the statutory exemption. | got the impression
from some of the members that they would rather not give the licence - especially for
premises next to a church, but have only done so because the national legislation means
they could not prevent it happening altogether. (Of course, there are other members
who aggressively support the sex industry and are happy to promote sex work as a career
option for women and girls, but thankfully they seem to be in a minority).

Not clear where this is referenced in the policy document.
As stated already however, the authority’s policy recognises
that Parliament has made it lawful to operate sexual
entertainment venues and it is the authority’s role to
administer the licensing regime lawfully including the Public
Sector Equality Duty on the authority.

Each individual application is referred to the licensing
committee for determination and this is done with full
consideration of the individual merits of the application,
policy, statutory guidance and consultation feedback.

Whilst the policy should be adhered to and only be deviated
from under exceptional circumstances, it cannot fetter the
committee’s discretion.

The statutory exemption exists in law and is therefore not
within this authority’s ability to influence.

There is general acknowledgement by this authority and
opponents of sexual entertainment venues that the
statutory exemption is unhelpful and to some extent defeats
the object of the licensing scheme.

oy abed



Hopefully operating with an SEV licence has given the performers better protections, but
for residents it has meant that the Lap dancing has taken place at the premises over
several nights rather than the 1 night permitted by the exemption.

| have heard representatives of the licensees stand in front of the licensing committee
and state that by being able to operate out of one premises for the whole week, they
would not need to use other premises across the town. In practice, come race week,
they were operating in at least one other premises each night under the statutory
exemption. And as these additional premises were operating under the exemption, this
enabled them to flyer and use the liveried van to promote the licensed venue as well.
And of course, there is nothing to prevent other operators providing lap dancing
elsewhere under the statutory exemption.

Operators of SEVS whether licensed or operating under the Statutory Exemption are
aware that race week is the busiest week of the year for police and licensing officers in
Cheltenham. SEVs are only a small part of increase in licensable activities which take
place that week. Enforcement does a good job in keeping a lid on things but officers are
stretched to their limit and spread thinner than marmite.

From my research, Cheltenham during race week is the only place where the Statutory
Exemption is exploited to this extent. Newquay used to have problems during the
summer season, but thanks to the efforts of its then MP and police chiefs, they have
managed to take action to prevent this. This has improved the atmosphere in Newquay
for residents and tourists. Newquay has not experienced any drop in tourist numbers as
result of the sex tourism industry being closed down.

SEVs do not benefit the town’s economy, though they are great money spinners for the
promoters. The operators who use our venues to put on lap dancing are here only for a
week. They do not provide regular or stable employment. They suck money out of the
town to the detriment of other businesses and the town’s residents.

The existence of the Statutory Exemption removes Cheltenham’s ability to establish and

This is the case principally because venues relying on the
statutory exemption are entirely free of licensing control
including a requirement to inform the authority and not
subject to any controls or conditions.

No authority can, nor has, overcome the statutory
exemption by any means. This authority has previously
written to Cheltenham’s PM to raise this with him, seeking a
change in legislation, but to date there has been no
indication from Government that it plans to make changes
to legislation.

Until such a time as there is a change in legislation in so far
as it relates to restrictions under the statutory exemption,
this authority is faced with either seeking a license where
one is required, or seeking to manage exempt sexual
entertainment venues through voluntary schemes as is the
case at present.

vt abed



enforce its own SEV policy for the benefit of the town as a whole. | would ask
Cheltenham Borough Council to work with our MP and parliament to address the
Statutory Exemption, and to remove this ‘loophole’.

Licensing Committee
Remove specific examples under 12.4 to leave the discretion to the committee. The list
is currently too prescriptive whilst no covering other premises that can be defined as

sensitive uses.

A standard commencement time for relevant entertainment of 20:00 should be specified
in the policy.

Conditions relating to flyers (10, 11 & 12) are confusing.
Adopt a challenge 25 rule under condition 17.
Include reference to social media in condition 30.

Scope of condition 35 should be broadened to include other services/information.

Noted and policy amended.

Noted and policy amended.

Noted and policy amended.
Noted and policy amended.
Noted and policy amended.

Noted and policy amended.

Gy abed



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 47

SEV Policy Review Meeting — 17" July 2019

Session 1 — Gloucestershire Police

DM advised that staff from Gloucestershire Constabulary had been sent to London to
see how they operate with regards to SEV’s. He explained that the rules and regulations
were very similar in London to that in Gloucestershire. They felt that Cheltenham
officers, in particular, were extremely competent in enforcing and conducting visits on
premises.

They had not identified a correlation between SEV’s and an increase in disorder and
crime.

With regards to the 2 Pigs, there had been 9 recorded offences in the last 3 years when
they had been operating as an SEV. The police advised that you could expect a similar
number of offences at other premises that were not SEV’s.

The recorded offences mainly related to theft, 2 related to sexual incidents, one of which
was an anonymous call suggesting that performers were charging £250, however, the
police attended immediately and saw that it was a malicious call. The other incident
related to two individuals during the November race meet requesting a price for sex.
Despite the fact it was a malicious call DM confirmed it still counted as an incident.

The police confirmed that they were extremely happy with the conditions that
Cheltenham imposed on SEV’s and were satisfied that the licensing officers enforced
them.

They highlighted that Under the Prom and Moo Moo’s also operated as an SEV under
the statutory exemption they had no reported sexual incidents from the premises whilst
they were operating as an SEV.

The police explained that they try to ascertain where people who have been arrested
were before the arrest and from previous experience; there was nothing to suggest they
were in clubs operating SEV’s. They explained that they do not have the resources to
verify their claims, however, they would do so if it was a serious incident and there was
evidential value in doing so. If this was the case, they would check the CCTV of every
venue they had been to.

They confirmed that there had been one alleged sexual assault during race week;
however, this had no correlation to 2 pigs. The Licensing Team Leader confirmed that
the assault related to 2 people who had met in the Bank House and the incident had
happened at the person’s residence.

The Police highlighted that they would come straight to CBC and the licensing
committee if they had any concerns. However, in their opinion, such licences didn’t
manifest in extra crime.

They explained that they had never come across any performers who had been acting
under duress. However, going forward this would be something they would look out for
whilst doing routine inspections.

There had been an incident whereby a performer had requested her money back and
this had been resolved quickly by licensing officers and the police.

The Licensing Team Leader confirmed that when doing inspections they are allowed
access to the office and they check the girls ID and registration forms. They also have
access to the CCTV and changing areas.



Page 48

The police confirmed that they were happy with the quality of the CCTV which was
sufficiently adequate for any investigation.

The Police acknowledged that prostitution did increase in Cheltenham during race week,
however generally, this was not a big problem in Cheltenham when compared with
Gloucester. Improvements in technology had also meant it was easier for prostitutes to
make contact with clients. At the end of the races they had received complaints from
guests in hotel rooms who had been robbed by prostitutes, however, they were not
aware of any incidents of prostitutes propositioning people in the streets. The police
advised that they had officers who specifically dealt with online prostitution.

The police confirmed that they do visit hotels during race week to identify incidents of
prostitution, however, agreed they could be more proactive and pick this up with
hoteliers. There had be known cases of prostitutes operating in the Queens Hotel.

One Member felt that they needed to focus on SEV’s rather than prostitution and that
linking the two was quite dangerous. They had been impressed by the set up at 2 Pigs
and how open and transparent they had been, although were slightly concerned that
they had to wait a while before they gained entry. They therefore questioned whether
the police ever sent out undercover officers? The police confirmed that they did not send
out undercover officers, however, Eroticats had suggested an officer be stationed for a
whole evening at the venue. They also had the powers to force entry. The Licensing
Team Leader highlighted that if they receive specific intelligence of concern then the
Council may undertake a covert operation.

One Member raised a concern about the size of the booths and the close proximity of
the performers to clients. The Licensing Team Leader noted this point and agreed to do
further research in this area.

The police confirmed that door staff don’t entice people in, although they do have
promotional staff stationed across the town. They were unsure what Eroticats policy was
on drawing in customers.

The Licensing Team Leader explained that venues who operate under the statutory
exemption have signed up to a voluntary code of practice which includes notifying police
and the council when they intend to hold an event. They can therefore control them to
some extent albeit informally.

Members noted that there was inevitably a spike in crime rates during race week due to
the increased number of people coming in to the town who were intoxicated and there
was no evidence to suggest that SEV’s contributed to the increase in crime.

Summary by Police

Cheltenham’s conditions were adequate and officers were extremely competent in
enforcing them.

From the research there is no connection between SEV’s and prostitution. Financially
the performers earn a lot more in a much safer environment in the 2 Pigs rather than
through prostitution.

Session 2 — Chelt Fems/GRASAC/ Cheltenham Minster

GRASAC



Page 49

There was a lot of written evidence to suggest that those working and living in town
were harassed physically and verbally during racing week. She felt that the Council,
in carrying out its functions, should have due regard to the objectives of the public
sector equality duty. As acknowledged by some Members at the recent licensing
meeting, the tone of Cheltenham changes during race week and one female
Councillor had stated they do not come in to town during race week. She also cited
the changes in the pubs which see a large influx of males compared with females.
She felt that local authorities should provide equal access and that women were not
welcome in town. She requested that the local authority evoke all SEV licences.

Chelt Fems

Felt that the under the public sector equality duty, the local authority should permit
zero SEV’s. In her experience, women had been denied access to clubs with an SEV
licence, lesbhians had been told it was unsafe for them because they would be seen
as prostitutes and women who would normally frequent at the 2 Pigs were denied
access when there was sexual entertainment on. She felt that lap dancing was the
cause of gender inequality in society and it sexualised and objectified women.
Women in the town feel discriminated against and she felt that a petition in 2014 was
ignored by the Council. She highlighted that times were changing and SEV’s had
dropped by a third, they therefore needed to show they were a progressive town and
moving with the times. With regards to claims from the police that there were no
increases in sexual incidents she stressed that women do not report rapes and in
particular, reporting of low levels of sexual harassment were extremely low.

Chelt Fems

Also had concerns that the council was not fulfilling its public sector equality duty as
people feel excluded from town during race week, she highlighted that this also has
an impact on the day time economy. She was relieved that the Eroticats van had
been rebranded as the image originally portrayed was inappropriate. She felt that as
the money was made in the booths and the performer’s income was dependent on
tips there was an equality issue, similarly, excluding entry to lesbians was
homophobic. Those operating the SEV’s were breaching the terms and conditions of
their licence as they were flyering on the streets, moreover, the fact that 2 Pigs was
situated next to a church and by the entrance to a park meant it did not comply with
the councils licencing policy. She felt that the statutory exemption was exploited in
Cheltenham and not used for the purpose intended and the national legislation
should be challenged. She reiterated that she did not have a moral objection but that
the council had an equality duty.

The Church

The 3 main reasons they objected to SEV’s was because of the effect on children,
the location of the 2 Pigs and the discrimination against women.

They felt that during race week the nature of the town changes completely. At St
Matthews they have youth activity over the weekend and on a Friday evening,



Page 50

however, during race week parents don'’t let their children walk to church as they
ordinarily would.

They also had concerns about the Eroticats van playing loud music.

They noted that the grounds to the church were secluded and cut off from the main
thoroughfare which promoted secretive activity in this area. They acknowledged that
the Council sent somebody to clean the church yard on a Sunday morning at 10am,
however, this didn't always happen. As a result, on several occasions, CD had
cleared the church yard and found lots of broken glass, cigarettes, nitrous oxide
canisters, syringes, discarded underwear and condoms.

They felt that the operation of SEV’s was discriminatory against women and that
CBC had a statutory duty with regards to disability, race and gender. They felt that 2
Pigs, when operating as an SEV, sexualises and objectifies women. They had
considerable concerns that the establishment was being used as a brothel during
race week.

Miss Phillips explained that they had been taking cakes in for the performers for
several years, however, they had not been let in at first and advised that it was
gentleman only. They had suspicions that it was a brothel because they had
observed women wandering through and chatting to men who appeared to be
advertising themselves to be taken upstairs and the bouncers had advised that they
were unable to go upstairs. The fact it was free entry was also not normal for a strip
club.

The Chair advised that the licensing officers and committee had unfettered access to
the club and they had no evidence to suggest prostitution. He highlighted that the
reason they may not have been allowed upstairs was because a condition on the
licence didn’t allow members of the public upstairs.

One Member noted that the change in tone of the town during race week was
inevitable given the large influx of people, they reasoned that it was impossible to
implement a policy to address this and felt that it wasn’t just women who avoided the
town during this time. They were concerned if women had been turned away from the
clubs as this contravened the conditions in the policy. They questioned those giving
evidence as to what more could be done to prevent assaults.

MS advised that in the lead up to race week they did some joint work with the Council
which included putting up posters in pubs and coffee shops encouraging people to
report any incidents or suspicious activity. She explained that they had spoken with
bar staff and a large majority said they had been assaulted in some fashion during
race week including men. She explained that they had one incident of sexual assault
reported to them and the police response was that this could be expected as it was
race week. She explained that the low level assault often went unreported as victims
felt they would not be listened to. The key was on more preventative work.

One Member questioned how many cases of women being turned away had been
reported to the Licensing Officer. The Licensing Team Leader confirmed that no
incidence has been reported directly to them, however, given the evidence heard
today they would need to speak to the venue to ensure they understood the policy.
The Member reiterated that the current licensing policy prevents venues refusing
women and so encouraged people to report it to the Licensing team.

RC felt that the whole set up was highly intimidating to women and that used
underwear, condoms and broken glass found in the church yard increased when



Page 51

SEV’s were in operation. One Member disagreed and felt that this could not be
linked back to SEV’s and was as a result of the large influx of people to the town
during race week.

One Member questioned what more could be done to increase the number of sexual
assaults reported. They also highlighted that they were unable to change the law with
regards to SEV’s and that they had even lesser control under the statutory
exemptions. They also questioned what more could be done to improve the wellbeing
of performers.

TB recommended that the booths be removed as was being trialled in some areas of
Bristol and London. If they just had floor shows it wold be more public and less
chance of incidents. She also had concerns that more vulnerable women were
coming in to the industry as the demand was increasing.

RL noted that the recent marketing Cheltenham campaign whereby a woman was
stripped to the waist did not portray the right image for Cheltenham. She felt that that
they should be more concerned with reducing sexual assaults through prevention
campaigns.

MS advised that the rape and crisis centre appealed to many victims as they are an
independent body and they are often frightened to report incidents to the police,
whilst they support them if they wish to report it, many women choose not to.

AP questioned why if men also felt intimated during race week they did not make the
town feel safer for both men and women. One Member felt that some people were
more sensitive than others and that the main reason for the intimidation was because
of the large number of people around the town not the SEV’s.

One Member highlighted that at present the Council has a SEV policy that allows
them to put a vast number of conditions on premises that operate as an SEV and
they have much less power to regulate venues under the statutory exemptions. With
regards to temporary events notices, only the police could object on public safety
grounds. The Licensing Team Leader reiterated that if they were to set a zero limit on
SEV’s there could still be the same number of SEV’s due to the statutory exemption.
RC questioned whether there would be the same number of SEV’s as society was
changing and felt that by setting a zero limit on SEV’s they would give a better
impression of Cheltenham.

The Licensing Team Leader confirmed that the local authority had no control over
statutory exemptions even if there were complaints and that the 2 Pigs had a licence
from 8pm during race week.

In response to a Member question, RC confirmed that whilst they do not have any
services during the evening they do have a service at 11am on a Sunday morning
and youth events in the evenings from 19:00 — 21:30.

The Licensing Team Leader agreed to share the minutes from the meeting where the
2 Pigs were granted a licence with the church so that they could see the rationale for
the committee’s decision.

TB highlighted that when Cheltenham had hosted burlesque shows and the
Chippendales there had been a mixed audience and people felt far less intimidated.
MS felt that a zero tolerance on SEV’s would send a clear message about what
Cheltenham stands for and agreed that the wider issues of TEN’s needed to be dealt
with.



Page 52

RC felt that there should be more research done in to what a zero policy might look
like from towns that are working towards that.

One Member advised that they been extremely impressed with the set up at the 2
Pigs when they had visited it during race week, particularly with regards to the
security and the safety of the women and the checks carried out on the women to
ensure they hadn’t been coerced.

The Licensing Team Leader confirmed that the public consultation on the SEV policy
was likely to take place in the lead up to Christmas and the 2 Pigs licence was due
for renewal in January.

Session 3 - Eroticats

2 Pigs Licence Holder

Advised that their policy and procedures were based on advice received from CBC
licensing department and they go beyond the standards imposed by the council. This
included driving performers home or to their cars, providing them with hot and cold
refreshments and a secure cloak room.

They continually cooperate with the Licensing Team Leader and the police to resolve
any issues and take action as appropriate.

They have additional security staff on during race week.

The performers register online beforehand, they are then contacted by one of the
managers and are asked to provide additional information including proof of ID. They
are subject to further background checks to ensure they are not the victim of human
or sex trafficking.

They keep a log to report any issues and fully comply with the equalities act.

Eroticats felt that CBC’s policies and approach were very strict but fully understood
why such policies were in place and were more than willing to comply.

The 2 Pigs were only open on a Friday and Saturday night and the bar staff were
given the option to work during race week.

The performer in attendance who worked for Eroticats and resided in Cheltenham
felt that the 2 Pigs was a happy and safe environment, she felt that the security were
fully equipped to deal with any issues. She explained that she had never experienced
or witnessed any issues and that the security staff were right next to them when they
were giving dances. They also had adequate changing facilities and a room to put
their belongings which is manned by security.

The 2 Pigs confirmed that they do allow ladies in to venue and they have a number of
women and couples who have dances. They did, however, monitor the type of
people coming in to the venue and do not allow entry to those looking for illegal
business or those they anticipate causing trouble. He reiterated that they do not turn
people away based on their gender.

The performer advised that there are a number of dancers who are local to
Cheltenham, Gloucester, Swindon and the West Midlands, she explained that the
races is known as well-run event and so dancers do come from all over to work it.
She explained that the club was extremely busy and so it was easy to walk away
from any awkward situations or people she knew.



Page 53

e The Licence Holder explained that they have their own procedures that go beyond
the conditions imposed by the council and suggested such conditions be imposed on
other establishments to ensure the welfare of dancers.

e They confirmed that the dancers can refuse to dance with anyone and a number of
them have female and couple customers.

¢ In response to a Members question, Eroticats explained that all their dancers were
self-employed and that they had a number of male performers on their books. He
explained that they emailed all those on their database when they were advising
them of the race week event and male performers had the opportunity to sign up.
They had also put on 3 or 4 male strip shows in the past.

o On the database they keep a record of everyone who has ever worked for Eroticats
including information regarding their conduct and behaviour, they also keep an
incidence log and incidents are rated from severe to minor. They have had situations
whereby they haven’t invited people back.

e The performer confirmed that they had a house mother who was available if any of
the girls had any issues.

e They advised that the booths can be made bigger or smaller as they are partitioned
by a curtain.

o With regards to the Eroticats van they had agreed the music wouldn’t be played past
11lpm/12am.

e The Licencee advised that they had had incidents where feminists had attended,
however, they had been politely asked to leave as a result of their behaviour towards
the girls. They were also known to the door staff and so may have been turned away
on occasions when it was anticipated that they would cause trouble. Members
suggested that venue keep a log of incidents where the group caused trouble. They
advised that they do keep a refusal log, however, those wouldn’t be broken down in
to groups i.e. feminists. The main reason for refusal was intoxication.

¢ In response to suggestions that the booths be removed, they explained that single
booths made situations easier to manage. All the door staff patrolled the area and
could see in to the booths at any one time. They had concerns that if the performers
were all in one room customers may act up in front of their friends and security would
have less control which would be potentially dangerous for the performers. The
performer confirmed that she had more control one on one and wouldn’t feel
comfortable performing to a room if someone had paid for a service.

e |t was confirmed that money for dances was taken at the desk and the performer is
then given a token which is safer than them dealing directly with money. They don’t
generally get tips, however, if they do they declare them to the management. The
manager advised they generally encourage them not to accept tips and to carry
minimal money on them, if they have over £10 they need to declare it.

Session 4 — Ward Cllrs

¢ He had long been opposed to SEV’s particularly with regards to Fantasy Club. His
main concern was that the council had a policy on areas permitted for SEV’s and
Fantasy had been granted a licence despite the fact it was outside of the permitted
area. He felt strongly that the policy with regards to permitted areas should be strictly
adhered to.



Page 54

¢ He felt that when premises did have licence the regulations were not adhered to and
that rather than spreading the councils resources thinly they should just allow
premises to operate under a TEN. In particular, he had serious concerns with the
management of Fantasy with regards to health and safety and felt there was a lot of
anecdotal evidence that girls were performing in order to pay off university fees.
From what he had seen girls had been allowed on to the roof to smoke and did not
have a chaperone at the end of the evening, they had also lied to the committee
about the money they had spent on the venue. From his past experience, the policy
hadn’t been robust and he saw SEV’s as a money making enterprise and the
opportunity for cutting corners was rife.

¢ Members felt that in contrast, the 2 Pigs was extremely well run and managed and
the safety of the girls was paramount and suggested Councillor Barnes visit with the
licensing officers.

¢ Within his ward, Councillor Barnes explained that there were a lot of objections to
SEV’s on moral grounds.

o With regards to the fact that Fantasy was outside of the permitted area, some
Members highlighted that the policy was guidance and not necessarily law and if the
committee can find justifiable reasons for varying from policy then it can do so.

e The Licensing Officer advised that a venue must pass the health and safety
regulations and that when Fantasy was in operation they had visited once or twice a
night to check they were adhering to regulations.

Closing Comments

e Reference to fax at 3.2 should be removed

e A discussion was had about 11.4 and sensitive locations, it was agreed that
reference to specific sensitive locations should be removed and instead be a catch
all.

e It was agreed that the reference to flyering in appendix 1 needed to be revisited as
the council are unable to control flyering of venues operating under the exemption.

¢ The policy should specify how long the signing in register is kept for.

e Venues should have literature in the changing area regarding coercion and the work
that GRASAC do.

¢ Move to challenge 25 rather than 21.

e A condition about door supervisors not touting for business.

o The permitted area for SEV’s should be reviewed and brought back to the licensing
committee. Some Members felt it should include the area down to the park on Bath
Road.



CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

SEV Policy Scrutiny Group — Briefing
Paper

Background — SEVs in Cheltenham

Cheltenham Borough Council has licensed and regulated sexual entertainment venues (SEVs) in
some form or another for many years.

Prior to 2009, sexual entertainment venues were not licensable and were able to operate largely
without any council control. The only requirement would have been a premises licence under the
Licensing Act 2003 authorising the sale/supply of alcohol and regulated entertainment such as the
performance of dance and playing recorded music.

Prior to the legislative change in 2009, only one SEV operated in Cheltenham which was The Blue
Room on St Margaret’s Road.

In 2009 the Policing and Crime Act 2009 came into force that introduced for the first time a formal
licensing requirement for SEVs. The Blue Room ceased trading in 2011 as a SEV.

In 2013 the first SEV licence was granted to the then Diamond Gentleman’s Club on Bath Road. That
venue, later known as Fantasy, was licensed until 2017 as a SEV.

In 2016 the council issued a SEV licence to the Two Pigs Pub on Church Street. The Two Pigs Pub
continues to be licensed as a SEV to date.

The law change in 2009 also created a statutory exemption for infrequent SEVs. The majority of
venues in the town that offer sexual entertainment do so under the statutory exemption.
Legislation

The need for alicence

SEVs are licensed as sex establishments under schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by section 27 and schedule 3 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009.

“Sexual entertainment venue” is defined as any premises at which relevant entertainment is
provided before a live audience for the financial gain of the organiser or the entertainer.

“Relevant entertainment” means any live performance or any live display of nudity which is of such a
nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or

Page10f8



principally for the purpose of sexually stimulaﬁ.s 9..ey .?gmer of the audience (whether by verbal
or other means).

Any premises that offers “relevant entertainment” more frequently than once a month, lasting
longer than 24 hours at a time, or on more than eleven occasions per year requires a SEV licence.

Premises that offer infrequent “relevant entertainment” (i.e. no more than once/month, lasting no
longer than 24 hours on each of these occasions and no more than 11 occasions/year) can do so
without the need for a licence and are free from council regulation and control.

Determination
The legislation prescribes the circumstances under which the council can refuse or revoke a SEV

licence:

1. Mandatory grounds:

a)
b)
c)

d)
e)

to a person under the age of 18;

to a person who is for the time being disqualified under paragraph 17(3)%;

to a person, other than a body corporate, who is not resident in the United Kingdom or was
not so resident throughout the period of six months immediately preceding the date when
the application was made;

to a body corporate which is not incorporated in the United Kingdom;

to a person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately preceding the date when
the application was made, been refused the grant or renewal of a licence for the premises,
vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of which the application is made, unless the refusal has
been reversed on appeal.

2. Discretionary grounds:

a)

b)

d)

that the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having been convicted of an
offence or for any other reason;
that if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the business to which it
relates would be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the
applicant, who would be refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence if he made
the application himself;
that the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time the application is
determined is equal to or exceeds the number which the authority consider is appropriate
for that locality;
that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having regard:
i to the character of the relevant locality; or
ii. tothe use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or
iii. to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in
respect of which the application is made.

The council has the power to prescribe conditions. The council’s standard conditions are attached

for reference.

! Where a licence is revoked, its holder shall be disqualified from holding or obtaining a licence in the area of
the appropriate authority for a period of 12 months beginning with the date of revocation.

Page 2 of 8



National Guidance Page 57

The Government has issued guidance for licensing authorities. The guidance is available online
(https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100408140149/http://www.crimereduction.homeoff
ice.gov.uk//crimereduction057a.pdf)

Policy

The council has adopted Policing and Crime Act 2009 in so far as it relates to SEVs. The council has
also adopted a SEV licensing policy.

The most current version of the SEV policy was adopted in October 2014. The policy document
should be read in conjunction with this briefing note.

It is an overarching principle of the policy that the council does not take any moral stand in relation
to the licensing of SEVs. The council recognises that Parliament has made it lawful to operate a sex
establishment and that such businesses are a legitimate part of the retail and leisure industries. It is
this council’s role as the licensing authority to administer the licensing regime in accordance with the
law.

Councils are able to set a limit on the number of SEVs it will permit in its administrative area —
including a zero limit.

Cheltenham Borough Council’s SEV policy has set limits on the number of SEV as follows:

a) The appropriate number of SEVs for outside of the adopted Central Shopping Area is nil.
b) The Council has resolved that it will not set a limit on the number of permitted SEVs in the
adopted Central Shopping Area providing those premises are not near properties with

sensitive uses or in sensitive locations.

Properties with sensitive uses or in sensitive locations are defined as:

a) The fact that the premises are sited in a residential area;

b) Whether the premises are sited near shops used by or directed at families or children, or on
frontages frequently passed by the same;

c) Whether the premises are sited near properties which are sensitive for religious purposes
e.g. churches, mosques, temples; and/or

d) Whether the premises are sited near premises or areas which are sensitive because they are
frequented by children, young persons or families, including but not limited to educational
establishments, leisure facilities such as parks, libraries or swimming pools, markets and
covered markets.

Equality Issues

An issue that has consistently been raised is that of council’s Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and
its interaction with the licensing of SEVs.

The PSED places a statutory duty on the council, in the exercise of its functions, to have due regard
to the need to:

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited
by or under this Act;

Page 3 0of 8


https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100408140149/http:/www.crimereduction.homeoffice.gov.uk/crimereduction057a.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100408140149/http:/www.crimereduction.homeoffice.gov.uk/crimereduction057a.pdf
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/3378/sexual_entertainment_venues_policy

b) advance equality of opportunity betwcc..gce.m?.gwho share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

Protected characteristics are:

e age

e disability

e gender reassignment

e pregnancy and maternity

e race
e religion or belief
® sex

e sexual orientation

The licensing and regulation of SEVs does fall within the council’s PSED and therefore the council
must have regard to the matters listed above when, for example, setting policy and issuing licences.

The licensing and regulation of SEVs often creates a tension between the statutory right to operate
such a venue and equality issues relating to discrimination and objectification of primarily women.

The starting point for the council is the fact that it cannot take any moral stand in relation SEVs in
recognition that Parliament has made it lawful to operate a sex establishment. This starting point
however does not mean that the council is therefore bound by the primary legislation at the
expense of other statutory requirements.

When setting policy or determining individual applications, the council must have regard to its PSED
taking into account the individual merits of each application.

Equality issues may be relevant to (not exhaustive):

1. The need to protect performers from harassment and threat;

2. The need to ensure that any protected characteristic group is not more, or less, welcome
than another;

3. The need to properly consider the fear of any protected characteristic group using and
accessing public spaces, facilities and infrastructure;

4. The need to properly understand the relevant locality and the need the need to ensure,
taking into account the relevant locality, any protected characteristic group’s view is taken
into account such as those relevant to religion or belief or race;

5. The need to consider the views and experiences of people with disabilities as a protected
characteristic group.

Some or all of these equality issues may be addressed through appropriate conditions and robust
enforcement. Equally, the licensing process may also be an important tool to achieve the same
outcome, for example, licence reviews and policy changes.

Waivers

Schedule 3, paragraph 7 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 makes
provision for the council to issue waivers. The effect is that it will remove the requirement for a
licence.

Page 4 of 8



I . age . . i
The legislation allows an applicant to apply tc Lllcguunul 1or a waiver either as part of a substantive
application or just for a waiver by itself.

The circumstances that may lead the council to grant a request for a waiver is not clear in the
legislation and therefore it should come down to local decision making and policy to define and
provide guidance. The general principle should be that regulated activity should be minimal or
largely ancillary to something else that is cannot be regarded as relevant entertainment. Examples
of this could include some nudity in a burlesque show, shops with a small amount of sex toys and
objects and/or ad hoc film festivals where erotic films are shown.

Since the legislation is silent on criteria to be applied when applications for a waiver is submitted, it
is appropriate for the council’s licensing policy to provide further guidance and set criteria to be
applied.

Proposed policy on waivers:

The power to waive licensing requirements is not a substitute for licensing, and applicants will be
expected to demonstrate exceptional circumstances in justifying why the licensing requirement
should be waived in their case.

In considering applications for waivers, the council’s general approach will be:

1. Waivers must be sought in respect of a temporary events
Waivers will not be granted for events that includes relevant entertainment (i.e. striptease,
lap-dancing, pole dancing or similar activities) recognising that a statutory exemption
already exists for infrequent sexual entertainment

3. Licensable activities (that would normally have required a licence) must principally be
ancillary and kept to an absolute minimum to other activities not licensable under the
provisions of the 1982 Act

4. Waivers will only be considered, on its merits, in exceptional circumstances

Applications will be considered by the Licensing and Committee, or delegated sub-committee thereof,
and reasons shall be given of the decision taken.

A waiver may be for such period as the Council sees fit. Where the Council grants an application for a
waiver, notice will be given to the applicant stating that it has granted the application. The Authority
may at any time give a person who would require a licence, notice that the waiver is to terminate, on
such date not less than 28 days from the date on which it gives the notice, or as may be specified in
the notice.

Page 5 of 8



APPENDIX 1

Page 60

STANDARD CONDITIONS REGARDING SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUES

General Conditions:

10.

11.

The premises shall only permit adult entertainment between the hours of ..... hours and ......
hours the following morning as determined by the licensing committee.

Only activities which have previously been agreed in writing by the Council shall take place.
The agreed activities shall take place only in designated areas approved by the Council.

There shall not be displayed outside the premises, in the immediate vicinity, or elsewhere
within the Town any advertisements, photographs or images that indicate or suggest that
striptease-type dancing takes place on the premises.

Any flyers advertising the adult entertainment must not display any photographs or images of
the entertainment and any images must be approved by the Advertising Standards Agency and
not be handed to persons who look under the age of 21. Any handbills must only be distributed
after 19.00hrs with the exception of race days. Examples of the handbills that are in use shall be
lodged with the licensing authority prior to their distribution.

No flyers or similar promotional material for the premises shall be distributed within the Town.

Rules shall be produced by the licensee for customers indicating conduct that is deemed
acceptable. These rules shall be prominently displayed at all tables and at other appropriate
locations within the club.

A clear Notice shall be displayed inside the entrance to the premises in the following terms:
“Striptease-style entertainment takes place on these premises. No persons under 18 shall be
permitted in the premises.”

The performance must not be visible from the street, and any person who can be observed
from the outside of the premises must be properly and decently dressed. Scantily-clad
individuals employed in the premises must not exhibit themselves in the entrance or in the
vicinity of the premises.

When the premises are open for Striptease/Lap/Pole Dancing no person under the age of 18
shall be permitted to be on the premises. Anyone appearing to be under the age of 21 years
shall be asked to produce valid photographic identification. If this is not produced the
individual shall be refused access.

The premises shall maintain a Refusals Log whereby any occasion a person is refused entry shall
be recorded and available upon request by the Police or an authorised officer of the Council.

Conditions regarding Performers:

12.

Striptease and similar entertainment may only take place in ‘designated areas’ that are marked
on the plan of the premises.

Page 6 of 8



The entertainment shall be provided by E§Q9U|§ll performers only. The audience must at all

13.
times remain fully-clothed.

14. Performers shall be aged not less than 18 years and the licence holder (or his nominated
deputy who is authorised in writing) shall satisfy him/herself that this is the case by requesting
valid photographic ID, if necessary, prior to the performance.

15. A ‘Signing-in’ Register shall be kept at the premises that records the time that the performer
starts and finishes at the premises. This shall be made available for immediate inspection by a
Police Officer or authorised Officers of Cheltenham Borough Council (who will carry
identification).

16. During any performance there must be no physical contact between the performer and any
member of the viewing public.

17. No performances shall include any sexual act with other performers.

18. No performances shall include any sexual act with objects.

19. There shall be no nudity by performers in public areas of the premises, unless the Council has
agreed in writing that the area may be used for performances of sexual entertainment.

20. At the completion of the relevant entertainment the performers shall dress themselves
immediately and leave the designated performance area. Performers not engaged in
performing shall not remain in any area in a state of undress.

21. Performers are not to solicit, exchange addresses or telephone numbers with customers, liaise
with customers of the premises, or incite customers to purchase alcoholic drinks.

22. An appropriate room shall be set aside to provide a changing and rest area for performers.
Access to this room shall be restricted to performers only, whilst the performers are on the
premises and shall be marked on the plan of the premises.

23. Any bodily contact between entertainers or performers or any movement that indicates sexual
activity or simulated sex between entertainers or performers is strictly forbidden.

24. Entertainers or performers not performing must not be in a licensed area in a state of undress.

25. There shall be prominently and legibly displayed a comprehensive tariff of all charges and
prices in respect of relevant entertainment, including any charge for the company of any
person working at the premises, which shall be placed in such a position that it can at all times
be easily and conveniently read by persons inside the premises.

Briefing:

26. Prior to performers carrying out any activity on the premises, they shall be briefed (verbally or

in writing) by the licence holder or his nominated deputy who is authorised in writing as to the
conditions that pertain to these particular premises, including the fact that their activities will
be recorded on CCTV. The performer(s) shall sign in the Register that they have been briefed.

Page 7 of 8



Door-Supervisors:

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

Page 62

Subject to a minimum of two, SIA-registered door-supervisors shall be employed at a
minimum ratio of 1:50 customers on the premises whilst Striptease/Lap/Pole-dancing activity
is taking place.

The licence holder, or his nominated deputy who is authorised in writing, or door-supervisors,
shall carry out regular monitoring of all areas of the premises to which the public have access,
and shall intervene promptly, if necessary, to ensure compliance with Licence conditions by
customers and performers.

Door-supervisors shall regularly monitor the area immediately outside the premises for a
distance of 30 metres in all directions and shall take steps to deal with (by alerting the Police if
appropriate) any unsavoury activity that may be attracted to the vicinity due to the nature of
the business.

A dedicated SlA-registered door supervisor shall remain at all times in any ‘private’
performance area where performers are performing nude, and shall intervene promptly, if
necessary, to ensure compliance with the Licence conditions.

When performers leave the premises they are to be escorted to their cars or taxi by a door-
supervisor or member of staff.

CCTV System:

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

A digital CCTV system shall be installed and be maintained in good working order, shall record
at all times the premises are open, and recordings shall be kept for 14 days. The CCTV system
is to be installed in all areas as recommended by the Police Crime Reduction Officer

The CCTV recording device, controls and recordings shall be kept under suitable security to
prevent unauthorised access/tampering. Access shall be restricted to the licence holder or his
nominated deputy who will be authorised in writing and no more than two designated
persons.

Unaltered CCTV recordings shall be provided on request (as soon as possible and in any event
within 24 hours) to the Police or authorised Officers of the Cheltenham Borough Council (who
will carry identification).

No CCTV footage is to be copied, given away or sold (except as required by Police/Council for
investigation/enforcement purposes).

Except in accordance with the requirements for CCTV as described above, no photographs,
films or video recordings shall be taken of the performances. Nor shall electronic
transmissions of performances take place.

Notices shall be displayed informing customers of the presence of CCTV.

Page 8 of 8



Page 63

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUE
POLICY STATEMENT

Schedule 3 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982), as amended by
Section 27 Policing and Crime Act 2009




Contents

G T 1Y YAV = 5
O Y = U] o = T A o] ] [ o%= L1 o] o IS 6
5.  Application for the Grant Of @ LICENCE.........ccoiiiiiiiiei e a e e e eaaees 6
LS TR = = 1 7
R =1 o] [T \\ o] 1 [ 7
Y T =\ 1 To] g o] = T I o7 =Y o (o - 8
L TR = =T a T2y r= | o] = N I (o= o (o 8
O R I = 10 53 (= o 8 o =Y [ 9
G T €171 o1 1] [0 = T T~ o o7 TS 12
S @] =T 1o o 1 S 12
BRI o =TT 1 0o L PP PPPPPPPPPPPPP 13
G AN o == 1SS 13
R 1= = PP 13
RS TS = g Lo F= T (o I o] o o 11 1T0] 1S 13
S Y o LT ol o3 @ o] o To 111 o] 0 K F PP PP PPPPPPPPPPPPPPP 13
A0 R B 10 = 1 (o) g I o) I o] o (o7 N 13
B = Y/ 1<V 14
(1T L=l = | O0] [0 11170 4 13 15




Page 65

Preface

This Policy Statement sets out the authority’s requirements for premises to be licensed as Sexual
Entertainment Venues (“SEVs”) within the meaning of Schedule 3 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“1982 Act’) as amended by Section 27 of the Policing and
Crime Act 20009.

Adoption of Schedule 3 also allows the Authority to set terms and conditions and fees for the grant,
variation, renewal and transfer of such licences and the number of premises to be licensed in an
area, which may be nil.

The Authority adopted the original provisions of Schedule 3 of the 1982 Act for Sex Cinemas and
Sex Shops on 25™ April 1983 and the new provisions for SEVs under the amendments of the
Policing and Crime Act 2009 on 11" October 2010.
Consultation was conducted with local residents, existing and future potential holders of SEV
licences in the Borough, the statutory responsible authorities under the Licensing Act 2003, and
holders of Premises Licenses and Club Premises Certificates under the Licensing Act 2003 in the
Borough.
The Authority does not take any moral stand in adopting this policy. The Authority recognises that
Parliament has made it lawful to operate a sex establishment and that such businesses are a
legitimate part of the retail and leisure industries. It is this Authority’s role as the Licensing Authority
to administer the licensing regime in accordance with the law.
In formulating this policy statement consideration has been given to:

a) The legal requirements of the 1982 Act (as amended);

b) The Home Office Sexual Entertainment Venues Guidance for England and Wales;

c) Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to take all reasonable steps to reduce crime
and disorder within the Borough;

d) The Regulators Compliance Code; and
e) Equality Act 2010

f) The Provisions of Services Regulations 2009 and associated Department for Business,
Innovation & Skills guidance.

The legislation may be viewed here:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/30
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 Chapter 30

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/26/section/27
Palicing & Crime Act 2009 Part 2 Section 27 — Regulation of lap dancing and other sexual
entertainment venues etc

— T — 3



http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/30
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/26/section/27

Page 66
The Borough of Cheltenham

The Authority is one of six district authorities within Gloucestershire.

The Area
Until the late 1700s, Cheltenham was a small market town that became a fashionable resort after
spa waters were discovered. Over the years it has attracted major employers and has gained a
reputation for being an international festival town. This, together with its architectural heritage,
educational facilities and quality environment, makes Cheltenham an attractive place to live, work
and play.

The borough, which includes 5 parishes, has a population of approximately 117,000 who live in 20
wards. The borough is mainly urban with some areas of surrounding countryside. It covers an area
of approximately 4,680 hectares of which 17 % is designated as green belt and 22 % as an area of
outstanding natural beauty.




Page 67

1. Introduction

1.1 This policy statement sets out the Authority’s guidance, application procedure, terms and
conditions relating to the regulation of SEVSs.

1.2 This policy statement will guide current licence holders, potential licence holders, the public
and the Authority when considering applications for SEVs.

1.3 This policy statement applies to every type of SEV (as defined in the Act) unless an
exemption applies.

1.4 Whilst each application will be considered on its individual merits, this policy statement is
intended to give prospective applicants an early indication of whether their specific
application is likely to be successful and the material facts that will be taken into
consideration when determining the application. This policy statement also sets out the
expectations of the Authority on the applicant when receiving an application.

15 Applications for grant or variation and opposed applications to renew and/or transfer, will be
determined by the Authority’s Licensing Committee. Unopposed applications to renew and/or
transfer will be determined by the relevant director in accordance with the Authority’s
constitution and scheme of delegation.

2. Definitions

The 1982 Act - This refers to Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1982 as amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009.

SEV - Means Sexual Entertainment Venue as defined by section 27(3) of the Policing and Crime
Act 2009.

The Policy Statement - This refers to this policy statement.

The Relevant Locality - Refers to the locality in which an application for a SEV licence has been
made in respect of a premises, vehicle, vessel or stall.

The Character of the Relevant Locality - The character of the Relevant Locality where the
premises is situated will be instrumental in determining whether or not the grant of a licence will be
appropriate. This is a proper matter for the Authority to consider based on local knowledge, factors
and circumstances.

The Authority - Means Cheltenham Borough Council.

The Premises - This is the premises, vessel, vehicle or stall which is subject to a SEV licence. The
premises will be in possession of all appropriate consents and permissions required to operate.

Permitted Hours - These are the hours of activity and operation that have been authorised under
the SEV licence.

3. Waivers

3.1 Schedule 3, paragraph 7 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
makes provision for the Authority to issue waivers. The effect is that it will remove the
requirement for a licence.

— T — 5



3.2

3.3

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.3.4

3.4

3.5

4.1

4.2

4.3

5.1

5.2

— T —

Page 68

The power to waive licensing requirements is not a substitute for licensing, and applicants
will be expected to demonstrate exceptional circumstances in justifying why the licensing
requirement should be waived in their case.

In considering applications for waivers, the Authority’s general approach will be:

Waivers must be sought in respect of a temporary event.

Waivers will not be granted for events that include relevant entertainment (i.e. striptease,
lap-dancing, pole dancing or similar activities) recognising that a statutory exemption already
exists for infrequent sexual entertainment.

Licensable activities (that would normally have required a licence) must principally be
ancillary and kept to an absolute minimum to other activities not licensable under the
provisions of the 1982 Act.

Waivers will only be considered, on its merits, in exceptional circumstances.

Applications will be considered by the Licensing and Committee, or delegated sub-
committee thereof, and reasons shall be given of the decision taken.

A waiver may be for such period as the Authority sees fit. Where the Authority grants an
application for a waiver, notice will be given to the applicant stating that it has granted the
application. The Authority may at any time give a person who would require a licence notice

that the waiver is to terminate, on such date not less than 28 days from the date on which it
gives the notice, or as may be specified in the notice.

Making an Application

An application for the grant, variation, renewal or transfer of a SEV licence must be made in
writing to the Authority in accordance with the requirements set out below.

The address at which the Authority will accept applications and notices is:-

a) By post/personal service to Licensing Section, Cheltenham Borough Authority, Municipal
Offices, Promenade, Cheltenham, GL50 9SA;

b) By e-mail to licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk;

c) On-line via the gov.uk website.

For all enquiries please contact the Licensing team on 01242 262626.
Application for the Grant of a Licence

The Authority may grant to any applicant a licence for the use of premises as a SEV on such
terms and conditions as specified by the Authority.

To apply for the grant of a SEV licence an applicant must:

a) Complete an application form;

b) Pay the relevant fee;

¢) Submit a plan of the premises to which the application relates showing, amongst other
things, all means of ingress and egress to and from the premises, parts used in common
with any other building, and

d) Supply details of how the premises lie in relation to the street. (See below)



mailto:licensing@slough.gov.uk

Page 69

e) Submit a site plan scale 1:1250;

f) Submit drawings showing the front elevation as existing and as proposed to a scale of
(1:100) (see below);

g) Display a notice on or near the premises (see below);

h) Advertise the application in a local newspaper no later than 7 days after the date of the
application; and

i) Send a copy of the application and plan to the Chief Officer of Police for the area within
7 days of making the application to the Authority.

5.3 Application forms are available from www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing

6. Plans

6.1 The plan of the building, unless agreed in writing beforehand, must comply with the
following:

The plan shall be drawn at a scale of 1:100 and shall show:

a) The extent of the boundary of the building, if relevant, and any external and internal
walls of the building and, if different, the perimeter of the premises;

b) The location of points of access to and egress from the premises;

c) If different from paragraph (1)(b), the location of escape routes from the premises;

d) In a case where the premises is used for more than one existing activity the area
within the premises used for each activity;

e) Fixed structures (including furniture) or similar objects temporarily in a fixed location
(but not furniture) which may impact on the ability of individuals on the premises to use
exits or escape routes without impediment;

f) In a case where the premises includes a stage or raised area, the location and height
of each stage or area relative to the floor;

g) In a case where the premises includes any steps, stairs, elevators or lifts, the location
of the steps, stairs, elevators or lifts;

h) The dressing room of performers;

i) The area where performances take place;

i) Any private screened area where a performance(s) take place;

k) In a case where the premises includes any room or rooms containing public
conveniences, the location of the room or rooms;

[) The location and type of any fire safety and any other safety equipment; and

m) The location of a kitchen, if any, on the premises.

n) The area(s) to be licensed must be clearly identified by outlining these areas in red.

6.2 The plan must include a legend through which the matters mentioned are sufficiently
illustrated by the use of symbols on the plan.

7. Public Notices

7.1 A notice must be displayed at or on the premises to which the application relates for a period
of no less than 21 consecutive days beginning with the date of the application, where it can
be conveniently read from the exterior of the premises.

7.2 Where the premises cover an area of more than 50 square metres, a further identical notice

must be displayed every 50 metres along the external perimeter of the premises abutting any
highway.

— T — 7



http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/

7.3

7.4

7.5

8.1

8.2

8.3

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Page 70

The notice must be on pale blue paper sized A4 or larger and printed legibly in black ink or
typed in black in a font size equal to or larger than 16.

The notice must state:

a) the details of the application and activities that it is proposed will be carried on or from
the premises;

b) the full name of the applicant;

c) the postal address of the premises, or in the case where there is no postal address, a
description of the premises sufficient to enable the location and extent of the premises to
be identified,

d) the date, being 28 days after that on which the application is given to the authority, by
which objections may be made to the authority and that the objections should be made
in writing;

e) that it is an offence knowingly or recklessly to make a false statement in connection with
an application and the maximum fine (£20,000) for which a person is liable on summary
conviction for the offence.

A similar notice must be published in a local newspaper circulating in the area within 7 days
of giving the application to the authority

Variation of a Licence

The holder of a SEV licence may apply at any time for any variation of the terms, conditions
or restrictions on or subject to which the licence is held.

The process of applying for a variation is the same as that for applying for an initial grant
except that a plan of the premises is not required unless the application involves structural
alterations to the premises.

Application forms are available from www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing

Renewal of a Licence

The holder of a SEV licence may apply for renewal of the licence. In order for the licence to
continue to have effect during the renewal process, a valid application form together with the
appropriate fee must be submitted before the current licence expires.

The process of applying for the renewal of a licence is the same as that for applying for an
initial grant except that a plan of the premises is not required.

The authority will not accept applications for the renewal of a SEV licence more than 3
months in advance of the renewal date.

The authority will determine renewal applications on individual merits taking into account the
facts of the application and any objections received. Opposed applications will be referred to
the authority’s licensing committee for determination. The Courts have confirmed that
authorities are entitled to look afresh at renewal applications and, accordingly, it is open to
the authority to refuse to renew a licence even where there has been no change in the
character of the relevant locality, or in the use to which any premises in the locality are put.

— T — 8



http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing

10.

9.1

9.2

11.

111

Page 71

Transfer of Licence

A person may apply for the transfer of a licence at any time.

The process of applying for the transfer of a licence is the same as that for applying for an
initial grant except that a plan of the premises is not required.

Determination

Mandatory Grounds for Refusal

11.1.1 Alicence will not be granted:

a)

b)

C)

d)

to any person under the age of 18 years;

to any person who is for the time being disqualified due to the person having had a
previous licence revoked in the area of the appropriate authority within the last 12 months;

to any person, other than a body corporate, who is not resident in an EEA State or was
not so resident throughout the period of six months immediately preceding the date when
the application was made; or

to a body corporate which is not incorporated in an EEA State; or

to any person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately preceding the date
when the application was made, been refused the grant or renewal of a licence for the
premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of which the application is made, unless the
refusal has been reversed on appeal.

11.1.2 If the authority finds any of these grounds apply then it must refuse the application.

11.2 Discretionary Grounds for Refusal

11.2.1 Alicence may be refused where:

a)

b)

d)

the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having been convicted of an
offence or for any other reason;

if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the business to which it relates
would be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the applicant,
who would be refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence if he made the
application himself;

the number of SEVs in the relevant locality at the time the application is made is equal to
or exceeds the number which the authority consider is appropriate for that locality (nil may
be an appropriate number for these purposes);

that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having regard:-

e to the character of the relevant locality; and/or

e to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; and/or
to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect
of which the application is made.

— T — 9




11.2.2

11.2.3

12.

12.1

12.2

12.3

Page 72

Applications for the transfer of an issued SEV licence may only be refused on grounds (a)
and (b) above.

Any decision to refuse a licence must be relevant to one or more of the above grounds.

Location of Premises

In deciding the appropriate number of premises to be licensed, the authority must consider
the character of the relevant locality and what is the appropriate number of SEVs for the
relevant locality. The number can be ‘nil’.

Cheltenham is a relatively small urban borough that is predominantly residential in nature.
The authority has already resolved that it is inappropriate to licence SEVs in or in the vicinity
of, amongst others, residential areas. It is the authority’s policy therefore that there is no
locality outside of the Designated Permitted Area in which it would be appropriate to license
a SEV. Accordingly the appropriate number of SEVs for outside of the Designated Permitted
Area is nil.

The authority recognise however that the Designated Permitted Area offers a more varied
situation in as much as it has a much wider mix on offer, particularly in the night time
economy and it may therefore be appropriate to consider applications for SEVs in the area.
The authority has therefore resolved that it will not set a limit on the number of permitted
SEVs in the Designated Permitted Area providing those premises are not near properties
with sensitive uses or in sensitive locations (see 11.4).

— :



Designated Permitted Area (shaded)

Page 73

& = &
4 7,
/ ',‘
5 g 2
[ Cambréy Court 3 \ :
\ Q X~ <4 4
Y asrgronaly

he Chéftenham™>.  /
Ladies' College y

A |

/Survey 100024384

ce
Fig 1 — Designated Permitted Area (shaded)

%

' CHELTENHAM

Crbwn‘;cqpynghtvah‘d database rights 2019 Ordnan

A

¢ 4 4 A
% Y
/ .
(

©




Page 74

Properties with sensitive uses or in sensitive locations

12.4

12.5

12.6

12.7

12.8

13.

13.1

13.2

14.

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

In considering if the grant, renewal or variation of the licence would be inappropriate, having
regard to the character of the relevant locality or to the use to which any premises in the
vicinity are put, the authority shall consider, amongst other things, whether the grant of the
application would be appropriate, having regard to:

a) The fact that the premises are sited in a residential area;

b) Whether the premises are sited near shops used by or directed at families or children, or
on frontages frequently passed by the same;

c) Whether the premises are sited near properties which are sensitive for religious; and/or

d) Whether the premises are sited near premises or areas which are sensitive because they
are frequented by children, young persons or families.

When determining an application for the grant of a SEV licence, the authority shall have
regard to the policy statement, the relevant guidance issued by the Home Office and
provisions set out above, but subject to the overriding principle that each application will be
determined on its merits.

Applications in respect of premises must state the full address of the premises.

Applications in respect of a vehicle, vessel or stall must state where it is to be used as a
SEV.

The authority would normally expect that applications for licences for permanent commercial
premises would have the appropriate planning consent for the property concerned.

Granting a Licence

All applications for the grant of a new SEV licence will be referred to the authority’s Licensing
Committee for determination.

In determining the application, the Licensing Committee will have regard to this policy
statement, any limitation on the number of permitted SEVs, the merits of the application and
any objections, if any, that have been made.

Objections

When considering an application for the grant, renewal, variation or transfer of a SEV licence
the authority will have regard to any observations submitted to it by the Chief Officer of
Police and any objections that have been received from anyone else within the statutory
consultation period.

Any person can object to an application provided that the objection is relevant to the
discretionary grounds for refusal of a licence.

Objections should not be made on moral grounds or values and the authority will not
consider objections that are not relevant to the grounds mentioned above.

Objectors must give notice of their objection in writing, stating the general terms of the
objection.



14.5

14.6

15.

15.1

15.2

16.

16.1

16.2

17.

17.1

18.

18.1

19.

19.1

20.

Page 75

Where the authority receives notice of any objection it will, before considering the
application, give notice in writing of the general terms of the objection to the applicant.
However, the authority shall not without the consent of the person making the objection
reveal their name or address to the applicant.

Objections may only be made within the period of 28 days following the date on which the
application was made to the authority.

Hearings

Where applications are referred to a Licensing Committee, the hearing will take place within
20 working days of the end of the period in which objections may be made.

The hearing provides all parties to the application, including those making objections, the

opportunity to air their views openly and those views will be considered by the Licensing

Committee.

Appeals

There is no right of appeal:

a) Against the mandatory grounds for refusal as detailed in section 11.1.1 (a), (b), (c), (d),
and (e) above, unless the applicant can prove that the ground of refusal does not apply

to them, and

b) Against the grounds as detailed in Section 11.2.1 (c) and (d) which can only be
challenged by the applicant by way of judicial review.

All relevant grounds for appeal, other than these detailed at point (a) and (b) above can be
made to the Magistrates Court within 21 days from the date on which the person is notified of
the decision.

Fees

The fees set are deemed to be reasonable to cover the cost of administration, enforcement
in relation to licensed operators, inspections and any hearings and are not refundable.

Standard Conditions
The Standard Conditions for Sexual Entertainment Venues are attached at Appendix 1.
Specific Conditions

Under schedule 3(8) of the 1982 Act the authority may grant to an applicant, and from time
to time renew, a licence for SEV on such terms and conditions and subject to any restrictions
as may be specified. These specific terms and conditions will be tailored for each individual
premises and each type of SEV licence.

Duration of Licence

— :




20.1

21.

21.1

21.2

Page 76

The authority, unless there are exceptional circumstances for doing so, shall grant a licence
for the maximum duration of one year at a time, to provide certainty to those persons
operating businesses.

Exempt Sexual Entertainment Code of Practice

The Government has seen fit to exempt infrequent sexual entertainment from requiring a
licence. Whilst the authority recognises and accepts this, it is also acutely aware that unless
it is properly managed there are risks to public protection & safety, an increased likelihood of
associated crime & disorder and an inability of regulatory bodies to respond accordingly.

Whilst the authority cannot legitimately impose restrictions on infrequent sexual
entertainment, it has formulated an Exempt Sexual Entertainment Code of Practice. The
intention of the code of practice is to promote responsible and properly managed exempt
sexual entertainment. The authority expects any premises wishing to offer infrequent sexual
entertainment to adhere to the code of practice.

21.3 A copy of the code of practice is attached at Appendix 2 of this policy statement.

22.

22.1

Review

This policy statement will be reviewed at least once every three years.

14



Page 77
APPENDIX 1

STANDARD CONDITIONS REGARDING SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUES

In these conditions:

‘Relevant Entertainment’ means any live performance or any live display of nudity which is of such a
nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or

principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal or
other means).

‘Authority’ means Cheltenham Borough Council.
‘Town’ means Cheltenham and refers to it in its entirety.

‘Premises’ means any vessel, vehicle, stall, building, forecourt yard, place of storage or any part of
any of these where Relevant Entertainment takes place and is the subject of a licence.

In the event of a conflict between the prescribed conditions and special conditions contained in a
SEV licence the special conditions shall prevail.

General Conditions:

1. The premises shall only permit adult entertainment between the hours of 20:00 hours and
04:00 hours the following morning as determined by the licensing committee.

2. Only activities which have previously been agreed in writing by the Authority shall take place.
3. The agreed activities shall take place only in designated areas approved by the Authority.

4. There shall not be displayed outside the premises, in the immediate vicinity, or elsewhere
within the Town any advertisements, photographs or images that indicate or suggest that
striptease-type dancing takes place on the premises.

5. Rules shall be produced by the licensee for customers indicating conduct that is deemed

acceptable. These rules shall be prominently displayed at all tables and at other appropriate
locations within the club.

Advertisements, solicitation and displays

6. There shall not be displayed outside the premises, in the immediate vicinity, or elsewhere
within the Town any advertisements that indicate or suggest that any form of Relevant
Entertainment takes place on the premises. This includes the display of any advertisement,
word, letter, model, sign, light, placard, board, notice, device, representation, drawing,
writing or any matter or thing (where illuminated or not) including in any of the following
ways:

a) by means of personal solicitation in the locality of the licensed premises;

b) by means of leafleting in the locality;

c) by means of externally displayed advertisement (such as on billboards or posters) in any
part of the Council’s administrative area.

d) by means of cruising vehicles or use of any other form of solicitation to invite people into
the premises.

— :




Page 78

Premises

7. Alterations or additions, either internal or external and whether permanent or temporary, to
the structures, lighting or layout of the premises as shown on the plan, including any change
in the permitted signs on display shall not be made except with the prior approval of the
Council.

8. A clear Notice shall be displayed inside the entrance to the premises in the following terms:

9. “Striptease-style entertainment takes place on these premises. No persons under
18 shall be permitted in the premises.”

10. The performance must not be visible from the street, and any person who can be observed
from the outside of the premises must be properly and decently dressed. Scantily-clad
individuals employed in the premises must not exhibit themselves in the entrance or in the
vicinity of the premises.

11. When the premises are open for Relevant Entertainment no person under the age of 18 shall
be permitted to be on the premises. Anyone appearing to be under the age of 25 years shall

be asked to produce valid photographic identification. If this is not produced the individual
shall be refused access.

Management and licensee
12. Where the licensee is a body corporate or an unincorporated body any change of director,
company secretary or other person responsible for the management of the body is to be
notified in writing to the Authority within 14 days of such change.
13. The premises shall maintain a refusals log whereby any occasion a person is refused entry

shall be recorded and available upon request by the Police or an authorised officer of the
Authority.

Conditions regarding performers

14. Relevant Entertainment may only take place in ‘designated areas’ that are marked on the
plan of the premises.

15. The audience must at all times remain fully-clothed.

16. Performers shall be aged not less than 18 years and the licence holder (or his nominated
deputy who is authorised in writing) shall satisfy him/herself that this is the case by
requesting valid photographic ID, if necessary, prior to the performance.

17. A ‘Signing-in’ Register shall be kept at the premises that records the time that the performer
starts and finishes at the premises. This shall be made available for immediate inspection
by a Police Officer or authorised officers of the Authority.

18. During any performance there must be no physical contact between the performer and any
member of the viewing public.

19. No performances shall include any sexual act with other performers.

20. No performances shall include any sexual act with objects.

— ’




21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

Page 79

There shall be no nudity by performers in public areas of the premises, unless the Authority
has agreed in writing that the area may be used for performances of sexual entertainment.

At the completion of the Relevant Entertainment the performers shall dress themselves
immediately and leave the designated performance area. Performers not engaged in
performing shall not remain in any area in a state of undress.

Performers are not to solicit, exchange addresses, telephone numbers or social media
contact details with customers, liaise with customers of the premises, or incite customers to
purchase alcoholic drinks.

An appropriate room shall be set aside to provide a changing and rest area for performers.
Access to this room shall be restricted to performers only, whilst the performers are on the
premises and shall be marked on the plan of the premises.

Any bodily contact between entertainers or performers or any movement that indicates
sexual activity or simulated sex between entertainers or performers is strictly forbidden.

Entertainers or performers not performing must not be in a licensed area in a state of
undress.

There shall be prominently and legibly displayed a comprehensive tariff of all charges and
prices in respect of relevant entertainment, including any charge for the company of any
person working at the premises, which shall be placed in such a position that it can at all
times be easily and conveniently read by persons inside the premises.

Literature and contact details of organisations that provide advice and counselling on
matters relating to:

(a) Modern slavery,

(b) Domestic abuse,

(© Coercive control,

(d) Rape and sexual assault,

shall be made available to performers free of charge in their changing area.

Briefing

29.

Prior to performers carrying out any activity on the premises, they shall be briefed (verbally
or in writing) by the licence holder or his nominated deputy who is authorised in writing as to
the conditions that pertain to these particular premises, including the fact that their activities
will be recorded on CCTV. The performer(s) shall sign in the Register that they have been
briefed.

Door-Supervisors

30. Subject to a minimum of two, SIA-registered door-supervisors shall be employed at a

minimum ratio of 1:50 customers on the premises whilst Relevant Entertainment is taking
place.

31. The licence holder, or his nominated deputy who is authorised in writing, or door-

supervisors, shall carry out regular monitoring of all areas of the premises to which the public
have access, and shall intervene promptly, if necessary, to ensure compliance with licence
conditions by customers and performers.

— .




Page 80

32. Door-supervisors shall regularly monitor the area immediately outside the premises for a
distance of 30 metres in all directions and shall take steps to deal with (by alerting the Police
if appropriate) any unsavoury activity that may be attracted to the vicinity due to the nature of
the business.

33. A dedicated SlA-registered door supervisor shall remain at all times in any ‘private’
performance area where performers are performing nude, and shall intervene promptly, if
necessary, to ensure compliance with the Licence conditions.

34. When performers leave the premises they are to be escorted to their cars or taxi by a door-
supervisor or member of staff.

CCTV System

35. A digital CCTV system shall be installed and be maintained in good working order, shall
record at all times the premises are open, and recordings shall be kept for 14 days. The
CCTV system is to be installed in all areas as recommended by the Police Crime Reduction
Officer

36. The CCTYV recording device, controls and recordings shall be kept under suitable security to
prevent unauthorised access/tampering. Access shall be restricted to the licence holder or
his nominated deputy who will be authorised in writing and no more than two designated
persons.

37. Unaltered CCTYV recordings shall be provided on request (as soon as possible and in any
event within 24 hours) to the Police or authorised Officers of the Cheltenham Borough
Authority (who will carry identification).

38. No CCTYV footage is to be copied, given away or sold (except as required by Police/Authority
for investigation/enforcement purposes).

39. Except in accordance with the requirements for CCTV as described above, no photographs,
films or video recordings shall be taken of the performances. Nor shall electronic
transmissions of performances take place.

40. Notices shall be displayed informing customers of the presence of CCTV.

APPENDIX 2 - Sexual Entertainment Code of Practice

1. Operators/licensees will notify the Authority & Police Licensing Sections of events where
sexual entertainment is due to take place.

— ’




Page 81

2. All sexual entertainment should only take place in one designated area inside the premises,
and this shall not be visible from outside the premises.

3. Private performances should only take place inside screened-off private booths. However,
the front of these booths must not be covered or obstructed, so that managers and SIA door-
supervisors are able to monitor activity inside the booths.

4. A clear notice should be displayed inside the entrance to the designated area stating:
“Sexual entertainment takes place on these premises. No persons under 18 shall be
admitted.”

5. Scantily clad individuals performing in the premises must not exhibit themselves in the
entrance to or in the vicinity of the premises and individuals not performing shall not remain
in any area in a state of undress.

6. Customers must at all times remain fully-clothed.

7. During any performance there must be no physical contact between the performer and any
member of the viewing public/private customer.

8. No performance shall include any sexual act with other performers, customers or viewing
public.

9. An appropriate room shall be set aside to provide a changing and rest area for performers.
Access to this room shall be restricted to performers only.

10. A minimum of one SIA registered door supervisor shall be employed in the designated area
where sexual entertainment is taking place and they shall intervene promptly to ensure
compliance with these rules.

11. The area in which sexual entertainment is to take place shall be covered by CCTV from
which footage shall be stored for a minimum of 14 days and produced to Police or Authority
officers on request.

12. A list of all performers shall be available on the premises for immediate production if
requested by Police or Authority officers. This list shall contain full names, dates of birth and
contact details (address or telephone number).

13. Rules 2, 3, 5,7,8,9 and 10 shall be drawn to the attention of all performers and promoters
prior to activity commencing.

Rules 6, 7 and 8 shall be prominently displayed to customers at appropriate locations within the
premises.

— ’




This page is intentionally left blank



CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Community impact assessments — for services, policies and projects

What is a community impact assessment?

A community impact assessment is an important part of our commitment to delivering better services for our communities. The form will help us find out
what impact or consequences our functions, policies, procedures and projects have on our communities, as well as employees and potential employees.

By undertaking an impact assessment, we are able to:

e Take into account the needs, experiences and circumstances of those groups of people who use (or don’t / can’t use) our services.
¢ Identify any inequalities people may experience.

e Think about the other ways in which we can deliver our services which will not lead to inequalities.

e Develop better policy-making, procedures and services.

o
Background S
Name of service / policy / project Licensing D
and date fo'e)

w
Lead officer Louis Krog

Other people involved in
completing this form




CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Step 1 - About the service / policy / project

What is the aim of the service /
policy / project and what outcomes
is it contributing to

The council’s sexual entertainment policy review is part of the council’s normal work to review and update policy.
Regular policy reviews are necessary to ensure policy remains effective and up to date as a regulatory tool.

Who are the primary customers of
the service / policy / project and
how do they / will they benefit

The policy sets out the council approach to the regulation of sexual entertainment in Cheltenham as a whole. To
this extent, every resident of the borough is affected to varying degrees. For example, the policy sets out where
the council will permit the licensing of sexual entertainment venues and conversely where it will not.

This policy also affects operators of sexual entertainment venues (SEV) as primary customers.

How and where is the service /
policy / project implemented

The policy will undergo political scrutiny through Cabinet, licensing committee and Council.

What potential barriers might
already exist to achieving these
outcomes

There are strong opinions on the provisions set out in the policy from both sides of the argument. There is strona
opposition to sexual entertainment in Cheltenham and the council’s role as licensing authority in this. There is
equal recognition that Parliament has made it lawful to operate a sex establishment and that such businesses «Q
a legitimate part of the retail and leisure industries. g
Within this context however, the Council does not take any moral stand in adopting this policy. It is this council’s‘h
role as the licensing authority to administer the licensing regime in accordance with the law.

Step 2 — What do you know already about your existing / potential customers

What existing information and data
do you have about your existing /
potential customers e.g. Statistics,
customer feedback, performance
information

Residents and business of Cheltenham regularly engage in the licensing process, mostly as objectors.

The council has also undertaken a scrutiny session with key stakeholders to gather information and data to
support and inform the most recent policy review.

What does it tell you about who
uses your service / policy and
those that don’t?

The conclusion of the review process including the scrutiny session has led the council not to propose any
substantial changes to the current policy position. The main objection to sexual entertainment in Cheltenham
relates to primary legislation which is outside of the council’s control.

What have you learnt about real
barriers to your service from any
consultation with customers and
any stakeholder groups?

See above.




=, 3 x
=
i=

o)
CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

If not, who do you have plans to
consult with about the service /
policy / project?

A more formal consultation will follow and this equality impact assessment will be updated accordingly at the
conclusion of the consultation.

Gg abed




CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Step 3 - Assessing community impact
How does your service / policy / project impact on different groups in the community?

Group

What are you already
doing to benefit this

group

What are you doing that
might disadvantage this

group

What could you do
differently to benefit this

group

No impact on this
group

People from black and minority
ethnic groups

No direct or specific
impact on this group.

People who are male or female

The council’s policy is
non-discriminatory. It
does not restrict itself to
specific gender or
orientation.

From consultation, the
authority is aware that
females in particular feel
disadvantaged by the
sexual entertainment and
licensing of SEVs.

This is manifested in both
a general sense of feeling
objectified and more
specifically through feeling
intimidated and
unwelcome in the vicinity
of licensed SEVs.

From experience of
licensing SEVs since 2004
(when they were first
formally regulated), there
is confidence that the
authority’s policy is robust
in addressing any
disadvantage that may be
caused to this group.

A number of policy
conditions have been
tightened up to address
some concerns raised
through informal
consultation including
those relating to behaviour
and duties on door and
promotional staff and
promotional activity in the
vicinity of licensed SEVs.

9g abed

People who are transitioning from
one gender to another

No direct or specific
impact on this group.

Older people / children and young
people

Licensing policy gives
particular attention and
consideration to
properties with sensitive

Exposure to sexual
entertainment is
inappropriate particularly
for children and young

From experience of
licensing SEVs since 2004
(when they were first
formally regulated), there




CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

uses or in sensitive
locations including

a) The fact that the
premises are sited in
a residential area;

b) Whether the
premises are sited
near shops used by
or directed at families
or children, or on
frontages frequently
passed by the same;

c) Whether the
premises are sited
near premises or
areas which are
sensitive because
they are frequented
by children, young
persons or families,
including but not
limited to educational
establishments,
leisure facilities such
as parks, libraries or
swimming pools,
markets and covered
markets.

The licensing policy also
does not permit the
licensing of SEVs in or in
the vicinity of residential
areas.

people. Whilst there are
safeguards in place,
children and young people
may find themselves in the
vicinity of licensed SEVs.

Older people may feel
intimidated and vulnerable
around or in the vicinity of
licensed SEVs.

is confidence that the
authority’s policy is robust
in addressing any
disadvantage that may be
caused to this group. This
is backed up by data.

A number of policy
conditions have been
tightened up to address
some concerns raised
through consultation
including those relating to
the restriction on leafleting,
promotional activity in the
vicinity of licensed SEVs
and review of the “relevant
locality”.

/g abed




CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

A number of the council’s
standard licensing
conditions address the
potential exposure to
sexual entertainment of
this group including
minimum age
requirements, public
notices, opening times
and requirements relating
to the appearance of SEV
venues.

People with disabilities and mental
health challenges

No direct or specific
impact on this group.

People who have a particular
religion or belief

Licensing policy gives
particular attention and
consideration to
properties with sensitive
uses or in sensitive
locations including:

a) Whether the
premises are sited
near properties
which are
sensitive for
religious
purposes.

The authority may (and
have) granted licences for
SEVSs in the vicinity of
properties which are
sensitive for religious
purposes.

Each application is
referred to the authority’s
licensing committee who
will take into consideration
the full scope of issues
before making decisions
particularly in cases where
the grant of the licence is
contrary to policy.

This includes full
consideration of the
opposing views and any
mitigation.

Full reasons are given for
any decision and this is
subject to legal challenge.

gg abed

People who are attracted to their
own sex, the opposite sex or to
both sexes.

No direct or specific
impact on this group.




CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

People who are married or in a Civil
Partnership

No direct or specific
impact on this group.

People who are pregnant or who
are on maternity leave

No direct or specific
impact on this group.

Other groups or communities —
Performers

The council’s licensing
policy, standard
conditions and scrutiny of
licence holders directly
relates to the wellbeing
and safeguarding of
performers.

There is an inherent risk
for performers given the
environment they operate
in.

This is not as a direct
cause of anything the
authority is responsible for
but is within the authority’s
power to regulate.

From experience of
licensing SEVs since 2004
(when they were first
formally regulated), there
is confidence that the
authority’s policy is robust
in addressing any
disadvantage that may be
caused to this group. This
is backed up by data, for
example, from
Gloucestershire
Constabulary on any
reported crime, disorder
and welfare.

68 abed




CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Step 4 - what are the differences

Are any groups affected in different
ways to others as a result of the
service / policy / project?

Yes — see above (Assessing community impact)

Does your service / policy / project
either directly or indirectly
discriminate?

No for the reasons set out above (Assessing community impact)

If yes, what can be done to improve
this?

N/A

Are there any other ways in which
the service / project can help
support priority communities in
Cheltenham?

Yes — see above (Assessing community impact > What could you do differently to benefit this group)

~

Step 5 — taking things forward

06 abed

What are the key actions to be
carried out and how will they be
resourced and monitored?

Formal consultation will follow and feedback will be taken into account prior to any decision on the authority’s
policy moving forward.

No additional resource requirements have been identified.

Performance and scrutiny of this policy will be undertaken through the authority’s adopted processes and
accountability in terms of decision making by officers and the Licensing Committee.

Who will play a role in the decision-
making process?

Cabinet, Council, Licensing Committee and licensing officers (in accordance with delegation under the
constitution).

What are your / the project’s
learning and development needs?

None identified.

How will you capture these actions
in your service / project planning?

N/A




Agenda Iltem 8
Page 91

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet — 11 February 2020
Adoption of revised Street Trading Policy

Accountable member Councillor Andrew McKinlay, Cabinet Member Development and Safety

Accountable officer Mike Redman, Director of Environmental & Regulatory Services
Ward(s) affected All

Key{S_ignificant Yes

Decision

Executive summary The council’s current street trading policy was approved on 12 February

2016. In May 2019 the Cabinet Member for Development and Safety
approved a draft policy for consultation.

Consultation has now been completed and this report seeks approval from
Cabinet to adopt and implement the revised street trading policy.

Recommendations Cabinet is recommended to:
1. Note the amendments to the current policy;
2. Note the consultation feedback and officer comments;

3. Adopt the revised policy for implementation.

Financial implications There are no financial implications of the amendments to this policy.

Contact officer: Andrew Knott, Andrew.Knott@publicagroup.uk,
01242 264121

Legal implications Section 3 and Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982 allows licensing authorities to control street trading
activities within their area. Cheltenham Borough Council designated the
whole of the borough a consent area. The proposed new street trading
policy must be in accordance with the powers granted in Section 3 and
Schedule 4 of the LGMP Act 1982.

Contact officer: Vikki.Fennell@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 272015

HR implications There are no HR implications of the amendments to this policy.
(including learning and

organisational Contact officer: Clare Jones, Clare.Jones@publicagroup.uk,
development) 01242264364

Key risks As outlines in Appendix 2

$fchvvzgh Page 1 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020




Page 92

Corporate and As outlined in the report
community plan
Implications
Environmental and As outlined in the report
climate change
implications
Property/Asset N/A
Implications _ o
Contact officer: Dominic.Stead@cheltenham.gov.uk

$fchvvzgh Page 2 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020




11

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2

3.3

Page 93

Background
The authority’s current street trading policy was approved by Cabinet on 12 February 2016.

The current policy sets out a commitment to keep the policy under review and proposes revisions
where they are deemed necessary, but in any event to review the policy at least every three
years.

In accordance with the above, a review of the current policy was undertaken and Cabinet is asked
to consider the policy revisions, consultation feedback and approve the draft revised policy for
adoption.

A copy of the draft revised policy is attached at Appendix 2 for reference.
Statutory Framework

The authority has adopted schedule 4 of Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982
(“the Act”) to apply in the borough. Schedule 4 of the Act enables the council to control street
trading in the borough.

As part of the adoption, the authority has designated all streets in the borough as consent streets
meaning that no street trading can take place anywhere in the borough without the authority’s
consent.

There is no statutory responsibility on the authority to adopt a policy but it is considered good
practice as it clearly sets out the authority’s approach to local street trading regulation and
provides guidance to licence holders, prospective licence holders and Members.

Policy Review

The authority’s current policy approach prescribes a number of permitted trading locations and
goods that can be sold at these locations. Whilst this approach was the right one in 2016, the
public realm has changed, as has the authority’s approach to managing it.

Accordingly, the revised policy seeks to adopt a more flexible approach. The draft revised policy
still allocates permitted trading locations (called “zones”) but, instead of also prescribing goods to
be sold there, it provides flexibility for traders to approach the authority with proposals.

Street licensing “zones” provide a number of advantages over the existing policy:
° They cover a wider footprint than the previous plots, and therefore can accommodate more
street trading. This also provides back-up options to those traders who miss out on a

particular area if it is already booked.

° They open up areas that are currently used for street trading, but are not actually a plot.
This may encourage new street traders to make applications in these areas.

° They cluster street traders closer together. This gives them presence, rather than isolation,
and may encourage greater footfall.

° They provide applicants with more flexibility in choosing a particular area within a zone.
° They are high profile locations within the town centre.
° Zones help to reimagine particular areas of public realm. Within zones, there is an

opportunity to move street furniture items to accommodate street trading — particularly for

$fchvvzgh Page 3 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020



3.4

3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

Page 94

market events.

Trading applications will be determined against revised assessment criteria as outlined in the
revised policy (4.2).

In addition, the authority also proposed a number of changes to the current policy in respect of:
The sale of real fur;

Environmental credentials of street traders and trading activities; and

Revising consultation periods.

Consultation

Consultation on the revised policy was undertaken between June and August 2019. A copy of
the consultation feedback and officer response is attached at Appendix 3 of this report.

Consultation was undertaken with:

e Existing consent holders

e The Licensing Committee

e Members of Cheltenham Borough Council

e Parish Councils

e Director of Environment

e Gloucestershire Highways

e Head of Planning

e Public Space Design Team

e Conservation & Heritage Manager

e Cheltenham Business Improvement District

e Chief Officer of Police

e The residents of Cheltenham

A number of specific issues have arisen from the consultation feedback, of note:

a) Ban on the sale of real fur — A number of respondents noted that whilst a ban is right, it needs
to be enforced properly to be effective. One respondent raised in particular issues around
training to differentiate between fake and real fur and penalties for breaches of any such ban.
It is proposed that the authority amends the standard conditions attached to consents to

include a new condition that will place the onus on the consent holder to ensure that they do
not sell or permit the sale of real fur when relying on a trading consent issued by the authority.

This will allow the council the discretion to review and / or revoke consents in cases where this

condition has been breached.

$fchvvzgh Page 4 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020



Page 95

b) Phasing out the use of single use plastics — The proposal to phase out single use plastics
associated with street trading presents a more complex picture. Respondents to the
consultation have pointed out that whilst they support the principle of it:

a. alternatives are not always better or accessible
b. examples of certain alternatives not being easily recycled or not recyclable at all
c. increased carbon footprint for alternatives
d. the need to phase in any such ban particularly for smaller businesses.
4.4  Whilst the authority is still firmly of the view that phasing out single use plastics is appropriate, the

practical implications of this requires more work and research. It is proposed therefore that
officers bring back a policy in respect of this to Cabinet at a later date in 2020 for consideration.

5. Reasons for recommendations

5.1 To ensure the authority’s regulation of street trading activities remains relevant and continues to
support the changing nature of public realm improvements around town.

6. Alternative options considered

6.1  Cabinet can decide not to approve the revised policy document. However, this is likely to result in
an outdated policy document and regulatory environment.

6.2  Alternatively, Cabinet can decide to make changes prior to approving the revised policy
document.

7. How this initiative contributes to the corporate plan

7.1  Continuing the revitalisation and improvement of our vibrant town centre and public spaces.
7.2  Achieving a cleaner and greener sustainable environment for residents and visitors.

8. Performance management — monitoring and review

8.1  The performance of the policy will be measured against the stated aims of the policy.

Report author Contact officer: Louis Krog, louis.krog@cheltenham.gov.uk,

01242 264177

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment
2. Revised policy

3. Consultation feedback

Background information 1. Cheltenham Borough Council street trading policy adopted 12
February 2016

2. Draft revised street trading policy document approved for formal
consultation, 30/05/2019, Cabinet Member for Development &
Safety

$fchvvzgh Page 5 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020




Risk Assessment Appendix 1
The risk Original risk score Managing risk
(impact x likelihood)
Risk | Risk description Risk Date Impact | Likeli- | Score | Control Action Deadline Responsible | Transferred to
ref. Owner raised 1-5 hood officer risk register
1-6

If Cabinet does not Director of May 2 3 6 Accept | Report Licensing

approve the proposed Environment | 19 recommendations Team

revised policy, it will result Leader

in an outdated policy

document and regulatory

environment for street

trading.

If Cabinet does not Director of May 2 2 4 Accept | Report Licensing

approve the proposed Environment | 19 recommendations Team

revised policy, the council Leader

could face legal
challenges to its policy
adoption and regulation.

Explanatory notes

Impact — an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical)
Likelihood — how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant, 5 high and 6 a very high probability)

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close

$fchvvzgh Page 6 of 6 Last updated 31 January 2020

96 abed



CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

)

All enquiries should be directed to:

Licensing Section
Municipal Offices
Promenade
CHELTENHAM
GL50 9SA

Tel: 01242 262626
E-mail: licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk
Website: www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing

This Policy was approved on xxx

T ,f le

] | ‘1?‘1:1
N | 4

! -

N
1_) >


file://///vmbusdata/public%20protection/Licensing/Policies/Draft%20new%20STA%20policy/licensing@cheltenham.gov.uk
http://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing

2|Page Page 98

Index

Contents

1. PUrpose Of the POIICY .....ccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 3
2. ReVIEW Of the POLCY ...t 3
3. Legislation & Designation Of SIrEEtS...........uuuuuiiiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieieee s 3
4. The Licensing and Determination PrOCESS ...........uvuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 3
v R Y g T =T I I Yo o) 1 4
E T =T 1= | N 5
LT I = 1 1S3 (=] P 5
7. SPECIAI EVENTS ..ot e et e e e e e e et b e e 6
S T 1Y =g = PP 6
1S TR @70 o 1170 LS 6
O o) 0T (ot = 0 0= o | 6
ANNEX Lo e et et e ettt e e e e e eara e aane 7
CBC PG T99-2 02 Promenade ZONE ........uuuuiiieeeeeiieeiiiiaaaeeeeeeeeaaiianssaeeaeeeennennnaaeaeees 7
CBC PG T99-2 03 High Stre€t ZONE .....covvviiiiie e 8
CBC PG T99-2 04 Cambray ZONE.........couuuiiiieie e s e e ettt e e e e e eaaan e e e 9

ANNEX 2 — StaNdard CONGILIONS ... ...t ettt enaees 10




3|Page Page 99

1. Purpose of the Policy

This policy sets out Cheltenham Borough Council’s (“the authority”) framework and
approach for the management of street trading in the borough.

Through the street trading scheme the authority aims to control:

1. the location of street traders;
2. the number of street traders; and

The scheme also aims to:

prevent unnecessary obstruction of the highway by street trading activities;
sustain established shopkeepers in the town;

maintain the quality of the townscape and add value to the town; and
encourage inward investment.

PwpdE

In doing so, the authority recognises the importance of licensed businesses to the
local economy and the character of the area whilst trying to ensure that the activities
do not cause public or statutory nuisance to the people in the area.

This policy will guide the authority when it considers applications for street trading

consents. It will inform applicants of the criteria against which applications will be
considered.

2. Review of the Policy

It is the intention that this policy will be reviewed every 3 years or more frequently
should it be deemed necessary.

3. Legislation & Designation of Streets

The authority has resolved that Schedule 4 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982 (“1982 Act”) should apply in the borough. Under Schedule 4 of
the 1982 Act, the authority can regulate street trading by designating streets as
‘consent streets’, ‘licence streets’ or ‘prohibited streets’.

The authority has designated the entire borough as consent streets. A ‘consent
street’ is a street in which street trading can only take place if consent from the
authority has first been obtained.

It is a criminal offence to engage in street trading in a consent street without consent.

There are currently no licence streets or prohibited streets within the borough.

4. The Licensing and Determination Process

This part of the policy sets out how the authority will deal with applications for
consent in the borough.

Applications can be made for:




4|Page Page 100

1. a “Fixed Pitch” (see “Permitted Locations” below);
2. a“Roaming Consent” (Borough wide consent when a schedule of
stops/streets is included with the application i.e. ice cream vans etc.)

4.1 Permitted Locations
Consents are limited to the sites identified in Annex 1.

Sites can remain with the same person for a number of years. In the event of the
consent being revoked, surrendered or if it lapses without being renewed, the
authority will accept new applications for the vacant site. This might be at any time of
the year.

If more than one application is received for any new or vacant pitch, the applications
will be referred to the authority’s licensing committee to consider the applications.
The applications will be assessed against the authority’s Assessment Criteria.

4.2 Assessment Criteria

In considering applications for the grant or renewal of a consent, the following factors
will be considered:

o Needs of the Area - The retail offer of each individual pitch. The goods
complement and do not conflict with the goods sold by other established
retailers within vicinity. This criterion permits the authority to undertake a
gualitative assessment of the goods to be sold by each competing applicant
against those on sale in the adjacent area. The authority does however
recognise that the surrounding retail offer is subject to change, therefore, it
will apply this criterion to applications for new or renewal applications.

e Public Nuisance — Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely
to represent, a substantial risk of nuisance to the public, or properties in the
vicinity, from noise, misbehaviour, emissions, smells etc.

o Public Safety — Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely to
represent, a substantial risk to the public from the point of view of obstruction,
fire hazard, unhygienic conditions or danger that may occur when a trader is
accessing the site.

The authority would expect a minimum of 6 feet (1.8m) of unobstructed
higway/walkway on at least one side of the propsed trading unit/location.

e Appearance of the Stall or Vehicle — Trading units must enhance the visual
appearance of the street and street scene rather than detract from it and be
constructed in a suitable scale, style and using appropriate materials. It
should also be designed to be fully accessible for all customers and
advertising material must be limited to the name of the stall, the type of
product sold and a simple price list and be professionally designed and
printed.




5|Page Page 101

The authority will generally not permit trading units where the unit fully, or
substantially, blocks lines of sight to established retailers in the vicinity.

Any street trading operation which negatively impacts public access by
walking, cycling or public transport will not generally be accepted.

o Environmental Credentials - The impact of the proposed operation on the
local environment, including street surfaces, tree pits & materials, power
supply, carbon footprint, supply chain, packaging, waste minimisation and
recycling, waste disposal and waste created by customers.

The authority will encourage the use of sustainable products and will consider
the trader’s environmental credentials in respect of these when considering
whether or not to approve applications. The authority will expect applicants to
submit environmental statements setting out how the applicant will operate in
an environmentally sustainable way.

5. Renewals
Consents are issued for a period of up to one year.

Consent holders should re-submit their application if they wish to continue to trade at
least one month before the expiry of their current consent. As a matter of
convenience, the authority will send renewal reminders to consent holders.

However, the authority is clear that it remains the consent holder’s responsibility to
ensure that their consent is renewed in time.

If, without reasonable excuse, a renewal application is not made before the expiry of
the current consent it will expire and the pitch will become available. A new
application must be submitted in accordance with the procedure set out above
(“Application for Consent — Permitted Locations”).

The authority may consult further to determine if the street trader is a cause for
concern or has been the subject of complaints.

Where a renewal application has been made and:
1. there have been no significant complaints or enforcement issues;
2. all fees have been paid on time; and
3. there has been no significant change to the retail environment in the vicinity
of the trading location

the consent will normally be renewed.
6. Transfers
An issued consent can be transferred. Written consent will need to be obtained

using the authority’s adopted form available on the website at
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing.



https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing

6|Page Page 102

7. Special Events

The authority recognises that there may be times when consent may be sought
otherwise than in accordance with the policy for special one-off events.

These may include, for example, one-off charitable or promotional events.

Applications of this type will be determined on a case-to-case basis taking into
account the assessment criteria set out above.

8. Markets

Street trading associated with markets will require individual consent applications
from individual traders. The market operator can act as an agent for individual
traders by submitting a single application on behalf of all the traders on the market.

Please refer to the authority’s website for further information on the application
process (https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing).

On dates and/or in locations where applications have been made for trading
associated with markets, the authority will only permit traders associated with that
market.

9. Conditions

Consents are issued subject to the authority’s standard conditions. See Annex 2 for
the authority’s standard conditions.

In addition, the authority can impose additional conditions where it is deemed
appropriate.

10. Enforcement
The authority has a responsibility to regulate street trading in the borough and is

therefore committed to enforcing the provisions contained within the relevant
legislation and to work in partnership with all enforcement agencies.

All enforcement action will be undertaken in accordance with the authority’s adopted
enforcement policy available on the website at https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk.



https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/licensing
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/

Annex 1

CBC PG T99-2 02 Promenade Zone

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Place & Growth
Townscape

Scale: 1:250 @ A3

Date: March 2019

Detail: Promenade Zone
Drawing: CBC PG T99-2 02

Key:
Promenade licensing
“zone”

Area available for
street trading and
objects on the highway

Market designated area

™ 71 Future public realm
project area: expected
delivery 2019/2020

@ streetlicensing “point”

Areas available for
street trading and
objects on the highway
which are outside of the
“zone”

® Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance]
Survey 100024384. Cheltenham Borough Council 2019

€0T abed



8|Page

CBC PG T99-2 03 High Street Zone

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Place & Growth
Townscape

Scale: 1:250 @ A3

Date: March 2019

Detail: High Street Zone
Drawing: CBC PG T99-2 03

Key:

High Street licensing
“zone”

Area available for
street trading and
objects on the highway

E Future public realm
project area: expected
delivery 2019/2020

. Street licensing “point”

Area available for street
trading and objects on
the highway which are
outside of the “zone”

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance]
[Survey 100024384. Cheltenham Borough Council 2019

0T abed



9|Page

CBC PG T99-2 04 Cambray Zone

7%

PEDESTRIANISED A

@C

e -

PEDESTRIANISED ARE/

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cheltenham Borough Council
Place & Growth
Townscape

Scale: 1:250 @ A3

Date: March 2019

Detail: Cambray Zone
Drawing: CBC PG T99-2 04

Key:
Cambray licensing
“zone”

Area available for
street trading and
objects on the highway

- Events designated area

™ =1 Future public realm
project area: expected
delivery 2019/2020

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnancel

[Survey 100024384. Cheltenham Borough Council 2019

GOT abed



Page 106

Annex 2 — Standard Conditions

1.

11

1.2

1.3
14

15

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

Definitions

“Consent” means this Street Trading Consent issued pursuant to Schedule 4
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

“Consent holder” means the person named in this Consent and for the
purpose of enforcing these conditions includes any other person engaged by
them to assist in trading (including any Nominated Assistant(s) named in this
Consent).

“Council” or “the authority” means Cheltenham Borough Council.
“Site” means the site identified in this Consent.

“Unit” means the unit described in this Consent.

Obligations on the Consent holder

Not to use the Site for any purpose other than that of the operation of the
Unit.

Not to trade or operate the Unit in such a way as to cause obstruction of the
street or danger or annoyance to persons using the street.

To adequately manage the street trading activity so as not to cause a
statutory or public nuisance (from noise, fumes and odour, for example).

To ensure that the Unit is securely erected, is of such material and design,
and so constructed and maintained that it is not liable to cause injury to any
person present on the Site or otherwise.

To pay to the Council the cost of making good any damage which may be
caused to the Site in consequence of the Consent Holder’s operations
thereon.

To keep the Site in a clean and tidy condition and to pay to the Council the
cost of carrying out any works, including cleansing of the highway, that is
required due to the Consent Holder’s use of the Site.

The Consent Holder will be responsible for cleansing of the Site and ensuring
that all refuse arising as a result of the activities of the Consent Holder shall
be placed in suitable covered containers provided by the Consent Holder,
unless otherwise provided by the authority, and shall be kept exclusively for
that purpose. Such refuse containers shall be kept as clean as is reasonably
possible and disposed of in an approved manner on a daily basis.

To observe all statutory and other provisions and regulations for the time
being in force which relate to the Consent Holder’s use of the Site.



11|Page Page 107

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

2.19

2.20

2.21

2.22

So far as is reasonable to ensure that patrons or customers of the Consent
Holder conduct themselves in an orderly manner.

To ensure that the use and storage of liquefied petroleum gas complies with
any relevant codes of practice.

The Consent Holder shall ensure that liquefied petroleum gas is not used
without the express permission of the Council and any equipment using this
gas shall have only flexible and approved armoured hoses complying with the
relevant British Standard Specification or equivalent.

The Consent Holder shall ensure that goods may not be of an inflammable,
corrosive or otherwise dangerous nature.

The Consent Holder shall ensure that no mobile generators are used without
the express permission of the Council. Where permission is granted
generators shall be so positioned that they do not present a danger to the
public, do not present a fire or similar hazard to the stall, goods displayed
thereon, or adjoining premises and do not cause any contamination, noise or
fume nuisance.

The Consent Holder shall ensure that a competent person installs all
generators and documentation must be provided to show that the generators
have been maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions.

The Consent Holder shall ensure that no combustible materials are to be
stored in the vicinity of a generator and suitable first aid fire fighting
appliance(s) must be immediately available.

The Consent Holder shall ensure that any equipment, such as a generator, is
in a safe working condition and suitably cordoned off to ensure that the
general public do not have access to the equipment.

All electric power supplied must be protected by residual current devices. Any
appliance is to be separated from the supply outlet by a fuse of suitable
rating.

All electrical cables or flexes, which are suspended over the public footway or
carriageway shall be adequately supported.

All electrical cables or flexes, which run along the ground and are in a position
where the public could come into contact with them, they must be fitted with
rubber cable protecting mats.

To ensure that the dimensions and appearance of the Unit at all times accord
with the details agreed by the Council upon the issue of this Consent.

To maintain the Unit in a clean and tidy condition.

To indemnify the authority from all claims, damages and costs in respect of all
spillages, accidents, damage and injuries arising during or in consequence of
the use of the Site to any person or property caused by the Consent Holder’s

operations or caused by any act, neglect or default of the Consent Holder, his




12|Page Page 108

2.23

2.24

2.25

2.26

2.27

2.28

servants or agents (whether with or without the knowledge of the Consent
Holder) to take out and on request produce to the Council a policy of public
and product liability insurance covering no less than £5,000,000.

At all times while trading to display in a conspicuous position on the Unit the
street trading permit issued by the Council.

To forthwith inform the Council in writing of the details of any change in the
operation or staffing of the Unit (including changes in details of Nominated
Assistants) or the sale or transfer of the Consent Holder’s business to another

party.

The Consent Holder(s) shall notify the Council’s Licensing Section within 72
hours of any convictions or proceedings arising out of the use or enjoyment of
the Consent.

The Council may revoke or suspend this Consent at any time in the event of:
° The breach by the Consent Holder, their servants or agents (included

Nominated Assistants) of any of the conditions herein or any
supplemental/additional conditions imposed by the authority; or

° Work being carried out in, under or over the highway on which the Unit
is located; or

o A change in Council Policy which necessitates termination of this
Consent; or

° Circumstances outside the authority’s control which necessitate

termination of this Consent forthwith.

The trader shall not place on the street or in a public place any furniture or
equipment other than as permitted by the Consent and he must maintain the
same in a clean and tidy condition and not place them so as to obstruct the
entrance or exit from any premises.

The Consent Holder(s) shall not sell or permit the sale of any products
containing or made up of real animal fur.




13|Page Page 109

SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR MOBILE ICE CREAM TRADERS
Trading prohibited in the following streets or parts of streets:

a) High Street (from Sandford Park entrance to Townsend Street)

b) Promenade (from High Street to Montpellier Walk)

c) Clarence Street

d) North Street

e) Pittville Street

f) Regent Street

g) Rodney Road

h) Winchcombe Street (from High Street to Warwick Place)

i) Imperial Square

i)  Montpellier Walk

k) Montpellier Street

l) Warden Hill Road (within 100 meters of frontage to Bournside School), both
sides of the road in any direction, during the period half an hour before school
opening to 1 hour after closing during school terms).

m) Loweswater Road (from the junction with Alma Road to the junction with
Langdale Road during the above period and times).

n) Evesham Road and roads adjacent to Pittville Park.

2. Trading prohibited within 75 metres of the gates of all schools, except Bournside
School (see Special Condition 1) on both sides of the road in any direction during the
period half an hour before school opening to one hour after closing during school
terms.

3. The consent holder shall not, without the prior permission of the authority, trade in
any particular location for more than 30 minutes at any one time and shall not return
to that particular location, or any position in the immediate vicinity thereof (which
expression shall be as interpreted by the authority), within 2 hours of leaving it.

4. The consent holder shall comply with all traffic regulations, rules, orders and
directions which apply to the public highways on which he trades.

5. The consent holder is required to comply with the Code of Practice on Noise from
Ice-Cream Van Chimes Etc. in England 2013 or any modification or re-enactment
thereof.




This page is intentionally left blank



Adoption of Revised Street Trading Policy

Appendix 3

Response

Officer comment(s)

Please find below my feedback regarding the consultation on the revised Street Trading
Policy.

Firstly, | do not have, or know anyone that does, a business or an interest in either an
established or street trading business in Cheltenham. However, | do have concerns that
the proposed revised policy wording below is vague and would be hugely open to
interpretation:

The council will generally not permit trading units where the unit fully, or substantially,
blocks lines of sight to established retailers in the vicinity. Any street trading operation
which negatively impacts public access by walking, cycling or public transport will not be
encouraged.

| saw the recent coverage regarding The Flower Man off the Promenade, which | happen
to think is a quality, well-presented local business that adds variety and interest to the
town without negatively impacting on surrounding businesses in any way. The Green
Coffee machine coffee cart opposite Barclays Bank and the falafel cart outside Thomas
Cook on the High Street also do this, mobile phone cover sellers less so.

All of these long-standing quality Cheltenham small street businesses could be
considered by some to be blocking lines of sight or restricting access in some way. But
they also clearly support the third aim in your adopted policy: "maintain the quality of
the townscape and add value to the town".

So | would suggest that this proposed assessment criteria is poorly and vaguely worded,
leaving room for personal or collective interpretation that could benefit some traders
whilst negatively impacting others, for example those that necessarily require larger
stalls or those that repeatedly have complaints raised against them by fixed site

Licensing policy acts as a guide for officers, members, applicants
and the public to aid understanding of the council’s approach to,
in this case, regulating street trading activity in the borough.

Whilst there is a general presumption that the council should
not arbitrarily deviate from its adopted policies, it is also the
case that policy cannot fetter the discretion of decision makers.

The wording referred to in the comment is deliberate as it acts
as a guide on the general approach to be taken by the council
whilst leaving sufficient scope for officers and Members to apply
some discretion in cases where this is deemed appropriate.

It must also be made clear that nothing in the policy is
specifically aimed at any particular trader as referred to in the
consultation response.

TTT abed



retailers. This policy wording needs addressing and clarifying before being implemented.

| assume Councillors, as local residents too, can respond to the consultation.
| am delighted to support the proposed changes but do not feel they go far enough.

On the appearance of the stall | would change ‘will not be encouraged’ to ‘will not
generally be accepted’.

On environmental credentials there should be a presumption against the use of single
use plastic associated with catering stalls such as cutlery, cups, plates and other types of
crockery, also straws. There is no reason to use these plastic items as alternatives are
easily available, so stalls using single use plastic will not be permitted. THIS WOULD
EXTEND TO INCLUDE BALLOONS AND OTHER SINGLE USE PLASTIC NOVELTIES.

On real fur I would support a complete ban on the sale of any real fur products.

Policy amended accordingly.

Officers are of the view that the proposed wording in the policy
does this in practice already. The policy deliberately does not
seek to define “single use plastic” as this will limit the effect of
the policy provision. Instead, each case will be determined on its
individual merits.

Please ban the sale of fur and single use plastic. | support restrictions being imposed on
traders for them to get licenses to sell at markets.

Comments noted.

The council is seeking views on whether it should ban the sale of real fur relating to any
street trading activities that require a consent.

The council recognise the various views on the debate and also the fact that the sale of
real fur in the UK is not unlawful. However, the council also acknowledge the animal
welfare concerns associated with the trade and sale of real fur.”

Background

e The fur trade is horrifically cruel and unnecessary. As such fur farming has been
illegal in this country since 2000 and surveys after survey reveal that over 90% of
people in the UK refuse to wear real animal fur (for example https://bit.ly/2MSKjLI)

The council’s proposed future policy on real fur is outlined in the
officer’s report taking into account the comments made.

21T abed



The public has a right to be able to exercise their ethical beliefs. However, recent
years have seen the increasing problem of real fur being mislabelled as fake fur or
not labelled at all (https://www.hsi.org/news-media/online-real-as-faux-122017/)

There is no legal requirement to use the specific word "fur" on items containing real
fur. EU regulations do require items defined as “textile products” to carry the
confusing wording “contains non-textile parts of animal origin”. However, as well as
not clearly telling consumers it means "real animal fur", in practice this wording
requirement is rarely adhered to at all. Furthermore, footwear or non-garment
accessories such as handbags and keychains are excluded from even this confusing
labelling requirement (ibid)

Local context

In December 2018, | found the same brand of real fur gloves being sold as fake fur on
two separate occasions in Cheltenham, once at Geraud market
(https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/news/cheltenham-news/campaigners-anger-
after-real-fur-2326778) and once at a shop called Sugar Loaf in the Regent Arcade
(now closed down).

This was despite Geraud market stall holders being told they could not sell real
animal fur.

On both occasions the trader’s paperwork stated the fur was fake, and the traders
themselves did not appear to be able to differentiate between real and fake fur.
However further inspection by market inspectors (and latterly Trading Standards)
revealed it was real fur (I can provide a sample with a receipt and photographs if
required).

Furthermore, myself and my fellow animal rights campaigners did several outreach
events in Cheltenham in response to this to teach people how to spot the difference
between real and fake fur. We spoke with over 200 people in total. All of them were
against wearing real animal fur. However, not only did the majority not know how to
spot real fur, they thought the sale of it was illegal in the UK.

¢TT abed


https://www.hsi.org/news-media/online-real-as-faux-122017/
https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/news/cheltenham-news/campaigners-anger-after-real-fur-2326778
https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/news/cheltenham-news/campaigners-anger-after-real-fur-2326778

Recommendations

e Given the confusing labelling requirements around real animal fur and the fact that
many members of the public are not able to spot real animal fur, it would appear
there is a need for traders to take some responsibility in ensuring the public do not
accidentally buy real fur. | would therefore recommend:

A ban on the sale of real animal fur at street trading activities that require consent.

e However given that street traders | spoke with were unable to recognise real fur |
would also recommend:
Street traders are provided with instructions about how to spot the difference
between real animal and fake fur

e To incentivise traders (or the market provider) to comply with a ban | would
recommend:
A penalty system for (e.g. a fine) if traders are found to be selling real animal fur

| am writing to respond to the street trading policy consultation.

The Flowerman Stall: | support this business retaining it’s current pitch locations on
Cheltenham High Street and Promenade.

Furthermore | object to the addition in the assessment criteria — The council will
generally not permit trading units where the unit fully or substantially blocks lines of
sight to established retailers in the vicinity.

Whilst neither of the Flowerman stalls blocks the view to other businesses near to them,
this change of wording creates unacceptable business risk to not just this business but
other stall holders because it will be down to members of the licensing committee to
interpret what is meant by ‘substantially’. The opinion of what is substantial can only be
a subjective opinion of whoever is on the committee at any one time, this creates unfair
and unacceptable risk to business owners and their employees. | fear it will be used by
members of the committee to justify their personal opinion on the worthiness of the

The policy is not specifically aimed at any particular trader as
referred to in the consultation response.

Preventing the obstruction of the streets by street trading
activities is an existing policy aim. The revised policy wording
has taken learning form issues that has arisen since the last
policy review including the revised provision that “The council
will generally not permit trading units where the unit fully or
substantially blocks lines of sight to established retailers in the
vicinity.”

The revised wording makes it clear that the test will relate to
“fully or substantially” blocking lines of sight. It is not intended
that this proposed provision be used either in cases where the
committee has deemed existing trader not to be “fully or
substantially” blocking lines of sight or where the blockage is

yTT obed



Flowerman stall or other street traders which will have the impact of creating more
uncertainty to this sort of trade in the town.

| do strongly believe market stalls have the ability to add diversity to the retail offer in
the town centre and complement fixed traders and should be encouraged to help foster
a viable town centre. We should not be creating policies which will stifle entrepreneurial
spirit and restrict retail to just fixed traders.

| would like to see Cheltenham Farmers markets allowed to trade until later in the day.
Currently they start packing up at about 2.30pm which it seems to be is incredibly
environmentally unfriendly if nothing else as they come here, some over quite long
distances, | would like to see the time they are here be longer so they can trade more so
the additional environmental impact is worth it. | actually really love the farmers market
but | am not in town in the mornings so never get a chance to visit it, | really think it is a
wasted opportunity for stall holders and the town a it currently is.

Also Cheltenham needs a night market with street food and live music
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/web/st-nicholas-markets/st-nicholas-night-market . It really
is incomprehensible to me that our market offer is so middle of the road and not seen
by anyone with any power as a really useful means to bring more visitors to the town. |
know that idea is sort of grudgingly understood but it is not grasped with enthusiasm for
fear of irritating fixed traders. But if a market was in the evening with a retail offer as
well as street food not available in the town it would really help create more of a family
friendly atmosphere that just leaving the evenings to the theatre goers or clubbers.

On the note regarding real fur being sold on market stalls, | would suggest it would be a
really good idea for the borough council to ban its sale on our street markets for a
number of reasons. This is not simply from an anti fur perspective but because it has
been reported widely that people who do not wish to buy real fur have inadvertently
bought it when being told an item is faux fur https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/newsbeat-
46809757 It is very difficult even for traders to know if they are selling real fur or faux
fur and some people just avoid buying any of it so they don’t get caught out which is not
beneficial to traders. It would be far better for us to have a clear, unequivocal policy

minimal.

As regulator, the authority will play is role in determining any
applications for markets. It is not with the licensing committee’s
function to establish new markets.

As regulator, the authority will play is role in determining any
applications for markets. It is not with the licensing committee’s
function to establish new markets.

The council’s proposed future policy on real fur is outlined in the
officer’s report taking into account the comments made.

GTT obed



which we can be supported to uphold by charities such as Respect for Animals who have
resource to test samples of fur to see if they are manmade or not -
http://www.respectforanimals.org/

From an environmental perspective using farmed animals to produce basically cosmetic
trims like hat pompoms or glove decoration is not environmentally friendly -
http://www.respectforanimals.org/fur-is-not-green/ The council has agreed a climate
change emergency but allowing animal trims to be sold on markets we license
contributes to the very unhealthy state of our planet.

Real fur is cruelty, it is torture of sentient beings through incredibly awful lives then
tortuous death for human beings vanity. | know from a marketing perspective that if
CBC describe our street trading policy as anti real fur will be hugely beneficial to the
image of our town as a compassionate, progressive and ethical place to visit and shop.
People who do still want to purchase real fur will be able to via private shops if they
wish so the licensing policy will not infringe civil liberties but it will make such a positive
statement.

| really love the Christmas market that comes to Cheltenham but a large amount of the
stalls are not really reflecting the change in consumer behaviour that is reflected in the
huge increase in people rejecting the use of animal products as clothing, food etc.
People are waking up to the cruelty to animals killed for food or other resources and
also realising that animal industry hurts human beings too through the pollution and
damage it is causing to our planet.

| really am passionate about Cheltenham trying to get a grip on being more progressive
in the way we organise our public life and promote our town. Some times it all feels a
bit tired and dated because well that is just how we do it here and we don’t want to
cramp people’s style. Let’s be bold for change and say its time to make real fur history
because Cheltenham is too good for the cruelty and environmental damage it
represents.

Real fur — The council is seeking views on whether it should ban the sale of real fur
relating to any street trading activities that require a consent.

91T abed



Dear Sir / Madam,

With reference to this matter | am totally against the trading if real fur items. Real fur is
often mislabelled (illegal) and is immoral and extremely cruel. Cheltenham should not
be promoting this evil trade. Thank you for noting my views.

The council’s proposed future policy on real fur is outlined in the
officer’s report taking into account the comments made.

Sir/Madam
| write in support of a total ban on the sale of real fur by street traders in Cheltenham.

| have been opposed to the sale of real fur for many many years. The UK made fur
farming illegal in 2000 but failed to make the selling of real fur illegal. Consequently,
many people are under the misapprehension that the selling of real fur is also illegal
because of this and having spoken to quite a few members of the public on this subject,
| found that most were horrified to know that real fur is still being legally sold, here on
the streets of Cheltenham and of course elsewhere. They were very concerned when
they realised that products they had purchased as 'fake fur' could well be real, as there
have been quite a few cases of this happening and even traders seem unaware of what
they are selling.

Animals are treated appallingly in fur farms, often killed in cruel ways to avoid pelt
damage and just because it doesn't happen in the UK, we most definitely should not be
complacent in our attitude towards the innocent victims of vanity.

| am therefore requesting the Council bans the sale of real fur products by street
traders and that it enforces this ban rigorously, by substantially fining traders who fail to
adhere to this ban.

The council’s proposed future policy on real fur is outlined in the
officer’s report taking into account the comments made.

Hi, here is my response to the street trading consultation. I live in Cheltenham.

| don't own nor work in a shop, and | don't own nor run a street stall. I'm commenting as
a resident.

/TT abed



1) The web page announcing the policy has this:

"The council will generally not permit trading units where the unit fully, or substantially,
blocks lines of sight to established retailers in the vicinity. Any street trading operation
which negatively impacts public access by walking, cycling or public transport will not be
encouraged."

a) Flower stalls are an attractive addition to the town and it is important to protect
them, especially in Ormand Place. That street is somewhat unattractive. The view of the
regent Arcade and car park isn't nice, and having the flower stall there very much
improves the percieved quality of the town. That stall does not block visibility. Local
shop keepers need to realise that any shop which is off a main thoroughfair will see
reduced footfall irrespective of sightlines.

b) Some activities during Cheltenham Gold Cup Race week feel like they're disrupting
cycling - all the gubbins along Winchcombe Street make cycling a bit more dangerous.
(And it's already a bit more dangerous than it should be because of the weird mix of
two-way cycles with one-way cars.)

2) The document talks about single use plastics. Of course single use plastics are an
important issue. More important would be total carbon output. Switching away from
single use plastics would increase CO2 being used to create and transport packaging.
I'm not persuaded that | can support a restrictive policy on street traders using single-
use plastic while allowing huge multi-billion dollar business to carry on as normal. (eg
KFC distribute plastic straws packages in a plastic sleeve.)

3) I'd welcome a ban on real fur but the council would need ot have a coherant policy.
Would it only include fur from animals that we do not eat?

4) The policy talks about conflict with local established retailers. | think we need ro look

The policy is not specifically aimed at any particular trader as
referred to in the consultation response.

Not within scope of this policy review.

The council has given a commitment to address the use of single
use plastics though this policy review and its recent climate
emergency declaration. It is acknowledged that this will not be
the entire solution but a start towards it.

The council’s proposed future policy on real fur is outlined in the
officer’s report taking into account the comments made.

The policy recognise the contribution by street traders to the

gTT abed



at the number of local closed shops and units and realise that a sucessful street stall is
potentially a business that can move into one of these closed shops.

5) There's a lot of talk about public safety and public nuisance. These require active
enforcement. | don't know if all the shenanigans during race week count as street
trading or not, but it's clear that there is a lot of litter and noise created by the gambling
shops (again, multi-million pound businesses) that isn't cleared up and a lot of alcohol
being sold to people who are obviously drunk (an offence) and there's no visible
enforcement. Race week is pretty miserable for people who live on Winchcombe Street.

To summarise: | like flower stalls. | welcome strong guidance for street trading, but this
requires enforcement and we need to welcome small businesses. We also need a bit of
parity of enforcement between small businesses and huge multinationals selling junk
food, alcohol, or gambling products.

town. Whether they chose to occupy retails units or not is not in
scope but the comments is noted.

Not within scope of this policy review.

My response to the proposed changes to the street trading policy:

e | would fully support the banning of sale of real fur.

e | would say that the issue of single use plastic is more complex and whilst it
should be an ambition it needs more research and thought before a complete
ban is introduced. This is for the following reasons:

o Smallindependent traders need time to make changes to their business
practices.

o Some alternatives to plastic, whilst advertised as compostable, can only
be composted in industrial composters — e.g. hot composters. They
cannot be home composted and as some of them look very much like
plastic if they were put in plastic recycling bins they could contaminate
the plastic.

The council’s proposed future policy on real fur is outlined in the
officer’s report taking into account the comments made.

The consultation document acknowledged the complexities
around this matter. Whilst the council has given a commitment
to address the use of single use plastic is so far as it relates to
street trading activities, we acknowledge the complications
associated with this approach.

6TT abed



o Some paper products have a larger carbon footprint than plastic
products.

e | would be in favour of a longer consultation period for applications.

| thought this website might be of relevance when communicating with traders in
Cheltenham, and creating new policy:
https://www.polybags.co.uk/shop/biodegradable-starch-based-carrier-bags c1084.htm

And of course you are aware of the Plastic-Free Cheltenham Facebook group and
Foodloose.

Comments noted.

Response and questions from Cheltenham BID

What is not clear in the policy are the benefits that it is felt that casual street traders
bring to the town. Unless they offer products that are very different to what is already
available from full-time businesses who are paying business rates and making a year-
long contribution to the town, why are so many allowed to trade, often against the
advice of the council’s officers?

The BID would also like to understand what commitment there is from councillors on
the Licensing committee to follow the revised policy when they have frequently ignored
its predecessor?

The Council recognises that street trading is a lawful activity and
forms a legitimate part of the retail industry in the town. It is this
council’s role as the licensing authority to administer the
licensing regime in accordance with the law.

The council wish to regulate the retail market and access to that
market through this policy.

The council will deal with applications in the way prescribed in
the constitution and probity guide acknowledging the general
principle of not deviating arbitrarily from policy. However, the
policy cannot fetter discretion and must leave scope for
determining applications on a case to case basis.

02T obed


https://www.polybags.co.uk/shop/biodegradable-starch-based-carrier-bags_c1084.htm

The policy says that it aims to “sustain established shopkeepers in the town”. It would
be helpful if the policy clarified how the council is doing that.

We are concerned that the new policy seems to include a significant change in that it
will no longer have clearly defined sites where particular goods e.g. flowers can/can’t be
sold. We think other consultees could have missed this. Why is not highlighted in the
“Proposed changes” section on the website?

In 4.3, it is stated that when an application is made, the council will consider whether
“The goods complement and do not conflict with the goods sold by other established
retailers within vicinity”. The Licensing committee has frequently approved traders who
are in direct competition with retailers nearby.

There is a case for using streets like High Street and Regent Street for focussed, quality
markets that would attract footfall to existing businesses but there seems to be an
obsession in approving one-off stalls of lesser quality even when it is directly against the
wishes of neighbouring businesses.

Under 5. Renewals, it is stated that the council may consult again “if the street trader is

a cause for concern or has been the subject of complaints”. Please add to this, words to
this effect - “... or where the application was opposed when it was first made”.

On the consultation timescale, | would support the proposal to extend the period for
consultations from seven to 14 days to allow sufficient time for responses.

On the map of the Cambray Zone, there does not seem to be any permission available

See comment above.

This was noted in the consultation document under the “Street
trading zones and points” section.

Comments noted.

As regulator, the authority will play is role in determining any
applications for markets. It is not with the licensing committee’s
function to establish new markets.

The proposed wording as suggested by the response will only be
relevant if, after a committee decision, there has been a material
change that would/could alter the decision made by the
committee previously. Officers retain the ability to refer any
application to the committee at any time which could alleviate
some concerns about this.

Comments noted.

The locations have been updated as per the revised policy.

T¢T abed



for traders to operate outside Next and the surrounding area. Has this changed from the
previous policy?

Please find as follows Environmental Protection’s comments on the proposed policy:

1. We remain supportive of the principles of the policy and welcome the consistency
it gives

2. Section 1: purpose — reference to ‘nuisance and annoyance’ —recommend this
wording is changed to ‘public or statutory nuisance’, unless licensing are able to
regulate against ‘annoyances’?

3. Section 4: the licensing and determination process — from a customer perspective,
it may be useful to mention the role of consultees and what they would be
commenting on or looking for in an application. 4.1 only states that the licensing
committee will assess applications against the council’s criteria for assessment. In
systems thinking terms, we are more likely to get ‘clean ‘applications if we set out
the requirements of each consultee as well as committee

4. Para4.2, second bullet point ‘Public Nuisance’ — we would have worded this para
differently if it only applied to EP assessment of public nuisance, but we understand
this in relation to the licensing committee’s assessment of it? For example — EP
would deal with ‘misbehaviour’ as ASB not public nuisance. The other examples of
emissions and smells are also more likely to give rise to statutory rather than public
nuisance.

5. Para 4.2 Public nuisance — as an applicant or a complainant or Member, it would be
useful to know what you mean by ‘a substantial risk of nuisance’ and how the
cumulative impact of these applications will be assessed

6. There is no reference to statutory nuisance but this is covered in comment 3 above.
Noise from a loudspeaker in a street is more likely to be a stat nuisance than a
public nuisance for example.

No reference to annoyance in section one.

These are already outlined 4.2 of the revised policy

Comments noted.

The individual circumstances will dictate how the application is

determined, for example, the nuisance that may result from the
proposed trading. Public Protection is a consultee and will have
an opportunity to comment on the impact of proposed trading.

2cT abed



10.

11.

12.

13.

Para 4.2 third bullet point — public safety — would be useful to expand on what is
meant by ‘substantial risk to the public’. If the ‘unhygienic conditions’ is supposed
to relate to food safety, -please can you change the wording accordingly. It would
be for useful to know how licensing assess this please, or maybe this is something
we can work on together.

Para 4.2 last bullet point — environmental credentials — great to see this in the
policy as sustainability should be a key consideration of all commercial
enterprises/operations — as long as such schemes do not have the potential to give
rise to a nuisance. We understand the council does not have a sustainability officer
at the moment so it would be good to know who has the expertise to assess against
this criteria in the interim. If we can be of help in this respect, do let us know.
Section 5, renewals — ‘the council may consult further to determine if the street
trader is a cause for concern or has been the subject of complaints’ — for our
information, please can you advise who else would be consulted and what, if any,
impact this would have on an EP representation

Also section 5 — ‘where a renewal application has bene made and: 1) there have
been no significant complaints or enforcement issues’ — please expand or define
what is meant by ‘significant’ for example do you mean a certain number of
complaints or enforcement issues, or substantiated ones or ones that you or LC
would consider to be the most serious?

Section 7 markets — please be aware that although ‘the council...would be inclined
to be supportive of market applications of this type’ —in the world of EP, the usual
considerations re nuisance and pollution would still apply

Annex 2 standard conditions — 2.3 — we would prefer this wording please ‘To
adequately manage the street trading activity so as not to cause a statutory or
public nuisance (from noise, fumes and odour, for example).

Annex 2, para 2.13 — please advise who in the council gives this express permission
for the use of generators? We note there is reference to fumes and noise in this

See comments above. In addition, the policy should avoid
statutory duplication and where there is other primary
legislation, i.e. food hygiene, this should take precedence. Public
Protection are consultees and will have an opportunity to
comment on the impact of proposed trading.

It is acknowledged that this proposal requires further work to
develop.

Will be dealt with on a case to case basis. This is not a new
provision in the revised policy and no proposal to amend this.

As per the above.

Comments noted.

Comments noted and policy revised.

Will be determined as part of application determination.

c¢T abed



clause, which indicates the ‘permission giver’ would need to liaise with EP.

14. Special conditions for ice cream traders —the 1984 CoP was revised in 2013 so
these conditions should match the revised CoP please and reference should be to
the current version

15. Food safety —where the application relates to a food vendor, the Licensing Officer
or committee could use the national food hygiene ratings website to ensure a high
standard of food hygiene through street trading consents, if this is appropriate. A
rating of 3 or above means the business is broadly compliant with food safety and
hygiene legislation.

Already makes reference to the Code of Practice on Noise from
Ice-Cream Van Chimes Etc. in England 2013.

Comments noted.

| have only the following comment to add to the Licensing consultation on Revised
Street Trading Policy.

“There is reference at 4.1 to the need for a minimum clearance width for pedestrians
‘maintaining a 2m (6 foot) clear footpath’ . In the relatively recent past the Licensing
committee has tended to use 1.8M, and this is much nearer to 6 feet than 2M. This
difference is not a subtle one, and if the minimum clearance was increase to 2M a lot of
locations would become effectively barred to being licensed. In practice 1.8M is
generous | think, and more than enough for two mobility scooters or two double
buggies to pass with more besides. | propose changing to ‘maintaining a 1.8M (6 foot)
clear footpath’ .“ —END

Comments noted and policy revised.

2T obed



The Flowerman, Cheltenham — formal representation to Cheltenham Borough
Council's Streeot Trading policy review

Dear sir or madam,

I am writing to respond to your current Street Trading Policy consultation. | am the
owner of the business known as The Flowerman and trade from two Fixed Pitch
town centre sites.

These are both shown in your consultation in Annex 1, CBC PG T99-2 02
Promenade Zone and CBC PG T99-2 03 High Street Zone.

| have worked on these stalls for 30years and owned the business since 1996

Owning a professionally run and attractive stall involves often hard, physical manual
work and working outside in all weathers; not something all people would enjoy. The
fantastic support our stalls have received over the years from membaers of the public
has made it all very worthwhile.

At all imes since my involvement with this business, | have prided myseilf on creating
an attractive stall with high quality seasonal flowers, not only for people to buy but
also to enjoy as they pass by. It has not always been an easy road however and at
times other traders have tried to get our Promenade stall moved.

The locations shown on the map are essential to our takings and the sustainability of
our business. We have moved at different times whilst temporary work was being
undertaken to the detriment of our takings.

| must stress that not all traders have complained about us. Sitluated where we are
on the Promenade for example, we often get asked for recommendations for
businesses, for example coffee shops nearby.

None of the many cafes and restaurants in Regent Street is easily visible from the
Promenade; our stall does nol affect this. When asked we always suggest small
local businesses nearby such as The Find which people may not otherwise know
about.

As a small business ourselves we seek to actively work with existing traders in a
harmonious way to benefit us all. Since the recent licensing applications reviews and
renewals | have been working positively with neighbouring business Beard's, who
had previously raised concerns about some breaches of our stall during our busiest
times.

GeT obed



In February we ran a Valentines promotion jointly with them. We believe this joint
working and support is the way all businesses in the town centre can flourish in an
otherwise challenging environment for retail.

1 also want councillors and licensing officers to understand that running a street stall
is not just physically demanding but it is also an investment in a business which
takes time and money to build. The Flowerman stalls have grown and improved over
the years to respond to the demand for our products.

Any stallholder on a permanent pitch needs to make considerable investment in
items such as vehicles, website, staff training etc. and all the behind the scenes
equipment needed to deliver a first class business.

Because of this, the locations of our slalls, and subsequent ability to make the
business profitable to cover the many costs, is essential. The location and
importantly certainty about sites is so important for any street trader looking to invest
for the long term; not just to create a sustainable business but also to have a
business that is an assel for Cheltenham.

With these points in mind for the future of our business it is very welcome to see in
the draft policy at 4.2 Street Trading Points it says that -

These are special areas identified by the council where existing trading
locations have historically existed and deemed to have worked well.

The thousands of people who have signed a petition in favour of our Promenade stall
also agree this location works well. This is confirmed in the recent Decision Notice
we received which stated at point 4. The local support for the trading location

evidenced through a number of petitions that have generated substantial
signatories.

In regard to 4.3 assessment criteria of the draft Policy, we work very hard to ensure
our stalls —

= Complement the needs of the area they are in, as evidenced by the long
period of time they have been on these sites and public support for them
Do not create any public nuisance

Have no impact on public safety

Create an attractive floral display at key locations, enhancing public space
Environmental

However, | wish to object to the addition in the assessment criteria — The council
will generally not permit trading units where the unit fully or substantially
blocks lines of sight to established retailers in the vicinity.

In point 5. of our most recent Decision Notice it says {..} in the Licensing Sub-
Commitiee’s view, the stall does not substantially obstruct the lines of sight to
either Beards the Jewellers and the Regent Arcade.

Comments noted. Preventing the obstruction of the streets by
street trading activities is an existing policy aim. The revised
policy wording has taken learning form issues that has arisen
since the last policy review including the revised provision that
“The council will generally not permit trading units where the

9¢T obed



We do not believe either of our stalls blocks the view to other businesses
substantially but it is open to licensing committes members to interpret what is meant
by substantially if this is left in the policy. Different interpretations of this as the
committee membership changes could undermine the future of the business through
no fault of anything we have done

This is unacceptable when it comes (o license renawals but it could make the
establishment of any new pitches impossible, as by their very nature being in the
public realm stalls can prevent people stood next to them from viewing what is
beyond them. | urge the council to remove this part of the policy

As outlined previously there is a considerable investment of both time and money o
build up a sustainable street trading pitch, It is unfair for circumstances outside of the
control of businesses in our situation to be suddenly introduced as reason to not
ranew a llicence

I also wish to object to 5. Renewals, 3. of the draft Policy there has been no
significant change to the rotall onvironment in the vicinity of the trading
location.

I am aware of talks to make changes to the public realm in the area of Ormond Place
and Regent Street, which | very much welcome. However, our Promenade stall
should not be refused a renewal application in the future because of any such
changes

It would be very off-putting to anyone considering investing thelr ime and money
developing a popular and attractive street trading business if there is a policy which
means it can be taken away at any time through no fault of the proprietor in this way

| draw your attention again to our most recent licence renewal decision Letter —

* at point 2. The fact that, in the Licensing Sub-Committee’s view, there is
sufficient egress and ingross access on either side of your stall.

« at point 3. The fact that you have been trading in the relovant location for
the past 11 years and the number of complaints has been minimal,

« at point 6. The existence of the stall positively contributes to the “look
and feel” of the Promenade, Ormond Place and Regent Streot.

« at point 7. Whilst there has been evidence of breaches of the consent,
these have been “dominimis” and dealt with at the time of the breach.

« at point 8. The fact that the objector submitted verbally that your trading
location will not materially affect the commercial operation of their
business in any substantial way.

From these points it is clear that our Promenade stall does not impact the ability of
people to walk past, nor does it substantially affect the view to the Regent Arcade or
Beard's, any breaches in conditions which have occurred al peak times have had
minimal impact and not affected the commercial operation of even the nearest of
businesses. In fact the stall positively contributes to the look and feal of the area

unit fully or substantially blocks lines of sight to established
retailers in the vicinity.”

The revised wording makes it clear that the test will relate to
“fully or substantially” blocking lines of sight. It is not intended
that this proposed provision be used either in cases where the
committee has deemed existing trader not to be “fully or
substantially” (unless there has been a material change) blocking
lines of sight or where the blockage is minimal.

The council needs to be mindful of the impact of a developing
public realm on its decisions in order to be able to respond in an
appropriate manner.

This does not however restrict licence holders rights and the
council’s obligations to determine applications fairly and to
provide reasons for these decisions.

/2T abed



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9
Page 129

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet — 11 February 2020

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Surveillance and
Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Acquisition of Communications

Data Policy

Accountable Member

Cabinet Member Corporate Services, Councillor Alex Hegenbarth

Accountable Officer

Chief Executive
Tim Atkins, Managing Director Place and Growth
Tim.Atkins@cheltenham.gov.uk

Ward(s) affected

All indirectly

Key/Significant
Decision

No

Executive summary

To present Cabinet with:

i) A revised Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy for
approval and adoption.

i) A new Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Acquisition of
Communications Data Policy for approval and adoption.

The Local Authority is required to have effective Policies to enable officers to
gather intelligence and conduct surveillance in line with the law.

The Policies set out the legislative framework and principles the Local
Authority will abide by to mitigate the risk of legal challenge in Court.

The Policy demonstrates the Local Authority’s consideration of necessity,
proportionality and public interest when deciding on surveillance activity and
requests for communication data. It also demonstrates openness and
transparency for its customers.

The report also provides an update in relation the Local Authority’s existing
authorisation arrangements.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

a) Formally adopts the Policies attached to this report.

b) Authorises the Chief Executive to approve future minor
amendments to the Policies in consultation with the Cabinet
member for Corporate Services, One Legal and the Counter Fraud
Manager.

Financial implications

The adoption and approval of these Policies will support the Local Authority’s
objectives in reducing crime and financial loss to the Local Authority.

Contact Officer: Paul Jones, Executive Director Finance and Assets
Paul.Jones@cheltenham.gov.uk



mailto:Tim.Atkins@cheltenham.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Jones@cheltenham.gov.uk

Legal implications

The Local Authority Page 13(0ensure that it complies with the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 and any
other relevant/statutory legislation regarding investigations. It should also
consider government guidance in this area.

The Local Authority has a statutory obligation for enforcing a wide range of
legislation, where it is necessary and proportionate to do so. Human rights
implications are a consideration of this type of activity and this is included
within the Policy.

Any requests for directed/covert surveillance or the acquisition of
communications data to be undertaken should be necessary and proportionate,
and authorised by the appropriate Officer. Both Policies provide information
and advice to those seeking authorisation and those officers granting
authorisation. Both policies confirm the process to be used and matters to be
considered.

Contact officer: lona Moseley, One Legal.
iona.moseley@tewkesbury.gov.uk

HR implications
(including learning and
organisational
development)

There will be a requirement to cascade the new policies to all relevant
employees and ensure any training is undertaken.

Contact officer: Julie McCarthy, HR Operations Manager

Julie.McCarthy@publicagroup.uk 01242 264355

Key risks

The Policies demonstrate the Local Authority’s consideration of necessity,
proportionality and public interest when deciding on surveillance activity or the
decision to obtain personal communication data.

The Policies set out the legislative framework and principles the Local Authority
will abide by in investigations undertaken to mitigate the risk of legal challenge
in Court.

Corporate and
community plan
Implications

Effective enforcement plays an important role in enabling the Local Authority to
achieve its priorities and community outcomes.

Environmental and
climate change

N/A

implications

Property/Asset There are no property implications associated with this report.

Implications
Contact officer: Dominic Stead, Head of Property Services
dominic.stead@cheltenham.gov.uk

1. Background

1.1. The Local Authority’s Policies are based on the legislative requirements of the Regulation of

Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 and the Codes of Practice
relating to directed surveillance, the use of covert human intelligence sources and the
acquisition of communications data. Attached at Appendix 2 and at Appendix 3 are revised

Policies.

1.2. The Investigatory Powers Act 2016 now governs communication data requests. The
legislation widened the scope of information the Local Authority may obtain for investigations,



mailto:iona.moseley@tewkesbury.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.McCarthy@publicagroup.uk
mailto:dominic.stead@cheltenham.gov.uk

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

1.8.

1.9.

1.10.

2.1.

2.2.

introduced the necessity for a seriousy ., -, ~ 4 » 1'ld and removed the requirement for judicial
approval. Page 131

All applications for communications data are made online via the National Anti-Fraud Network
(NAFN) which acts as the single point of contact for Local Authorities. NAFN send requests to
the Office for Communication Data Authorisations (OCDA) which ratifies all applications from
public authorities for approval and if granted, NAFN will then obtain the requested data for the
applicant.

There is a requirement for the Local Authority to nominate a Designated Senior Officer who
will confirm to NAFN that the Local Authority is aware of any request and approve its
submission. This role is undertaken by the Counter Fraud Manager and the Deputy Counter
Fraud Manager.

Surveillance and the use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) is still governed by
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and any ‘RIPA’ applications are subject to the
same application processes as outlined in the previous Policy — the offence must meet the
serious crime threshold and the Local Authority must obtain judicial approval.

As outlined in 1.5 above, the Local Authority must have a Senior Responsible Officer and
Authorising Officers to approve the application before the Court is approached. The
arrangements relating to Officers involved in the authorisation process have been updated to
reflect the changes in staffing.

The Senior Responsible Officer is the Managing Director Place and Economic Development,
Tim Atkins and the Authorising Officers are the Executive Director People and Change, Darren
Knight and the Director of Environment, Mike Redman.

The refreshed Policy introduces a mandatory requirement for staff to complete a Non-RIPA
Application Form where surveillance is being undertaken but the offence does not meet the
serious crime criteria.

As reported in April 2019, there were no RIPA applications made by the Local Authority during
2018/2019. There were four Non-RIPA applications made during 2018. Three related to overt
activity and one related to an internal investigation.

The application of these Policies, to govern surveillance and the obtaining of personal

communications data, ensures that there is less risk that an individual's human rights will be
breached. Furthermore it protects the Local Authority from allegations of the same.

Consultation

The draft Policy was subject to consultation with Enforcement Officers, Governance Group,
Executive Leadership Team and One Legal.

Audit, Compliance and Governance Committee considered and endorsed the Policies on 22
January 2020.

Report author Emma Cathcart, Counter Fraud Manager

Emma.Cathcart@cotswold.gov.uk 01285 623356

Appendices

1. Risk assessment

2. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Surveillance and
Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

3. Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Acquisition of Communications Data
Policy



mailto:Emma.Cathcart@cotswold.gov.uk

Risk Assessment Appendix 1

The risk Original risk score Managing risk
(impact x likelihood)
Risk | Risk description Risk Date raised Impact Likeli- Score Control Action Deadline Responsible | Transferred
ref. Owner 1-5 hood officer to risk
1-6 register

1 If the Local Authority fails Chief January 4 2 8 Put in place Ongoing | Chief

to put in place adequate Executive | 2020 effective Executive

policy and process management and

covering the use of RIPA / guidance.

IPA powers then it risks Promote the

damage to its reputation guidance with

and financial loss mangers and

enforcement officers

Explanatory notes

Impact — an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical)
Likelihood — how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant, 5 high and 6 a very high probability)

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close

ZsT obed



Regulation of Investigatory Powers P.‘:’I.g_ev ;?’3
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

Version Control:

Document Name:

Version:

Responsible Officer:

Approved by:

Date First

Approved:

Next Review Date

Retention Period:

Revision History

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Surveillance
and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

2
Emma Cathcart, Counter Fraud Unit

Cabinet

TBC

N/A

Revision date

Version

Description

April 2019

2

Change in legislation / introduction of IPA 2016

Consultees

Internal

External

Audit Committee

Legal Department

Corporate Management

Distribution

Name

Enforcement Officers

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 1 of 28




Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 134
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

CONTENTS
1. INTRODUCTION ..ooiiiiiiiiiiiitiie ettt e e e e s st e e e e e e e e e s st b b e e e e aeeeaassntsbaeeeaaeeaaannnnnenes 4
2. SCOPE OF POLICY .eittiiiiiiiiiiiiitt ettt a sttt e e e e e e e s s st e e e e e e e s snntsannaaaaeeeaanns 4
T = N O [ €12 { @ 16 | SRR 5
4. SURVEILLANCE WITHOUT RIPA ...cooi ettt a e e e aaa s 5
5. INDEPENDENT OVERSIGHT ....ootiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e s st eaa e e e s e s snnnaneeeaaaeeaaanns 6
B.  LEGAL ADVICE ... oottt 6
7. REVIEW OF POLICY AND PROCEDURE ......cccciiiiiiiie ettt 6
8. RIPA ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES......ccttiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e ssiiiieeieea e e e e s siiiaeeeaaeeeaanns 7
8.1 THE SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER ......ccoovviiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaee e 7
8.3 THE RIPA COORDINATOR....cci ittt 7
8.6  INVESTIGATING OFFICER/APPLICANT .....ottiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiiieee e e e e s s sireeeeae e e e e 8
8.9 AUTHORISING OFFICERS .......cutiiiiiiiii it e et e e e e e e e e saaraa e e e e e e e e nnnneees 8
9. SURVEILLANCE TYPES AND CRITERIA ... 9
9.4  OVERT SURVEILLANCE .....cooiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee et 9
9.6  COVERT SURVEILLANCE ........utitiiiiiieieeiiiiiiiiie e e e e e s ieaeeaa e e e e s e s snnsaneaeaaeeeessnnsnenes 9
9.9 INTRUSIVE SURVEILLANCE........ciit it 10
9.14 DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE ......coiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt 10
10.  PRIVATE INFORMATION ...cciiiiiiitiiit e e e ettt e e e e e e e st e e e e e e e s s nnnesnaeaaaeeeeannnnnnnees 11
11. CONFIDENTIAL OR PRIVILEGED MATERIAL .....ccceeiiiiiiiiiee e 11
12. INTERNET AND SOCIAL MEDIA INVESTIGATIONS ... 12
IR T O O VPRSP 12
14. AUTOMATIC NUMBER PLATE RECOGNITION (ANPR).....cvviieeiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e e 12
15. JOINT AGENCY SURVEILLANCE ... oot 12
16. USE OF THIRD PARTY AGENT S ...t 13
17, EQUIPMENT ..ootiiiii ittt e ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e st e e e e e e e e e e nnssnenaaaeeeeeaannnnnnes 13
18. COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES (CHIS)......cuutiiieeiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 13
18.9 DEFINITION OF CHIS ... e e e e e e aeas 14
18.19  VULNERABLE CHIS ...ttt a e e e e e s nnnanneneaeees 15
18.24  USE OF EQUIPMENT BY A CHIS ..ottt e e 16
18.27 CHIS MANAGEMENT ..o e e e e aeas 16
18.30 CHIS RECORD KEEPING......ccou i 16
19, NECESSITY coiiiiiii ittt ettt e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e st e e e e e e e e e e a e nr e aaaaaee e e e nrrrees 17
20.  PROPORTIONALITY oiiiiiiiciitiite et a e e e e e e st e e e e e e e e s s nsstaeaaaaeeeesannnnnnneaaaeeas 17
21. COLLATERAL INTRUSION. ... i e e e e e et e e e eeas 18
22.  THE APPLICATION AND AUTHORISATION PROCESS.........cccoiiiiiieee e 18
22.2 DURATION OF AUTHORISATIONS.... .ot eeciiieie e e e eaaaaa e e e e e 18
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019

Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 2 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 135
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

22.5 APPLICATIONS/AUTHORISATION.....cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 19
22.15 ARRANGING THE COURT HEARING.........cccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii 20
22.18 ATTENDING THE HEARING ......cooiiiiiiiiiiiiii 20
22.23  DECISION OF THE JP...ciiiiiiii ettt 20
22.32 POST COURT PROCEDURE ......cooiiiiiiiii e 21
22.35 MANAGEMENT OF THE ACTIVITY .ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee 21
22.37  REVIEWS ... e e e 21
2244  RENEWAL ...t 22
22.52  CANCELLATION....ciiiiiiiiiiii 23
23. SURVEILLANCE OUTSIDE OF RIPA ... 23
24. SAFEGUARDING AND THE USE OF SURVEILLANCE MATERIAL................ooo. 24
24.2 AUTHORISED PURPOSE ... 24
24.1 USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE ........coiiiiiii e 25
24.6  HANDLING AND RETENTION OF MATERIAL .....oouiiiiiieieiiiie e 25
24.13 DISSEMINATION OF INFORMATION ... 26
2417  STORAGE ... e 26
2419 COPYING ...t 26
24.22  DESTRUCTION ...t e et e e e e e n e e e e 27
25, ERRO RS .. 27
25.2 RELEVANT ERROR ... 27
25.6 SERIOUS ERRORS ...t e e e e 27
26. COMPLAINT S e ettt e e e et e e e e e e et e nrr e e e 28

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2

April 2019
Page 3 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 136
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

1.
11

1.2

1.3

14

2.1
2.2

2.3

24

25

2.6

INTRODUCTION

The performance of certain investigatory functions by Local Authorities may
require the surveillance of individuals or the use of undercover Officers and
informants. Such actions may intrude on the privacy of individuals and can result
in private information being obtained and as such, should not be undertaken
without full and proper consideration. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act
2000 (RIPA) regulates these types of activities and the Act and this Policy must
be followed at all times.

Neither RIPA nor this Policy covers the use of any overt surveillance, or general
observation that forms part of the normal day to day duties of Officers, or
circumstances where members of the public volunteer information to the Council.
The majority of the Council’'s enforcement functions are carried out in an overt
manner.

RIPA was introduced to ensure that public authorities’ actions are consistent with
the Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA). It balances safeguarding the rights of the
individual against the needs of society as a whole to be protected from crime and
other public safety risks. This reflects the requirements of Article 8 (right to
privacy) under the HRA. RIPA provides a statutory mechanism for authorising
covert surveillance and the use of a covert human intelligence source (CHIS).

RIPA also introduced a legal gateway for public authorities to apply for
telecommunications and postal data. However, these have been amended by the
Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA), and for guidance in relation to the obtaining
of Communications Data please see the IPA Acquisition of Communications Data
Policy.

SCOPE OF POLICY
The purpose of this document is to ensure that the Council complies with RIPA.

This document provides guidance on the regulation of any Directed Covert
Surveillance that is carried out by the Council. This includes the use of
undercover Officers and informants, known as Covert Human Intelligence
Sources (CHIS).

Covert surveillance will only be used by the Council where it judges such use to
be necessary and proportionate to the seriousness of the crime or matter being
investigated.

All directed surveillance must be authorised and conducted in accordance with
RIPA. Therefore, all Officers involved in the process must have regard to this
document and the statutory Codes of Practice issued under section 71 RIPA.
The Codes of Practice are available from:

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-codes#current-codes-of-practice

There must be no situation where a Council Officer engages in covert
surveillance without obtaining authorisation in accordance with the procedures
set out in this document and the RIPA Codes of Practice.

Any queries concerning the content of the document should be addressed to the
RIPA Coordinator, Counter Fraud Unit.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 4 of 28


https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-codes#current-codes-of-practice

Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 137
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5
3.6

4.2
4.3

BACKGROUND

RIPA provides a legal framework for the control and regulation of covert
surveillance techniques which public authorities undertake as part of their duties.
As was highlighted in the introduction to this Policy, the need for such control
arose as a result of the HRA. Article 8 of the European Convention on Human
Rights states that:-

1)  Everyone has the right of respect for his private and family life, his home
and his correspondence.

2)  There shall be no interference by a Public Authority with the exercise of this
right except such as in accordance with the law and is necessary in a
democratic society in the interests of national security, public safety or the
economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime,
for the protection of health and morals or for the protection of the rights and
freedoms of others.

The right under Article 8 is a qualified right and public authorities can interfere
with this right for the reasons given in 2.3 above. RIPA provides the legal
framework for lawful interference.

However, under RIPA, Local Authorities can only authorise directed covert
surveillance for the purpose of preventing or detecting conduct which constitutes
a criminal offence which is:

. An offence that is capable of attracting a maximum prison sentence of 6
months or more punishable whether on summary conviction or indictment
meets the serious crime threshold or,

. Relates to the underage sale of alcohol or tobacco.

Furthermore, the Council’s authorisation can only be given effect once an Order
approving the authorisation has been granted by a Justice of the Peace (JP).

The serious crime criteria do not apply to CHIS authorisations.

RIPA ensures that any surveillance undertaken following a correct authorisation
and approval from a JP is lawful and therefore protects the Council from legal
challenge. It allows the information obtained to be used as evidence in the
investigation. It can also be used if required in other investigations.

SURVEILLANCE WITHOUT RIPA

Section 27 of RIPA provides that surveillance shall be lawful for all purposes if
authorised and conducted in accordance with an authorisation granted under
RIPA.

Lawful surveillance is exempted from civil liability.

Although not obtaining authorisation does not make the surveillance unlawful per
se, it does have some consequences:-

o Evidence that is gathered may be inadmissible in court;

. The subjects of surveillance can bring their own proceedings or defeat
proceedings brought by the Council against them on human rights grounds
i.e. we have infringed their rights under Article 8;

. If a challenge under Article 8 is successful, the Council could face a claim
for financial compensation;

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 5 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 138
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

. The Government has also introduced a system of tribunal to deal with
complaints. Any person who believes that their rights have been breached
can have their complaint dealt with by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal
(IPTC) (See Complaints section within the Code of Practice)

INDEPENDENT OVERSIGHT

5.1 From 1 September 2017 oversight of RIPA is provided by the Investigatory
Powers Commissioner's Office (IPCO). They are the independent inspection
office whose remit includes providing comprehensive oversight of the use of the
powers to which the RIPA Codes of Practice apply, and adherence to the
practices and processes described in it. They also provide guidance to be
followed which is separate to the codes.

5.2 Anyone, including anyone working for the Council, who has concerns about the
way that investigatory powers are being used, may report their concerns to the
IPCO

5.3 IPCO has unfettered access to all locations, documentation and information
systems as is necessary to carry out its full functions and duties and it will
periodically inspect the records and procedures of the Council to ensure the
appropriate authorisations have been given, reviewed, cancelled, and recorded
properly.

5.4 It is the duty of any person who uses these powers to comply with any request
made by a Commissioner to disclose or provide any information required for the
purpose of enabling them to carry out their functions.

5.5 It is important that the Council can show it complies with this Policy and with the
provisions of RIPA.

LEGAL ADVICE

6.1 The Council’s legal representatives will provide legal advice to staff making,
renewing or cancelling authorisations. Requests and responses for legal advice
will be in writing and copied to the RIPA Coordinator, Counter Fraud Unit to keep
on file.

7. REVIEW OF POLICY AND PROCEDURE

7.1 The Audit Committee will receive annual reports regarding the use of RIPA.
Those reports will contain information on:

. Where and when the powers have been used;
. The objective;
. The authorisation process;
. The job title of the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO), Authorising Officers
(AO) and RIPA Coordinator;
. The outcomes including any legal court case;
. Any costs.
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019

Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 6 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 139
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

8.
8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

RIPA ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

THE SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER

The SRO has responsibility for the following:

The integrity of the process in place within the Council to authorise
Directed and Intrusive Surveillance;

Compliance with the relevant sections of RIPA and the Codes of Practice;

Oversight of the reporting of errors to the Investigatory Powers
Commissioner (IPC) and the identification of both the cause(s) of errors
and the implementation of processes to minimise repetition of errors;

Engagement with the IPCO and the inspectors who support the IPC when
they conduct their inspections;

Where necessary, overseeing the implementation of any recommended
post-inspection action plans and;

Ensuring that all AO are of an appropriate standard, addressing any
recommendations and concerns in the inspection reports prepared by the
IPC.

THE RIPA COORDINATOR

The RIPA Coordinator is responsible for storing all the original authorisations,
reviews, renewals and cancellation forms and the signed approval or refusal
documentation from the JP. This will include any authorisations that have not
been authorised by the AO or refused by a JP.

The RIPA Coordinator will:

Keep the copies of the forms for a period of at least 3 years;

Keep the Central Register (a requirement of the Codes of Practice) of all of
the authorisations, renewals and cancellations; and issue a unique
reference number. This record should contain the information outlined
within the Covert Surveillance and Property Interference revised Code of
Practice;

Keep a database for identifying and monitoring expiry dates and renewal
dates;

Along with Officers (AO and Investigating Officers (10)), ensure that any
electronic and paper records relating to a RIPA investigation are used,
retained or destroyed in line with the Council’s Information Management
Policies, Departmental Retention Schedules and Data Protection
Legislation /Regulations;

Provide administrative support and guidance on the processes involved;
Not provide legal guidance or advice;

Monitor the authorisations, renewals and cancellations with a view to
ensuring consistency throughout the Council;

Monitor each department's compliance and act on any cases of non-
compliance;

Provide training and further guidance and awareness of RIPA and the
provisions of this Policy; and review the contents of this Policy.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 7 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 140
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

INVESTIGATING OFFICER/APPLICANT

The applicant is normally an 10 who completes the application section of the
RIPA form. 10s should think about the need to undertake directed surveillance or
the use of a CHIS before they seek authorisation. 10s must consider whether
they can obtain the information by using techniques other than covert
surveillance. Advice can be given by the RIPA Coordinator.

The applicant or IO must carry out a feasibility study and this should be seen by
the AO. The IO seeking authorisation should then complete the application form
having regard to the guidance given in this Policy and the statutory Codes of
Practice. There should not be any significant delay between the feasibility study
and the completion of the application form in order to ensure that the details
within the application are accurate. The form should then be submitted to the AO
for authorisation.

AUTHORISING OFFICERS

The role of the AO is to authorise, review, renew and cancel directed
surveillance.

AOs should not be responsible for authorising investigations or operations in
which they are directly involved. Where an AO authorises such an investigation
or operation the Central Record of Authorisations should highlight this, and it
should be brought to the attention of the ICO or Inspector during their next
inspection.

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert
Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 prescribes that for the Council, the AO
shall be a Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent as distinct
from the Officer responsible for the conduct of an investigation.

A designated AO must qualify both by rank and by competence. Officers who
wish to be designated must have been trained to an appropriate level in order to
have an understanding of RIPA and the requirements that must be satisfied
before an authorisation can be granted.

Authorisations must be given in writing by the AO by completing the relevant
section on the authorisation form. Before giving authorisation for directed
surveillance, an AO must be satisfied that the reason for the request is for the
prevention and detection of crime and that the crime attracts a custodial
sentence of a maximum of 6 months or more, or is an offence relating to the
underage sale of alcohol or tobacco under sections 146, 147 or 147A of the
Licensing Act 2003 or section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933.

The lawful criteria for CHIS are prevention and detection of crime and prevention
of disorder and the offence does not have to have a sentence of 6 months
imprisonment but consideration must be given to the risk of collateral intrusion
(the risk of obtaining private information about persons who are not the subject of
investigation), the possibility of collecting confidential personal information and
that the result cannot reasonably be achieved by any other means.

When completing an authorisation, the case should be presented in a fair and
balanced way. In particular, all reasonable efforts should be made to take into
account information which weakens the case for the authorisation.

The application should explain why the activity is both necessary and
proportionate, having regard to the collateral intrusion. It should also explain
exactly what is being authorised, against whom, in what circumstances, where

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 8 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 141
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

and so on, and that the level of the surveillance is appropriate to achieve the
objectives. It is important that this is very clear as the surveillance operatives will
only be able to carry out activity that has been authorised. This will assist with
avoiding errors.

If any equipment such as covert cameras are to be used, the AO should know
the capability of the equipment before authorising its use. This will have an
impact on collateral intrusion, necessity and proportionality. It is important that
they consider all the facts to justify their decision and that it is not merely a
rubber-stamping exercise.

The AO may be required to attend court to explain what has been authorised and
why. Alternatively, they may have to justify their actions at a tribunal. AOs are
also responsible for carrying out regular reviews of applications, for authorising
renewals and cancelling any authorisation (see relevant sections below).

AOs must acquaint themselves with the relevant Codes of Practice issued by the
Home Office regarding RIPA and the current Procedures and Guidance issued
by the Commissioner. This document also details the latest operational guidance
to be followed. It is recommended that AOs hold their own copy of this
document.

AOs, through the Council’s Data Controller, must ensure compliance with the
appropriate data protection requirements under data protection legislation and
regulation and any relevant internal protocols of the Council relating to the
handling and storage of material.

SURVEILLANCE TYPES AND CRITERIA
Surveillance is:

. Monitoring, observing or listening to persons, their movements, their
conversations or their other activities or communications.

° Recording anything monitored, observed or listened to in the course of
surveillance, with or without the assistance of a device.

By its very nature, surveillance may involve invading an individual's right to
privacy. The level of privacy which individuals can expect depends upon the
nature of the environment they are within at the time. For example, within an
individual’s own home or private vehicle, an individual can expect the highest
level of privacy. The level of expectation of privacy may reduce if the individual
transfers out into public areas.

There are different types of surveillance which, depending on their nature, are
either allowable or not allowable and that require different degrees of
authorisation and monitoring under RIPA.

OVERT SURVEILLANCE

Overt surveillance is where the subject of surveillance is aware that it is taking
place. This could be by way of signage, such as in the use of CCTV, or because
the subject of the surveillance has been informed of the activity. Overt
surveillance is outside the scope of RIPA and therefore does not require
authorisation. However, it still must take account of privacy under the HRA.

COVERT SURVEILLANCE

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 9 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 142
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

9.7

9.8

9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

9.15

Covert Surveillance is defined as “surveillance which is carried out in a manner
calculated to ensure that the persons subject to the surveillance are unaware that
it is or may be taking place” and is covered by RIPA. Covert surveillance is
categorised as either intrusive or directed.

There are three categories of covert surveillance regulated by RIPA:
1) Directed Surveillance;
2)  Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS); and

3) Intrusive surveillance (the Council is not permitted to carry out intrusive
surveillance).

INTRUSIVE SURVEILLANCE

The Council has no authority in law to carry out Intrusive Surveillance. Intrusive
surveillance is defined in section 26(3) of RIPA as covert surveillance that:

. Is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential
premises or in any private vehicle; and

° Involves the presence of an individual on the premises or in the vehicle or
is carried out by means of a surveillance device.

Where surveillance is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any
residential premises or in any private vehicle by means of a device, without that
device being present on the premises, or in the vehicle, it is not intrusive unless
the device consistently provides information of the same quality and detail as
might be expected to be obtained from a device actually present on the premises
or in the vehicle. Thus, an observation post outside premises, which provides a
limited view and no sound of what is happening inside the premises, would not
be considered as intrusive surveillance.

A risk assessment of the capability of equipment being used for surveillance of
residential premises and private vehicles should be carried out to ensure that it
does not fall into intrusive surveillance.

If you are considering conducting surveillance that may fall within the scope of
intrusive surveillance you must contact the RIPA Coordinator for clarification or
seek legal advice from the legal department before you undertake any
surveillance.

DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE

Surveillance is directed surveillance within RIPA if the following are applicable:
. It is covert, but not intrusive surveillance;
. It is conducted for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation;

. It is likely to result in the obtaining of private information (see private
information below) about a person (whether or not one specifically
identified for the purposes of the investigation or operation);

. It is conducted otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events
or circumstances the nature of which is such that it would not be
reasonably practicable for an authorisation to be sought.

. The offence under investigation attracts a maximum custodial sentence of
six months, or it is an investigation into criminal offences relating to the
underage sale of alcohol or tobacco under sections 146, 147 or 147A of the

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 10 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 143
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

10.
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

11.
111

Licensing Act 2003 or section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act
1933.

PRIVATE INFORMATION

The Code of Practice provides guidance on the definition of private information
and states it includes any information relating to a person’s private or family life.
As a result, private information is capable of comprising any aspect of a person’s
relationship with others including family and professional or business
relationships.

Information which is non-private may include publicly available information such
as books, newspapers, journals, TV and radio broadcasts, newswires, web sites,
mapping imagery, academic articles, conference proceedings, business reports,
and more. Such information may also include commercially available data where
a fee may be charged, and any data which is available on request or made
available at a meeting to a member of the public.

Whilst a person may have a reduced expectation of privacy when in a public
place, covert surveillance of that person’s activities in public may still result in the
obtaining of private information. This is likely to be the case where that person
has a reasonable expectation of privacy even though acting in public, and where
a record is being made by the Council of that person’s activities for future
consideration or analysis.

Surveillance of publicly accessible areas of the internet should be treated in a
similar way particularly when accessing information on social media websites.
(See the Internet and Social Media Research and Investigations Policy for further
guidance)

Private life considerations are particularly likely to arise if several records are to
be analysed together in order to establish a pattern of behaviour. Consideration
must be given if one or more pieces of information (whether or not available in
the public domain) are covertly and / or overtly obtained for the purpose of
making a permanent record about a person or for subsequent data processing to
generate further information. In such circumstances, the totality of information
gleaned may constitute private information even if individual records do not.
Where such conduct includes covert surveillance, a directed surveillance
authorisation may be considered appropriate.

Private information may include personal data, such as names, telephone
numbers and address details. Where such information is acquired by means of
covert surveillance of a person having a reasonable expectation of privacy, a
directed surveillance authorisation is appropriate

CONFIDENTIAL OR PRIVILEGED MATERIAL

Particular consideration should be given in cases where the subject of the
investigation or operation might reasonably assume a high degree of
confidentiality. This includes where the material contains information that is
legally privileged; confidential journalistic material or where material identifies a
journalist’s source; or material containing confidential personal information or
communications between a Member of Parliament and another person on
constituency business. Directed surveillance likely or intended to result in the
acquisition of knowledge of confidential or privileged material must be authorised
by the SRO. Advice should be sought from the RIPA Coordinator and the Legal
Department if there is a likelihood of this occurring.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 11 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 144
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

12.
12.1

12.2

12.3

13.
13.1

13.2

14.
14.1

14.2

15.
15.1

INTERNET AND SOCIAL MEDIA INVESTIGATIONS

Online open source research is widely regarded as the collection, evaluation and
analysis of material from online sources available to the public, whether by
payment or otherwise to use as intelligence and evidence.

The use of online open source internet and social media research techniques
has become a productive method of obtaining information to assist the Council
with its regulatory and enforcement functions. It can also assist with service
delivery issues and debt recovery. However, the use of the internet and social
media is constantly evolving and with it the risks associated with these types of
enquiries, particularly regarding breaches of privacy under Article 8 Human
Rights Act (HRA) and other operational risks. The activity may also require RIPA
authorisations for Directed Surveillance or CHIS. Where this is the case, the
application process and the contents of this policy are to be followed.

There is a detailed Internet and Social Media Research and Investigations Policy
that covers online open source research which should be read and followed in
conjunction with this policy.

CCTV

The use of the CCTV systems operated by the Council does not normally fall
under the RIPA regulations. However, it does fall under the data protection
legislation and regulations, the Surveillance Camera Code 2013 and the
Council's CCTV Policy. However, should there be a requirement for the CCTV
cameras to be used for a specific purpose to conduct surveillance it is likely that
the activity will fall under directed surveillance and therefore require an
authorisation under RIPA. The Council’'s CCTV Policy and Procedures should be
referred to.

If an IO envisages using any other CCTV system they should contact the RIPA
Coordinator concerning any clarification on the administrative process or seek
legal advice before they undertake any surveillance.

AUTOMATIC NUMBER PLATE RECOGNITION (ANPR)

Automated Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) does not engage RIPA if it is used
for the purpose it is registered for, such as traffic flow management or safety and
enforcement within car parks. However, it is capable of being a surveillance
device if used in a pre-planned way to carry out surveillance by monitoring a
particular vehicle or by plotting its locations, e.g. in connection with illegally
disposing of waste.

Should it be necessary to use the Police ANPR systems to monitor vehicles, the
same RIPA principles apply regarding when a directed surveillance authorisation
should be sought.

JOINT AGENCY SURVEILLANCE

In cases where one agency is acting on behalf of another, it is usually for the
tasking agency to obtain or provide the authorisation. For example, where
surveillance is carried out by Council employees on behalf of the Police,
authorisation would be sought by the Police. If it is a joint operation involving
both agencies, the lead agency should seek authorisation.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 12 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 145
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

15.2

16.
16.1

16.2

16.3

17.
17.1

17.2

18.
18.1

18.2

Council staff involved with joint agency surveillance must ensure that all parties
taking part are authorised on the form to carry out the activity. When Council
Officers are operating on another organisation’s authorisation they are to ensure
they see what activity they are authorised to carry out and make a written record.
They should also provide a copy of the authorisation to the RIPA Coordinator at
the Council to assist with oversight and monitoring.

USE OF THIRD PARTY AGENTS

In some circumstances it may be appropriate or necessary for the Council to
work with third parties who are not themselves a public Authority (such as an
individual, company or non-governmental organisation) to assist with an
investigation. Where that third party is acting in partnership with or under the
direction of the Council, then they are acting as our agent and any activities that
the third party conducts which meet the RIPA definitions of directed surveillance
should be authorised. The agent will be subject to RIPA in the same way as any
employee of the Council would be. The AO should ensure that the agents are
gualified or have the necessary skills to achieve the objectives. They should also
ensure that they understand their obligations under RIPA. If advice is required,
please contact the Legal Department.

If the above circumstances apply and it is intended to instruct an agent to carry
out the covert activity, the agent must complete and sign the appropriate form.

Similarly, a surveillance authorisation should also be considered where the
Council is aware that a third party (that is not a public Authority) is independently
conducting surveillance and the Council intends to make use of any suitable
material obtained by the third party for the purposes of a specific investigation or
is to act as the prosecuting body.

EQUIPMENT

All equipment capable of being used for directed surveillance, such as cameras,
should be fit for the purpose for which they are intended. The equipment should
be logged on the central register of equipment held by the RIPA Coordinator.
This will require a description, Serial Number, and an explanation of its
capabilities.

When completing an Authorisation, the applicant must provide the AO with
details of any equipment to be used and its technical capabilities. The AO will
have to take this into account when considering the intrusion issues and
proportionality. The AO must make it clear on the Authorisation exactly what
equipment, if any, they are authorising and under what circumstances.

COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES (CHIS)

This policy applies to all use of under-cover Officers or informants, referred to as
Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS). Not all human source activity will
meet the definition of a CHIS. For example, a source may be a public volunteer
or someone who discloses information out of a professional or statutory duty or
has been tasked to obtain information other than by way of a covert relationship.

Test purchase activity does not in general require authorisation under RIPA as
vendor-purchaser activity does not constitute a relationship. However, if a
number of visits are undertaken, a relationship may be established and

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 13 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 146
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

18.3

18.4

18.5

18.6

18.7

18.8

18.9

18.10

18.11

18.12

18.13

authorisation as a CHIS should be considered. Equally a test purchase may
meet the definition of directed surveillance.

If you intend to instruct a third party to act as the CHIS, the agent must complete

and sign the appropriate form. The agent will be subject to RIPA in the same
way as any employee of the Council would be. If advice is required, please
contact either the RIPA Coordinator or the Legal Department.

An application for either directed surveillance or the use of a CHIS will need
authorising internally by an AO. If authorised by the AO, approval will be
required from a Justice of the Peace (JP) prior to any activity taking place. (See
the appropriate sections below).

The authorisation request should be accompanied by a risk assessment, giving
details of how the CHIS is going to be handled and the arrangements which are
in place for ensuring that there is at all times a person with responsibility for
maintaining a record of the use made of CHIS. The risk assessment should take
into account the safety and welfare of the CHIS in relation to the activity and
should consider the likely consequences should the role of the CHIS become
known. The ongoing security and welfare of the CHIS after the cancellation of the
authorisation should also be considered at the outset.

Where surveillance or the use of a CHIS is likely to result in the obtaining of
confidential information, it is imperative that legal advice should first be sought
from the SRO or the Legal Department. Confidential information includes,
though is not limited to, matters subject to legal privilege, confidential personal
information and confidential journalistic material. Confidential personal
information is information held in confidence relating to the physical or mental
health or spiritual counselling concerning an individual (whether living or dead)
who can be identified from it.

Should a CHIS authority be required, all of the staff involved in the process
should make themselves fully aware of all of the aspects relating to tasking
contained within the CHIS codes of Practice.

Legal advice should always be sought where consideration is given to the use of
CHIS.

DEFINITION OF CHIS

A CHIS is a person who: -

° Establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a person for
the covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything falling within the
following paragraphs;

. Covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or to provide access
to any information to another person; or

. Covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a relationship or
as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship.

A relationship is established, maintained or used for a covert purpose if, and only
if, it is conducted in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties
to the relationship is unaware of the purpose.

The serious crime criteria of the offences under investigation do not apply to
CHIS.

CHIS’s may only be authorised if the following arrangements are in place:

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 14 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 147
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

18.14

18.15

18.16

18.17

18.18

18.19

18.20

. That there will at all times be an Officer (the handler) within the Council
who will have day to day responsibility for dealing with the source on behalf
of the authority, and for the source’s security. The handler is likely to be
the 10,

. That there will at all times be another Officer within the Council who will
have general oversight of the use made of the source; (controller) i.e. the
Line Manager.

) That there will at all times be an Officer within the Council who has
responsibility for maintaining a record of the use made of the source.

. That the records relating to the source maintained by the local authority will
always contain particulars of all matters specified by the Secretary of State
in Regulations.

The Handler will have day to day responsibility for:

) dealing with the source on behalf of the Council concerned;
. directing the day to day activities of the source;

. recording the information supplied by the source; and

o monitoring the source’s security and welfare.

The Controller will be responsible for the general oversight of the use of the
source.

Tasking is the assignment given to the source by the Handler or Controller such
as asking them to obtain information, to provide access to information or to
otherwise act, incidentally, for the benefit of the relevant Council. Authorisation
for the use or conduct of a source is required prior to any tasking where such
tasking requires the source to establish or maintain a personal or other
relationship for a covert purpose.

In some instances, the tasking given to a person will not require the source to
establish a personal or other relationship for a covert purpose. For example, a
member of the public is asked to maintain a record of all vehicles arriving and
leaving a specific location or to record the details of visitors to a neighbouring
house. A relationship has not been established or maintained in order to gather
the information and a CHIS authorisation is therefore not available. Other
authorisations under the Act, for example, directed surveillance, may need to be
considered where there is a possible interference with the Article 8 rights of an
individual.

Authorisations should not be drawn so narrowly that a separate authorisation is
required each time the CHIS is tasked. Rather, an authorisation might cover, in
broad terms, the nature of the source’s task.

VULNERABLE CHIS

Special consideration must be given to the use of a Vulnerable Individual as a
CHIS. A ‘Vulnerable Individual’ is a person who is or may be in need of
community care services by reason of mental or other disability, age or illness
and who is or may be unable to take care of himself, or unable to protect himself
against significant harm or exploitation. Any individual of this description, or a
Juvenile as defined below, should only be authorised to act as a source in the
most exceptional circumstances and only then when authorised by the Senior
Responsible Officer.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 15 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 148
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

18.21

18.22

18.23

18.24

18.25

18.26

18.27

18.28

18.29

18.30

18.31

Special safeguards also apply to the use or conduct of Juvenile Sources; that is
sources under the age of 18 years. On no occasion should the use or conduct of
a source under 16 years of age be authorised to give information against his
parents or any person who has parental responsibility for them.

If the use of a Vulnerable Individual or a Juvenile is being considered as a CHIS
you must consult the Legal Department before authorisation is sought as
authorisations should not be granted unless the special provisions contained
within the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Juveniles) Order 2000; SI No.
2793 are satisfied. Authorisations for Juvenile Sources must be authorised by
the Senior Responsible Officer within the Council.

It is unlikely that the use of a Vulnerable Individual or Juvenile CHIS by the
Council will meet the requirements of necessity and proportionality and be
considered justifiable.

USE OF EQUIPMENT BY A CHIS

If a CHIS is required to wear or carry a surveillance device such as a covert
camera it does not need a separate intrusive or directed surveillance
authorisation, provided the device will only be used in the presence of the CHIS.
It should be authorised as part of the conduct of the CHIS.

CHIS, whether or not wearing or carrying a surveillance device, in residential
premises or a private vehicle, does not require additional authorisation to record
any activity inside those premises or that vehicle which takes place in their
presence. This also applies to the recording of telephone conversations.

CHIS MANAGEMENT

The operation will require managing by the handler and controller which will
include ensuring that the activities of the source and the operation remain
focused and there is no status drift. It is important that the intrusion is assessed
on an ongoing basis to ensure the operation remains proportionate. The security
and welfare of the source will also be monitored. The AO should maintain
general oversight of these functions.

During CHIS activity there may be occasions when unforeseen action or
undertakings occur. Such incidences should be recorded as soon as practicable
after the event and if the existing authorisation is insufficient, it should either be
dealt with by way of a review and re-authorisation (for minor amendments only)
or it should be cancelled, and a new authorisation obtained before any further
action is carried out. Similarly, where it is intended to task a CHIS in a new
significantly different way than previously identified, the proposed tasking should
be referred to the AO, who should consider whether a separate authorisation is
required. This should be done in advance of any tasking and details of such
referrals must be recorded.

CHIS RECORD KEEPING

The records relating to the source maintained by the Council will always contain
particulars as laid down by the Covert Human Intelligence Sources codes of
practice, revised CHIS codes of practice and the RIPA (Source Records)
Regulations 2000; SI No: 2725 which details the particulars that must be included
in these records.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 16 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 149
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

19.
19.1

19.2

19.3

20.
20.1

20.2

20.3

20.4

20.5

NECESSITY

Obtaining an authorisation under RIPA will only ensure that there is a justifiable
interference with an individual's Article 8 rights if it is necessary and
proportionate for these activities to take place.

RIPA first requires that the person granting an authorisation believe that the
authorisation is necessary in the circumstances of the particular case for one or
more of the statutory grounds applicable to the Council.

The applicant must be able to demonstrate why it is necessary to carry out the
covert activity to achieve the objectives and that there was no other means of
obtaining the same information in a less intrusive method. The applicant must
detail the crime being investigated and the information or evidence they are
hoping to obtain. They should also state that they have considered other means
of obtaining this information and have either concluded this is the only method
available or that other methods are not appropriate and state the reason; for
example it would alert the subject to their investigation which would be
detrimental to the case.

PROPORTIONALITY

If the activities are deemed necessary, the AO must also believe that they are
proportionate to the objective they are aiming to achieve. This involves
balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into the privacy of the subject of the
operation (or any other person who may be affected) against the need for the
activity in investigative and operational terms.

The authorisation will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the overall
circumstances of the case. Each action authorised should bring an expected
benefit to the investigation or operation and should not be disproportionate or
arbitrary. The fact that a suspected offence may be serious will not alone render
the proposed actions proportionate. Similarly, an offence may be so minor that
any deployment of covert techniques would be disproportionate. No activity
should be considered proportionate if the information which is sought could
reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.

When completing the authorisation the AO should explain why the methods and
tactics to be adopted during the surveillance are justified in the particular
circumstances of the case.

The Codes provide guidance relating to proportionality which should be
considered by both applicants and AOs:

° Balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity
and extent of the perceived crime or offence;

o Explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least
possible intrusion on the subject and others;

. Considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and
a reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of
obtaining the necessary result;

. Evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been
considered and why they were not implemented.

When completing an application for authorisation, the case should be presented
in a fair and balanced way. In particular, all reasonable efforts should be made to
take into account information which weakens the case for the authorisation.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 17 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 150
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

21.
21.1

21.2

21.3

21.4

21.5

21.6

22.
221

22.2

22.3

COLLATERAL INTRUSION

Before authorising applications for directed surveillance, the AO should also take
into account the risk of collateral intrusion - obtaining private information about
persons who are not subjects of the surveillance.

Officers should take measures, wherever practicable, to avoid or minimise
unnecessary intrusion into the privacy of those who are not the intended subjects
of the surveillance. Where such collateral intrusion is unavoidable, the activities
may still be authorised, provided this intrusion is considered proportionate to the
aims of the operation. The same proportionality tests apply to anticipated
collateral intrusion as to intrusion into the privacy of the intended subject of the
surveillance.

All applications must include an assessment of the risk of collateral intrusion and
details of any measures taken to limit this (within the relevant section of the
form), to enable the AO to fully consider the proportionality of the proposed
actions.

In order to give proper consideration to collateral intrusion, an AO should be
given full information regarding the potential scope of the anticipated
surveillance, including the likelihood that any equipment or software deployed
may cause intrusion on persons or property other than the subject(s) of the
application. If an automated system such as an online search engine is used to
obtain the information, the AO should be made aware of its potential extent and
limitations. Material which is not necessary or proportionate to the aims of the
operation or investigation should be discarded or securely retained separately
where it may be required for future evidential purposes. The AO should ensure
appropriate safeguards for the handling, retention or destruction of such material,
as well as compliance with Data Protection Act requirements.

Where it is proposed to conduct surveillance activity specifically against
individuals who are not suspected of direct or culpable involvement in the overall
matter being investigated, interference with the privacy of such individuals should
not be considered as collateral intrusion but rather as intended intrusion.

Where the Council intends to access a social media or other online account to
which they have been given access with the consent of the owner, the authority
will still need to consider whether the account(s) may contain information about
others who have not given their consent. If there is a likelihood of obtaining
private information about others, the need for a Directed Surveillance
authorisation should be considered, particularly (though not exclusively) where it
is intended to monitor the account going forward.

THE APPLICATION AND AUTHORISATION PROCESS

All forms relating to RIPA can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2

DURATION OF AUTHORISATIONS

Authorisations must be given for the maximum duration from the date approved
by the JP/Magistrate but reviewed on a regular basis and formally cancelled
when no longer needed. They do not expire — they must be cancelled when the
surveillance is no longer proportionate or necessary. Therefore, a directed
surveillance authorisation will cease to have effect after three months from the
date of approval by the Magistrate unless renewed or cancelled. Durations
detailed below:

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 18 of 28


https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2

Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 151
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

22.4

22.5

22.6

22.7

22.8

229

22.10

22.11

22.12

22.13

22.14

° Directed Surveillance 3 Months
. Renewal 3 Months
. Covert Human Intelligence Source 12 Months
. Renewal 12 months
° Juvenile Sources 4 Months
° Renewal 4 Months

It is the responsibility of the 10 to make sure that the authorisation is still valid
when they undertake surveillance.

APPLICATIONS/AUTHORISATION

The applicant or some other person must carry out a feasibility study and
intrusion assessment as this may be required by the AO. The person seeking
the authorisation should then complete the application form having regard to the
guidance given in this Policy and the statutory Codes of Practice. There should
not be any real delay between the feasibility study and the completion of the
application form to ensure that the details within the application remain accurate.
The form should then be submitted to the AO for authorisation.

When completing an application, the applicant must ensure that the case for the
authorisation is presented in a fair and balanced way. In particular, all
reasonable efforts should be made to take into account information which
weakens the case for the warrant or authorisation.

For directed surveillance, the offence must be a criminal offence that attracts a
maximum custodial sentence of six months or more or criminal offences relating
to the underage sale of alcohol or tobacco under sections 146, 147 or 147A of
the Licensing Act 2003 or section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933.

All the relevant sections must be completed with enough information to ensure
that applications are sufficiently detailed for the AO to consider necessity and
proportionality, having taken into account the collateral intrusion issues. AOs
should refuse to authorise applications that are not to the required standard and
should refer them back to the originating Officers. Cutting and pasting or using
template entries should not take place as this would leave the process open to
challenge.

If it is intended to undertake both directed surveillance and the use of a CHIS on
the same surveillance subject, the respective application form and procedures
should be followed, and both activities should be considered separately on their
own merits.

All applications will be submitted to the AO via the Line Manager of the
appropriate enforcement team in order that they are aware of the application and
activities being undertaken by their staff. The Line Manager will perform an initial
quality check of the application. However, they should not be involved in the
sanctioning of the authorisation.

Applications, whether authorised or refused, will be issued with a uniqgue number
(obtained from the RIPA Coordinator) by the AO, taken from the next available
number in the central record of authorisations which is held by the RIPA
Coordinator.

If not authorised, feedback will be provided to the applicant and the application
will be forwarded to the RIPA Coordinator for recording and filing.

If authorised, the applicant will then complete the relevant section of the judicial
application/order form. Although this form requires the applicant to provide a

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 19 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 152
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

22.15

22.16

22.17

22.18

22.19

22.20

22.21

22.22

22.23

22.24
22.25

22.26

22.27

brief summary of the circumstances of the case, this is supplementary and does
not replace the need to supply the original RIPA authorisation form to the Court.

ARRANGING THE COURT HEARING

Within office hours a hearing must be arranged at the Magistrates’ Court with Her
Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service (HMCTS). The hearing will be in private
and heard by a single JP. The application to the JP will be on oath.

Officers who may present the application at these proceedings will need to be
formally designated by the Council under section 223 of the Local Government
Act 1972 to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or information as required
by the JP. The legal department can advise who is duly authorised and able to
present.

ATTENDING THE HEARING

The applicant and the AO should attend the Hearing to answer any questions
directed at them. Upon attending the hearing, the presenting Officer must
provide to the JP the partially completed judicial application/order form, a copy of
the RIPA application/authorisation form, and the original form, together with any
supporting documents setting out the case.

The original RIPA authorisation should be shown to the JP but will be retained by
the Council so that it is available for inspection by IPCO, and in the event of any
legal challenge or investigations by the IPT.

The JP will read and consider the RIPA authorisation and the judicial
application/order form. They may ask questions to clarify points or require
additional reassurance on particular matters. These questions are
supplementary to the content of the application form. The forms and supporting
papers must by themselves make the Council’s case. It is not sufficient for the
Council to provide oral evidence where this is not reflected or supported in the
papers provided.

The JP will consider whether they are satisfied that at the time the authorisation
was granted or renewed, there were reasonable grounds for believing that the
authorisation was necessary and proportionate. In addition, they must be
satisfied that the person who granted the authorisation or gave the notice was an
appropriate Designated Person within the Council and the authorisation was
made in accordance with any applicable legal restrictions, for example that the
crime threshold for directed surveillance has been met.

DECISION OF THE JP

The JP has a number of options:

Approve or renew an authorisation. If approved by the JP, the date of the
approval becomes the commencement date and the three months duration will
commence on this date, the Officers are now allowed to undertake the activity.

Refuse to approve or renew an authorisation. The RIPA authorisation will not
take effect and the Council may not use the technique in that case.

Where an application has been refused, the applicant may wish to consider the
reasons for that refusal. If more information was required by the JP to determine
whether the authorisation has met the tests, and this is the reason for refusal, the
Officer should consider whether they can reapply. For example, if there was

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 20 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 153
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

22.28

22.29

22.30

22.31

22.32

22.33

22.34

22.35

22.36

22.37

22.38

22.39

information to support the application which was available to the Council, but not
included in the papers provided at the hearing.

For, a technical error (as defined by the JP), the form may be remedied without
going through the internal authorisation process again. The Officer may then
wish to reapply for judicial approval once those steps have been taken.

Refuse to approve or renew and quash the authorisation. This applies where the
JP refuses to approve or renew the authorisation and decides to quash the
original authorisation. However, the court must not exercise its power to quash
the authorisation unless the applicant has had at least two business days from
the date of the refusal in which to make representations. If this is the case the
Officer will inform the Legal Department who will consider whether to make any
representations.

The JP will record their decision on the order section of the judicial
application/order form. The court administration will retain a copy of the
Council's RIPA application and authorisation form and the judicial
application/order form. The Officer will retain the original authorisation and a
copy of the judicial application/order form.

The Council may only appeal a JP decision on a point of law by judicial review. If
such a concern arises, the Legal Department will decide what action if any
should be taken.

POST COURT PROCEDURE

It will be necessary to work out the cancellation date from the date of approval
and ensure that the applicant and the AO are aware. The original application
and the copy of the judicial application/order form should be forwarded to the
RIPA Coordinator. A copy will be retained by the applicant and if necessary by
the AO. The Central Register of Authorisations will be updated with the relevant
information to comply with the Codes of Practice and the original documents filed
and stored securely.

Where dates are set within the process such as reviews, they must be adhered
to. This will help with demonstrating that the process has been managed
correctly in line with the Codes of Practice.

MANAGEMENT OF THE ACTIVITY

All RIPA activity will need to be managed by all the persons involved in the
process. It is important that all those involved in undertaking directed
surveillance activities are fully aware of the extent and limits of the authorisation.
There should be an ongoing assessment of the need for the continued activity,
including ongoing assessments of the intrusion. All material obtained including
evidence should be stored in line with relevant legislation and procedures to
safeguard its integrity and reduce a risk of challenge. (See use of material as
evidence)

REVIEWS

When an application has been authorised and approved by a JP, regular reviews
must be undertaken by the AO to assess the need for the surveillance to
continue.

In each case the AO should determine at the outset how often a review should
take place. This should be as frequently as is considered necessary and

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 21 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 154
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

22.40

22.41

22.42

22.43

22.44

22.45

22.46
22.47

22.48

22.49

22.50

2251

practicable. Particular attention is drawn to the need to review authorisations
frequently where the surveillance provides a high level of intrusion into private life
or significant collateral intrusion, or may obtain confidential information. Review
periods will be recorded on the application form and the decision will be based on
the circumstances of each application. However, reviews should be conducted
at least monthly to ensure that the activity is managed. It will be important for the
AO to be aware of when reviews are required following an authorisation, to
ensure timely submission of the review form.

Applicants are responsible for submitting a review form by the date set by the
AO. They should also use a review form for any changes in circumstances to the
original application which would comprise a change to the level of intrusion so
that the requirement to continue the activity can be reassessed. The applicant
does not have to wait until the review date if it is being submitted for a change in
circumstances. If the circumstances or the objectives have changed
considerably, or the techniques to be used are now different, a new RIPA
application form should be submitted and the process followed to obtain approval
by a JP.

Line managers should also make themselves aware of the required review
periods to ensure that the relevant forms are completed on time.

The reviews are dealt with internally by submitting the review form to the AO.
There is no requirement for a review form to be submitted to a JP.

The results of a review should be recorded on the Central Record of
Authorisations.

RENEWAL

A renewal form is to be completed by the applicant when the original
authorisation period is about to expire but directed surveillance or the use of a
CHIS is still required.

Renewals must be approved by a JP.

Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the original
authorisation period is due to expire but the applicant must take account of
factors which may delay the renewal process (e.g. intervening weekends or the
availability of the relevant AO and a JP to consider the application).

The applicant should complete all the sections within the renewal form and
submit the form to the AO for consideration.

AOs should examine the circumstances with regard to necessity, proportionality
and the collateral intrusion issues before making a decision to renew the activity.
A CHIS application should not be renewed unless a thorough review has been
carried out covering the use made of the source, the tasks given to them and
information obtained. The AO must consider the results of the review when
deciding whether to renew or not. The review and the consideration must be
documented.

If the AO refuses to renew the application, the cancellation process should be
completed. If the AO authorises the renewal of the activity, the same process is
to be followed as for the initial application whereby approval must be sought from
a JP.

A renewal takes effect on the day on which the authorisation would have ceased
and lasts for a further period of three months.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 22 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 155
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

22.52

22.53

22.54

22.55

22.56

22.57

23.
23.1

23.2

23.3

CANCELLATION

The cancellation form is to be submitted by the applicant or another investigator
in their absence. The AO who granted or last renewed the authorisation must
cancel it if they are satisfied that the directed surveillance no longer meets the
criteria upon which it was authorised. Where the AO is no longer available, this
duty will fall on the person who has taken over the role of AO or the person who
is acting as AO.

As soon as the decision is taken that directed surveillance should be
discontinued, the applicant or other IO involved in the investigation should inform
the AO. The AO will formally instruct the IO to cease the surveillance, noting the
time and date of their decision. This will be required for the cancellation form.
The date and time when such an instruction was given should also be recorded
in the Central Record of Authorisations.

The 10 submitting the cancellation should complete in detail the relevant sections
of the form and include the period of surveillance and also detail if any images
were obtained, particularly any images containing third parties. The AO should
then take this into account and issue instructions regarding the management and
disposal of the images. See section below; Safeguarding and the Use of
Surveillance Material.

The cancellation process should also be used to evaluate whether the objectives
have been achieved and whether the applicant acted within the authorisation.
This check will form part of the oversight function. Where issues are identified,
they will be brought to the attention of the Line Manager and the SRO.

When cancelling a CHIS authorisation an assessment of the welfare and safety
of the source should be assessed, and any issues identified and reported as
above.

SURVEILLANCE OUTSIDE OF RIPA

As previously detailed, amendments to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers
(Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010
mean that Councils can now only grant an authorisation under RIPA where the
Council is investigating criminal offences which attract a maximum custodial
sentence of at least six months or criminal offences relating to the underage sale
of alcohol or tobacco.

As a result of the changes in legislation, it is envisaged that surveillance may be
required which falls outside of RIPA (for example in the case of anti-social
behaviour disorders which do not attract a maximum custodial sentence of at
least six months imprisonment).

As stated, conducting surveillance outside of RIPA is not fundamentally unlawful,
however in order for the Council to defend claims that they have breached an
individual’s right to privacy under the HRA the Council needs to demonstrate that
their actions were justified in the circumstances of the case. It is therefore the
Council’s policy that, in order to undertake surveillance that falls outside of RIPA,
Officers will follow the same initial process as when they are making an
application for authorisation under RIPA. The IO must complete a Non-RIPA
application form that is authorised by an AO and the application will be lodged
with and monitored by the RIPA Coordinator. The AO will need to be satisfied
that the actions are necessary and proportionate and give due consideration to
any collateral intrusion. The Non-RIPA authorisation form is available from the
RIPA Coordinator. The procedure for review and renewal of the surveillance

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 23 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 156
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

23.4

23.5

24,
24.1

24.2

24.3

application will be the same, however there is no requirement/ability to obtain
authorisation from a JP.

Non-RIPA surveillance also includes staff surveillance in serious disciplinary
investigations. Any surveillance of staff must be formally recorded on the Non-
RIPA surveillance application form and authorised by the AO in consultation with
the RIPA Coordinator. The review of staff usage of the internet and e-mail would
also not fall under RIPA. This surveillance outside of RIPA must however be
compliant with any Council Policies with regard to monitoring at work and
business practices legislation and should also consider ICO guidance in relation
to surveillance of staff. Surveillance of staff should only be carried out in
exceptional circumstances.

The RIPA codes also provide guidance that authorisation under RIPA is not
required for the following types of activity:

. General observations that do not involve the systematic surveillance of an
individual or a group of people and should an incident be witnessed the
Officer will overtly respond to the situation.

° Use of overt CCTV and Automatic Number Plate Recognition systems.
o Surveillance where no private information is likely to be obtained.
. Surveillance undertaken as an immediate response to a situation.

. Covert surveillance not relating to criminal offence which carries a
maximum sentence of 6 months imprisonment and does not relate to the
sale of alcohol or tobacco to children (surveillance outside of RIPA).

. The use of a recording device by a CHIS in respect of whom an
appropriate use or conduct authorisation has been granted permitting them
to record any information in their presence.

. The covert recording of noise where the recording is of decibels only or
constitutes non-verbal noise (such as music, machinery or an alarm), or the
recording of verbal content is made at a level which does not exceed that
which can be heard from the street outside or adjoining property with the
naked ear. In the latter circumstance, the perpetrator would normally be
regarded as having forfeited any claim to privacy. In either circumstance
this is outside of RIPA.

SAFEGUARDING AND THE USE OF SURVEILLANCE MATERIAL

This section provides guidance on the procedures and safeguards to be applied
in relation to the handling of any material obtained through directed surveillance
or CHIS activity. This material may include private, confidential or legally
privileged information.

AUTHORISED PURPOSE

Dissemination, copying and retention of material must be limited to the minimum
necessary for authorised purposes. For the purposes of this Code this is defined
as follows:-

. Itis, or is likely to become, necessary for any of the statutory purposes set
out in the RIPA in relation to covert surveillance or CHIS activity;

. It is necessary for facilitating the carrying out of the functions of public
authorities under RIPA;

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 24 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 157
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

24.1

24.2

24.3

24.4

24.5

24.6

24.7

24.8

24.9

24.10

. It is necessary for facilitating the carrying out of any functions of the
Commissioner or the Investigatory Powers Tribunal;

. It is necessary for the purposes of legal proceedings; or

. It is necessary for the performance of the functions of any person by or

under any enactment.

USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE

Material obtained through directed surveillance, may be used as evidence in
criminal proceedings. The admissibility of evidence is governed primarily by the
common law, the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 (CPIA), the
Civil Procedure Rules, section 78 of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
and the Human Rights Act 1998.

Ensuring the continuity and integrity of evidence is critical to every prosecution.
Accordingly, considerations as to evidential integrity are an important part of the
disclosure regime under the CPIA and these considerations will apply to any
material acquired through covert surveillance that is used in evidence. When
information obtained under a covert surveillance authorisation is used
evidentially, the Council must be able to demonstrate how the evidence has been
obtained, to the extent required by the relevant rules of evidence and disclosure.

Where the product of surveillance could be relevant to pending or future criminal
or civil proceedings, it should be retained in accordance with established
disclosure requirements. In a criminal case the codes issued under CPIA will
apply. They require that the investigator record and retain all relevant material
obtained in an investigation and later disclose relevant material to the
prosecuting solicitor. They in turn will decide what is disclosed to the defence
solicitor.

There is nothing in RIPA which prevents material obtained under directed or
intrusive surveillance authorisations from being used to further other
investigations.

HANDLING AND RETENTION OF MATERIAL

All material associated and obtained with an application will be subject to the
provisions of all data protection legislation and regulations and CPIA Codes of
Practice and to any Council Policies with regard to data retention and security.
All Officers involved within this process should make themselves aware of the
provisions within this legislation and how it impacts on the RIPA process.
Material obtained together with relevant associated paperwork should be held
securely. Extra care needs to be taken if the application and material relates to a
CHIS.

Material required to be retained under CPIA should be retained until a decision is
taken whether to institute proceedings against a person for an offence or if
proceedings have been instituted, at least until the accused is acquitted or
convicted or the prosecutor decides not to proceed with the case.

Where the accused is convicted, all material which may be relevant must be
retained at least until the convicted person is released from custody, or six
months from the date of conviction, in all other cases.

If the court imposes a custodial sentence and the convicted person is released
from custody earlier than six months from the date of conviction, all material

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 25 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 158
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

24.11

24.12

24.13

24.14

24.15

24.16

24.17

24.18

24.19

24.20

24.21

which may be relevant must be retained at least until six months from the date of
conviction.

If an appeal against conviction is in progress when the convicted person is
released, or at the end of the period of six months, all material which may be
relevant must be retained until the appeal is determined.

Retention beyond these periods must be justified under data protection
legislation and regulations. AOs, through the Council’s Data Controller, must
ensure compliance with the appropriate Data Protection requirements and any
relevant internal arrangements produced by the Council relating to the handling
and storage of material.

DISSEMINATION OF INFORMATION

It may be necessary to disseminate material acquired through the RIPA covert
activity within the Council or with other Councils or agencies, including the Police.
The number of persons to whom any of the information is disclosed, and the
extent of disclosure, should be limited to the minimum necessary. It must also be
in connection with an authorised purpose as set out above. It will be necessary
to consider exactly what and how much information should be disclosed. Only so
much of the material may be disclosed as the recipient needs; for example, if a
summary of the material will suffice, no more than that should be disclosed.

The obligations apply not just to the Council as the original authority acquiring the
information, but also to anyone to whom the material is subsequently disclosed.
In some cases, this will be achieved by requiring the latter to obtain permission
from the Council before disclosing the material further. It is important that the
Officer in Charge (OIC) of the enquiry considers these implications at the point of
dissemination to ensure that safeguards are applied to the data.

A record will be maintained justifying any dissemination of material. If in doubt,
seek legal advice.

STORAGE

Material obtained through covert surveillance, and all copies, extracts and
summaries of it, must be handled and stored securely, so as to minimise the risk
of loss. It must be held so as to be inaccessible to persons who are not required
to see the material (where applicable). This requirement applies to all those who
are responsible for the handling of the material. It will be necessary to ensure
that an appropriate security clearance regime is in place to safeguard the
material whether held electronically or physically.

COPYING

Material obtained through covert surveillance may only be copied to the extent
necessary for the authorised purposes set out above. Copies include not only
direct copies of the whole of the material, but also extracts and summaries which
identify themselves as the product of covert surveillance, and any record which
refers to the covert surveillance and the identities of the persons to whom the
material relates.

In the course of an investigation, the Council must not act on or further
disseminate legally privileged items unless it has first informed the IPC that the
items have been obtained.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 26 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 159
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

24.22

24.23

25.
25.1

25.2

25.3

254

25.5

25.6

25.7

25.8

DESTRUCTION

Information obtained through covert surveillance, and all copies, extracts and
summaries which contain such material, should be scheduled for deletion or
destruction and securely destroyed as soon as they are no longer needed for the
authorised purpose(s) set out above. If such information is retained, it should be
reviewed at appropriate intervals to confirm that the justification for its retention is
still valid. In this context, destroying material means taking such steps as might
be necessary to make access to the data impossible.

ERRORS

Proper application of the surveillance provisions in the RIPA codes and this
Policy should reduce the scope for making errors.

RELEVANT ERROR

An error must be reported if it is a “relevant error”. A relevant error is any error
by the Council in complying with any requirements that are imposed on it by any
enactment which are subject to review by a Judicial Commissioner. This would
include compliance by public authorities with Part 1l of RIPA.

Examples of relevant errors occurring would include circumstances where:
° Surveillance activity has taken place without lawful authorisation.

. There has been a failure to adhere to the safeguards set out in the relevant
statutory provisions and Chapter 9 of the Surveillance Codes of Practice
relating to the safeguards of the material.

Errors can have very significant consequences on an affected individual’s rights.
All relevant errors made by the Council must be reported to the Investigatory
Powers Commissioner as soon as reasonably practicable, and a full report no
later than ten working days after the error is discovered. The report should
include information on the cause of the error; the amount of surveillance
conducted, and material obtained or disclosed; any unintended collateral
intrusion; any analysis or action taken; whether any material has been retained or
destroyed; and a summary of the steps taken to prevent recurrence.

SERIOUS ERRORS

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner must inform a person of any relevant
error relating to that person if the Commissioner considers that the error is a
serious error and that it is in the public interest for the person concerned to be
informed of the error. The Commissioner may not decide that an error is a
serious error unless they consider that the error has caused significant prejudice
or harm to the person concerned. The fact that there has been a breach of a
person’s convention rights (within the meaning of the HRA) is not sufficient by
itself for an error to be a serious error.

It is important that all staff involved in the RIPA process report any issues, so
they can be assessed as to whether it constitutes an error which requires
reporting.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 27 of 28



Regulation of Investigatory Powers AcPage 160
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy

26. COMPLAINTS

26.1 The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT) has jurisdiction to investigate and
determine complaints against the Council’s use of investigatory powers, including
those covered by this code. Any complaints about the use of powers as
described in this code should be directed to the IPT.

26.2 Complaints should be addressed to:
The Investigatory Powers Tribunal
PO Box 33220
London
SWIH 92Q

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 April 2019
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy Version 2 Page 28 of 28



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 161
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

Version Control:

Document Name:

Version:

Responsible Officer:

Approved by:

Date First

Approved:

Next Review Date

Retention Period:

Revision History

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Acquisition of
Communications Data Policy

1
Emma Cathcart, Counter Fraud Unit

Cabinet

N/A

Revision date

Version

Description

April 2019

1

Change in legislation / introduction of IPA 2016

Consultees

Internal

External

Audit Committee

Legal Department

Corporate Management

Distribution

Name

Enforcement Officers

Investigatory Powers Act 2016
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 1 of 19

April 2019




Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 162
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

CONTENTS
1. INTRODUCTION ...ttt ettt e e et e e e e e e e e e bbb e e e e e e e e e aann 4
2. SCOPE OF POLICY ..ttt ettt e e e e e e eeaeeas 4
3. ROLES OF STAFF INVOLVED IN THE PROCESS........cccooiiiiiiiie e 4
. AP P LIC AN T ettt e e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e e nannee e 5
5. DESIGNATED PERSON .....otiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt a e e e ibbnneeaae s 5
6.  SINGLE POINT OF CONTACT .. .uttiiiiiiiiiie ettt e ettt e e e e nnnneee e 5
7.  OCDA AUTHORISING INDIVIDUAL ......coiiiiiiiiieeiiieee ettt 6
8.  WHAT IS COMMUNICATIONS DATA ..ottt 6
9.  COMMUNICATIONS DATA DEFINITIONS.......ooiiiiiiiiieiiiiiie et 6
10. POSTAL DEFINITIONS ...ttt ettt a e 7
11. WEB BROWSING AND COMMUNICATIONS DATA ... 8
12. RELEVANT COMMUNICATIONS DATA ...ttt 8
13. INTERNET CONNECTION RECORDS .......cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 9
14. PREPAID MOBILE PHONES........oottiiiiiiiiiiiiee et 9
15. WHO CAN COMMUNICATIONS DATA BE OBTAINED FROM?........ccccccvveeennnne 9
16. LAWFUL REASONS TO ACCESS COMMUNICATIONS DATA .....cccoeiiiiieeee 10
17. USING OTHER POWERS .......oiiiiiiiiiie ettt 10
18. INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS ..ottt 10
19. SERIOUS CRIME THRESHOLD .......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 10
20. NECESSITY AND PROPORTIONALITY oottt 11
20 NECE S S T Y ittt et e et e et a et aaae 11
22, PROPORTIONALITY Lttt ettt e et e et e e e e et e aeees 11
23. COLLATERAL INTRUSION ...coiiitiiieaiiiit ettt a e nnnaea e 12
24. THE TWO WAYS OF OBTAINING COMMUNICATIONS DATA ... 12
25. THE APPLICATION PROGCESS.......o et 13
26.  TIME SCALES ...ttt e e e e e 14
27.  APPLICATION FORM...coiiiiiiiieiitie ettt et e e nneaeae e 14
28. URGENT ORAL AUTHORISATION ...ttt 15
29, ERRORS .o ae 15
30. REPORTABLE ERROR.......ooiiiiiiiiiie ittt e a e 16
31. RECORDABLE ERROR ...ttt e et e e e aan e aaees 16
B2, EXCESS DA T A ittt e et e et e et e et a e e e aae 16
33. RECORD KEEPING AND SECURITY OF DATA .....ooiii e 17
34. CRIMINAL PROCEDURES AND INVESTIGATIONS ACT (CPIA) ......cceeeiiiieaenns 17
35. DATA PROTECTION ACT 2018 (DPA) AND THE GENERAL DATA PROTECTION
REGULATIONS (GDPRY) ...ttt e 18
Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019

Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 2 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 163
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

36, OVERSIGHT ... ittt bbb nnanee 18
7. COMPLAINTS e e e e e e e r e e e e e e e e nrrnaa s e e eeeeennnes 19
38. STRATEGY AND POLICY REVIEW ... 19

Investigatory Powers Act 2016

April 2019

Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 3 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 164
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

INTRODUCTION

The Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA) governs how law enforcement agencies use
the investigatory powers available to them, in relation to the lawful acquisition of
Communications Data (CD). The IPA provides unprecedented transparency and
substantial privacy protection, strengthening safeguards and introducing oversight
arrangements. It also introduces a powerful new Investigatory Powers Commission
(IPC) to oversee how these powers are used.

The powers provided by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)
allowed the Council to obtain CD from Communications Service Providers (CSPs) in
connection with criminal investigations.

The IPA extends the range of data Councils are able to request from providers but
ensures independent authorisation for the acquisition through the new Office for
Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA). However, it continues only to be a
justifiable interference with an individual’s human rights if such conduct is authorised, is
both necessary and proportionate, and is in accordance with the law.

All applications for CD must be made via an Accredited Officer known as a Single Point
of Contact (SPoC) who has passed a Home Office approved course. All Councils must
use the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) as their SPoC. Therefore, all applications
to access CD will be made through NAFN via their online application service.

The introduction of OCDA means the acquisition of CD by Council officers no longer
requires judicial approval.

These powers should not be confused with any Policy and practices with regard to
monitoring under the lawful business practices legislation. This latter legislation relates
to the monitoring of the Council’'s own communication and computer systems.

SCOPE OF POLICY

This Policy sets out the Council’s procedures and approach for obtaining and handling
CD for the purposes of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder; the only
lawful reasons for Council staff to use IPA legislation to access CD.

This Policy should be read in conjunction with the Communications Data Code of
Practice (COP), currently in draft. This also creates a system of safeguards, consistent
with the requirements of Article 8 (rights to privacy) of the Human Rights Act 1998.
The Codes of Practice are admissible in evidence in criminal and civil proceedings.

The draft Code can be obtained using the link detailed below and is available to all
Council staff involved in the acquisition of CD.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
nt data/file/757851/Communications Data Code of Practice.pdf

Both this Policy and the COP will be followed at all times and under no circumstances
should access to CD be sought outside of this guidance.

The Council will review and amend this Policy as necessary to ensure that it continues
to remain compliant and meets legislative requirements and the objectives of the
Council.

ROLES OF STAFF INVOLVED IN THE PROCESS

The process for the acquisition of CD under the IPA requires the following personnel:

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 4 of 19


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757851/Communications_Data_Code_of_Practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/757851/Communications_Data_Code_of_Practice.pdf

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 165
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

. Applicant

o Designated Person (DP)

o Single Point of Contact (SPoC)
. OCDA Authorising Individual

APPLICANT

The Applicant is a person involved in conducting an investigation or operation who
makes an application in writing for the acquisition of CD. The Applicant completes an
application form, setting out for consideration the necessity and proportionality of a
specific requirement for acquiring CD. Prior to the completion of the relevant
paperwork, it may be advisable for the Applicant to consult with the SPoC at NAFN.

DESIGNATED PERSON

The DP is a person of Service Manager level or equivalent within the Council who
confirms to NAFN that they are aware that an application has been made. They do not
have any authorising function but are responsible for the integrity of the process in
place and the overall quality of that process.

SINGLE POINT OF CONTACT

The SPoC is either an accredited individual (passed the Home Office course) or a
group of accredited individuals such as the National Anti-Fraud Network, who are
trained to facilitate lawful acquisition of CD. All accredited officers are issued a
Personal Identification Number (PIN). Details of all accredited individuals are available
to Communication Service Providers (CSPs) for authentication purposes.

An accredited SPoC promotes efficiency and good practice in ensuring only practical
and lawful requirements for CD are undertaken. The SPoC provides objective
judgement and advice to the Applicant and provides a "guardian and gatekeeper"
function, ensuring that public authorities act in an informed and lawful manner.

As already explained, this Council can only use the services of NAFN as the Council’s
SPoC. Therefore, all applications to access CD will be made through NAFN.

The SPoC will be in a position to:

° Engage proactively with Applicants to develop strategies to obtain CD and use it
effectively in support of operations or investigations;

o Assess whether the acquisition of specific CD from a CSP is reasonably practical
or whether the specific data required is inextricably linked to other data;

. Advise Applicants on the most appropriate method for the acquisition of data
where the data sought engages a number of CSPs;

. Advise Applicants on the type of data that can be obtained to meet their
purposes.

. Provide assurance to DPs that Authorisations and Notices are lawful under the
IPA and free from errors;

. Provide assurance to OCDA that an application has been verified and checked.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 5 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 166
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

8.2.

8.3.

8.4.

8.5.

8.6.

9.1.
9.2.

9.3.

. Assess whether CD disclosed by a CSP in response to a Notice fulfils the
requirement of the Notice;

o Assess whether CD obtained by means of an Authorisation fulfils the requirement
of the Authorisation;

. Assess any cost and resource implications to both the Council and the CSP of
data requirements.

OCDA AUTHORISING INDIVIDUAL

The OCDA officer receives the application from the NAFN SPoC and checks the
application meets the necessary criteria before authorising or rejecting and issuing a
Decision Document. NAFN will retain the original of all the documents. These will be
retained within the on-line portal. Copies of the documents must be retained by the
Applicant, DP or within the relevant department for inspection by the IPC and for audit,
filing and disclosure purposes under the Criminal Procedures Investigation Act 1996.
(OCDA will only hold the applications and Decision Documents for a limited period of
time due to the degree of sensitivity and risk arising from the accumulation of these
documents in a central database.)

WHAT IS COMMUNICATIONS DATA

CD does not include the content of any communication. It is not lawfully possible for
Council employees under any circumstances to obtain the content of communications.

The term ‘CD’ embraces the ‘who’, ‘when’ and ‘where’ of a communication but not the
content - not what was said or written. It includes the manner in which, and by what
method, a person or machine communicates with another person or machine. It
excludes what they say or what data they pass on within a communication including
text, audio and video

CD can include the address to which a letter is sent, the time and duration of a
communication, the telephone number or email address of the originator and recipient,
and the location of the device from which the communication was made. It covers
electronic communications including internet access, internet telephony, instant
messaging and the use of applications. It also includes postal services.

CD is generated, held or obtained in the provision, delivery and maintenance of
communications services — i.e. postal services or telecommunications services.

Where the provision of a communication service engages a number of providers, the
SPoC will determine the most appropriate plan for acquiring the data.

When enquiries regarding CD are being considered within an investigation, it may be
advisable that Applicants seek advice and guidance from the SPoC at NAFN. The
RIPA Coordinator /DP within the Counter Fraud Unit can provide contact details.

COMMUNICATIONS DATA DEFINITIONS
The IPA introduces new terminology for CD — Entity Data and Events Data

Entity Data describes the ‘who’ involved in the communication — the subscriber and the
links between different entities or communicators. Entities could be individuals, groups
and objects (such as mobile phones or other communications devices).

Examples of entity data requests include:

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 6 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 167
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

Subscriber checks, such as who is the subscriber of phone number 01234 567
8907

Who is the account holder of e-mail account example@example.co.uk?

Who is entitled to post to web space www.example.co.uk?

Subscribers’ or account holders’ account information, including names and
addresses for installation, and billing including payment method(s), details of
payments e.g. for pre-paid mobiles.

Information about the connection, disconnection and reconnection of services to
which the subscriber or account holder is allocated or has subscribed (or may
have subscribed) including conference calling, call messaging, call waiting and
call barring telecommunications services.

Information about apparatus or devices used by, or made available to, the
subscriber or account holder, including the manufacturer, model, serial numbers
and apparatus codes.

Information about selection of preferential numbers or discount calls.

9.4. Event Data identifies or describes events in relation to a telecommunications system
which consists of one or more entities engaging in an activity at a specific point or
points in time — the ‘what, when and where’. For obtaining Event Data there is a
Serious Crime Threshold (see 11.1)

9.5. Examples of events data include, but are not limited to:

Information tracing the origin or destination of a communication that is, or has
been, in transmission (including incoming call records);

Information identifying the location of apparatus when a communication is, has
been or may be made or received (such as the location of a mobile phone);

Information identifying the sender or recipient (including copy recipients) of a
communication from data comprised in or attached to the communication;

Routing information identifying apparatus through which a communication is or
has been transmitted (for example, file transfer logs and e-mail headers - to the
extent that content of a communication, such as the subject line of an e-mail, is
not disclosed);

Itemised telephone call records (numbers called)12;

[temised internet connection records;

Itemised timing and duration of service usage (calls and/or connections);
Information about amounts of data downloaded and/or uploaded;

Information about the use made of services which the user is allocated or has
subscribed to (or may have subscribed to) including conference calling, call
messaging, call waiting and call barring telecommunications services.

10. POSTAL DEFINITIONS

10.1. A postal service is a service which involves one or more of the collection, sorting,
conveyance, distribution and delivery of postal items and where its main purpose is to

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 7 of 19


mailto:example@example.co.uk
http://www.example.co.uk/

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 168
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

10.2.

10.3.

11.

11.1.

11.2.

12.

12.1.

make available or facilitate the transmission of postal items containing
communications. CD in relation to a postal service is defined at section 262(3) of the
IPA and comprises three elements:

. Postal data which is or has been comprised in or attached to a communication
for the purpose of the service by which it is transmitted;

. Data relating to use made by a person of a postal service;

. Information held or obtained by a postal operator about persons to whom the

postal operator provides or has provided a communications service and which
relates to the provision of the service.

Postal data is defined in section 262(4) of the IPA and includes specified categories of
data written on the outside of a postal item. All information on the outside of a postal
item concerning its postal routing, for example the address of the recipient, the sender
and the post-mark, is postal data.

In the postal context anything included inside a postal, item, which is in transmission,
will be content. Any message written on the outside of a postal item which is in
transmission may be content and fall within the scope for the interception of
communications. For example, a message written by the sender for the recipient will
be content but a message written by a postal worker concerning the delivery of the
postal item will not. All information on the outside of a postal item concerning it's
routing, for example the address of the recipient, the sender and the postmark, is
postal data and will not be content.

WEB BROWSING AND COMMUNICATIONS DATA

Web browser software provides one way for users to access web content. When using
a browser to access the web, a user may enter a web address. These are also referred
to as uniform resource locators (URLS).

Some elements of a URL are necessary to route a communication to the intended
recipient and are therefore CD. The URL may also contain the port, which is an
extended part of the Internet Provider (IP) address and the user information — including
usernames and authorisations. The port and user information will be CD.

RELEVANT COMMUNICATIONS DATA

A data retention notice under the IPA may only require the retention of relevant CD.
This is defined at section 87 of the IPAt and is a subset of CD.

It is data which may be used to identify or assist in identifying any of the following:
. The sender or recipient of a communication;

. The time or duration of a communication;

. The type, method or pattern, or fact of a communication;

. The telecommunication system to or through which a communication is
transmitted;

. The location of any such system.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 8 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 169
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

13.
13.1.

13.2.

13.3.

13.4.

14.
14.1.

14.2.

14.3.

15.
15.1.

INTERNET CONNECTION RECORDS

An internet connection record (ICR) is a record of an event held by a
telecommunications operator about the service to which a customer has connected on
the internet. An ICR is CD.

An ICR will only identify the service that a customer has been using. For example many
social networking apps on a device maintain persistent connections to a service. Even
in this case the relevant ICR will signpost the service accessed by the device, enabling
the authority to make further enquiries of the social networking provider identified.

Further detail on the definitions described above and the types of CD that can be
accessed is available in the COP.

The SPoC will provide advice and assistance with regard to the types of data which
can be lawfully obtained and how that data may assist an investigation. Where an
applicant is unsure of the category of data they are seeking (entity or events data) or
what additional types of CD may be retained by a telecommunications operator or
postal operator for their own business use, the applicant should discuss this with their
Single Point of Contact (SPoC).

PREPAID MOBILE PHONES

Unregistered prepaid mobile phones are common amongst criminals as it allows them
to avoid detection more easily. It is possible that a subscriber check will identify a
number as belonging to one of these devices. This does not necessarily prevent an
investigating officer obtaining useful information. The Applicant can ask for further
information about the subscriber under section 21(4)(c), including top-up details,
method of payment, the bank account used or customer notes etc.

So as to allow for the widening of the data capture, the Applicant should outline in their
original application that further information will be required if the phone turns out to be
prepaid, this information could be requested in two stages. Firstly, asking for the
subscriber details and then, if this turns out to be an unregistered prepaid phone,
asking for the further information.

The information that is received can then be developed to try to obtain further
information about the user of the phone. Solution Providers such as EasyPay, EPay
etc. are the third parties involved in the transaction of credit placed on a mobile phone.
If a Solution Provider is provided with the mobile telephone number, the transaction
date and the transaction number, they are often able to provide the method of payment
and the location of the top-up. Solution Providers are not CSPs and therefore they
cannot be issued with a Notice under the IPA; instead the data can be applied for
under the Data Protection Act via the SPoC.

WHO CAN COMMUNICATIONS DATA BE OBTAINED FROM?

CD can be obtained from a Communications Service Provider (CSP). A CSP is an
operator who provides a postal service such as Royal Mail or telecommunications
service, such as the usual telephone service providers. However, there may be less
obvious companies which may be classed as a CSP. The SPoC at NAFN will
determine which CSP they will contact to obtain the data on behalf of the Applicant.
However, any intelligence obtained which establishes which CSP may provide the data
should be included within the application or by notifying the SPoC.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 9 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 170
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

16.

16.1.

16.2.

16.3.

16.4.

16.5.

17.

17.1.

18.

18.1.

18.2.

19.

19.1.

19.2.

LAWFUL REASONS TO ACCESS COMMUNICATIONS DATA

As mentioned earlier the Council’s only lawful reasons to access CD is for the purpose
of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder.

Detecting crime includes establishing by whom, for what purpose, by what means and
generally in what circumstances any crime was committed, the gathering of evidence
for use in any legal proceedings and the apprehension of the person (or persons) by
whom any crime was committed.

The Council can only lawfully process and consider applications to access CD on
behalf of the Council. Under no circumstances will applications be accepted for outside
authorities/agencies. However, it may be necessary during joint investigations to
obtain CD; in these circumstances the Council can only apply for data which it would
usually be allowed to access. It should be clear in the investigation Policy log that it is a
joint investigation as it may have to be justified to a Court or Tribunal.

Staff must not apply on behalf of any third parties who do not have lawful authority to
obtain CD. Should an organisation make such an approach this must be reported to the
Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) who has the responsibility for the Council’s working
practices in relation to obtaining CD.

Where the Council is contracted to undertake work on behalf of a third party, CD may
be obtained if the Council is the investigating and prosecuting body.

USING OTHER POWERS

The IPA is the primary legislation for the acquisition of CD and should always be the
first option considered due to the rigorous and independent assessment and
authorisation process.

INTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS

The Codes state ‘where an investigation relates to an allegation of criminal conduct by
a member of a public authority, that public authority (or another public authority
appointed to investigate the complaint) may use their powers under Chapter Il to obtain
CD for the purpose of preventing and detecting the alleged or suspected crime where
the investigating officer intends the matter to be subject of a prosecution within a
criminal court. Should it be determined there are insufficient grounds to continue the
investigation or insufficient evidence to initiate a prosecution within a criminal court, it
will, with immediate effect, no longer be appropriate to obtain CD under the Act'.

If CD is sought in connection with officers of the Council committing crimes against the
Council, it is important that the enquiry is a genuine criminal investigation with a view to
proceeding criminally as opposed to just a disciplinary matter. Advice may be required
from the Council’s Legal section if this arises.

SERIOUS CRIME THRESHOLD

With effect from 1% November 2018 the IPA introduced a new Serious Crime Threshold
to applications for CD. This means the Council may only acquire Events Data where
the crime can be defined as a serious crime. Where the crime cannot be defined as
serious, only Entity Data may be obtained.

The following definitions of serious crime apply:

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 10 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 171
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

20.

20.1.

20.2.

21.

21.1.

21.2.

21.3.

22.

22.1.

22.2.

. An offence that is capable of attracting a prison sentence of 12 months or more;
. An offence by a person who is not an individual (i.e. a corporate body);

. An offence falling within the definition of serious crime in section 263(1)of the IPA
(i.e. where the conduct involves the use of violence, results in substantial
financial gain or is by a large number of persons in pursuit of a common
purpose);

. An offence which involves, as an integral part of it, the sending of a
communication;

. An offence which involves, as an integral part of it a breach of a person’s privacy.

NECESSITY AND PROPORTIONALITY

The COP states the acquisition of CD under the IPA will be a justifiable interference
with an individual’'s human rights under Article 8 Right to Privacy, only if the conduct
being authorised or required to take place is both necessary and proportionate and in
accordance with law.

Below is guidance to assist Applicants with factors that impact on necessity and
proportionality.

NECESSITY

In order to justify the application is necessary, the Applicant needs as a minimum to
consider three main points:

1. The event under investigation, such as a crime or disorder offence;

2.  The person, such as a suspect, witness or missing person and how they are
linked to the event;

3. The Communication Data, such as a telephone number or IP address, and how
this data is related to the person and the event.

In essence, necessity should be a short explanation of 1) the event, 2) the person
and 3) the CD and how these three link together. The application must establish a
link between the three aspects to be able to demonstrate the acquisition of CD is
necessary for the statutory purpose specified.

Necessity does not entail explaining ‘what will be achieved by acquiring the data’ or
‘why specific time periods have been requested’, these points are relevant to
proportionality and should be covered in the relevant section to stop repetition.

PROPORTIONALITY

Applicants should include an outline of how obtaining the data will benefit the
investigation or operation. If more than one item of data is being sought, the relevance
of the additional data should be explained.

This outline should include an explanation of how the level of intrusion is justified when
taking into consideration the benefit the data will give to the investigation. This
justification should include confirmation that relevant less intrusive investigations have
already been undertaken where possible. For example, the subscriber details of a
phone number may be obtained from online enquiries or other publicly available
sources.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 11 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 172
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

22.3. The relevance of any time periods requested must be explained, outlining how these
periods are proportionate to the event under investigation. The two basic questions
are:

e  What are you looking for in the data to be acquired and;

. If the data contains what you are looking for, what will be your next course of
action?

22.4. Particular consideration should be given to any periods of days or shorter periods of
time which might achieve the objective. They should specify the shortest period in
which the objective for which the data is sought can be achieved. To do otherwise will
impact on the proportionality of the Authorisation or Notice and impose unnecessary
burden upon a CSP.

22.5. An explanation as to how CD once acquired will be used, and how it will benefit the
investigation or operation will enable the Applicant to set out the basis of
proportionality.

22.6. An explanation of the proportionality of the application should include a consideration
of the rights (particularly to privacy and, in relevant cases, freedom of expression) of
the individual and a balancing of these rights against the benefit to the investigation.

22.7. An examination of the proportionality of the application should also involve
consideration of possible unintended consequences and, when relevant this should be
noted. Unintended consequences of an application are outcomes that are not intended
by the application.

23. COLLATERAL INTRUSION

23.1 Consideration of collateral intrusion forms part of the proportionality considerations and
becomes increasingly relevant when applying for Events Data. Applications should
include details of what collateral intrusion may occur and how the time periods
requested impact on the collateral intrusion.

23.2 The question to be asked is ‘Will the data set to be acquired result in collateral intrusion
to persons outside the line of enquiry the data is being obtained for?” For example,
itemised billing on the subject's family home will be likely to contain calls made by the
family members.

23.3 Applicants should not write about a potential or hypothetical ‘error’ and if the Applicant
cannot identify any meaningful collateral intrusion, that factor should be recorded in the
application i.e. ‘none identified’.

23.4 It is accepted that for a straight forward subscriber check there will be no meaningful
collateral intrusion.

24. THE TWO WAYS OF OBTAINING COMMUNICATIONS DATA

24.1. The legislation provides two different methods of acquiring CD (see below). The SPoC
at NAFN will be responsible for deciding the process for obtaining the data required
and passing responses from the service provider to the Council.

24.2. The two methods are:

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 12 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 173
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

24.3.

25.

25.1.

25.2.

25.3.

25.4.

25.5.

25.6.

. Authorisation of conduct, or
. Authorisation to give a Notice
An authorisation of conduct to acquire CD may be appropriate where, for example:

. there is an agreement in place between a public authority and a
telecommunications operator or postal operator to facilitate the secure and swift
disclosure of CD. Many telecommunications operators and postal operators have
auditable acquisition systems in place to ensure accurate and timely acquisition
of CD, while maintaining security and an audit trail;

. where the data can be acquired directly from a telecommunication system and
the activity does not constitute interception or equipment interference; or

o a public authority considers there is a requirement to identify a person to whom a
service is provided but the specific telecommunications operator or postal
operator has yet to be conclusively determined as the holder of the CD.

An authorisation to give a notice may be appropriate where a telecommunications
operator or postal operator is known to be capable of disclosing (and, where
necessary, obtaining) the CD

THE APPLICATION PROCESS

From April 2019 the IPA removes the requirement to obtain judicial approval.
Applications will only require Independent Authorisation.

Prior to an Applicant applying for CD, they should contact a SPoC at NAFN who will be
in a position to advise them regarding the obtaining and use of CD within their
investigation. This will reduce the risk of the Applicant applying for data which they are
not able to obtain. It will also assist the Applicant to determine their objectives and
apply for the most suitable data for those circumstances.

The Council will use the automated application process provided by NAFN. This
automated service contains the relevant documentation for the Applicant to complete
the relevant forms.

To use the system, Applicants and the DP have to individually register on the NAFN
website - www.nafn.gov.uk. A number of departments within the Council have
contributed towards the NAFN annual membership fee; therefore an Applicant needs to
confirm with their Line Manager that they are allowed to register. Should you have any
gueries, please contact the Counter Fraud Unit.

With regard to shared services, the Council on whose behalf the request is being made
must be a member of NAFN and the request made via login details for that Council.
Applicants and DPs cannot make use of one Council’'s membership to obtain any
information on behalf of another. Login details will be necessary for each Council that
an individual is employed by or works on behalf of.

The online application form, once completed by the Applicant will be forwarded
electronically to a SPoC at NAFN who will then perform their responsibilities and if
required they will contact the Applicant regarding the contents of the application form.
The SPoC at NAFN will obtain confirmation from the nominated DP that they are aware
of the application before proceeding.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 13 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 174
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

25.7.

25.8.

25.9.

25.10.

26.
26.1.

26.2.

26.3.

27.
27.1.

The SPoC confirms that the Council is permitted to use the recorded statutory purpose
and determines the conduct to satisfy the Council’s need (the type of data that is
required). If event data is required the SPoC checks the Applicant has recorded a
description of the offence(s) and a justification for the seriousness of the offence(s)

The SPoC can return the application to the Council for a re-work if it does not meet the
necessary criteria.

Once approved the SPoC refers the application to OCDA for authorisation. OCDA then
return the application to NAFN for the SPoC to obtain the authorised data from the
CSP.

If the OCDA officer rejects the application it can be returned to the applicant for a re-
work.

TIME SCALES

A new Operational Prioritisation has been introduced to enable NAFN to convey to
OCDA the operational urgency for the acquisition of data and ensure it is appropriately
triaged and handled to meet these demands.

Operational Prioritisation is categorised in Priority Levels 1-4 and for each Priority
rating there is an expected Service response time.

The Council will generally be submitting requests that are Priority Level 4 — Routine- for
which the response should be within 4 working days or 60 working hours.

APPLICATION FORM

The Applicant will complete an application form setting out for consideration the
necessity and proportionality of a specific requirement for CD.
An application to acquire CD must:

° describe the CD required, specifying, where relevant, any historic or future
date(s) and, where appropriate, time period(s);

. specify the purpose for which the data is required, by reference to a statutory
purpose under the Act;

. include a unique reference number;

° include the name and the office, rank or position held by the person making the
application;

. describe whether the CD relates to a victim, a witness, a complainant, a suspect,
next of kin, vulnerable person or other person relevant to the investigation or
operation;

o identify and explain the time scale within which the data is required;

o explain why the acquisition of that data is considered necessary and
proportionate to what is sought to be achieved by acquiring it;

. present the case for the authorisation in a fair and balanced way. In particular, all
reasonable efforts should be made to take account of information which supports
or weakens the case for the authorisation;

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 14 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 175
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

. consider and, where appropriate, describe any meaningful collateral intrusion —
the extent to which the rights of any individual not under investigation may be
infringed and why that intrusion is justified in the circumstances;

. consider and, where appropriate, describe any possible unintended
consequences of the application; and

o where data is being sought from a telecommunications operator or postal
operator, specify whether the telecommunications operator or postal operator
may inform the subject(s) of the fact that an application has been made for their
data

. include the operation name (if applicable) to which the application relates;

28. URGENT ORAL AUTHORISATION

28.1. There is no provision within the legislation for the Council to orally provide authority to
obtain CD. All requests will be made in writing on the NAFN portal and require
authorisation from a DP.

29. ERRORS

29.1. There is a requirement to record or in some instances report to IPCO errors that occur
when accessing CD. The thorough checking of operating procedures, including the
careful preparation and checking of applications, Notices and Authorisations, should
reduce the scope for making errors. Attention to detail will be required by all persons
involved in the process.

29.2. Reporting and recording of errors will draw attention to those aspects of the process of
acquisition and disclosure of CD that require further improvement to eliminate errors
and the risk of undue interference with any individual’s rights. Therefore, the SPoC or
other persons involved in the process should bring to the immediate attention of the
SRO either a recordable error or a reportable error and the necessary action can then
be taken in line with the COP.

29.3. Where material is disclosed by a CSP in error, which has no connection or relevance to
any investigation or operation undertaken by the public authority receiving it, that
material and any copy of it should be destroyed as soon as the report to the
Commissioner has been made.

29.4. An error can only occur after:

° The granting of an Authorisation and the acquisition of data has been initiated, or
° Notice has been given and the Notice has been served on a CSP in writing,
electronically or orally.

29.5. It is important to apply the procedures correctly to reduce the risk of an error occurring.
Where any error occurs, a record will be kept.

29.6. There are two types of errors:

o Reportable
o Recordable
Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019

Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 15 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 176
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

30.

30.1.

30.2.

30.3.

30.4.

31.

31.1.

31.2.

31.3.

32.

32.1.

32.2.

REPORTABLE ERROR

Where CD is acquired or disclosed wrongly a report must be made to the IPCO. Such
errors can have very significant consequences on an affected individual’s rights with
details of their private communications being disclosed to a public authority and, in
extreme circumstances, being wrongly detained or wrongly accused of a crime as a
result of that error.

Examples can include:

. An Authorisation or Notice made for a purpose, or for a type of data which the
relevant public authority cannot call upon or seek, under the Act;

. Human error, such as incorrect transposition of information from an application to
an Authorisation or Notice;

. Disclosure of the wrong data by a CSP when complying with a Notice;

. Acquisition of the wrong data by a public authority when engaging in conduct
specified in an Authorisation;

Any reportable error must be reported to the SRO as soon as it is identified and then a
report will be made to the IPCO within five working days. The report must contain the
unique reference number of the Notice and details of the error, plus an explanation how
the error occurred and indicate whether any unintended collateral intrusion has taken
place. It will also provide an indication of the steps that will take place to prevent a
reoccurrence. The ‘reporting an error by accredited SPoC form’ (CD5) should be used
for this purpose.

If the report relates to an error made by a CSP, the Authority must still report it. The
CSP should also be notified to enable them to investigate the cause.

RECORDABLE ERROR

In cases where an error has occurred but is identified by the public authority or the
CSP without data being acquired or disclosed wrongly, a record will be maintained by
the Council and NAFN of such occurrences. These records must be available for
inspection by the IPCO.

The staff involved in the process of acquiring CD must report errors once they have
been identified. It will not be acceptable for the error to be ignored.

Examples can include:

° A Notice given, which is impossible for a CSP to comply with and an attempt to
impose the requirement has been undertaken by the public authority;

o Failure to review information already held, for example unnecessarily seeking the
acquisition or disclosure of data already acquired or obtained for the same
investigation or operation, or data for which the requirement to acquire or obtain it
is known to be no longer valid.

EXCESS DATA

Where authorised conduct results in the acquisition of excess data, the excess data
acquired or disclosed should only be retained by the public authority where appropriate
to do so — for example in relation to a criminal investigation.

Where a public authority is bound by the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act
1996 and the IPA Codes of Practice, there will be a requirement to record and retain

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 16 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 177
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

32.3.

32.4.

33.
33.1.
33.2.

33.3.

33.4.
33.5.

34.
34.1.

34.2.

data which is relevant to a criminal investigation, even if that data was disclosed or
acquired beyond the scope of a valid authorisation.

If having reviewed the excess data, it is intended to make use of the excess data in the
course of the investigation or operation, an applicant must set out the reason(s) for
needing to use that material in an addendum to the application upon which the
authorisation or notice was originally granted or given. The SRO (or a person of
equivalent grade or authority) will review the data and consider whether it is necessary
and proportionate for the excess data to be used in the investigation.

As with all CD, the requirements of relevant data protection legislation and data
retention policies should be adhered to in relation to excess data.

RECORD KEEPING AND SECURITY OF DATA
All the records and any data obtained must be kept secure and confidential.

The Council must retain copies of all Applications, as a printed copy of the online
application submitted via NAFN, and any other associated documentation where
copies have been provided by the NAFN SPoC. This will be coordinated by the RIPA
Coordinating Officer/DP who also holds copies of applications for surveillance as per
the Council’s overarching RIPA Policy.

The copy application records must be available for inspection by the IPCO. The IPCO
will also be able to obtain copies direct from NAFN.

The SRO will have access to all of these forms as and when required.
The Council must also keep a record of the following:
. Number of applications submitted to the NAFN SPoC;

o Number of applications submitted to the NAFN SPoC which were referred back to
the Applicant for amendment or declined by the SPoC;

° The reason for any amendments being required or application being declined by
the SPoC;

o The reason for any referrals back or rejections;

o Whether any part of the application relates to a person who is member of a
profession that handles privileged or otherwise confidential information (such as a
Medical Doctor, Lawyer, Journalist, MP or Minister of Religion (and if so, which
profession);

CRIMINAL PROCEDURES AND INVESTIGATIONS ACT 1996 (CPIA)

The Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 (CPIA) requires that material
which is obtained in the course of an investigation and which may be relevant to the
investigation must be recorded, retained and revealed to the prosecutor. Therefore, all
material relating to the accessing of CD falls under these provisions. If the Applicant is
not the Disclosure Officer in the case, they must make the Disclosure Officer aware of
all of the material relating to the application and acquisition of the CD.

All material which may be relevant to the investigation must be retained until a decision
is taken whether to institute proceedings against a person for an offence and if
prosecuted, at least until the accused is acquitted or convicted, or the prosecutor
decides not to proceed with the case and in line with the Council’'s Data Retention
Policies.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 17 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 178
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

34.3.

34.4.

35.

35.1.

35.2.

35.3.

35.4.

35.5.

36.

36.1.

36.2.

Where the accused is convicted, the data which is relevant must be retained at least for
six months from the date of conviction, and where the court imposes a custodial
sentence, until the convicted person is released from custody.

If the court imposes a custodial sentence and the convicted person is released from
custody earlier than six months from the date of conviction, all material which may be
relevant must be retained at least until six months from the date of conviction and in
line with the Council’s Data Retention Policies.

DATA PROTECTION ACT 2018 (DPA) AND THE GENERAL DATA PROTECTION
REGULATIONS (GDPR)

CD acquired or obtained under the provisions of the IPA, and all copies, extracts and
summaries of it must be handled and stored securely in line with the requirements of
data protection legislation and regulations.

There is no provision in the IPA preventing CSPs from informing individuals about the
disclosure of their CD in response to a Subject Access Request. However, a CSP may
exercise certain exemptions to the right of subject access. If a CSP receives a Subject
Access Request they must carefully consider whether in the particular case, disclosure
of the fact of the Notice would be likely to prejudice the prevention or detection of
crime.

Should a request for advice be made from a CSP to the SPoC regarding a disclosure,
the SPoC will consult with the Data Protection Officer for the Council and the Applicant
if necessary before a decision is made. Each case should be examined on its own
merits.

Equally, these rules will apply should a Subject Access Request be made from an
individual where material under this legislation is held by the Council.

A record will be made of the steps taken in determining whether disclosure of the
material would prejudice the apprehension or detection of offenders. This might be
useful in the event of the data controller having to respond to enquiries made
subsequently by the Information Commissioner and the courts etc.

OVERSIGHT

The IPA provides for an Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPC) whose remit
includes providing comprehensive oversight of the use of the powers contained within
the IPA and adherence to the practices and processes in the Code of Practice. They
carry out inspections, and for the purposes of Council applications, carry out
inspections of NAFN. Should they have any concerns regarding an application they
would contact the relevant staff involved at the Council. It is possible that they could
also inspect the Council.

It is important to note that should the Commissioner establish that an individual has
been adversely affected by any wilful or reckless failure by any person within a relevant
public authority exercising or complying with the powers and duties under the IPA in
relation to the acquisition or disclosure of CD, he shall, subject to safeguarding national
security, inform the affected individual of the existence of the Tribunal and its role. The
Commissioner should disclose sufficient information to the affected individual to enable
him or her to effectively engage the Tribunal.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 18 of 19



Investigatory Powers Act 2016 ~ Page 179
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy

37. COMPLAINTS

37.1. The Information Commissioner is responsible for the oversight of the security, integrity
and destruction of data retained in accordance with the Act. Any concerns about
compliance with data protection and related legislation should be passed to the ICO at
the following address:

37.2.
Information Commissioner’s Office
Wycliffe House
Water Lane
Wilmslow
Cheshire
SK9 5AF
0303 123 1113
WWW.ic0.0rg.uk
The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT) has jurisdiction to consider and determine
complaints regarding public authority use of investigatory powers, including those
covered by the IPA.
The IPT is an independent body made up of members of the judiciary and senior
members of the legal profession. Following receipt of a complaint the IPT can
undertake its own enquiries and complaints and can demand access to all information
necessary. Information regarding the IPT and how to make a complaint can be found at
www.ipt-uk.com, or by writing to:
The Investigatory Powers Tribunal
PO Box 33220
London
SW1H 9ZQ

38. STRATEGY AND POLICY REVIEW

38.1. The Counter Fraud Unit will review and amend this Policy as necessary to ensure that
it continues to remain compliant and meets legislative requirements and the vision of
the Council.
Responsible Department: Counter Fraud Unit
Date: April 2019
Review frequency as required by legislative changes / every year.

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 April 2019

Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Version 1 Page 19 of 19


http://www.ico.org.uk/
http://www.ipt-uk.com/

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10
Page 181

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet — 11" February 2020
Approval to consult on revised Homeseeker Plus Policy

Accountable member Councillor Peter Jeffries, Cabinet Member - Housing
Accountable officer Martin Stacy, Lead Commissioner — Housing Services

Ward(s) affected All

Key/Significant Decision  Yes

Executive summary The Homeseeker Plus Partnership consists of the six local authorities within
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire District Council who work in
partnership with social landlords to provide affordable homes for people to
rent. Properties from these housing providers are advertised on the
Homeseeker Plus website, which applicants can then apply for.

The purpose of the Homeseeker Plus Allocations Policy is to explain who is
eligible to apply for affordable housing and how their housing needs will be
assessed. This assessment must be in line with relevant legislation and the
statutory code of guidance on the allocation of accommodation, as these set
out how applications will be assessed in a fair and transparent way based
on housing need.

Following the recent implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act, it
is now considered timely to review the current Homeseeker Plus Policy. This
report highlights some of the key changes that we will be seeking
consultation on. Following consultation, relevant approval will then be
sought to adopt the agreed changes. The current Homeseeker Plus policy
and the proposed policy are provided at appendix 2 and 3 respectively.

Recommendations That Cabinet:

Authorises this Authority to consult on the proposed changes to the
Homeseeker Plus Allocations Policy; and

Delegates authority to Executive Director — Place & Growth, in
consultation with Cabinet Member — Housing, to approve the new
policy after the consultation period has ended; provided that there are
no further material changes other than those that have already been
identified within this report.

Financial implications None as a direct result of this report.
Contact officer: Martin Burke

Martin.burke@publicagroup.uk 01594 812544

$qgbjhphna Page 1 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



Page 182

Legal implications

As a Local Housing Authority the Authority has a statutory duty in respect
of the allocation of housing to applicants with the Borough. These duties
are contained in Part VI and VIl of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended)
and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

In addition to these duties the Authority has a duty to ensure that it
operates in accordance with its duties under the Equalities Act 2010.

When considering changes to the policy the Authority must undertake a
fair, reasonable and transparent consultation and consider any responses
to that consultation before determining whether or not to make changes to
the policy.

Contact officer: Sarah Farooqi

legalservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk: 01684 272362

HR implications
(including learning and
organisational
development)

There are no direct HR implications arising from this report.
Contact officer: Kate Righton

HumanResourcesCheltenham@publicagroup.uk
@cheltenham.gov.uk 01285 623116

Key risks

Please see Risk Register- Appendix 1

Corporate and
community plan
Implications

The Homeseeker Plus Partnership supports the council’'s key corporate
priority of ‘Increasing the supply of housing and investing to build resilient
communities’.

Environmental and
climate change

None as a direct result of this report and it is anticipated that this will have
a neutral effect on the council’s carbon emissions.

implications
Property/Asset None as direct result of this report
Implications _ -
Contact officer: Dominic.Stead@cheltenham.gov.uk
$qgbjhphna Page 2 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020




1.

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

Page 183

Background

Homeseeker Plus is a choice based lettings (CBL) scheme run by the Homeseeker Plus
Partnership, which consists of the six local authorities within Gloucestershire along with West
Oxfordshire District Council, who work in partnership with social housing landlords to provide

affordable homes for people to rent.

The seven local authorities within the Homeseeker Plus partnership are Cheltenham Borough
Council, Cotswold District Council, Forest of Dean District Council, Gloucester City Council,

Stroud District Council, Tewkesbury Borough Council and West Oxfordshire District Council.

Households who wish to apply to go onto Homeseeker are assessed for eligibility, and if eligible,
they are then placed into one of four different ‘bands’ (Emergency, Gold, Silver and Bronze)
depending on the nature of their housing need. Those in the highest housing need are placed in
the Emergency band, whilst those with the lowest housing need are placed into the Bronze

band. Please see Appendix 4 for more information on the banding matrix.

Homeseeker Plus enables affordable housing providers to advertise their homes on the
Homeseeker Plus website, and applicants are able to express an interest in them. This is known
as placing a “bid” for a property. Once a bid is placed, the system will generate a shortlist,
placing applicants in order of: band, band start date and whether they meet the criteria of the
advert. Priority for properties goes to those in the highest (i.e. Emergency) band, and then to
people who have been waiting the longest within that band. If there are no bids from applicants
in the highest band, then the local authority will look to those households in the Gold band, and
so on until an applicant is identified. Priority is also initially given to people who have a local
connection with the local authority in which the property is located, followed by those who have

a local connection with any of the other Homeseeker Plus districts, and finally to anyone else.

2. Reasons for recommendations

2.1

The recent implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 has introduced a wider

focus for local authorities on preventing homelessness for everyone. The Act emphasises

$qgbjhphna Page 3 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



Page 184

working in partnership with a wider range of organisations and housing providers and changes
need to be made to the Homeseeker Plus policy to ensure it reflects the aims of these legislative

changes.

2.2 It has also become apparent that the Homeseeker Plus policy is open to interpretation and can
be implemented differently across the partnership. It is therefore recommended that we provide

greater clarification within the policy to ensure consistency throughout the partnership.

2.3 In addition, this review gives the Authority an opportunity to conduct a review of the Homeseeker

Plus Policy more generally, and to consult on a number of proposed changes and additions to

the scheme.

3. Proposed Main Changes

3.1 Local Connection Criteria:

It is proposed that greater clarification is given to the wording around local connection criteria.

These are summarised as follows:
3.2.1 Local Connection and the meaning of ‘Normal Residence of Choice’.

It is considered that the wording for ‘normal residence’ in the current policy is confusing and open
to interpretation. The proposed changes therefore seek to clarify that normal residence can

include households placed in temporary accommodation by that housing authority. In addition,

in the case of a person who is street homeless or insecurely accommodated (i.e. ‘sofa surfing’),
then provided the housing authority is satisfied that the person has no settled accommodation
elsewhere and does in fact reside in the district, then he/she will be considered to be ‘normally

resident.’

3.2.2 Local Connection and Family Associations.

It is proposed the policy will make it clearer that family associations may extend beyond partners,

parents, adult children or siblings, to include other family members such as step-parents,

$qgbjhphna Page 4 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



Page 185

grandparents, grandchildren, aunts or uncles; provided in all cases that there are sufficiently
close links in the form of frequent contact, commitment or dependency, as per the Homelessness
Code of Guidance. Family associations will therefore be determined with regard to the specific

circumstances of each case.

3.2.3 Local Connection and Employment.

It is proposed the policy makes it clearer that for an applicant to satisfy the local connection
criteria, it would not be sufficient that their employer’s head office is located in the district within
which the applicant intends to reside. Instead, the focus will be on an applicant’s actual place of
work. In the case of self-employment, local connection would be classified by the address their
business is registered. For agency, casual or other types of employment, it will be necessary for
the applicant to demonstrate that the employment contract is not short-term, casual or ancillary,
reflecting case law and the Homelessness Code of Guidance on what is deemed to be

employment for the purposes of local connection.

3.2.4 Local Connection and Special Circumstances.

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

This local connection provision has been amended to ensure that the need for households to be
near special medical or support services which are available only in a particular district, and
where transport links would not suffice in the ability to meet those needs, is explicitly covered
within this category of local connection. Evaluating local connection as a result of special

circumstances will continue to be assessed on the merits of each individual case.

Local Connection and Care Leavers.

The section on care leavers has been expanded to include the new care leaver duty which now
states: ‘In cases of care leavers who are owed a leaving care duty, they will now have a local
connection to all districts within the area of the children services authority’. For care leavers who
have been placed in a district which is different from that of their children’s services authority,
they will nevertheless be considered to have a retained a local connection to their children’s

service authority area, provided that they have previously lived in that area for at least 2 years,

$qgbjhphna Page 5 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



Page 186

including some time before they turned 16. This local connection will continue to remain in place

until they reach 21 years.

3.2.8 Local Connection and Members of the Armed Forces.

Members of the armed forces have a local connection to the district of their choice. This is the
same for those currently serving and for those who have served within the immediately
preceding 5 years. This provision will also be extended to include a bereaved spouse or civil
partner who has to leave Ministry of Defence accommodation following the death of their service
spouse, and the death was wholly or partly attributable to their service, as well as to existing or
former members of the reserve forces who are suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability

which is wholly or partly attributable to their service.

In addition, local connection will be awarded for divorced or separated spouses or civil partners
of Service personnel who are required to move out of accommodation provided by the Ministry

of Defence.

3.2.9 Local Connection and Households that are subject to immigration control.

3.3

331

It is proposed the policy makes it clearer that as soon as an applicant’s immigration status
entitles him/her to be eligible for assistance, then local connection will apply from the date they
began living in the area. In addition, Refugees will be deemed to have a local connection to the

area where they were last accommodated by the Home Office under asylum support.

Inclusion of housing providers delivering affordable housing via 106 affordable housing

obligations

Housing providers who currently operate within the Homeseeker Plus boundaries are made up of:
Registered Providers, an Arm’s Length Management Organisation (i.e. Cheltenham Borough
Homes) and a local authority that owns and manages its own housing stock (i.e. Stroud District
Council). It is proposed that, in partnership with these housing providers, the policy is amended to
also include provision for any housing providers delivering affordable homes via 106 affordable

housing obligations, thereby maximising flexibility in accordance with any differing priorities

$qgbjhphna Page 6 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



Page 187

among our partners.
3.4 Changes relating to the Banding Table.

3.4.1 What we mean by ‘Global Banding’

The current policy makes mention of ‘global banding’ but it does not explain what this is or when
it is awarded. It is proposed that more information is provided on what we mean by ‘global

banding’ and the circumstances when it is awarded.
3.4.2 Defining Welfare Needs

The amended policy now seeks to provide more detail regarding the circumstances when
Welfare Need will be awarded against the different banding criteria (i.e. emergency, gold and

silver bands). (Please see Appendix 4 for further details.)
3.4.3 Priorities for Care Leavers

The gold band criteria for Care Leavers has been amended to reflect the new care leavers duties
and now states, ‘A young person owed leaving care duties under section 23C of the Children Act
1989 and in a housing need who is deemed ready for independent living, as assessed by the local
authority, will be awarded gold banding in the area of the children services authority that owes
them the duties’. Homeseeker Plus is made up of both Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire
authorities — and these have different children services authorities. The proposed amendments
will therefore ensure that gold banding is awarded within the area of the relevant children services

authority.
3.4 Bedroom Eligibility.

3.4.1 The proposals now include more detailed guidance to cover the circumstances when an additional
bedroom can be provided for an applicant who needs another person to live with them in order to
meet their care and/or support needs. In summary, this need must be evidenced and reasons for

the addition room must be provided by the applicant.

$qgbjhphna Page 7 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



3.4.2

3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

354

Page 188

Furthermore, where there are two parents or guardians that have joint access to children, the
proposed new policy will include wording which states that bedroom eligibility will only be awarded

to the main care provider.
Other general changes/additional points of clarity — key points

A more detailed legal framework has now been provided within the policy, with a list of relevant
duties. There is also a detailed paragraph about data retention and how the partnership will
comply with all data protection legislation and the appropriate timescales for storing personal

data.

The eligibility section of the proposed new policy makes it clearer that an applicant will not qualify
for social housing if a local authority has undertaken an affordability check which has shown that
the applicant has sufficient financial resources to adequately resolve his/her own particular
housing need through outright purchase, lease or mortgage. This check will consider the type of
accommodation needed to meet these needs to resolve their own housing need within their

district.

It is also proposed that the new policy is revised to make it clearer when applications can be
suspended or demoted; e.g. where there are significant rent arrears which have not been cleared
and a repayment plan is not in place, or where an applicant has unreasonably disposed of
financial resources that could have enabled him/her to purchase/obtain their own accommodation.
The policy will also retain flexibility to allow local authorities to consider each case on its own
merits. For example, if the rent arrears arose as a result of domestic abuse or affordability issues,

an application under these circumstances would not be suspended.

Furthermore, it is proposed that clarification is given when a main homelessness duty is
accepted, with the proposed changes now stating that due to limited resources, high demand and
duties to provide accommodation to some groups of applicants in urgent housing need, the
degree of choice that the local authority is able to offer may be limited. Linked to this is the role of

‘direct matching’. The policy now makes it clearer that not all properties becoming available will

$qgbjhphna Page 8 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



Page 189

be advertised on Homeseeker Plus, where for urgent operational reasons there is a need to
make direct offers of housing outside of the normal policy banding and date order criteria. This
could be, for example, to alleviate pressures on temporary accommodation and to ensure the use

of any emergency Bed & Breakfast accommodation is minimised.
3.6 Alternative options considered

3.6.1 Not to update the Homeseeker Plus policy. However, it is proposed this option is rejected for the
reasons given in Section 2 above. The Homeseeker Plus policy needs to be reviewed to ensure it
reflects the aims of recent legislative changes and that clarification is added to ensure that the

policy is applied more consistently throughout the partnership.

4 How this initiative contributes to the corporate plan

4.1 The Homeseeker Plus Partnership supports the council’s key corporate priorities of ‘Increasing
the supply of housing and investing to build resilient communities.” The proposed policy changes
will provide greater consistency over how the policy is interpreted across the districts, whilst
ensuring that we make best use of our affordable housing provision in terms of meeting local

housing need.

5 Consultation and feedback

These proposals have been developed in collaboration with key stakeholders, including
Cheltenham Borough Homes, and the other local authorities and housing providers who make up
the Homeseeker Plus Management Board. It is proposed that our next steps will be to put the
proposed changes out to consultation in order that we can establish a more fully informed local

policy position.

6 Performance management —monitoring and review

6.1 The Homeseeker Plus Co-ordinator will run regular reports to monitor performance of the scheme

in meeting the aims of the policy.

6.2 The Homeseeker Plus policy will be regularly reviewed to ensure that it takes into account

$qgbjhphna Page 9 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



Page 190

changes in demand and need within the district, and that it continues to meet its aims and

objectives and complies with any legislative changes.

6.3 Any changes to the Homeseeker Plus Policy will be implemented only with the agreement of the
members of the Partnership, as specified within the partnership agreement following any

necessary consultation, and the relevant approvals being given by each Authority.

Report authors Contact officer: Caroline Sutcliffe, Housing Strategy & Enabling
Officer

caroline.sutcliffe@cheltenham.gov.uk

Martin Stacy, Lead Commissioner — Housing Services

Martin.stacy@cheltenham.gov.uk

01242 264171

Appendices Risk Assessment
Homeseeker Plus Policy

Homeseeker Plus proposed policy 2019

A W NP

Homeseeker Plus proposed policy banding table

Background information | None

$qgbjhphna Page 10 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020



mailto:caroline.sutcliffe@cheltenham.gov.uk
mailto:Martin.stacy@cheltenham.gov.uk

Risk Assessment Appendix 1
The risk Original risk score Managing risk
(impact x likelihood)
Risk | Risk description Risk Date Impact | Likeli- | Score | Control Action Deadline Responsible Transferred to
ref. Owner raised 1-5 hood officer risk register
1-6
If the proposed changes | Martin | August | 3 2 6 Reduce A communities impact | Autumn | Martin
do not take account of Stacy | 2019 assessment has been | 2020 Stacy
the Equalities Act, then carried out to alleviate
the Homeseeker Plus against this and will be
Allocations Policy could reviewed post
be challenged and consultation and then
deemed unlawful. published once
approval is given to
make any relevant
changes to the
Homeseeker Plus
Policy.
The policy is drafted in
such a way as to still
enable flexibility to be
retained around key
issues.
If the proposed changes | Martin | August | 4 3 12 Reduce Cabinet approves February | Martin
to Homeseeker Plus Stacy | 2019 recommendation to go | 2020 Stacy
Allocations Policy are out for consultation to
not consulted on, then stakeholders.
opportunities for the
changes to be carried
out on an informed basis
will be missed.
If the council does not Martin | Sept 2 4 8 Reduce Recommendation to February | Martin
review the Homeseeker | Stacy | 2019 go out for consultation | 2020 Stacy

Plus Policy, then
opportunities to reduce
inconsistency in
operational practices
across the districts will

to reduce this risk.

$gbjhphna

Page 11 of 12

Last updated 11 February 2020

T6T obed



be missed and the
policy will fail to reflect
most recent case law
and good practice.

Explanatory notes

Impact — an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical)
Likelihood — how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant, 5 high and 6 a very high probability)

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close

$gbjhphna Page 12 of 12 Last updated 11 February 2020

26T obed



Page 193

H®&)meseekerp/us

Q

e

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

r._ STROUD
4% DISTRICT
" COUNCIL

www.stroud,gov.uk

Forest of Dean

DISTRICT COUNCIL

2y L
Lo
L)

GLOUCESTER

ﬁ COTSWOLD @
T4 DISTRICT COUNCIL

WEST OXFORDSHIRE
DISTRICT COUNCIL

CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Homeseeker Plus
Policy Document



Page 194

Contents
Section 1 Policy aims and general rules
1 T a] i To (B[] 1o ] o NP 3
2 The aims and objectives of the Partnership ..........cccccccoii 3
3. Over view of HOMESEEKET PIUS.........oiiiiiiiiiieeeee e 3
4, Equal OpPOrtUNILIES ......vveei e 5
5. SYoTo1t=| 1 o (614K o] o (HRURRNRUURURNIS SRR S —— 6
6. Who is eligible to register ..o 6
7 Who is not eligible to register...........oo i 6
8 Who does not qualify for affordable social housing in Gloucestershire

and West OXFOrdShire..........ooovvvimiiiee e 6
9 Reasons for Suspending an application.............cooouoiiiiiiiiiiie e 8
10 Giving False INnformation...........c.cooviiiiiii e 8
11 LOCAl CONNECLION ....eiiiiiiiiei e 9
12 Multi Agency arrangemeENntS ............ieiiiiiiiee e 9
13 Balanced COMMUNILIES .............oooiiiiiiiiiiice e 10
Section 2 Scheme details — applications
14. HOW 10 TEQISTEN ... 10
15 Assessment of applications ..........cc..vuviiiiiiiiii 11
16 Housing Needs bandS..........oooiiiiiiiiiice e 11
17 Time limited bands ... 17
18 Definition and implication of dates .............ccccciiiiiii 17
19 Bedroom need assesSmMENt ... 18
20 Medical/disability assessment ..........cccccuiiiiiiiiiii 18
21 Hazard assessment/diSTEPAIN ..cuuswaasssvismsassmminss savsisase shsssin se i sosvisnss samenss s 19
22 Completed applications ..........ccooiiiiiiii i 19
23 Change of CIrcUmMSIaNCES ..........ooiiiiiiii e 19
24 ANNUAl reNEWal PrOCESS .us sssssswsvunesstumess sevsesssnesinnssses sosves i voavsssessmsassersss sansmsvssss e 20
25 Cancelling appliCatioNS ..........veiiiiiiiiiie e 20
26 Rejoining the Housing Register ... 20
Section 3 Scheme details- properties
27 LOOKING fOr @ PrOPEILY .. .. iiiiiiiiiieeee et 20
28 AAVETISEMENTS. 5 s mamms s s w50 o5 5w e s A s e e 21
29 Bidding fOr @ PrOPertY .......eeeeiiiie et 21
30 Advertisement deadliNes ............ocooiiiiiiiii e 21
31 Property deseriptioNS . «ouduimsassmseonmeysimussamsenmmmi s s st msagis 22
32 Rural Settlements ..........oeiiii e 22
33 Local Letting PIaNS .........ueieeieiieeeeee et 22
34 Short listing for the successful applicant...............cooiiiiii e 22
35 By passing the top of the shortlist..............lcccoi i 23
36 Withdrawal Of PrOPEMY......oiii i 24
37 RETUSAIS .:cammmumsumsmmmonmnssmss s s e s om0 SRR R RS AN SRS 24
38 Refusals by applicants to whom the full homeless duty is owed ........................ 25
39 Direct matching of properties...........oooiiiiiiii e 25
40 Feedback/ReCENt LEtS.......cooooiiiiii e 26
Section 4 Monitoring and review
41 Review/appeal ProCeAUIE ...........oiiiii i e 26
42 Access 10 personal TFOrMMELION. . ;s uwesmsssmmsrmses o sxmmrmmmms sors s wmes s smmssraios 27
43 Use of statistical information ................cccoiiiiiii i 27
44 Policy monitoring and reVIEW ..............uuiiiiiiiiii e 27




Page 195

Section 1 Policy aims and general rules

1.1.

1.2.

1.3

3.1

Introduction.

Homeseeker Plus is a choice based lettings (CBL) scheme run by the seven local
authorities in partnership with the majority of Social Housing Landlords operating within
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire.

It must be recognised that the demand for affordable social housing within the
Homeseeker Plus area is very high and cannot be met from the available resources.
Only those in the highest housing need, with a local connection to the area are likely to
obtain housing through the scheme. Each district’s Housing Advice Service will be able
to discuss a range of housing options.

The policy takes into account the Localism Act 2012, Welfare Reform Act 2012 and the
Statutory Code of Guidance on the Allocation of Accommodation 2012. It also has
regard to the Councils’ Homelessness, Tenancy Strategies and Housing Policy.

The aims and objectives of the Partnership.

e Assist in building more sustainable communities.

e Enable informed choice of housing/ housing options and improve levels of
customer satisfaction.

e To operate a common selection system that offers realistic, informed choice for all
Applicants.

e To ensure that those who have the greatest need for housing have the greatest
opportunity to secure it.

e To ensure that less able applicants are involved in the lettings process and they
have choices offering equality of opportunity for all.

e To make best use of available housing resources to meet local need.

e To minimise the refusal of offers of accommodation and reduce rent loss by
allowing people to choose where they live thereby supporting sustainable
communities.

e To generally give people with a local connection to a district priority in the letting of
housing within that district.

e To enable mobility within social housing in Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire.

e To enable the authorities to meet their statutory duties including where duties are

owed to homeless Applicants under Part VIl of the Housing Act 1996, as amended

by the Homelessness Act 2002.

To contribute towards tackling discrimination.

To use a common eligibility criteria.

To use a common housing application process.

To co-ordinate housing needs assessments.

To ensure fairness, simplicity and transparency with a system that is easily

understood.

e To give new tenants a feeling of ownership and commitment to their area as they
have chosen to live there.

Overview of Homeseeker Plus

Homeseeker Plus enables Social Housing landlords to advertise their homes and
applicants are asked to express an interest in them. This will be known as a “bid” for a
property. Once a bid is placed the computer system will place applicants in order of

3



3.2.

3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

Page 196

band, band start date and whether they meet the criteria of the advert. Priority for
properties goes to those who have a local connection with the local authority in which
the property is located, then to those who have a local connection with any of the other
Homeseeker Plus districts and finally to anyone else. Homeseeker Plus provides a
clearer way of letting homes, gives more choice in where people wish to live and
information about the homes available.

All applicants seeking social housing across Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire will
complete the same application process and will be assessed against the same clear
set of criteria laid out in the Banding table (Section 18). Depending on their
circumstances, Applicants will be placed into one of four bands Emergency, Gold,
Silver or Bronze subject to final verification by a Homeseeker Plus partner. In some
cases an applicant may have more than one band (See section 27a). Local connection
will be applied to the majority of vacancies to help each local authority meet their
housing demand or where it is a legal requirement.

Once an application has been made, applicants are advised of their banding and
application date, together with details of how to access the system. This enables them
to bid for social housing vacancies being advertised across the whole of
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire.

The majority of social rented housing vacancies are advertised as per local nomination
agreements, however social housing landlords may choose to apply their own
published allocation policies to the remaining vacancies arising.

The method of bidding for properties is via the internet on the Homeseeker Plus
website.. Applicants are able to monitor the success of their bid (and their bidding
history) via the Homeseeker Plus website.

Once the Bid deadline has passed, the successful applicant is normally the highest
priority household matched against the criteria for the property, including where local
connection applies. Responsibility for letting each available property lies with the
Social housing landlord. The appropriate landlord must confirm that the details on the
application are still correct before making an offer. Incorrect information will result in
the offer being withdrawn and the applicant re-assessed.

An application for sheltered and extra care housing for certain schemes may need an
assessment of the support needs, prior to an offer being made.

The banding and the application date of the successful applicant, together with the
total number of bids made for each property, will then be published. This enables as
applicants to develop realistic expectations regarding their chances of success and
likely waiting period.




4.1.

Page 197

Equal opportunities.

All partners of Homeseeker Plus are committed to the elimination of discrimination.
They promote equality of opportunity for all and work towards this goal in the provision
of services.

We are committed to:

¢ Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
prohibited by the act

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and others who do not share it.

- Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not share it

« Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people who share a relevant
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic

e Taking steps to meet the needs of people who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are different from the needs of people who do not share it

e Encouraging those people who share a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such
persons is disproportionally low

< Making the best possible use of the existing and potential workforce and resources
by enabling cross boundary moves.

5. Social inclusion

5.1.

5.2

5.3.

5.4.

54.1.

5.4.2.

5.4.3.

All partners of Homeseeker Plus agree that applicants should be given every
assistance to access the housing register and search for suitable properties.

In order to ensure that all applicants are able to use Homeseeker Plus fully, we have
developed an Access and Inclusion strategy, which can be found under the heading
“Our Documents” on the Homeseeker Plus website

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 introduced a legal obligation on health and social care
commissioners to jointly commission advocacy services. All statutory and voluntary
agencies who work within the community either helping or advising applicants are
given information and training in order to fully understand the Homeseeker Plus
scheme and assist their clients to register and search for suitable housing.

To further assist applicants the following methods may be used: -

Applicants potentially disadvantaged by the scheme will initially be identified from the
application process. Staff may contact these applicants and offer them a home visit or
interview. Staff will seek to establish what the support needs are and identify ways of
enabling the applicants to participate in Homeseeker Plus. This may include sending
copies of the adverts in large print to an applicant or simply providing advice.

Any agencies funded through Supporting People should be in a position to provide
their clients with help on housing issues.

Disadvantaged applicants are able to nominate a person (including family members,
friends or a professional worker) to help them bid or bid on their behalf for suitable
properties. Signed consent will be required if requests are made by a 3™ party.




5.4.4.

5.4.5.

6.1.

7.
7.1,

7.2.

7.3.

8.1

8.2

8.3

Page 198

Translation services may be provided wherever appropriate (this will reflect the
demand for such a service).

If no other alternative is available, Homeseeker Plus staff may bid for suitable
vacancies on a vulnerable applicant’'s behalf where they have no support or use the
system Autobid function.

Who is eligible to register?

Homeseeker Plus is open to almost anyone in housing need. This may include existing
tenants looking to transfer to another property, homeless families looking for a
permanent home and other households who either rent in the private sector, own (or
are buying) a property or lodging with family and friends. A household may include
anyone that may reasonably be expected to live with them as part of their application.

Who is not eligible to register?

Persons from abroad deemed ineligible through immigration rules and regulations as

follows:

e Person subject to immigration control who is an over-stayer or visitor to the country

Illegal entrant

Asylum seeker

Person in the country on condition that they have no recourse to public funds

Person from abroad who is in breach of the European Community Right of

residence Directive

e Person whose only right to reside in the UK arises under European law based on
their status as a job seeker or an initial 3 months right of residence

e Person from abroad who has been the subject of a sponsorship agreement for less
than 5 years and whose sponsor is still alive

e Person with limited leave not granted as a result of a claim for asylum

Persons under 16 years of age. (It should be noted that a tenancy would not usually be
given to Applicants under the age of 18 years. A guarantor would normally be required
for any person under 18 years of age who is offered and accepts a tenancy).

Persons who are ineligible for a tenancy in their own right may still be included within a
household application and for determining the bedroom need of the household.

Who does not qualify for affordable social housing in
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire?

Homeseeker Plus has been established under the terms of the Housing Act 1996, as
amended and the Localism Act 2012. This gives local authorities the right to decide
who will not qualify for social housing.

Anyone found to be non-eligible or non-qualifying will be entitled to a review of the
decision with the reasons and actions needed to remedy the situation for future
application given in writing. — see section 41 for the review/appeal process.

An applicant may not hold two tenancies at one time. They must be able to end the
current tenancy before any further offer is made.




8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

Page 199

A joint tenancy shall only be granted to eligible and qualifying Applicants subject to the
policies of each individual Social housing landlord.

An applicant will not be accepted for social housing if we are satisfied that: -

a) They have sufficient financial resources to resolve their own housing need.

b) Where they have unreasonably disposed of financial resources that could have
enabled them to purchase/obtain their own accommodation.

c) They own or part own a property which is suitable for their needs, or where those
needs can be resolved through adaptation, sale or where, if they sold it, they could
afford to buy another property. We may make exceptions to this rule in the case of
proven social or medical needs.

d) The applicant, or a member of their household, has been responsible for
unacceptable behaviour serious enough to make them unsuitable to be a tenant of
the Authority or a Social Housing Landlord at the time of application. Each case
would be considered upon its own merits and subject to the spirit of the
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 according to individual circumstances.

Behaviour that may be regarded as unacceptable is as follows: -
e Criminal activity in the vicinity of the property,
History of anti-social behaviour or disruptive nuisance to neighbours,
Racial harassment,
Drug use or dealing,
Any other breach of the tenancy agreement such that the landlord would be
able to apply for a possession order:

i.  Ground 2a Domestic violence causing a partner or other family member
to leave the property

ii.  Ground 3 Deterioration of the dwelling-house due to waste, neglect or
default

iii.  Ground 4 Deterioration of furniture provided by the landlord due to ill
treatment

iv.  Ground 5 Tenancy induced by a false statement

v. Ground 6 Premium received or paid in connection with a mutual
exchange

vi.  Ground 7 Eviction from a dwelling within the curtilage of a building held
for non-housing purposes due to conduct such that given the nature of
the building it would not be right for occupation to continue

The applicant or any member of the household has former or current rent arrears (8
weeks rent or more) or other housing debts such that the registered social landlord
would be able to apply for a possession order. This will apply unless there is evidence
that the debt arose directly as a result of a person’s disability.

Existing social housing tenants who are non-qualifying because of rent arrears will be
considered as an exception on an individual basis if proved that they cannot afford to
stay in their current tenancy as a result of Welfare Reform Act changes.

As part of the assessment consideration will be given to the household’s personal
circumstances, the level of the debt, the household’s history of arrears and any other
factors that may be relevant.

Such applicants will be informed of the actions required from them to demonstrate that
there has been a change in their behaviour such that they will be become qualifying




9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

10.

10.1.

10.2.

10.3.

11

Page 200

e.g. a satisfactory landlord reference for a period of time or regular repayments are
made without fail against an agreed repayment plan for a period of time.

Reasons for suspending an application.

If we become aware that a household has rent arrears or other housing debt accrued
after an application has been registered the applicant will be given the opportunity to
clear the debt before an offer proceeds. If the applicant is unable to do this, they may
be suspended for a period as required to clear the debt before they can bid for other
properties but each case will be considered upon its own merits. If a partner landlord
becomes aware of such a debt they will advise the relevant local authority who may
suspend or cancel the application as non-qualifying depending on the circumstances.

Applicants who have been awarded time limited bands are expected to bid on all
suitable property types in a reasonably wide range of areas. Failure to do so may
result in suspension or demotion for a period.

Whilst Homeseeker Plus aims to give applicants choice for good reason it also needs
to help social landlords let their available homes in an efficient way. If an applicant
refuses 3 properties that the local authority considers were suitable, the application
may be demoted or suspended for a period.

An immediate review of an application will be undertaken if an applicant is found to
have acted (or failed to act) in a way which deliberately worsened their housing
situation. This could lead to the applicant being suspended, or being demoted to a
lower band, for a minimum of 6 months.

Applicants will be advised as to what action/s will be necessary to lift the suspension or
demotion.

Giving false information

Any applicant who knowingly or recklessly gives false information or knowingly
withholds information in order to secure a home to which they are not entitled may lose
any home provided to them and may also be prosecuted. Where false information is
given and the applicant becomes non-qualifying, the application will be removed.
Where false information is given and the applicant still qualifies, the application will be
suspended. The law imposes severe penalties, including substantial fines up to
£5000 or imprisonment, when an offence is proven.

It is the applicant's responsibility to update an application for any change of
circumstances which can include moving home, changes to household members, birth
of a child, changes in medical condition and changes in welfare situations.

Failure to update an application following a change in circumstances could mean the
application is inaccurate, contains false information, and has the wrong priority
banding.

Any future application would be subject to review before acceptance onto the scheme.

Local Connection




12.

12.1.

12. 2.

12.3.

12.4.

Page 201

Due to the exceptional demand for housing across the Homeseeker Plus area and the
difficulty in solving local housing need, preference will usually be given to applicants
with a local connection to the appropriate district. Each local authority within
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire may set quotas of dwellings available for cross
boundary moves if necessary, to increase mobility but will balance this against the
local connection requirement.

Local Connection is defined in Part VIl of the Housing Act 1996 as:

e Those who are normally resident in the local authority area, and that residence is
or was of their own choice.

(Local Authority Agreement guidelines suggest this as having resided in the area
for six of the last twelve months, or three of the last five years, where residence
has been out of choice);

e Those who are employed in the local authority area.

(Local Authority Agreement guidelines suggest this as employment other than of a
casual nature);

e Those who have family connections in the local authority area.

(Local Authority Agreement guidelines suggest this as immediate family members
who have themselves lived in the area for five years).

e Members of the armed forces have a local connection to the district of their choice
(Those currently serving, served within the immediate preceding 5 years; bereaved
spouse or civil partner who has recently or will cease to be entitled to Ministry of
Defence accommodation following the death of their service spouse and the death
was wholly or partly attributable to their service; existing or former members of the
reserve forces who are suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability which is
wholly or partly attributable to their service).

e Other special circumstances.

In addition, for certain properties which were developed under restrictions imposed by
a Section 106 agreement (Town and Country Planning Act 1990), applicants may need
a connection to a defined local area.

Multi agency arrangements.

All seven local authorities within the scheme have entered into an agreement to use
the Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire Multi Agency Public Protection
Arrangements (MAPPA) in dealing with the exchange of information on any household
who has been convicted of a serious offence. Any household that confirms on their
application form, or who is suspected, or accused, of being a high-risk offender, will be
subject to the provisions set out in the information sharing protocol.

Before any known offender is offered housing, full consultation will be undertaken with
the relevant support agencies to assess the risks involved. It does not however
guarantee the provision of a tenancy.

Re-housing of high-risk offenders will be carried out in consultation with the relevant
agencies to minimise the risk to the public. The long-term aim is to influence the
successful accommodation and resettlement of high-risk offenders, thereby minimising
the risk of re-offending, protect the public and the victims of offenders. The local
authority in partnership with MAPPA may bid on behalf of any household that falls
within this category.

The authorities also take part in Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)
meetings which aim to provide risk information for people who have experienced
domestic abuse.




13.

13.1.

Page 202

Balanced communities.

To help maintain balanced and sustainable communities, each local authority may
decide the proportion of properties to be allocated to the four housing need bands and
where local connection applies.

Section 2 Scheme details-applications

14.

14.1.

14.2.

14.3.

14.4.

14.5.

14.6.

14.7.

14.8.

14.9.

How to register

The applicant will be able to register for social housing through the Homeseeker Plus
website @ www.homeseekerplus.co.uk

e Assistance can be provided through the Local authority and some Social Housing
Landlord offices or through support agencies.

An applicant residing in Gloucestershire or West Oxfordshire who needs advice and
assistance with their application will need to contact their own local authority.

Where the applicant lives outside the Gloucestershire or West Oxfordshire boundary
they will need to contact the local authority within whose area they wish to live.

Where the applicant lives outside the Gloucestershire or West Oxfordshire boundary
and wishes to live in more than one local authority area, they should contact the district
with whom they have a local connection. If the applicant has no local connection, they
can choose to contact any one of the chosen districts (who will become the lead
authority for the application).

When an applicant applies through the Homeseeker Plus website and has registered
their household, they will then complete an application for Social Housing explaining
their housing situation. If, after completion of the application and provision of any
necessary proof or further information, the applicant is eligible, they will be given an
effective date and placed in a housing band. They will then be able to bid for suitable
properties.

The applicant should make sure that they include all relevant details on the application
so that proper consideration can be given to the application. Homeseeker Plus may
consult any of the applicants’ previous landlords or agencies to check the details they
have given.

If a Lead Authority refuses the application bn any grounds, the applicant will be notified
of the reasons for the decision in writing and be advised of the Homeseeker Plus
review / appeal procedure.

The applicant can re-register after a refusal but should be able to demonstrate that
they have addressed the reasons for the refusal.

All applicants their own unique user name and password. This will also enable them to

access their own application information and easily update any change in their
circumstances.

10




Page 203

14.10. Applicants will be informed if further information or clarification is required. Failure to

15.

15.1.

15.2.

15.3.

16

16.1

16.2

16.3

complete the online application form will result in this being deleted from the system.
Assessment of an application.

By registering to join Homeseeker Plus, the applicant will be giving their consent for
enquiries to be made to verify their circumstances. Applicants will have to confirm that
the information they have given is true and accurate.

The information the applicant has provided will guide the decision on which band they
will be placed in. Applicants will be required to provide the lead authority with
documentation to evidence the housing need stated.

Applicants will be able to bid for properties advertised, but no tenancy will be offered
until verification has been completed.

Housing Needs Bands- see table below

Applicants need to meet the criteria in one box to be assessed in that band in the table
below. Applicants will be awarded two bands — one for their “local” band ( lead
authority) and one for their “global” band.(other 6 authorities) In many cases these will
be the same but in some circumstances, notably when one local authority has
accepted a duty under homelessness legislation, applicants will have a different “local”
and “global” band.

Special rules are required for those in the armed forces to comply with The Localism
Act recognising the services they have offered the country. On discharge members of
the armed forces, as defined in 11.2, with Homeless priority need (dependent children
or vulnerable as a result of disability) will be awarded Gold band for 6 months from the
discharge date. Homeless with a non - priority need are given Silver band from their
discharge date. Should they become homeless again within 5 years of the discharge
priority need or unintentionally homeless applicants will be awarded Gold band again
for 6 months from Notice being received. Non-priority need or Intentional homeless
will get Silver band backdated for 6 months from the Notice being received.

Right to Move is for social housing tenants who need to move to another District in
order to take up a job or live closer to employment or training.

In order to qualify, social housing tenants must demonstrate that the job/apprenticeship
will alleviate significant hardship and that there are no other options available to them.
To determine qualification, the following detail will need to be established:

. The distance and/or time taken to travel between work and home

. The availability of transport, taking into account level of earnings

. The nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available closer to
home

o Other personal factors, such as medical conditions and child care, which would
be affected if the tenant could not move

. Whether failure to move would result in the loss of an opportunity to improve

their employment circumstances or prospects, for example, by taking up a
better job, a promotion or apprenticeship

11




Page 204

Those applying for Right to Move must be able to prove that the employment contract

is:

e for 12 months or more

. for a minimum of 16 hours per week
. not short-term, ancillary or voluntary

Those who qualify for Right to Move will get an additional banding preference of Silver,
identifying that there is a “Significant welfare need that would be alleviated by a move
to more suitable accommodation”

Homeseeker Plus expects that a maximum of 1% of the allocations in each district per
year would be to assist tenants who need to move for work related reasons.

Please refer to the full Right to Move guidance for more detail
www.homeseekerplus.co.uk

16.4 Property size
Emergency Band
Existing Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire social housing tenants willing to move to a

smaller non family social housing property within the county. This means that the tenants are
willing to move to any other non-family property that is smaller than their current home.

Gold Band

Existing Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire social housing tenants willing to move to
smaller family sized accommodation if this has been agreed with your local authority to
release a property of higher demand or limited availability.

Or

There is major overcrowding in the current property - lacking 2 or more bedrooms (this will not
apply if the applicant has allowed one or more people to move in to the property, this is called
deliberately worsening your own situation) - See Section 9.4

Or

Environmental Health has inspected the property and has served a Prohibition Notice (or
suspended Prohibition Licence) on the landlord due to overcrowding - subject also to the
applicant not deliberately worsening your own situation — see Para 9.4

Silver Band

There is overcrowding in the current property - lacking 1 bedroom - (this will not apply if the
applicant has allowed one or more people to move in to the property, this is called deliberately
worsening your own situation) - see Para 9.4

12




Page 205

16.5 Property condition
Emergency Band

Where Environmental Health has inspected the property and requires immediate vacation of
the property because of an imminent risk of harm due to disrepair, major defects or grossly
inadequate facilities. They could serve an Emergency Prohibition Order on the landlord in
these circumstances.

This award is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no
suitable properties have become available in this time scale or a direct match can be made.

Gold Band

Where Environmental Health has inspected the property and has served a Prohibition Order
or Suspended Prohibition Order on the landlord that repairs have to be undertaken but the
landlord is unable/unwilling to comply. In most cases the landlord will be required to
undertake repairs to remedy the problem and when completed this should resolve the issue.
These only apply to the Local band so only when bidding for properties in the home/lead local
authority area.

16.6 Homelessness
Gold Band

The applicant has made a homelessness application to one of the Homeseeker Plus local
authorities and the full statutory homeless duty to secure accommodation for the applicant has
been accepted by that authority.

This is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no suitable
properties have become available in this time scale. A suitable tenancy in the private sector or
a direct match into social housing may be made to end the homelessness duty at any time.

Silver Band

Applications to Homeseeker Plus before the commencement of the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 (3™ April 2018)

The applicant has been assessed as homeless or threatened with homelessness before g
April 2018. This was taken as within 28 days of being homeless before the new legislation.
Homelessness legislation is complicated so contact should be made through Housing
Options/Advice Team to discuss the circumstances if threatened with homelessness.

13




Page 206

Applications to Homeseeker Plus after 3™ April 2018

The applicant has made a homelessness application to one of the Homeseeker Plus local
authorities and:

A Prevention of Homelessness duty is ongoing or

A Relief of Homelessness duty is ongoing or

The applicant has made a homeless application to one of the Homeseeker Plus local
authorities and remains assessed as eligible for assistance and homeless after homeless
duties have ended.

Homelessness legislation is complicated so contact should be made through your Housing
Options/Housing Advice Team to discuss the circumstances if threatened with homelessness.

16.7 Medical/welfare needs

None of the below refer to having a medical condition in its own right. It is only when the
current housing is directly affecting that medical condition that priority is awarded. In other
words even when a member of the applicants household has a very severe set of medical
conditions, if their housing has little or no bearing on their health then no priority will be
awarded.

Emergency Band

The applicant assessed as immediate need of re-housing on medical grounds. This is most
likely to be when they have had a major incident, are in hospital or other emergency provision
and unable to return to the existing home because of changed medical condition.

Or

Exceptional circumstances where there is proven threat to life or limb. This would normally be
based on information provided by the Police or Emergency services.

Or

Exceptional circumstances where the current property has a critical detrimental effect on their
welfare. This would normally be based on information provided by Emergency services, multi
agency meetings or Social Care services.

These are time limited for 1 month when they will be reviewed. It can be extended if no
suitable properties have become available in this time scale or a direct match can be made.

Gold Band

Urgent medical/welfare need or long term disability that would be alleviated by a move to more
suitable accommodation. This would apply when the situation is so serious that it would not
be reasonable to expect the applicant to continue to live at the property for any length of time,
given their particular medical/welfare circumstances but not a life threatening emergency.
Proof of the situation would be required from Social Care services, NHS or other medical
specialists.

14




Silver Band

Significant medical or welfare need that would be alleviated by a move to more suitable
accommodation. This could be situations/medical conditions that could apply to one or more
members of the household which because of the particular household circumstances
significant distress is caused. Proof of the situation would be required from Social Care
services, NHS or other medical specialists.

Depression and asthma are the most commonly quoted medical conditions. Where these are
mild and not directly related to the current property priority is unlikely to be awarded.

16.8 General
Gold Band

Move-on from supported accommodation where a planned move is agreed by the relevant
local housing authority. When someone is placed in accommodation based supported
housing and is not in their home/lead authority area there is a presumption that they will be
reconnected back to their home area when ready to move-on from the supported
accommodation. The support provider will also discuss other housing options before putting
them forward for social housing.

There are 2 requirements for this priority:-

1. that the supported accommodation provider has confirmed that the resident is ready for
independent living by completing the standard move- on form detailing the work they have
completed with the resident and assessment of any remaining support needs.;

2. that the local authority has been involved in the move-on planning and accepts that they are
the appropriate local authority to re-house this applicant by awarding this priority.

Or

As a result of a multi-agency decision agreed by the relevant housing authority. Where multi
agencies including the local housing authority are involved with a particular household and
meet to agree a way forward to resolve an urgent housing situation this priority can be
awarded to better protect the public/local neighbourhood.

Or

Left in occupation/succession of social rented housing such as succession where the
household is required to move. This applies to an applicant who is living in a social rented
property but does not have a tenancy. This may be because the household is too big or too
small for the accommodation and they are required to move into a property suitable for their
size or age. This applies whether or not they have a right of succession. These are time
limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. They can be extended if no suitable properties
have become available in this time scale, a direct match may be made.

15




Page 208

9T

sauedddy Jaulo |1y

“UOIEPOLUWOIIE
2[Q2UNS 210W 01 3A0W 2 4]
pa1eiA3||e 2 pnom 1841 AlIgesID
WiI31-SU0] JO PIJU JUBYRM.

10 [221p3W WBIYUEIS PassIssy

“PEPUR 3ARY S2ONP S53|3W0Y
[|B J2UE S53|AWOY SB PR5SISEE IO PIMD
fanp yai21 Jo uonuaaziad ssaRWwoy
8T0T [udy 1T J31e suonedyddy
ss3|awWwoy

YUM P3U183141 JO S53[2WoY

2T0T [udy 1T 240)3g suonedyddy

(ss2Ussa[=WOoY Jo)
J2ais papseme Apeadje u djdde 1ou s20()
WoaIpag 2Uc Jupze| — SulpMonIaAg

aNYE Y3ATIS

(Yauow T uwy 2un))

anow 01 pasinbal 5| pjoyasnoy
SU1 2UAYM U0IS5IIING

Se yans Juisnoy paiual

(21265 10 uepednazo u ya

¥0 Azuouyine Suisnoy |e3g)
iueasjad ayy Ag peaude uoispap
fouzBe-pjnw e Jo yns3l e 5y
40

Azuoyine Suisnoy [eIg| WeAS[R]
a3yl Ag pasude si 3now pauueld
g 213YM UOIBPOLILIOINY
pauoddnsg woll uc-saogy

UOIIEPOLWWOIIE 2|GRUNS oW
01 2/0W B AQ PI1BIAIJ|E 20 pINOM.
1841 Ajigesip waal-§uo) Jo paau
2UB)[RM{|22IPRW JUSEIN pIssassy

(Yauow T wwy 3unl)

paidanae
fanQ ssaussajzwoy Aloiniels jind

Ajdwod o3 Suysmunzigeun
51 plojpue| 3yl pue sanidel
21enbapeul 1o spajap Jolzw
‘Jiedausip 01 3Np 501AI2G
|ejuzwucaaul Ag Auadoad

B U0 PaAJ3s U23g sey (32130
uoINqIYald pepuadsng 1o)
210N UDIUGIYOId B 2I3UAN

(ss2USs3|2WOoY Jo)

plo8 papseme Apeadjz 1 Ajdde 10u sa0()
Suipamolaizno

01 3Np 537U [BIUSWUOIAUT Ag panias
u=aq sey {10 LoIIgIYold pepuadsng
10) 22110 N UoIUQIYCld B U3UM,

WO Swooupaq

JUow 10 7 Suryae] — Suipmolaiaao dolely
WO puRwzp Fulsnoy [B0)

Uo PRSE] UOIEROLWIWOIIE PaZIS AjlLuel
13]jews 01 3now o1 Axunod 2yl ul Suisnoy
p3ju=d |BDOs pazis Apwey dn Sulg

anvda aios

{Lpuow Ty swi)

ET-TET

1131 U0 133443 |BIUSWLIAPD
|e21112 e sey Awadoad Juand ay;
213y S3IUEISLUNIID [BuDilda%]
40 qua

10 3J1] 01 123uY1 uaAoud B 51 2433
2U3YM SIDUERISWINDID [euoindanxg
Y0 spunoid [eapaw uo Suisnoyal

(Yauow T ywy 3w

panJas 3310

uoqiyosd Husdizwg 53
“531y|12e) 31enbapeul 5123530
Jofew ‘sedassip 03 anp waey
SNOLIIS 10 ¥51 JWIUIWIW]

ue JuIsned se 533135
|PuswWuonu] Ag passasse

UQPEpoWWOIIR AjlLUBR-UoU
J3|jews 01 3aow o1 Aunod 2yl ul Suisnoy

siy}) suopuod Apadosg

10 pa3U 21E|P3LILW S8 PR5SIssy u=2=2q sey Auadeoad e asaym, pa3juzd |BD0S pazis Ajwey dn Sung
(apew
M0 Sl Aue a1aym
|el3uan ﬂ.:ﬁ.e u:u.o.wu“_uv__nnm .__._:“ sIyy) s AR 032 azs Apadoag
Slas i i 121sip 2yj 03 saydde Ajuo ¥
Spa2u uejEm/fenpaly SSAUSSI[BWOH




Page 209

17. Time limited bands.

17.1.

17.2.

17.3.

17.4.

18

18.1.

18.2.

18.3

18.4

18.5

18.6.

Certain categories have a time limit of one month. This is given to recognise an
urgent need. It is therefore important that Applicants in this category are bidding for
all suitable properties each week and in a wide range of locations.

At the end of the one month period the case will be reviewed by the Lead Authority

If the applicant is in a time limited band and has either not bid for suitable properties
advertised within the 1 month or has been unsuccessful in obtaining an offer of a
tenancy within the one month limit, a direct match of a property may be considered.
Where a private sector tenancy is available, suitable and affordable at the time the
Local authority or its agents may look to secure a tenancy in the private rented
sector.

The Lead Authority may however decide to demote an applicant to the band below at
the end of the one month period if it is obvious that the applicant is choosing to wait
for a particular type of property or immediate location and not treating their
circumstance as urgent.

Definition and implication of dates.

The date when the application is registered and assessed into a housing needs band
is important as this will form part of the short-listing process.

The application date is the date a fully completed online application form is submitted
by the applicant.

The effective date is the date a completed application form is placed into a housing
band after verification by the lead local authority.

The band start date is the date of application or the date an applicant moves up to a
higher band following a change of circumstances.

If moving to a lower band, normally the original effective date will apply. If however
there have been a previous number of changes of band, the effective date will be
reviewed by the Lead Local Authority to ensure that the applicant is not
disadvantaged (or given an advantage) by the change in circumstances.

Where an applicant has been unable to obtain settled accommodation due to their
employment (e.g. Armed Forces Personnel, tied accommodation) the case will be
reviewed and the application date may be backdated depending on the
circumstances.

18.7. If the applicant’s circumstances change, they must update their online application to

show the change as this may lead to moving up or down the housing needs bands.
An offer of a tenancy will be withdrawn if any change is not declared.

17




19.

19.1.

19.2

19.3

19.4

19.5.

20.

20.1.

20.2.

Page 210

Bedroom need assessment

The bedroom need for a household is assessed to match Housing Benefit rules
because from April 2013 the same rules apply to all renting households including
social housing.

One bedroom is required for;

An adult couple,

A person aged 16 or over.

2 children aged up to 16 years of age of the same sex.
2 children aged up to 10 years of age of different sexes.

When a child is born, the applicant must provide evidence of the birth as soon as
possible and the bedroom need will then be re-assessed to ensure it is still correct.

An extra bedroom will be considered where the following applies:

e A carer who provides the applicant or their partner with regular overnight care,
who is not normally living with you. Evidence will be required to substantiate any
claim which may include the care component of DLA (Disability Living
Allowance), PIP (Personal Independent Payment) or attendance allowance, or
details of a care package from a care providing agency funded by Social
Services.

e An independent medical adviser has confirmed the need for an extra bedroom.

In all cases an assessment of affordability will be undertaken, with discretion for the
final decision being with the relevant local authority and social housing landlord.

Potential children of foster or adoptive carers will be considered in the bedroom need
assessment on an individual basis once they have been accepted by the appropriate
Social Care Panel.

No visiting children should be included on the application and they will not be
included in the bed room need assessment.

Medical / Disability assessment.

Physical disability.

An applicant's (or member of the household included within the an application)
physical condition will be assessed by an officer of the local housing authority or its
agent or, where deemed necessary and feasible, referred to Children & Families or
Adult Social Care for a Occupational Therapist Housing Needs Report. An
assessment will then be carried out and a detailed report forwarded to the
appropriate local authority or its agent to determine housing need.

Medical condition.

Applicants will be asked for details of any medical condition and the reasons why
their current property affects that condition. An officer of the local housing authority or
its agent will assess whether the current property has a detrimental effect on their
social and or medical well-being. Where necessary a medical report may be

18




20.3.

20.4.

21.

21.1.

21.2.

22.

22.1.

Page 211

requested from the appropriate independent medical advisor. The applicant may be
required to pay towards the related costs incurred. Their assessment will be based
on the applicant's (or member of the household included in the application) medical
condition, the affect their property has on that condition and how moving to an
alternative property can help.

Following the assessment, the applicant will be informed in writing of the outcome
and any change to their banding. If the applicant disagrees with this assessment they
may ask for the matter to be reviewed under the Homeseeker Review/Appeal
Procedure - See Section 41

Where an applicant's (or member of the household included in the application)
medical circumstances change substantially, a new medical assessment form should
be submitted along with any supporting evidence.

Hazard assessment/disrepair.

The application form asks applicants about the condition of their current home.
Where an applicant indicates the property possesses potential risks to Health and
Safety they should contact their landlord in the first instance. If unresolved, the
applicant may ask the Environmental Health service of the local authority where they
live to inspect the property.

Following an inspection the landlord may be required to undertake works to rectify
the problem. Where this is not possible or appropriate a level of priority will be
awarded which will determine the band in which the applicant is placed. Any damage
caused by the applicant may be deemed as deliberate, therefore worsening your
circumstances (see section 9).

Completed applications.

Once the applicant has been assessed and accepted on to the Homeseeker Plus
scheme, they will receive, where possible within 28 days, notification, confirming their
application details.

This will include;

a)

The band in which the applicant has been placed (bronze, silver, gold or emergency).
In certain cases, applicants may be given different bands for different local authority
areas (where a homeless duty is accepted by a local authority or where a prohibition
notice is served). This “dual banding” reflects the fact that a higher duty exists in one
area and the household will therefore have a higher band just in that area.

The property size for which the applicant is eligible.

The effective date (and band start date if applicable).

A reminder about the importance of notifying any change in circumstances.

A unique reference will enable applicants to make bids.

Details of the documents required before an offer of accommodation can be made.
Details of where to find the Homeseeker Plus appeal procedure.

19



Page 212

23. Change of circumstances

231

23.2.

24,

241.

24.2.

25.

25.1.

25.2.

26.

26.1.

It is the responsibility of each applicant to update their own information every time
there is a change in their circumstances. (see 10.2)

Applicants will be notified of any effect of a change of circumstances on their banding
within 28 days of providing any requested evidence.

Annual renewal process

Where an applicant has not made any bid on any property, nor updated their
application in any way within the previous twelve months, they will be contacted to
see if they still wish to remain on the Homeseeker Plus Register.

If there is no response within 28 days from the date of notification, the application will
be cancelled. If the applicant contacts the Local Authority within 28 days of their
application being cancelled and indicates that they still wish to be considered for
housing, the application will be reinstated from their last effective date.

Applicants must renew their application if requested to do so by Homeseeker Plus.

Cancelling applications.

An application will be cancelled from Homeseeker Plus:-

e At the request of the applicant.

e Where an applicant does not respond to an application review within the specified
time limit.

e Where the applicant moves and does not provide a contact address.

e Where the applicant has died.

e Where an applicant ceases to be eligible

An application will be cancelled from the Homeseeker Plus Register and the
applicant will be notified where the household has been deemed non qualifying as a
result of perpetrating Anti-Social Behaviour or Racial Harassment since registering
on Homeseeker Plus.

Re-applying to Homeseeker Plus.

Any former applicant will need to make a new application, which will be dated from
when it was received.

Section 3 Scheme details - properties

27.

27.1.

Looking for a home.

Once applicants have been registered as active on Homeseeker Plus and notified of
banding and log in details, they can start to look and bid for a suitable property of
their choice.

20




28.

Advertisements.

28.1. All partner landlords are committed to advertising their available properties as widely
as possible. Properties will be advertised in a number of ways on a weekly basis
including:

Website:

A dedicated website for Homeseeker Plus is accessible to anyone with Internet
access. The website will allow applicants to view all available properties across the
whole of Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire and bid ‘on-line’ for properties of their
choice.

Newsletters:

29.

29.1.

29.2.

29.3.

29.4.

30.

30.1.

Adverts placed into free Homeseeker Plus newsletters, which can be viewed in a
number of localities across the area—details are available from your local authority.

Bidding for a property.

Where an applicant meets the eligibility criteria, they may bid for that property within
the deadline given. It makes no difference to the final shortlist what time during the
week the bid was placed. Property details and information should be carefully read
as some properties will have additional requirements that make the property
unsuitable for the applicant e.g. the number of people the property is suitable for —
some have only single bedrooms.

Applicants may have up to a maximum of three bids in any one week. Until a
decision has been made as to who will receive the offer, a bid will remain live. The
applicant can withdraw their bid if they wish to bid for another property during the
same weekly cycle.

Applicants may bid for properties via the Homeseeker Plus website.

At the time the bid is placed, the applicant will be given their current position on the
shortlist. This is only an indication, as the position can change, as other people bid or
bids are withdrawn. Even if an applicant’s position is shown as number 1, they may
not be offered the property if they do not meet the criteria of the advert or the
scheme.

Advertisement deadlines.

All advertisements will carry a weekly deadline by which time all bids for particular
properties must be received - before midnight each Tuesday. The advert will be
published on the same day each week starting one minute past midnight on
Wednesday morning.

21




31.

31.1.

32.

32.1.

33.

33.1.

34

34.1.

Page 214

Property descriptions.

Properties advertised will carry (where possible) a photograph of the property

location and a full description which will include:

e Type of property and eligible Applicants i.e. any restrictions such as age, family
size or composition.

e Number of bedrooms and eligible household size appropriate (taking into account
issues such as community sustainment or local lettings plans).

e Location of property.

Any adaptations (e.g. disabled facilities such as stair lift etc.) and if this places a

restriction on those who may apply.

Services provided (e.g. support, caretaker, cleaning etc.).

Heating type.

Rent/service charges.

Local connection requirement.

Additional features and marketing information.

Housing Bands that will be given priority.

Where rural settlement or local letting policies apply.

If a Social Housing Landlord’s allocation policy applies.

Void start date or new build when it's expected to be ready

Rural settlements.

Additional local connection criteria will apply for properties in rural villages where
there are particular shortages of housing e.g. villages with populations under 3000 or
sites with planning conditions (Section 106 agreements and rural exception sites)
attached to them. In these cases, priority will be given to Applicants who are unable
to live in their community due to the lack of affordable housing, who have a local
connection to the parish or surrounding parishes by means of living in the parish,
working in the parish or having immediate family connections to the parish. Where
this applies the details will be explained in the property advertisement.

Local Letting Plans.

The Homeseeker Plus Partnership is committed to creating balanced communities.
For new developments and in areas where there are known problems, such as anti-
social behaviour or abandoned properties, a local lettings plan may be applied. The
plan will take into account the needs of the current and new residents and the make-
up of the block, street or cluster of streets, to ensure a responsible letting is made.
The local authorities will review each letting plan periodically with landlords.

Short listing for the successful applicant

Once the advert deadline has passed, a shortlist will be produced for each advertised
property showing all the applicants who have bid. For each property advertised, the

22




34.2

34.3.

34.4.

34.5

34.6

35

35.1.

35.2.

35.3.

Page 215

successful applicant will generally be the applicant who has the highest band and the
oldest band start date that is eligible to bid (i.e. who best meets the criteria in the
advert and the policy).

The system produces the shortlist by the following sort criteria;

Local district connection (if specified in the advert).
Local ward/parish connection (if specified in the advert).
Preferred band (if specified in the advert).

Band start date.

Application date.

Each Social Housing Landlord is responsible for checking to ensure there has been
no change of circumstances including eligibility for social housing to the housing
need assessment of the applicant since originally verified. This is to ensure that
social housing is not allocated incorrectly to applicants who no longer match the
criteria.

Each applicant will be given the opportunity to view the property before signing for a
tenancy.

Should an applicant be at the top of the shortlist for more than one property, one of
the Social Housing Landlords of the properties will contact the applicant as quickly as
possible to ask them to decide which property they wish to be considered for. Once
they have made their decision, their other bids will become invalid. In this
circumstance, viewing of any of the properties before a decision is taken is unlikely to
be available and will be at the Social Housing Landlord’s discretion.

If an applicant is direct matched for a property, any other bids they have made will
become invalid.

By-passing the top of the shortlist
A by-pass is where an applicant has bid for a property but is not offered the tenancy.

The appropriate Social Housing Landlord will inform the household of the by-pass
and of any steps needed to prevent further by-passes for the same reason.

There may be a number of reasons for by-passes such as:-

Family composition unsuitable.

Rent or other debt outstanding.

Unsuitable for older person/extra care accommodation.

An Applicant has not responded to contact to view the property.
The Applicant has had a change in circumstances since verification.
Unsatisfactory current property inspection.

No local connection.

Pets not allowed.

Local lettings plan.

Anti-social behaviour.

Unsuitable for property.

Support package not in place.

Making best use of available housing stock.

23




35.4.

35.5.

35.6.

35.7.

36.

36.1.

36.2.

36.3.

37.

37.1.

37.2.

38.

Page 216

Applicants will be required to match the requirements of this policy and match the
criteria of the individual property as detailed in the advert. The advert includes details
of both the type of applicant that is eligible for the property and any further restriction
due to the Social Housing Landlord’s own published allocation policy. If the applicant
is at the top of the shortlist but does not meet all these criteria, the Social Housing
Landlord may not consider the applicant.

Homeseeker Plus partners reserve the right to prevent an offer going ahead where
the offer is considered not suitable for the applicant. This could be on the grounds of
public safety, risk or sustainability of the tenancy.

Where an offer is being made to a current tenant of a Social Housing Landlord within
the partnership, it is made subject to the satisfactory conduct of the present tenancy
and approval of that Social Housing Landlord (which may include a home inspection).

If there is an occasion where two or more applicants have the same band start date
and application date, the Social Housing Landlord will make a decision which
applicant best meets the aims and objectives of Homeseeker Plus.

Withdrawal of property.

An offer of a tenancy may be withdrawn at any stage up to the signing of the tenancy
agreement.

This may happen in certain circumstances, such as the tenant of that particular
property has failed to vacate the property or the property has been incorrectly
labelled on the advert.

If this happens, the Social Housing Landlord will inform the successful applicant that
the property is no longer available. If the property is not ready for occupation
following a successful bid and the applicant is likely to wait some considerable time
before being able to sign the tenancy agreement, the Social Housing Landlord will
inform the applicant and give them the option to withdraw their bid so they can bid for
any other suitable properties. If the property was mis-labelled on the advert it will be
re-advertised.

Refusals

Applicants are expected to take reasonable care when bidding for a property to
ensure it meets their needs. If however an applicant decides to refuse an offer of
accommodation, the property will be offered to the next suitable applicant on the
shortlist. An application will be reviewed if an applicant refuses 3 offers of
accommodation which the local authority or its agents deem suitable. This could lead
to the applicant being suspended for a minimum of 6 months or being placed in a
lower band.

If an applicant in a time limited band refuses an offer of accommodation the
application will be reviewed and may be suspended for a minimum of 6 months or
placed in a lower band.

Refusals by Applicants to whom the full homeless
duty is owed.

24




38.1.

38.2

38.3

38.4

38.5.

38.6.

39

39.1.

The local authority or its agents will normally expect an applicant to whom it has
accepted a full homeless duty to bid for a wide range of suitable properties within the
one month time limit in the Gold Band.

At the same time the local authority or its agents may be looking to discharge the
homeless duty into an affordable and suitable private sector tenancy. If one is
identified, the Homeseeker Plus application will be reviewed and any homeless
banding priority awarded will be removed whether or not the applicant accepts the
private sector property found which will still be subject to the statutory review
process.

If a homeless applicant has not been actively bidding for all suitable properties or a
suitable private sector property is not available at the end of the one month time limit,
the local authority or its agents will secure an offer of suitable, affordable settled
accommodation for the household subject to availability. (Also see section 39 —
Direct Matching)

If a homeless applicant refuses an offer of suitable settled accommodation, the local
authority or its agents is likely to decide that its duty under the Homeless Legislation
is discharged, subject to the statutory review process.

Homeless applicants have the right to request a review of certain decisions made by
the local authority in respect of their homeless application. This includes the decision
to bring to an end the full homeless duty by making a suitable offer of settled
accommodation.

If an applicant wishes to request a review of the reasonableness of an offer or the
suitability of the property, this should be submitted in writing to the appropriate local
authority within 21 days of the offer. The applicant has this right whether or not they
refuse or accept the offer of accommodation. If the review finds in favour of the
homeless applicant, alternative suitable, affordable and settled accommodation will
be offered. However if the suitability of the offer is upheld, the homeless duty is
ended and the banding will be reviewed and the applicant may be moved to a lower
band. Applicants are therefore advised to accept an offer, occupy the property
and then appeal under these grounds.

Direct matching of properties.

A direct match is a property which is not available through Homeseeker Plus. All the
partner social housing landlords are committed to advertising as many of their vacant
properties as possible through Homeseeker Plus. There will be occasions when
certain properties will not be advertised and the reasons for these exclusions will be
monitored. Some examples are: -

e Over-riding social reason to move the household for safety reasons, as
recommended by the Police, partner organisations, or as agreed through multi-
agency need and risk assessment panels.

e Those let to discharge statutory duties to Homeless applicants in certain
circumstances.

e Properties required for existing tenants whose properties are subject to major
works requiring them to vacate their own properties (either on a temporary or
permanent basis).

25



40.

40.1.

40.2.

Page 218

e Extra-care vacancies and any supported accommodation where there is an
applicant with a Care package that needs a specific property.

e Applicants who have succeeded to a tenancy or, in certain circumstances such
as following the death of a family member, left in occupation but who need to
move to alternative accommodation.

o \Where a property has been adapted and meets the specific needs of a client.

e Applications subject to the Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976.

Feedback/Recent lets.

Recent Lets on the web page gives details of the properties previously let once the
new tenancy has actually been set up. This will be some weeks after the property
was advertised but can help applicants see how long they may have to wait for the
size of property they want in the locations of choice. Applicant’s personal details will
not be included.

The feedback given will include:

e Property size and type.

Property location.

Number of Applicants who applied for each property.
Band of successful applicant.

Effective date/ Band start date of successful applicant.

Using this information, Applicants will be able to see where properties are more likely
to become available and where they may have the best chances of making a
successful bid in order to help them make an informed evaluation of their housing
options.

Section 4 Monitoring and review

41.

Review/appeal procedure. (The Homeseeker Plus Appeal Process

can be found at www.homeseekerplus.co.uk)

41.1.

41.2.

All applicants have the right to request a review of any Homeseeker Plus decisions.
The review/appeal should include the reason why the applicant believes the decision
is incorrect, together with any additional information.

Stage One — Internal Review

If you disagree with the way we have assessed your application for housing, or
with the housing need band in which we have placed your application, you may
request a review with a senior housing officer (who was not involved in the
original decision) from the local authority or the agent dealing with your
application. To request a review:

You must complete an Stage 1 - Internal Review Request Form which can be
downloaded from the Homeseeker Plus website www.homeseekerplus.co.uk and
when completed in full, send to the Homeseeker Plus Co-ordinator within 14 days of
receiving your letter or notification.

We will deal with your request within 14 days or let you know if we will require
additional time.

We will write to you with the outcome of the review within a further 7 days of being
determined.

26




41.3.

41.4.

41.5

41.6

Page 219

Stage Two —Homeseeker Plus Appeal Panel

If you disagree with the outcome of the review, you can request that your case be
taken to the Homeseeker Plus Appeal Panel. The Homeseeker Panel is made up of
3 Senior Housing Officers from 3 of the Partner Councils. These Officers will not
have been involved in the original decision or the Senior Housing Officer decision on
internal review. The applicant must submit a request for an appeal in writing and
send to their Local Authority or the agent that is dealing with the application within 14
days of the review notification letter. The local authority or its agent will acknowledge
receipt of the request for an appeal within 14 days and provide the applicant with
contact details of the officer dealing with the request and the time it will take to reply
to the applicant. If the review cannot be completed within 56 days, the applicant will
be informed and the timescales for the review set out.

The panel will be made up of senior housing officers from three of the other local
authorities. The appeal will consider the facts surrounding the case and your request
should specify whether there are additional facts the Panel should take into
consideration or whether you feel that the original facts you submitted with your
application have not been fully taken into account. If you have additional evidence,
such as additional medical reports, then these should also be submitted.

The Panel will consider the review on the papers submitted by the applicant and the
housing officer from the local authority involved in the case. The applicant does not
need to attend this review hearing but occasionally the Panel may require additional
information from either party and, should this be the case, the applicant and the
relevant Housing Officer will be asked to personally attend a further review Hearing.
The applicant can bring a representative.

The Homeseeker Plus Co-ordinator (or a nominated representative) will be present at
the Hearing to ensure that all relevant information has been presented and is dealt
with correctly.

Once the appeal has been determined, or if the Panel require the applicant to attend
a further Hearing, the Homeseeker Plus Co-ordinator will write to the applicant giving
full details within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

Local Authority Complaints Procedure

If you feel that you have been treated unfairly or you believe the process has not
been carried out as described above you can use your Local Authority’s (or its
agents) Complaints Procedure to make a formal complaint.

The complaint must be made in writing to the appropriate authority within 14 days of
the date of the written notification of the decision of the Homeseeker Plus Appeal
Panel.

If the applicant is still dissatisfied, they may complain directly to the Local

Government Ombudsman. The Oaks, 2 Westwood Way, Westwood Business Park,
Coventry. CV4 8JB. Telephone 024 7682 0000.

27




42,

42.1.

43.

43.1.

44.

44 1

44 .2

44.3

Page 220

Access to personal Information.

Applicants are entitled under the Data Protection Act (1998) to request details of their
personal data held by the seven local authorities. A charge will be made for providing
this information.

Use of statistical information.

The information supplied by Applicants on their housing application may also be used
for housing management and research purposes within legal guidelines (such as
identifying what size and where new housing is required). No individual will be
identified in collating such information.

Policy monitoring and review

The Housing Advice/Options Manager of each local authority will run regular reports
to monitor performance of the scheme in meeting the aims of the policy.

The Homeseeker Plus policy will be regularly reviewed and at least annually to
ensure that it takes into account change in demand and need within the district, that it
continues to meet its aims and objectives and that it complies with any legislative
changes.

Any changes to the Homeseeker Plus Policy will be implemented only with the
majority agreement of the members of the Partnership. An interested party may
contact any of the local authority partners to make observations to be considered at
the next review.

28




s M [)‘ STROUD Pa%? 221
E e [ DISTRICT GLOUCESTER CHELTENH AM ﬁ COTSWOLD
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean wcwgwg}ﬁ BOROUGH COUNCIL : DISTRICT COUNCIL

Borough Council — DISTRICT COUNCIL — T

DISTRICT COUNCIL

Homeseekerplus

Common Allocations Policy Document

STROUD ﬁ o
N COUNC,  ShaucErEs T %8 COTSWOLD
I COUNCIL CHELTENHAM

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean wrvrw.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE  rouict DISTRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council — DISTRICT COUNCIL — by




ek Iy, @ STROUD e
y, ™
& ggﬁlgf Page 222 :irenmam

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL
Borough Council — DISTRICT COUNCIL —

Contents

1. Introduction and policy statement

Introduction

Overview of how the partnership functions
Policy statement

Equal opportunities and social inclusion

2. Legal
Legal framework
Data retention
Types of tenancies
Definition of social housing
Who is eligible to register?
Who is not eligible to register?

3. Scheme conditions

Who does not qualify?

Suspending and demoting an application

Providing false information and change of circumstances
Local Connections

Local connection clarifications

4. Assessment of applications

How to register

Assessment of an application
Banding reasons

Banding tables

Additional bedroom need criteria
Time limited bands

Demotion

Global banding criteria

5. Scheme Details

Completed applications

Annual renewal process

Cancelling applications

Bidding

Advertisements

Property descriptions

Rural settlements and local letting plans

)

_W ﬁ COTSWOLD
WEST OXFORDSHIRE o
() A DISTRICT COUNCIL



i $) Iy@sTROUD s (@
2 DISTRICT
u COUNCIL Page 22 3{ELTENHAM WEST OXFORDSHIRE & COTSWOLD

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean wwwstoud.govuk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL 1\“,,,_‘_,,,_‘, DISTRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council — DISTRICT COUNCIL — E———————

6. Allocations
Short listing
By-passing
Withdrawal
Refusals
Direct matching

7. Monitoring and review
Review/appeal procedure
Subject access requests
Use of statistical information
Policy management



= M e e =
u COUNCIL Page 224{ELTENHAM WEST OXFORDSHIRE CQT§WOLD
N ot Gt () DISTRICT COUNCIL

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL matssroe
DISTRICT COUNCIL ——

Borough Council

1. Introduction and policy statement

Introduction

1.1 Homeseekerplus is a choice based lettings (CBL) scheme run by the seven local authorities in
partnership with social housing landlords and any other housing providers that are required to
deliver affordable homes through section 106 affordable housing obligations within Gloucestershire
and West Oxfordshire.

1.2 The seven local authorities are Tewkesbury Borough Council, Gloucester City Council,
Cheltenham Borough Council, Stroud District Council, Forest of Dean District Council, Cotswold
District Council and West Oxfordshire District Council.

1.3 Demand for affordable social housing within the Homeseekerplus area is very high and
cannot be met from the available social housing resources. Only those in the highest housing need
with a local connection to the area are likely to obtain housing through the Homeseekerplus
scheme. Each district’s Housing Advice Service will be able to advise on a range of housing options
including the private rented sector.

1.4 This policy explains who is eligible and qualifies to apply on Homeseekerplus and sets out
how applications will be assessed based on housing need.

1.5 Homeseekerplus aims to allocate social housing in the partner council areas in a fair and
transparent way while complying with all legal requirements.

Overview of how the partnership functions

1.6 Homeseekerplus enables social housing landlords and other housing providers (as detailed in
1.1 above) to advertise their homes. Applicants are able to express an interest in them; this is
known as placing a “bid” for a property. Once a bid is placed the system generates a shortlist, sorting
applicants in order of band, band start date and whether they meet the criteria. of the advert.
Priority for properties goes to those who have a local connection with the local authority in which
the property is located, then to those who have a local connection with any of the other
Homeseekerplus districts and finally to anyone else.

1.7 All applicants seeking social housing across Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire will
complete the same application process and will be assessed against the same clear set of criteria.
Depending on their circumstances, applicants will be placed into one of four bands: Emergency,
Gold, Silver or Bronze subject to final verification by a Homeseekerplus partner.

1.8 Once an application has been made, applicants are advised of their banding and banding
start date, together with details of how to access the system. This enables applicants to bid for
suitable social housing vacancies being advertised across the whole of Gloucestershire and West
Oxfordshire.



ol [, @ STROUD s, |/ 7\:‘
2 u" 4 ?ISTRICT Page 2251 TENHAM @ A COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

1.9 Once the bid deadline has passed, the successful applicant will be the highest priority
household at the point of shortlisting. This is assessed against the criteria for the property, including
where local connection applies, and taking into account any local letting plans.

1.10  Responsibility for letting each available property lies with the social housing landlord. The
appropriate landlord must confirm that the details on the application are still correct and may
undertake their own assessment to ensure the property is right for the applicant before making an
offer. Incorrect information may result in the offer being withdrawn and the applicant’s
circumstances being re-assessed.

1.11  Applications for sheltered and extra care housing schemes may require an assessment of the
household’s support needs, prior to any offer being made.

Policy statement

1.12  This policy aims to:

o Assist in building sustainable communities.

o Enable informed choice of housing/ housing options and improve levels of customer
satisfaction.

o Operate a common selection system that offers realistic, informed choice for all
applicants.

o Ensure that those who have the greatest need for housing have the greatest opportunity
to secure it.

o Ensure that less able applicants are involved in the lettings process and have choices,
offering equality of opportunity for all.

. Make best use of available housing resources to meet local need.

o Minimise the refusal of offers of accommodation and reduce rent loss by allowing
people to choose where they live, thereby supporting sustainable communities.

o Where possible, give people with a local connection to a district priority in the letting of
housing within that district.

o Enable mobility within social housing in Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire.

o Enable the authorities to meet their statutory duties including where duties are owed to

homeless Applicants under Part VIl of the Housing Act 1996, as amended and the
homelessness reduction act 2017.

o Contribute towards tackling discrimination.

o Use a common eligibility criteria and housing application process.

o Ensure fairness, simplicity and transparency with a system that is easily understood.

o Promote a feeling of ownership and commitment to their area as they will have chosen
to live there.

. Assess applications according to the applicant’s needs under the framework of the
policy.

Equal opportunities and social inclusion



ey ‘* @@ STROUD . |@,
2 DISTRICT s
u COUNCII Page 226{ELTENHAM wla's‘kﬁc{osﬂiiiu A CQT§WOLD
ol e DISTRICT COUNCIL

) e
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL  mumm srun
DISTRICT COURCIL S5 T

Borough Council
1.13  All partners of Homeseekerplus agree that applicants should be given every possible
assistance to access the housing register and search for suitable properties. Applicants who are
identified as being potentially disadvantaged by the scheme may be contacted to discuss alternative
options.

1.14  All partners of Homeseekerplus are committed to the elimination of discrimination. They
promote equality of opportunity for all and work towards this goal in the provision of services.

1.15 We are committed to:

e Eliminating discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by
the Equalities Act 2010.

e Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and others who do not share it.

e Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who
do not share it

e Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are connected to that characteristic

e Taking steps to meet the needs of people who share a relevant protected characteristic that
are different from the needs of people who do not share it

e Encouraging those people who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally
low

e Making the best possible use of the existing and potential workforce and resources by
enabling cross boundary moves.

1.16  Applicants potentially disadvantaged by the scheme will initially be identified from the
application process and they may be offered a home visit or interview. Staff will seek to establish
any support needs and identify ways of enabling the applicants to fully participate in
Homeseekerplus. This may include sending copies of the adverts in large print to an applicant or
simply providing advice. Translation services may be provided where appropriate.

1.17 Disadvantaged applicants are able to nominate a person (including family members, friends
or a professional worker) to help them bid, or to bid on their behalf for suitable properties. Signed
consent will be required if requests are made by a third party.

1.18 The local authority may bid for suitable vacancies on a vulnerable applicant’s behalf if they
are at risk of being disadvantaged by the scheme and have no support to enable them to make bids
themselves. This may include the use of the ‘Autobid’ function.

1.19  Agencies providing support maybe able to assist their client with help on housing issues.

2. Legal



el “ [, @@ STROUD st @7
DISTRICT
u (JO[J\I(/I[I Page 227{ELTENHAM WI’;’S:IWCVV)S?C%I{S;IEE COTSWOLD
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL -‘- DISTRICT COUNCIL

Borough Council

Legal Framework

2.1 Homeseekerplus complies with the local authorities’ statutory duties under Part VI and VII of
the Housing Act 1996 as amended, and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, in addition to any
other relevant legal duties, and has regard to the following:

e Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England 2012
e Equalities Act 2010

e Public Sector Equality Duty

e Data Protection Act 2018

e localism Act 2011

e Immigration Act 2014

e Local letting plans

e S5.106 agreements

Data retention

2.2 As part of the application process, personal data is required to support any housing
application. We will comply with all data protection legislation. This includes:
e For active applications, data is stored for as long as the application is active.
e For housed applications, data is stored for three years
e If Homeseekerplus is not accessed for a period of one year, then the case will be set to
‘removed’ and removed after six months.
e Homeless applications are stored for three years.

Definition of social housing providers for Homeseekerplus

2.3 For the purposes of this policy, affordable housing is defined as being social rented and
affordable rented housing provided to eligible households who otherwise would be unable to secure
alternative provision, and who have been assessed under this policy. Housing providers who operate
within the Homeseekerplus boundaries are defined as being registered providers, arm’s length
management organisations or stock owning Councils. owned stock, Eligibility and qualifying criteria
for providers is set by this policy.

2.4 All partners have a common goal to provide homes for local people in housing need with
eligibility determined within this policy framework.

Types of tenancies



el “ @@ STROUD Y 9

DISTRICT . ¢
E LA comncn  Page 228ieirennam i SiS g OwoLn
;3:‘,'; scgrn% FOE?—EE of Rgan bocoolioed i BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ~ mav s DISTRICT COUNCIL

2.5 Depending on the landlord and applicants’ circumstances, an applicant may be offered
either an introductory, secure, starter, assured, fixed term, assured short hold or flexible tenancy.

Who is eligible to register?

2.6 Homeseekerplus is open to anyone in housing need who is not subject to immigration rules
which would otherwise exclude them. Eligible households may include, but are not limited to,
existing tenants looking to transfer to another property, homeless households looking for a
permanent home and other households who might, for example, reside in the private sector or
lodge with family and friends. A household includes anyone that may reasonably be expected to live
together with them as part of their application.

Who is not eligible to register?

2.7 Persons from Abroad:

Consistent with Right to Rent Regulations within the Immigration Act 2014, Persons from Abroad
who do not have leave to remain are ineligible to register for Homeseekerplus This includes those
who are:
e Subject to immigration control and has over stayed their visa or is a visitor
o lllegal entrants
o Asylum seekers
e People in the UK on condition that they have no recourse to public funds
e A person from abroad who is in breach of the European community right of residence
directive
e A person whose only right to reside in the UK arises under European law based on their
status as a job seeker or an initial 3 months right of residence
e A person from abroad who has been the subject of a sponsorship agreement for less than
five years and whose sponsor is still alive
o A person with limited leave not granted as a result of a claim for asylum

2.8 If the local authority decides that an applicant is not eligible to register for any of these
reasons, they will notify the person of the decision in writing, including the reason.

2.9 Other:

e Applicants under 16 years of age at the date they apply are not eligible to register for
Homeseekerplus.

2.10  Persons who are ineligible for a tenancy in their own right may still be included within a
household application and for determining the number of bedrooms needed for the household.



ey " iy, @ STROUD sl |@%
DISTRICT
E P AL counon, Page 229eitennam - A Rl

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean wwwstrond.gov-uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ot DISTRICT COUNCIL
BT conpac s

Borough Council

3. Scheme conditions

Who does not qualify?

3.1 Homeseekerplus has been established under the terms of the Housing Act 1996, as
amended, and the Localism Act 2011. This gives local authorities the right to decide who will not
qualify for social housing.

3.2 Applicants who may initially be eligible to register on Homeseekerplus but, following
assessment, do not qualify, will be excluded from Homeseekerplus. Others may be eligible and
qualify to be included but are subsequently suspended from bidding

33 The following are persons who do not qualify for Homeseekerplus:

An applicant may not hold two tenancies at one time, applicants must be able to end their
current tenancy within a reasonable period from being made an offer.

o An applicant will not qualify for social housing if the local authority has undertaken an
affordability check which has shown that they have sufficient financial resources to
adequately resolve their own particular housing need through outright purchase, lease or
mortgage. This check will consider the type of accommodation needed to meet these needs
to resolve their own housing need within their district.

e Homeowners who own or part own a property which is suitable for the household’s needs
or where those needs can be resolved through adaptation, and where it is safe to remain.

34 If the local authority decides that an applicant does not qualify, they will notify the applicant
of their decision in writing and the reasons for it.

3.5 Applicants who do not qualify will need to reapply in full if they feel their circumstances
have changed to the extent that they may now qualify.

Suspending and demoting an application

Applications to Homeseekerplus may be suspended or demoted if any of the following
circumstances are identified:

3.6 Former Tenancy Debts

If an applicant has rent arrears or other housing debt with a social landlord or any other housing
provider (as detailed in 1.1 above) , which accrued less than 6 years ago, the applicant will be given
the opportunity to clear the debt before a decision to suspend the application is made. If the
applicant is unable to do this, they may be suspended for a period sufficient to reduce the debt to



ey ‘* [, @ STROUD st |@,
E DISTRICT «
u C NCIL Page 230{ELTENHAM WI{é‘k)FC{rJSHiEIZ A COT§WOLD
1.gov. DISTRICT COUNCIL

v.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL s, vy

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL

below the equivalent of eight weeks arrears, as well as having a repayment plan in place and

payment being made before they can bid for properties.

Each case will be considered on its own merit, For example, an application would not be suspended
if rent arrears arose as a result of domestic abuse.

Existing social housing tenants who are suspended because of rent arrears will be considered as an
exception on an individual basis if proved that they cannot afford to stay in their current tenancy as
a result of Welfare Reform Act changes.

If a partner landlord becomes aware of such a debt they will inform the relevant local authority
when arrears are reduced. The local authority may unsuspend the application or advise the applicant
to submit a change of circumstances for their application to be reassessed.

3.7 Time Limited Bands

Applicants who have been awarded time limited bands are expected to bid on all suitable property
types available within their local connection area. Failure to do so may result in suspension or
demotion for a period the local authority deems appropriate.

3.8 Repeated Refusal of Properties

Whilst Homeseekerplus aims to give applicants choice, it also needs to help social landlords let their
available homes in an efficient way. If an applicant refuses three properties that the local authority

considers suitable, the application will be demoted or suspended for a period of 6 months from the
time of their last offer. This provision does not apply to final offers of accommodation made in order
to discharge homeless duties under part VIl of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) or Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017.

3.9 Financial

Applicants who have unreasonably disposed of financial resources that could have enabled them to
purchase/obtain their own accommodation will be suspended.

3.10 Unreasonable behaviour/rent arrears

An applicant will be non-qualifying if the applicant, or a member of their household, has been
responsible for unacceptable behaviour serious enough to make them unsuitable to be a tenant of
the local authority or a social housing landlord at the time of application.

Behaviour that may be regarded as unacceptable is as follows: -

o Criminal activity in the vicinity of the property

. History of anti-social behaviour or disruptive nuisance to neighbours

o Racial harassment

. Illegal drug use or dealing

. Any other breach of the tenancy agreement such that the landlord would be likely to

apply for and obtain a possession order.

As part of the assessment, consideration will be given to the household’s personal circumstances,
the severity of the situation and any other factors that may be relevant.



el “ @@ STROUD Y 9

DISTRICT . ¢
< &3 coocn. Page 23Liertennam s g OwoLn
;3:‘,'; scgrn% FOE?—EE of Rgan bocoolioed i BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ~ mav s DISTRICT COUNCIL

Such applicants will be informed of the actions required from them to demonstrate that there has
been a change in their behaviour such that they will become qualifying e.g. obtaining a satisfactory
landlord reference for a period of six months or where regular repayments are made without fail
against an agreed repayment plan for a period of six months.

3.11 Deliberately worsening their circumstances

An immediate review of an application will be undertaken if an applicant is found to have acted (or
failed to act) in a way which deliberately worsened their housing situation. This could lead to the
applicant being suspended, or being demoted to a lower band, for a minimum of 6 months.

Exceptions
Exceptions to these qualifying criteria include:

. Those people fleeing harassment or violence where the Police, Independent
Domestic Violence Advocates (IDVA) or Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference
(MARAC) support a move

. proven social or medical/welfare needs

In exceptional circumstances where the applicant has an urgent need to move, the local authority
may waive this qualification and suspension criteria.

3.12  Requesting a review of a suspension / demotion
Applicants will be advised as to what action/s will be necessary to lift the suspension or demotion.

Applicants who are suspended will need to contact their relevant local authority to ask for a review
of this suspension if they feel their circumstances have changed. If agreed, their application will be
reactivated and reassessed.

Providing false information and change of circumstances

3.13  Any applicant who knowingly or recklessly gives false information or knowingly withholds
information in order to secure a home to which they are not entitled may lose any home provided to
them and may also be prosecuted. Where false information is given and the applicant becomes non-
qualifying or ineligible, the application will be removed. Where false information is given and the
applicant still qualifies, the application will be suspended for a period of 3 months and the applicant
will have to reapply with correct information. The law imposes severe penalties, including
substantial fines up to £5000 or imprisonment, when an offence is proven.

Local Connections

3.14  Due to the exceptional demand for housing across the Homeseekerplus area and the
difficulty in solving local housing need, preference will normally be given to applicants with a local
connection to the appropriate district.

10



ol [, @ STROUD e, |/ 7\:‘
2 i", 4 ]SISTRICT Page 23 et @ COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE A mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

3.15 Homeseekerplus local connection is defined by any of the following:

e Those who are, or were in the past, normally resident in the local authority area, and that
residence was of their own choice during six out of the past 12 months or during three out
of the past five years.

o those who are employed in the local authority area
e Those who have immediate family connections in the local authority area for five years
e Members of the armed forces

e Other special circumstances

3.16  Local connection will be awarded by the lead authority only.

Local connection clarification

3.17 Normal residence

‘Normal residence’ is to be understood as meaning ‘the place where, at the relevant time, the
person in fact resides.” Residence in temporary accommodation provided by a housing authority can
constitute normal residence of choice and contribute towards a local connection. In the case of a
person who is street homeless or insecurely accommodated (‘sofa surfing’) within their district, the
housing authority will need to satisfy themselves that the applicant has no settled accommodation
elsewhere, and if from inquiries the authority is satisfied that the applicant does in fact reside in the
district, then the applicant will be considered as normally resident.

Where the applicant raises family associations, this may extend beyond partners, parents, adult
children or siblings. They may include associations with other family members provided there are
sufficiently close links in the form of frequent contact, commitment or dependency. Family
associations should be determined with regard to the fact-specific circumstances of the individual
case.

3.18 Employment

For the purposes of employment, a member of the application should work in the district they are
applying too: it would not be sufficient if the employer’s head office is located in the relevant
district but their place of work is not. In the case of self-employment, local connection will be
defined by the address at which their business is registered. For agency, casual or other types of
employment, proof must be provided that the employment contract is not short-term, casual or
ancillary.

3.19 Special Circumstances

Special circumstances include but are not limited to the need to be near special medical or support
services which are available only in a particular district and where transport links are not sufficient to
meet those needs. Special circumstances will be assessed on their own individual merits.

3.20 Care leavers

Care leavers who are owed a ‘Leaving Care’ duty, will have a local connection to all districts within
the area of the Children’s Services Authority. Care leavers who have been placed in accommodation

11



ey " iy, @ STROUD sl |/ 7\',‘
DISTRICT
E P AL councn, Page 233ieitenam - A Rl

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean wstroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL % DISTRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

in a different district to that of the Children’s Services Authority, and they have lived in the other
district for at least 2 years, including some time before they turned 16, they will also have the same
local connection until they are 21.

3.21 Armed Forces

Members of the armed forces will have a local connection to a district of their choice. This applies
to:

e Those currently serving, or having served within the immediately preceding five years.

e Bereaved spouses or civil partners who have recently, or will cease to be, entitled to
Ministry of Defence accommodation following the death of their service spouse and the
death was wholly or partly attributable to their service.

e Existing or former members of the reserve forces who are suffering from a serious injury,
illness or disability which is wholly or partly attributable to their service.

Local connection will also be awarded to divorced or separated spouses or civil partners of Service
personnel who are required to move out of accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence.

3.22 Persons from Abroad

If an applicant has been subject to immigration control where they would not have been deemed
eligible and subsequently become eligible, the date of where a local connection would apply is the
date they moved into the area. Refugees would have a local connection outside of these criteria to
the last area they were housed in by the Home Office under asylum support.

Local connection will not be awarded if your accommodation was not of the applicant’s own choice.
This includes but is not limited to:

e Approved premises
e Rehabilitation units

3.23 Decisions on local connection will be made based on the facts at the date of the decision
and not the date of application.

12



ey " [}/ STROUD e |@%
2 DISTRICT
u COUNCIL Page 234{ELTENHAM M{s‘{%ﬁc{béﬁiﬁu COTSWOLD

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean weww stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL % DISTRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

4. Assessment of applications

How to register

4.1 Applicants are able to register for social housing through the Homeseekerplus website at
www.homeseekerplus.co.uk. Homeseekerplus is an online application only and has been designed to
be accessible to all with speech, reading and translation tools. Applicants needing advice and
assistance with their application are advised to contact the authority they are applying to.

4.2 When an applicant applies through the Homeseekerplus website and has registered their
household, they will complete an application for social housing, giving details of their housing
situation. If, after completion of the application and provision of any necessary proof or further
information, the applicant is assessed as being eligible, they will be given a band start date and
placed in a local housing band.

4.3 Applicants should make sure that they include all relevant details on the application so that
proper consideration can be given to the application. Homeseekerplus may contact any of the
applicants’ previous landlords or agencies to check the details given.

4.4 All applicants will be given unique login details which can be updated from the account.

4.5 Applicants will be informed if further information or clarification is required. Failure to
complete the online application form will result in it being deleted from the system.

Assessment of an application

4.6 By registering to join Homeseekerplus, the applicant will need to freely give their consent for
enquiries to be made to verify their circumstances. Applicants will need to confirm that the
information they have given is true and accurate.

4.7 The information the applicant has provided will guide the decision on which band they will
be placed in. Applicants will be required to provide the lead authority with documentation to
evidence the stated housing need.

Bedroom need assessment
4.8 The bedroom need for a household is assessed to match housing costs guidance to ensure
suitability and affordability for low income households.

4.9 One bedroom is required for:

e An adult couple

¢ A person aged 16 or over

¢ 2 children aged up to 16 years of age of the same sex

¢ 2 children aged up to 10 years of age of different sexes

13



ey “ @@ STROUD 'y (o)

2 Py DISTRICT ‘ ¢
C()U\[(/”A Page 235{ELTENHAM WI&VS‘IVVOW);C{}JSNEE COT‘SWOLD
;ewkiscl;ur)_/l Forest of Dean www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL -‘- DISTRICT COUNCIL
oroug| uncil DISTRICT COUNCIL

4.10 When a child is born, the applicant must provide evidence of the birth as soon as possible
and the bedroom need will then be re-assessed. This may not change the bedroom need or banding
and any additional award will not be given until evidence of the birth is provided.

4.11  Visiting children will not be counted in this assessment.

Verification

4.12  Applicants will be able to bid for properties advertised, but no tenancy will be offered until
verification has been completed by the relevant local authority. The purpose of this verification is to
establish the accuracy or validity of the application.

4.13  Documents required for verification will depend upon individual circumstances. Documents
must be provided to verify medical needs, eligibility and qualifying status.

4.14  Key documents will remain valid for 6 months or for the length of validity of the document,
whichever is the longer.

4.15 Key standard documents can include, but are not limited to:

e |dentification for all household members on the application

e 2 months bank statements of all household members over the age of 18
e Proof of Child Benefit or an appropriate court order

e Proof of residency to support ‘right to rent’ checks

Banding reasons

4.16  Applicants will be awarded a band appropriate to the household circumstances assessed
from the information provided in their application.

4.17  To qualify for a particular band, applicants need to meet at least one of the criteria set out in
the banding table below.

4.18  Applicants will be awarded two bands — one for their “local” band (lead authority) and one
for their “global” band (other 6 authorities). In some cases, these may be with same authority,
depending on circumstances. However, having a local connection to another authority would not
automatically deem a household to have a higher banding in that district.

4.19  An applicant’s banding may be time- limited due to the type of housing need, therefore, the
household would be expected to bid for and accept any suitable property offered within that time
limit. Failure to do so may lead to a direct match or demotion.

Right to move

4.20 Right to Move is for social housing tenants who need to move to another district in order to
take up a job or live closer to employment or training. In order to qualify, social housing tenants
must demonstrate that the job/apprenticeship will alleviate significant hardship and that there are
no other options available to them.

14



ol [, @ STROUD e, |/ 7\:‘
2 i", 4 ]SISTRICT Page 236 @ X COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

4.21 To determine qualification, the following detail will need to be established:

e The distance and/or time taken to travel between work and home

e The availability of transport, taking into account level of earnings

e The nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available closer to home

e Other personal factors, such as medical conditions and child care options, which would be
affected if the tenant could not move

o Whether failure to move would result in the loss of an opportunity to improve employment
circumstances or prospects, for example, by taking up a better job, a promotion or
apprenticeship

4.22 Those who qualify for Right to Move will get a local banding preference of Silver, identifying
that there is a “Significant welfare need that would be alleviated by a move to more suitable
accommodation”.

Clarification of Band criteria

Property size

4.23  Emergency Band

Existing Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire social housing tenants willing to move from family
accommodation to non-family social housing property within the partnership area.

4.24  Gold Band

Existing Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire social housing tenants willing to move to smaller
family sized accommodation if this has been agreed with the relevant local authority to release a
property of higher demand or limited availability.

or

There is major overcrowding in the current property - lacking 2 or more bedrooms (this will not
apply if the applicant has unreasonably allowed one or more people to move in to the property, as
this is deliberately worsening the situation).

or

Environmental Health has inspected the property and has served a Prohibition Notice (or
suspended Prohibition Licence) on the landlord due to overcrowding - subject also to the
applicant not deliberately worsening the situation.

4.25  Silver Band
There is overcrowding in the current property - lacking 1 bedroom - (this will not apply if the

applicant has unreasonably allowed one or more people to move in to the property, this is
deliberately worsening the situation).

15



el “ @@ STROUD Y 9

2 DISTRICT . ¢
u COUNCIL Page 237{ELTENHAM Wi;é'{aﬁc{bfsiuiu A CQT§WOLD
;g:”’u‘;iz‘;rﬂ% Forest of Dean bbb BOROUGH COUNCIL pisTRICT counci, P4 DISTRICT COUNCIL

Property condition

4.26  Emergency band

Where Environmental Health has inspected the property and requires immediate vacation of
the property because of an imminent risk of harm due to disrepair, major defects or grossly
inadequate facilities. An Emergency Prohibition Order can be served on the landlord in these
circumstances.

This award is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no
suitable properties have become available in this time scale, or a direct match can be made.

4.27 Gold band

Where Environmental Health has inspected the property and has served a Prohibition Order
or a Suspended Prohibition Order on the landlord that repairs have to be undertaken but the
landlord is unable/unwilling to comply. In most cases the landlord will be required to
undertake repairs to remedy the problem and when completed this should resolve the issue.
These only apply to the Local band so only when bidding for properties in the home/lead local
authority area.

Homelessness

4.28 Homelessness is defined by Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 but was significantly updated by
the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. The Homelessness Reduction Act set out new duties to local
authorities to, amongst other things, prevent or relieve homeless.

4.29 Therefore applications to Homeseekerplus from those who are homeless or threatened with
homelessness will fall into the following categories:

o A Prevention of Homelessness duty is ongoing or

e A Relief of Homelessness duty is ongoing or

e The applicant has made a homeless application to one of the Homeseeker Plus Local
Authorities and remains assessed as eligible for assistance and homeless after the relief
duties have ended.

4.30 More information on these duties can be found here:

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities

For the purpose this policy and how banding will be assessed should the local authority owe you a
duty under this legislation, banding will fall into either:

431 Gold banding (Main Duty)
The applicant has made a homelessness application under part VII of the housing act 1996, (as

amended) to one of the Homeseekerplus local authorities, the 56 days of the Relief Duty have
expired and the full s193 statutory homeless duty to secure accommodation for the applicant has

16


https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities

ol [, @ STROUD e, |/ 7\:‘
2 i", 4 ]SISTRICT Page 238t @ COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE A mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

been accepted by that authority. If this duty applies to an applicant, the applicant will receive a
letter from the relevant local authority advising of this.

This is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no suitable
properties have become available in this time scale. A suitable tenancy in the private sector or
a direct match into social housing may be made to end the homelessness duty at any time.

4.32  Silver banding (Prevention or Relief Duties)

The applicant has made a homeless application to one of the Homeseekerplus local authorities and
either:

e A Prevention of Homelessness duty has been accepted

e A Relief of Homelessness duty has been accepted

or

The applicant has made a homeless application under part VII of the housing act 1996, as amended
to one of the Homeseekerplus local authorities and remains assessed as eligible for assistance and
homeless but has been found either non-priority or intentionally homeless.

Medical Need

4.33  None of the below refer to having a medical condition in its own right. It is only when the
current housing is directly affecting that medical condition that priority is awarded. In other
words, even if a member of the applicant’s household has a very severe set of medical
conditions, if their housing has little or no bearing on their health then no priority will be
awarded.

4.34  Emergency band

The applicant is assessed as in immediate need of re-housing on medical grounds. This may be when
they have had a major incident, are in hospital or another emergency provision and unable to return
to the existing home because of their medical condition and immediate adaptations are not

available.

This award is time limited for 1 month when it will be reviewed. It can be extended if no
suitable properties have become available in this time scale or a direct match can be made.

4.35 Gold band

Urgent medical need or long-term disability that would be alleviated by a move to more
suitable accommodation. This would apply when the situation is so serious that it would not

17



ol [, @ STROUD e, |/ 7\:‘
2 i", 4 ]SISTRICT Page 230t o @ X COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

be reasonable to expect the applicant to continue to live at the property for any length of time,
given their particular medical circumstances but not a life-threatening emergency.

Proof of the situation would be required from Social Care services, NHS or other medical
specialists.

For example, a member of the household seeking accommodation is disabled and re-housing will
enable that person to overcome physical barriers created by current accommodation and it has been
established that the home cannot be adapted to meet needs e.g. steps and stairs.

4.36  Silver band

Significant medical need that would be alleviated by a move to more suitable
accommodation. This could be situations/medical conditions that could apply to one or more
members of the household which because of the particular household circumstances
significant distress is caused. Proof of the situation would be required from Social Care
services, NHS or other medical specialists.

Depression and asthma are the most commonly quoted medical conditions. Where these are
mild and not directly related to the current property, priority is unlikely to be awarded.

Welfare Need

4.37  Emergency band

The applicant assessed as in immediate need of re-housing on welfare grounds where there has
been a major incident and there is proven threat to life or limb. This would normally be based on
information provided by the Police or other specialists.

4.38 Gold banding

Exceptional circumstances where the current property has a critical long-term detrimental effect on
their welfare. This would normally be based on information provided by multi agency meetings or
Social Care services.

4.39  Silver banding

Significant welfare need that would be alleviated by a move to more suitable accommodation. Proof
of the situation would be required from Social Care services, housing association or other specialists
to establish that a management move would not be appropriate.

This banding would only be used if the housing provider is unable to provide a management move.

Move on/care leavers

440 Gold band

18



ol [, @ STROUD e, |/ 7\:‘
2 i‘h 4 ](DISTRIQT Page 240{ELTENHAM @ X COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

A young person owed leaving care duties under section 23C of the Children Act 1989 and in a
housing need will be awarded gold banding to the area of the Children Services Authority that owes
them the duties. Homeseekerplus comprises of Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire which have
different Children Services Authorities, therefore gold will only be awarded to housing authority
districts falling within the area of the Children Services Authority.

Move-on from supported accommodation funded County Council commissioned services and where
a local connection was agreed at point of referral by the relevant local housing authority.

When someone is placed in accommodation based supported housing and is not in their home/lead
authority area there is a presumption that they will be reconnected back to their home area when
ready to move-on from the supported accommodation.

The requirements for this priority are:

e that the supported accommodation provider has confirmed that the resident is ready for
independent living by completing the standard move- on form detailing the work they have
completed with the resident and assessment of any remaining support needs;

e that the local authority has been involved in the move-on planning and accepts that they are
the appropriate local authority to re-house this applicant by awarding this priority;

e The accommodation is not low support, temporary or emergency provision or intensive
housing management (unless subject to local individual arrangements).

Multi-Agency

441 Gold band

As a result of a multi-agency decision agreed by the relevant housing authority. Where multi
agencies including the local housing authority are involved with a particular household and agree on
a way forward to resolve an urgent housing situation, this priority can be awarded to better protect
the public or local neighbourhood.

19



ey " :
W ® oisrricr P e 24 v e % COTSWOLD
& counc, P A0 L4 LIEITENHAM  werorcmm Ay

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ~ mutitr
Borough Council — DISTRICT COUNCIL — e -

Banding Table

20



COTSWOLD
DISTRICT COUNCIL

WEST OXFORDSHIRE
DISTRICT COUNCIL

BOROUGH COUNCIL

i,

Page 242{ELTENHAM

STROUD
DISTRICT

14

Tewkesbury

COUNCIL
ww.stroud.gov.uk

Forest of Dean

— DISTRICT COUNCIL —

Borough Council

—
(gl
swednddy syo v
"sE3Ewoy AjEuoiusiyl
‘Aysoud-uoN J3Yyys punoy
US3Q $BY JSYLS SEY INQ SIS WOy
pUE 3DUEISISSE JO) 3 ENS se
"UCQE DOW WODDE 3{qEUNS “UCEIEPO WIWOIDE P35535SE SWews) weondde syl anvs
siowol3row eAg 3{QEY NS 3.OW O} 3NoW i wooip3q HIAUS
D31EIAS(|E 39 DINOM 1EYL e Ag p31EIASIESQ DINOM p31dsooe ussq T Sungoe| - Ausdouid waun
anow o3 Sy pP33u 3Jeyam JuEdUSS | 18yl PISU BRI W UEDYES sEY AIND 4303 JO UDIUSNZIE W 34yl U SUIPMOIDISA0 SI3USYL
SO10N U0 QYOI B PANIST
sey pue Ausdoud 3yl pspadsu
|823131 Jo1uod SEY YUESH [EWUSW UOIAUT
1e p33.5e sem UORDIUUOD o
B30 E 3J3YM PUE SWO0IPSq oW
SINNST PIUOISSIUW O Adwod 0 Z Sunpe| - Auadoid waun
Punod AJunod fyowne 01 Summun/sgeun 341 U SurpmosDiaN0 Jofew st aiaylL
D30UN} UCHIEDOWWOIE 1241 Aq p31d=ode8 us3g sEY 5 piojpuel o
p3licd dns WOy uc-3AON wediddE 3143 S0} UOQEP oW OE 341 1nq UayELSpUN ‘AuqeiEAs  ANVE G109

io

p33u Suisnoy

E Ul pUE SEST IOV USDIUD
34140 JETUORISS

JApuUn s3anp 3JEd Eune S
pamouosiad Sunoh v

Elauan

“SUBLEM J3UL UO 10343
[EWSWLISD WiSl-Sugy
jeoD e sey Ausdosd
WILN 3G 33YM
SIOUEBISWNDUD |Bu0d30x3

‘quus SO 34y

01 183,431 usnoud T 353Ul
puE JuUSpIW solew Eus3g
SEY SU3Y1Si3UM SpunosE
sseyamuo Suisnoy

-3J JO P33U ;eIpIW W

s passasse wexdde syl

Sp33U AUEIPM

" UCIIEPO WO DDE 3|GEINS
oW c13NowW E Ag pIENEE
3q prnomley Alpgesp wis
-SuoiJop33u EXpSwWlUsEin

“spunois [expaw uoc Surisnoy
-3J 40 P33 U B PIW W
e p3sI3ssE Jueddde Syl

spasu Exnpan

3un335 01 AInNp sSE WOy
Aioimels €675 |0y 343 pue
S3QUOYINE [E20) SN dia3y33T3W oY
3Y3 JO3UOC O P3PUSWE SE

‘85T 1B Swsnoy 3Yl4o (1A 1ied
J3punuogedgdde sssussaEwoy
e 3pew sey wedndde syl

{pamo siAanp Aue auaym
pusIp 313 031 sagdde Ajuo sig)
SS3USSIPWOH

3q 01 aney sedsilEyl
PiOIpUE 33 UCERO
UoRiqWy Cid papUSdsns Jo
JBpO uolIqiyoid B
pansas sey pue Ausdosd
34y paoadsu: sey yesy
|EIUSWUONAY T 3U3YM

‘sagyoe;slenbspeur
MNss0iE o 32350
sofew ‘pedausip crang
WJBY 1O Y51 IUSUNUWI U
jo3snedaq Ausdosd syl
4O UOIIEDEA 3121DS W
s3,nbas pue Auadoid
3yl pa1dadsut sey Yl esH
|BIUSWUONAL T 3USUM
{epew 51
BNION Y 3JIYM DUISIP
3y1 03 saudde Ao
siyl) suosupucd Auadaid

P3LWY JO PUBWSP JSYSWY

10 Mssdosd e asesias o3 Aysoyne
E20 snok yrm pssiSsussq

SEY SIYl Y UO(IEPOWWOIDE P3TS
Ajnuey J3qews 01 3A0W 03 Summ
SWEU3] SUIsn oy [BDOS SIYS DI OO
ISV PUE 3uYSI31530n0D Sunsing

“ease diysisulsed

3yl uyymAladoid Swsnoy jE1d0s
Apwe-uou O UCIIEPO WWODE
Apwey wosy snow o1 Sugm
SWEU3] SWISNOY [ED0S SIYSPIOXO
1S3\ PUE 3u1Yysia1s20nord Sulsa

232 3ns Auadoad




oty ‘$ [, @@ STROUD o @
DISTRICT
< .3 coocn Page 243ieitennam s g OwoLn
: & DISTRICT COUNCIL

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL st s
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

Additional bedroom needs criteria

4,42  Households will also be assessed to consider the need for one additional bedroom for each
of the following, if they are assessed as being included as part of the household:

e Atenant requiring a non-resident overnight carer

e Disabled child who cannot share a bedroom with their sibling due to their disability
e An adult child who is serving away with the armed forces

e Aroom for a foster child or children

4.43  Households can include someone on the application if there is a need for them to live with
the household in order to give or receive care or support, where no one in the immediate
household is able to provide that care . Evidence will be required to demonstrate:

e That the household is dependent upon this care or support that other satisfactory
arrangements cannot be made
e that the arrangement is ‘permanent’

4.44  We will also require evidence that the person requires your support or care; for example,
proof that you/they are providing care, are in receipt of care allowances and are able to meet any
costs associated with the additional bedroom either through benefits, income or savings.

4.45  We will usually only include members of the household that currently living with you or that
the Council can be satisfied will be reasonably expected to reside (if not currently residing) with you
on your application

4.46 In cases where two parents or guardians have joint access to children, bedroom eligibility
will be awarded to the main care provider. Applicants will need to demonstrate that :

e they are the main care provider (children live with you for more than half the week -four
nights or more) and are in receipt of child benefit and, if applicable, child tax credits
e that the arrangement is ‘permanent’

4.47  Please note the protections afforded by the Equality Act 2010 are intended to be available to
all, including children and adolescents. Any required additional bedroom need will be awarded on a
case by case basis in line with housing benefit rules and an assessment of affordability.

Time limited bands

22



ey “ @@ STROUD 'y (o)

2 DISTRICT ‘ ¢
u COUNCIL Page 244{ELTEN HAM wu'sfaﬁc{bsﬁiﬁu CQT§WOLD
;ewkiscl;ur)_/l Forest of Dean www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL -‘- DISTRICT COUNCIL
oroug| uncil DISTRICT COUNCIL

4.48  Certain categories have a time limit of one month or more. This is given to recognise an
urgent need. It is therefore important that applicants in this category are bidding for all suitable
properties each week and in a wide range of locations.

4.49 At the end of the period the case will be reviewed by the Lead Authority.

4.50 If the applicant is in a time limited band and has either not bid for suitable properties
advertised within one month or has been unsuccessful in obtaining an offer of a tenancy within the
limit, a direct match of a property may be considered. Where a private sector tenancy is available,
suitable and affordable at the time the Local authority or its agents may look to secure a tenancy in
the private rented sector.

Demotion

451 The Lead Authority may decide to demote an applicant to the band below at the end of the
time-limited period if it is apparent that the applicant is choosing to wait for a particular type of
property or location, and not treating their circumstances as being urgent.

4,52  Applicants are encouraged to make full use of their bids and seek all housing options
available to them. Applicants will be assessed by a senior officer if they have unreasonably refused a
property or to bid in a reasonable time if the following criteria have been met:

e they deliberately do or fail to do anything and as a consequence they miss out on suitable
properties

e it would have been reasonable for them to do so, and there is no other good reason why
they have not

4.53 The demotion period will be what the local authority deems reasonable up to 12 months
and will be considered on a case by case basis.

Global banding criteria

4.54  Applications will be awarded a global band equal to that of their local banding in all but the
below cases:

e  Where the lead authority has accepted a full statutory homeless duty to secure
accommodation for the applicant. The global banding in this circumstance will be silver.

o  Where the lead authority has a gold move on agreement from supported accommodation,
the global banding will be bronze.

o  Where the lead authority has assessed the property as having a prohibition notice, the
global band will be bronze.

e  Where the lead authority has awarded a downsizing band, the global band will be silver.

5. Scheme Details

23



el “ @@ STROUD Y 9

2 DISTRICT . ¢
u COUNCIL Page 245{ELTENHAM Wi;é'{aﬁc{bfsiuiu A CQT§WOLD
;g:”’u‘;iz‘;rﬂ% Forest of Dean bbb BOROUGH COUNCIL pisTRICT counci, P4 DISTRICT COUNCIL

Completed applications
5.1 Once the applicant has been assessed and accepted on to the Homeseekerplus scheme, a
notification will be sent, where possible within 28 days, confirming the application details.

This will include:

a) The band in which the applicant has been placed

b) The property size for which the applicant is eligible

c) The registration date

d) Band start date

e) Reminder about the importance of notifying any change in circumstances
f) A unique reference

g) Details of the verification documents required

h) Details of the appeal procedure

Annual Review process

5.2 Where an applicant has not made any bid on any property, nor updated their application in
any way within the previous twelve months, they will be contacted to see if they still wish to remain
on the Homeseekerplus Register. If there is no response within 28 days from the date of notification,
the application will be closed. If the applicant contacts the Local Authority within 28 days of their
application being closed and indicates that they still wish to be considered for housing, the
application will be reinstated.

Applicants must renew their application if requested to do so by Homeseekerplus.

Removing applications

5.3 An application will be removed from Homeseekerplus:-

e At the request of the applicant

e Where an applicant does not respond to an application review within the specified
time limit

e Where the applicant moves and does not provide a contact address

e Where the applicant has died

e Where an applicant ceases to be eligible

Bidding

5.4 Once applicants have been registered as active on Homeseekerplus and notified of banding
and log in details, they can start to look and bid for a suitable property of their choice subject to
their banding criteria.

5.5 Applicants may bid for eligible properties at any time before the deadline. It makes no
difference to the final shortlist what time during the week the bid was placed. Property details and

24



ol [, @ STROUD e, |/ 7\:‘
= M DEERS ode 2460 LT Ry corsworn

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

information should be carefully read as some properties may have additional requirements that
make the property unsuitable for the applicant; for example the number of people the property is
suitable for — some have only single bedrooms.

5.6 Applicants may have up to a maximum of three active bids at any one time. Until a decision
has been made as to who will receive the offer, a bid will remain live. The applicant can withdraw
their bid if they wish to bid for another property during the same cycle.

5.7 At the time the bid is placed, the applicant will be given their current position on the
shortlist. This is only an indication, as the position can change, as other people bid, or bids are
withdrawn. All shortlists are live and subject to change.

Advertisements
5.8 All partner landlords are committed to advertising their available properties as widely as
possible. Properties will be advertised in several ways on daily basis.

e A dedicated website for Homeseekerplus is accessible to anyone with internet access. The
website will allow applicants to view all available properties across the whole of
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire and bid ‘on-line’ for properties of their choice.

e Adverts displayed in a number of localities across the Homeseekerplus partnership including
local authority offices.

e In any other format on request to aid those with particular needs, in line with the public
sector equality duty.

Property descriptions
5.9 Properties advertised will carry (where possible) a photograph of the property location and a
full description which will include the following details if applicable:

o Type of property and eligibility criteria

e Number of bedrooms and eligible household size appropriate
e Location of property

e Any adaptations and therefore restrictions on who may apply
e Services provided

e Heating type

e Rent/service charges

e Local connection requirement

e Additional features, marketing information and pet restrictions
e Details on those who will be given priority

e Where rural settlement or local letting policies apply

e If a Social Housing Landlord’s allocation policy applies

e Void start date or, for new build, when it is expected to be ready for occupation
e Any rentin advance payable

e Floor level of property

25



el “ [, @@ STROUD st ( o
DISTRICT
E F ALY COUNCIL Page 247 ELTENHAM s sras EOISWAOLD
Tewkesbury Forest of Dea www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL _‘. DISTRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council — DISTRICT COUNCIL — e

Rural settlements and local letting plans

5.10 Additional local connection criteria will apply for properties in rural villages where there are
particular shortages of housing sites with planning conditions (Section 106 agreements and rural
exception sites) attached to them. In these cases, priority will be given to Applicants who are unable
to live in their community due to the lack of affordable housing, who have a local connection to the
parish or surrounding parishes by means of living in the parish, working in the parish or having
immediate family connections to the parish. Where this applies the details will be explained in the
property advertisement.

5.11 The Homeseekerplus Partnership is committed to creating balanced communities. For new
developments and in areas where there are known problems, such as antisocial behaviour or
abandoned properties, a local lettings plan may be applied. The plan will take into account the needs
of the current and new residents and the makeup of the block, street or cluster of streets, to ensure
a responsible letting is made. The local authorities will review each letting plan periodically with
landlords.

26



sy $) Iy @gsROD e |@,
2 DISTRICT -
s comcn,  Page 248:kirennam .. COTSWOLD

4 DISTRICT COUNCIL

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL matssroe
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————
Shortlisting
6.1 Once the advert deadline has passed, a shortlist will be produced for each advertised

property showing all the applicants who have bid. For each property advertised, the successful
applicant will generally be the applicant who has the highest band and the oldest band start date
that is eligible to bid (i.e. who best meets the criteria in the advert and the policy)

6.2 The system will produce a shortlist based on the applicant’s banding, banding start date,
local connection and any other criteria stipulated in the advert.

6.3 Each Social Housing Landlord is responsible for checking to ensure there has been no change
of circumstances including eligibility for social housing to the housing need assessment of the
applicant since originally verified. This is to ensure that social housing is not allocated incorrectly to
applicants who no longer match the criteria.

6.4 Each applicant will be given the opportunity to view the property before signing for a
tenancy.
6.5 Should an applicant be at the top of the shortlist for more than one property, one of the

Social Housing Landlords of the properties will contact the applicant as quickly as possible to ask
them to decide which property they wish to be considered for. Once they have made their decision,
their other bids will become invalid. In this circumstance, viewing of any of the properties before a
decision is taken is unlikely to be available and will be at the Social Housing Landlord’s discretion.

6.6 If an applicant is direct matched for a property, any other bids they have made will become
invalid.
6.7 Any applicant who has a propriety interest in a property must be able and willing to dispose

of that interest in a reasonable period.

By-passing
6.8 A by-pass is where an applicant has bid for a property but is not offered the tenancy.

6.9 The appropriate Social Housing Landlord will inform the household of the reason for the by-
pass and of any steps needed to prevent further by-passes for the same reason.

6.10  By-passing will be carried out in line with the Social Housing Landlord’s lettings policy, local
letting plans and Homeseekerplus policy and applicant’s will be informed where reasonable.

6.11  Applicants will be required to match the requirements of this policy and match the criteria of
the individual property as detailed in the advert. The advert includes details of both the type of
applicant that is eligible for the property and any further restriction due to the Social Housing
Landlord’s own published allocation policy. If the applicant is at the top of the shortlist but does not
meet all these criteria, the Social Housing Landlord may not consider the applicant.

27



ey ‘* [, @ STROUD st |@,
2 DISTRICT «
i COUNCII Page 249 rENHAM w.;'skx?o/mmau COTSWOLD

4 DISTRICT COUNCIL

) e
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL  mumm srun
DISTRICT COURCIL S5 T

Borough Council

6.12  Where an offer is being made to a current tenant of a Social Housing Landlord within the
partnership, it is made subject to the satisfactory conduct of the present tenancy and approval of
that Social Housing Landlord (which may include a home inspection).

6.13  If there is an occasion where two or more applicants have the same band start date and
application date, the Social Housing Landlord will make a decision which applicant best meets the
aims and objectives of Homeseekerplus.

Withdrawal
6.14 A property shortlist may be withdrawn at any stage during advertising or shortlisting or an
offer of a tenancy may be withdrawn at any stage up to the signing of the tenancy agreement.

6.15  This may happen in certain circumstances, such as the tenant of that particular property has
failed to vacate the property or the property has been incorrectly labelled on the advert.

6.16  If this happens, the Social Housing Landlord will inform the successful applicant that the
property is no longer available. If the property is not ready for occupation following a successful bid
and the applicant is likely to wait some considerable time before being able to sign the tenancy
agreement, the Social Housing Landlord will inform the applicant and give them the option to
withdraw their bid so they can bid for any other suitable properties. If the property was mis-labelled
on the advert it will be re-advertised.

Refusals

6.17  Applicants are expected to take reasonable care when bidding for a property to ensure it
meets their needs. If however an applicant decides to refuse an offer of accommodation, the
property will be offered to the next suitable applicant on the shortlist. An application will be
reviewed if an applicant refuses three offers of accommodation which the local authority or its
agents deem suitable. This could lead to the applicant being suspended for a minimum of six months
or being placed in a lower band.

6.18 If an applicant in a time limited band refuses an offer of accommodation the application will
be reviewed and may be suspended for a minimum of six months or placed in a lower band.

Homelessness

6.19 The local authority or its agents will normally expect an applicant to whom it has accepted a
full homeless duty to bid for a wide range of suitable properties within the time limit in the Gold
Band.

6.20 If the main homeless duty is accepted, the applicant will be placed onto autobid from the
start of this duty.

6.21 At the same time the local authority or its agents may look to discharge the homeless duty
into an affordable and suitable private sector tenancy. If one is identified, the Homeseekerplus
application will be reviewed and any homeless banding priority awarded will be removed whether or
not the applicant accepts the private sector property found. This will still be subject to the statutory
review process.

6.22  If a homeless applicant has not been actively bidding for all suitable properties or a suitable
private sector property is not available at the end of the one month time limit, the local authority or

28



el @@ STROUD e b o
2 i"\i g ](DIS’I‘RICT Page 250{ELTENHAM @ fods COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE AL DY
1.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL _A_ DISTRICT COUNCIL

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL

its agents will secure an offer of suitable, affordable settled accommodation for the household,

subject to availability.

6.23  Due to limited resources, high demand, and duties to provide accommodation to some
groups of applicants in urgent housing need the degree of choice that the local authority is able to
offer may be limited.

6.24  Applicants will be able to express a preference regarding the area in which they would like
to live and the property type they would like, but should be aware that the local authority ability to
satisfy a preference is limited. Expressing a preference over where an applicant would like to live
does not mean that this preference can be met, or that the local authority will not offer suitable
accommodation outside of a preferred area. The local authority will consider whether the property
is suitable and is a reasonable offer in order to meet its duties under Section 189B (2) relief of
homelessness duty or the main section 193 (2) duty under Part VIl of the Housing Act 1996.

6.25 Not all properties that become available will be advertised and offered through the Band
and date order procedure

Direct matching

6.26  Adirect match is a property which is not available through Homeseekerplus. All the partner

social housing landlords are committed to advertising as many of their vacant properties as possible

through Homeseekerplus. There will be occasions when certain properties will not be advertised and
the reasons for these exclusions will be monitored. Some examples are: -

e Qver-riding social reason to move the household for safety reasons, as recommended by the
Police, partner organisations, or as agreed through multiagency need and risk assessment
panels.

e Those let to discharge statutory duties to Homeless applicants in certain circumstances.

e Properties required for existing tenants whose properties are subject to major works
requiring them to vacate their own properties (either on a temporary or permanent basis).

e Extra-care vacancies and any supported accommodation where there is an applicant with a
Care package that needs a specific property.

e Applicants who have succeeded to a tenancy or, in certain circumstances such as following
the death of a family member, left in occupation but who need to move to alternative
accommodation.

e Where a property has been adapted and meets the specific needs of a client.

e Applications subject to the Rent (Agriculture) Act 1976.

6.27  There will be circumstances where for urgent operational reasons there is a need to make
direct offers of housing outside of the normal policy banding and date order criteria.

6.28  This may also restrict the time an applicant is able to bid for accommodation. The offer of
accommodation would be in any area of the district that is considered reasonable and the property
is suitable and safe for the applicant to live in.

A decision to make a direct match offer could be where:

29



el “ I, @ STROUD e £

2 DISTRICT A @
b councn,  Page 251ieitennam wg%&%g ﬁCOTSWOLD

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean www.stroud.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ratugsine DISTRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council — DISTRICT COUNCIL — E———————
e An applicant is not being realistic in the areas they are bidding for accommodation and as a

or

result they may be occupying accommodation provided as homeless longer than they need
to.

To assist the local authority in effective management (including financial) of its homeless
accommodation

30



== o peon e =
u C()U\[(/”A Page 252{ELTENHAM WEST OXFORDSHIRE COT‘SWOLD
N ot Gt () DISTRICT COUNCIL

Tewkesbury Forest of Dean BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL matssroe
DISTRICT COUNCIL ——

Borough Council

/. Monitoring and review

Review/appeal procedure

7.1 All applicants have the right to request a review of any Homeseekerplus decisions. The
review/appeal should include the reason why the applicant believes the decision is incorrect,
together with any additional information.

7.2 Stage One — Internal Review

If you disagree with the way we have assessed your application for housing, or with the housing
need band in which we have placed your application, you may request a review which will be
decided by a senior housing officer who was not involved in the original decision from the local
authority or the agent dealing with your application. To request a review:

e  You must complete a Stage 1 - Internal Review Request Form which can be downloaded
from the Homeseekerplus website www.homeseekerplus.co.uk and when completed in full,
send to the council you applied to within 14 days of receiving your letter or notification.

e We will deal with your request within 14 days or let you know if we will require additional
time.

o We will write to you with the outcome of the review within a further seven days of being
determined.

7.3 Stage Two —Homeseekerplus Appeal Panel

If you disagree with the outcome of the stage 1 internal review, you can request that your case be
taken to the Homeseekerplus Appeal Panel. This Panel is made up of three or more Senior Housing
Officers from three of the Partner Councils. These Officers will not have been involved in the original
decision or the Officer decision on internal review. The applicant must submit a request for an
appeal in writing and send to the Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator within 14 days of the review
notification letter. The local authority or its agent will acknowledge receipt of the request for an
appeal within 14 days and provide the applicant with contact details of the officer dealing with the
request and the time it will take to reply to the applicant. If the review cannot be completed within
56 days, the applicant will be informed and the timescales for the review set out.

The panel will be made up of senior housing officers from three or more of the other local
authorities. The appeal will consider the facts surrounding the case and your request should specify
whether there are additional facts the Panel should take into consideration or whether you feel that
the original facts you submitted with your application have not been fully taken into account. If you
have additional evidence, such as additional medical reports, then these should also be submitted
up to one week before the panel meet.

The Panel will consider the review on the papers submitted by the applicant and the housing officer
from the local authority involved in the case. If determined by the Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator the
applicant or the relevant Housing Officer may be asked to attend this review hearing in person if
additional information from either party is required. The applicant can bring a representative.

31



ol [, @ STROUD e, |/ 7\:‘
2 i", 4 ]SISTRICT Page 25 it o @ X COTSWOLD

NCIL WEST OXFORDSHIRE mte
Tewkesbury Forest of Dean 1d.gov.uk BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL ity DI1STRICT COUNCIL
Borough Council DISTRICT COUNCIL Ee————————

The Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator will chair this panel and a nominated representative for the
applicant will be present at the Hearing to ensure that all relevant information has been presented
and is dealt with correctly.

The panel must come to a majority decision, should this not be the case, the Homeseekerplus Co-
ordinator and chair of the panel will arbitrate.

Once the appeal has been determined, or if the Panel require the applicant to attend a further
Hearing, the Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator will write to the applicant giving full details within 14
days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

7.4 Local Authority Complaints Procedure

If you feel that you have been treated unfairly or you believe the process has not been carried out as
described above you can use your Local Authority’s (or its agents) Complaints Procedure to make a
formal complaint.

The complaint must be made in writing to the appropriate authority within 14 days of the date of
the written notification of the decision of the Homeseekerplus Appeal Panel.

If the applicant is still dissatisfied, they may complain directly to the Local Government Ombudsman.

Subject access requests
7.5 Applicants are entitled under the Data Protection Act 2018 or any superseding legislation to
request details of their personal data held by the seven local authorities.

Use of statistical information

7.6 The information supplied by Applicants on their housing application may also be used for
housing management and research purposes within legal guidelines (such as identifying what size
and where new housing is required). No individual will be identified in collating such information.

Policy management
7.7 The Homeseekerplus Co-ordinator will run regular reports to monitor performance of the
scheme in meeting the aims of the policy.

The Homeseekerplus policy will be regularly reviewed and at least annually to ensure that it takes
into account change in demand and need within the district, that it continues to meet its aims and
objectives and that it complies with any legislative changes.

Any changes to the Homeseekerplus Policy will be implemented only with the majority agreement of
the members of the Partnership. An interested party may contact any of the local authority partners
to make observations to be considered at the next review.

32



This page is intentionally left blank



Property Size etc.

Property conditions (this
only applies to the
district where the Notice
is made)

Homelessness
(this only applies to the district
where any duty is owed)

Medical needs

Welfare needs

General

Existing Gloucestershire and West
Oxfordshire social housing tenants
willing to move from family
accommodation to non-family social
housing property within the
partnership area.

Where Environmental
Health has inspected the
property and requires
immediate vacation of

the property because of
an imminent risk of harm
due to disrepair, major
defects or grossly

inadequate facilities.

The applicant assessed as
immediate need of re-
housing on medical grounds.

The applicant assessed as
immediate need of re-
housing on welfare
grounds where there has
been a major incident and
there is proven threat to
life or limb.

Existing Gloucestershire and West
Oxfordshire social housing tenants
willing to move to smaller family
sized accommodation if this has
been agreed with your local
authority to release a property of
higher demand or limited

Where Environmental
Health has inspected the
property and has served
a Prohibition Order

or Suspended Prohibition
Order on the landlord
that repairs have to be

The applicant has made a
homelessness application under
part VIl of the housing act 1996,
as amended to one of the
Homeseekerplus local authorities
and the full s193 statutory
homeless duty to secure

Urgent medical need or long-
term disability that would be
alleviated by a move to more
suitable accommodation.

Exceptional circumstances
where the current
property has a critical long-
term detrimental effect on
their welfare.

A young person owed
leaving care duties under
section 23C of the Children
Act 1989 and in a housing
need

or

GOLD BAND | availability. undertaken but the accommodation for the applicant Move-on frorT1 supported
or landlord is has been accepted by that accommodatlgn funded
There is major overcrowding in the unable/unwilling to authority. County Council
current property - lacking 2 or more | comply. commissioned services and
bedrooms where a local connection
or was agreed at point of
Environmental Health has inspected referral
the property and has served a
Prohibition Notice
There is overcrowding in the A Prevention or relief duty has Significant medical need that Significant welfare need Right to move
current property - lacking 1 been accepted would be alleviated by a that would be alleviated by

SILVER bedroom or move to more suitable a move to more suitable

BAND The applicant remains assessed as | accommodation. accommodation.

eligible for assistance and
homeless but has either has been
found either Non-priority,
Intentionally homeless.

All other Applicants

GGe obed



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11
Page 257

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cabinet — 11 February 2020
Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 — position as at December 2019

Accountable member Councillor Rowena Hay, Cabinet Member for Finance
Accountable officer Paul Jones, Executive Director Finance and Assets
Accountable scrutiny All
committee
Ward(s) affected All
Key Decision Yes
Executive summary To update Members on the Council’s current financial position for 2019/20
based on the monitoring exercise at the end of December 2019. The report
covers the Council’'s revenue, capital and treasury management position.
The report identifies any known significant variations (minimum £50,000) to
the 2019/20 original budget and areas with volatile income trends.
Recommendations 1. Cabinet note the contents of this report including the key
projected variances to the 2019/20 budget and the expected
delivery of services within budget.
2. Cabinet recommend that Council approve the budget virements
to the 2019/20 budget, as part of the revised budget 2019/20, as
detailed in Appendix 4.
Financial implications As detailed throughout this report.
Contact officer: Andrew Knott, andrew.knott@publicagroup.uk ,
01242 264121
Legal implications None specific directly arising from the recommendations.
Contact officer: Sarah Farooqi, sarah.faroogi@tewkesbury.gov.uk,
01684 272012
HR implications The Council continues to monitor vacancies and recruitment. All
(including learning and recruitment activity decisions are based on a business case outlining
organisational the impact on the service delivery and/or loss of income generation if
development) the post were to remain unoccupied. In addition, the Council also
continues to monitor its capacity to deliver on key projects.
Contact officer: Julie McCarthy
julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264355
Key risks As outlined in Appendix 1.

Page 1 of 10


mailto:andrew.knott@publicagroup.uk
mailto:julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk

Page 258

Corporate and Key elements of the budget are aimed at delivering the corporate
community plan objectives within the Corporate Business Plan.
Implications

Environmental and None.
climate change
implications

Background

1.1  This report provides the third monitoring position statement for the financial year 2019/20. The
purpose of this report is to notify members of any known significant variations to budgets for
2019/20 and highlight any key issues, allowing Members to take action if required.

1.2  Publica Financial Services carry out a regular budget monitoring exercise for services in liaison
with Directors and cost centre managers. This identifies any major variations from the current
approved budget that are anticipated to occur in the financial year. The current approved
budget is the original budget for 2019/20 agreed by Council on 18" February 2019, subject to
any amendments made under delegated powers (for example supplementary estimates,
virement, etc). Possible significant variations to revenue budgets are outlined in this report.

2. Net revenue position

2.1 The table below summarises the net impact of the variances identified at this stage in the financial
year, projecting the position to the end of the financial year for all budget variances in excess of
£50,000 and areas with volatile income trends, details of which are provided in paragraphs 2.3 to

3.1 below.
Significant budget variances Overspend / para. ref:
(Underspend) £

Saving from Employee costs (30,000) 2.2
Place & Growth Directorate
Car Parking (355,000) 2.3
Cemetery & Crematorium 230,000 2.4
Ubico Limited (162,000) 25-2.8
Waste & Recycling 275,000 29-215
Planning 87,000 2.16
Arle Nursey 127,000 2.17
Total Place & Growth Directorate 202,000

MRP Savings (194,000) 2.18
Non Domestic Rates — Levy and Section 31 90,000 2.19-2.20
Other Small Transactions under £50,000 49,000

Page 2 of 10



2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

Page 259

Total projected overspend for the year 117,000

Contribution from Cemetery income Equalisation reserve (117,000) 9.1

Total Forecast Outturn -

Saving from Employee costs

A target of £372.8k from employee related savings to be made throughout the Council during the
year is embedded within individual service budgets, allocated in proportion to existing service
salary budgets to improve accountability and budget monitoring within council services. An
assessment of vacant posts (i.e. staff turnover) and restructures in the first three quarters of the
year indicate that there will be a likely surplus of £30k against this target for the financial year. This
will continue to be monitored during the remainder of the year and any surplus reported at service
level as part of the Outturn report.

Off-street Car Parking

It is estimated that we will have an additional £355k from Car parking within this financial year. This
is split by an additional £545k in car parking income due to greater demand across all car parks.
However staffing resource costs have increased by £114k along with additional expenditure of
£76k for pay by phone and card charges due to the way that the car parks are now operating.

Cemetery & Crematorium

It is anticipated that the Cemetery, Crematorium will be in deficit by around £230k by the end of the
financial year 2019/20. This is due to lower income than budgeted by £200k and £30k of additional
expenditure. Income has fluctuated throughout the year but demand for the services provided isn’t
at the budgeted levels. We usually expect a slightly increased demand for services through the
final quarter of the year.

Ubico Limited

Ubico Limited estimate an outturn position of £162k underspend against current budget for
2019/20 based on the period to the 31st December 2019.

Corporate Ubico support services are anticipating a deficit of £60k. “Previous finance reports
presented have focussed on the contract specific costs, overlooking the corporate costs of the
business and the potential cost of these to our shareholder councils at the end of the year.” The
grounds maintenance service is anticipating a surplus of £95k, due to lower than budgeted staffing
costs. Waste Tipping charges are expected to be in deficit by £38k due to the service not tipping as
efficiently as it could. These issues have been addressed and no further unbudgeted costs will be
incurred for the remainder of the financial year.

A delay in procurement/purchase of vehicles operated by Ubico has resulted in a lower asset
charge than budgeted to Ubico from CBC. Due to the significant value of the vehicles scheduled
for replacement in 2019/20 that has been delayed a surplus of £215k will occur during 2019/20.
This is simply down to timing of the vehicle purchases and will not continue into 2020/21. As a
result of delays in the above vehicles purchases, expenditure on hire vehicles and maintenance is

Page 3 of 10



2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

Page 260

anticipating a deficit of £15k.

Within the total contract sum with Ubico which is just over £8.9m there are a large number of small
variances which total an anticipated deficit of £35k.

Waste & Recycling
Waste and Recycling is anticipating an overspend of £275k.

A savings target of £200k was included within the waste and recycling services budget to be
achieved in 2019/20 through service redesign, efficiencies and investment in new vehicles. This is
a joint target between CBC and Ubico; progress has been made to identify potential savings and
great deal of work has been undertaken. Some efficiencies/service delivery changes have been
made during the first two quarters of 2019/20. However any saving generated by these changes
has been offset by an additional refuse round that was introduced in June 2019.

Recycling Credits income which is received from Gloucestershire County Council is anticipated to
have a surplus of 50k. This has reversed from the position at 30" September 2019 due to a
number of vehicles not being included within the calculation of the recycling credits income which
has now been corrected.

Recycling wood disposal costs are anticipated to have a deficit of £60k. This is due to a higher
than budgeted volume of wood disposals and delays in procurement of a new wood disposal
contractor which has now been awarded to a contractor.

Recycling material sales income is anticipated to be in deficit by £28k. Reducing prices per tonne
across Steel, Cardboard, Glass, Paper and Textiles that are sold is negatively impacting on
income. The only exception is the price per tonne of plastics which has increased throughout
2019/20.

Income from garden and bulky waste collections is higher than budgeted due to more customers
than budgeted taking up the service. This is resulting in a higher than budget surplus of £30k.
However this is being offset by lower than budget income from the trade waste service, a shortfall
of £57k against budget.

The marketing and management team for Waste & Recycling are anticipating a deficit of £10k. The
timing of leaving the JWT has caused additional expenditure.

Planning

Planning applications are down on budget meaning a reduction of £141k, however we have grant
income of £70k meaning that income is down by £71k. There are staff savings of £15k after the
salary contingency however there are additional 3™ party costs on non-staff advertising and IT
license meaning an overall overspend of £87k.

Arle Nursery

Removal of Income and Costs that were included in the budget for 2019/20 as if the nursery was
still open. This has been removed from the budget for 2020/21. This has caused an overspend of
£127k in 2019/20.

MRP Savings

It is anticipated that there will be an underspend of £194k within the MRP payable for 2019/20.

This has been caused due to the delay in procuring vehicles for Ubico and the vehicles being
purchased in 2019/20 and not 2018/19. This is just a timing issue and now that the vehicles are

Page 4 of 10



2.19

2.20

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

51

Page 261
purchased then the MRP will be payable in 2020/21.

Non Domestic Rates — Levy and Section 31 compensation grant (net effect +£90k)

Under the business rates system introduced in 2013, a levy is payable to the government on
growth over the authority’s baseline. The levy is reduced by the ‘surplus’ generated by any local
business rates Pool. In year monitoring of the performance of the Gloucestershire Business Rates
Pool indicates that the ‘surplus’ will not be as high as originally estimated, resulting in a likely
increased net levy for the year.

Offsetting the increased levy, it is anticipated that section 31 business rates compensation grant
receivable in 2019/10 will be £121k higher than originally estimated. The grant compensates
authorities for loss of business rates income due to additional reliefs introduced by the government.
The increase in estimated grant is due to higher than originally estimated business rate reliefs
being awarded by the council and a technical change made by the government in the formula for
compensating authorities.

Treasury Management

Borrowing Costs are in line with the revised budget. This includes both short term (temporary
borrowing), long term and brokerage costs.

Investments as of 31st December are forecast to come in on budget based on performance so
far. Average weighted investments for the three quarters of the year are £20.743m achieving a
rate of return of 2.39%.

Capital

A detailed exercise has been carried out to ensure that capital schemes, approved by Council on
18th February 2019, are being delivered as planned within allocated capital budgets, some of
which are timetabled to straddle two or more financial years. The following variances to capital
budgets are expected upon completion of the scheme:

Following the purchase of land for the Cyber Hub, the Council has now spent £39.6m of the £44m
capital budget for this programme of which £11.5m was charged to the HRA.

The Council has also invested £1.42m in new Vehicles & recycling equipment so far this year
against a budget of £2.8m. The target is for the remainder of this to be spent this financial year
however if there are delays in procurement of these vehicles then they will be purchased in
2020/21, therefore any unspent money will need to be carried forward.

There are no significant variance against any current capital programmes or projects.

Programme maintenance expenditure

A detailed exercise has been carried out to ensure that programme maintenance work, approved
by Council on 18" February 2019, is being delivered as planned within the allocated budgets.
Some programme maintenance expenditure is not expected to be utilised in the current year and
will be transferred back into the Property Maintenance reserve. However, there is a requirement for
additional budget to meet higher than expected reactive repairs in the year, which will be funded
from this reserve.. Any slippages in schemes or underspend against budget at the end of the year
will be transferred to the Programme Maintenance reserve to fund future programme maintenance
expenditure.

Page 5 of 10



Page 262

6. Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

6.1 Significant variations to HRA revenue and capital budgets identified to 31* December 2019 are

detailed as below:-

HRA Revenue:

The HRA Revenue Account has the following significant variances (over £50,000): -

£000
Dwelling Rents Additional rent arising from fewer Right to Buy 94
sales and increased number of acquisitions
Bad Debt Provision Reduction in budget based on current position. 130
Arrears held constant despite growing number of
tenants receiving Universal Credit.
Interest Payable Loan interest payable on HRA share of land (77)
acquisitions.
Management Includes additional recharges to HRA for revenue (78)
costs of land acquisition (£45,000) and
professional fees for new build programme
(£25,000)
Depreciation Increased forecast for higher number of dwellings (117)
being retained through lower RTB and higher level
of acquisitions.
Other net (45)
Reduction in (93)
Operating Surplus
(net)
6.2 HRA Capital (Existing Stock):

The current forecast for capital expenditure on existing stock is £9,650,000, an increase of

£67,000 in comparison to budget (£9,583,000). Within that figure there have been the following
significant project variations: -

£000
Major Voids Increased expenditure on significant voids partially (86)
offset by listed building consent/planning delays on
Belmont Lodge.
External Works Roofing works are progressing well. Works (257)

previously scheduled for 2020/21 are being brought
forward to offset underspend in the overall capital
budget. Now forecast at £886,000 compared to

Page 6 of 10




Page 263

budget of £629,000.

Internal Works The shower installation programme will not start until 328

later this year due to delays in staff recruitment. Now
forecast at £498,600 compared to budget of
£827,000.

Door Entry This project will be delayed into 2020/21 so that 209

Leaseholder consultation can take place.

Asbestos Additional asbestos has been identified following (229)

works to roofing, non-traditional homes, lighting and
paths works. Now forecast at £319,000 compared to
budget of £190,000.

Energy Saving Low level of work for upgrading loft and cavity 70

insulation. Other improvements carried out within
windows and boiler renewal budgets.

Communal Additional follow up electrical works have been (115)
improvements required to maintain compliance.
Disabled Adaptations A significant increase in demand. Costs are now (150)

forecast to be £550,000 for the year, budget
originally £400,000.

Other net 63

Increase in Capital
Forecast (67)

6.3

7.1

8.1

9.1

HRA Capital (New Build/Acquisitions)

Expenditure on new HRA build and acquisitions for the year is now forecast at £20,196,000, an
increase of £12,565,000 against the original budget of £7,631,000. This primarily results from the
HRA share of West Cheltenham land purchase (£11,495,000).

Council tax and Business rates collection

The monitoring report for the collection of council tax and business rates (NNDR) income is shown
in Appendix 2. This shows the position at the end of December 2019 and the projected outturn for
2019/20.

Sundry debt collection

The monitoring of aged sundry debts and recovery is shown at Appendix 3.
Conclusion

The impact on the general fund of the variances reported above is that there is a forecast net
overspend against the budget of £117,000 for 2019/20. This will be met from the Cemetery income

Page 7 of 10



9.2

9.3

10.

10.1

Page 264

equalisation reserve due to the demand driven under achievement of Bereavement Services
income.

The continued impact of the changes in government funding arrangements and the economic
climate present particular concerns for the Council’'s budgets. It is clearly important to ensure that
budgets continue to be closely monitored over the coming months with a view to taking action at a
future date, if necessary, in order to ensure that the Council delivers services within budget.

It will be for Cabinet and Council to decide in June 2020, when the financial outturn is finalised,
how to apply any potential savings. However it is recommended that any underspend identified on
outturn be transferred firstly to the Budget Deficit (Support) Reserve and secondly to support
general balances, bearing in mind the need to keep the level of reserves robust and the uncertainty
surrounding future budget funding gaps, as outlined in the Council's Medium Term Financial
Strategy.

Consultation

The work undertaken to produce this report has involved consultation with a wide number of
services and cost centre managers.

Report author Contact officer: Andrew Knott

Andrew.knott@publicagroup.uk, 01242 264121

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment

2. Council Tax and NNDR collection to 31% December 2019
3. Aged Debt Report as at 31st December 2019

4. Budget Virements for approval — 2019/20 budget

Background information 1. Section 25 Report — Council 18" February 2019

2. Final Budget Proposals for 2019/20 — Council 18th February 2019

Page 8 of 10



Risk Assessment Appendix 1

The risk Original risk score Managing risk

(impact x
likelihood)

Risk | Risk description Risk Date | L Score | Control Action Deadline Responsible | Transferred to

ref. Owner raised officer risk register

1. | If we are unable to take Cabinet | June 3 |3 ]9 Reduce | In preparing the budget | February | SLT Corporate
corrective action in respect 2010 for 2017/18, SLT to Risk

: ) . 2017 .
of reduced income streams consider the options for Register
then there is a risk that offsetting reduced
Council will not be able to income streams by
deliver its budget analysing and reducing
the level of expenditure
across the Council.

2. | If the Budget Deficit Cabinet | October |4 |3 |12 Reduce | In preparing the budget | February | Chief Corporate
(Support) Reserve is not 2015 for 2018/19 and in 2018 Finance | Risk
suitably resourced ongoing budget Officer Register
insufficient reserves will be monitoring,
available to cover consideration will be
anticipated future deficits given to the use of
resulting in the use of fortuitous windfalls and
General Balances which will potential future under
consequently fall below the spends with a view of
minimum required level as strengthening reserves
recommended by the Chief whenever possible.

Finance Officer in the

Council’'s Medium Term

Financial Strategy.
Guidance

Types of risks could include the following:

¢ Potential reputation risks from the decision in terms of bad publicity, impact on the community or on partners;

$wlhf3zor

Financial risks associated with the decision;
Political risks that the decision might not have cross-party support;
Environmental risks associated with the decision;

Potential adverse equality impacts from the decision;

Page 9 of 10

Last updated 30 January 2020

Gog abed



e Capacity risks in terms of the ability of the organisation to ensure the effective delivery of the decision

e Legal risks arising from the decision

Remember to highlight risks which may impact on the strategy and actions which are being followed to deliver the objectives, so that members can identify the
need to review objectives, options and decisions on a timely basis should these risks arise.

Risk ref
If the risk is already recorded, note either the corporate risk register or TEN reference

Risk Description
Please use “If xx happens then xx will be the consequence” (cause and effect). For example “If the council’s business continuity planning does not deliver
effective responses to the predicted flu pandemic then council services will be significantly impacted.”

Risk owner
Please identify the lead officer who has identified the risk and will be responsible for it.

Risk score
Impact on a scale from 1 to 4 multiplied by likelihood on a scale from 1 to 6. Please see risk scorecard for more information on how to score a risk
o
Control 8
Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close D
i N
Action (o))
o

There are usually things the council can do to reduce either the likelihood or impact of the risk. Controls may already be in place, such as budget monitorir.y
or new controls or actions may also be needed.

Responsible officer
Please identify the lead officer who will be responsible for the action to control the risk.
For further guidance, please refer to the risk management policy

Transferred to risk register
Please ensure that the risk is transferred to a live risk register. This could be a team, divisional or corporate risk register depending on the nature of the risk
and what level of objective it is impacting on.

$wlhf3zor Page 10 of 10 Last updated 30 January 2020


file:///C:/Users/Documents%20and%20Settings/Sarah.Didcote/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/2012-2013/Special%20Projects/Democratic%20Services/shared%20data/Corporate/Risk/Risk%20Management%20Policy/Final%20V%20Scorecard%20-%20Feb%2009.doc
file:///C:/Users/Documents%20and%20Settings/Sarah.Didcote/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/2012-2013/Special%20Projects/Democratic%20Services/shared%20data/Corporate/Risk/Risk%20Management%20Policy/Final%20V%20Risk%20management%20policy%2025.02.09.doc

Council Tax 2019/20

Current Year Charges - 2019/20

Council Tax and Business Rates
Collection Rates 2019-20

Appendix

Monitoring Period

% Collected at 31.12.2019

Target 31.12.2019

2019/20 Target

85.51%

85.78%

98.32%

Comparison with 2018/19

As at 31.12.2018

% Collected 31.03.2019

The collection rate for the end of December is slightly below the target. We are
working with any council tax payers struggling to pay and will continue to monitor
this closely .

85.78% 98.32%
Previous Years Charges Outstanding in 2019/20
Monitoring Period Amount outstanding at 31.12.2019 Target 31.12.2019 2019/20 Target
£1,504,271 £1,425.000 £1,250,000 The arrears outstanding have not reduced to the target level for the end of

Comparison with 2018/19

As at 31.12.2018

Amount o/s 31.03.2019

December. We will continue to monitor this closely and are working with any
council tax payers struggling to pay

/9¢ abed

£1,383,392 £1,206,270
Business Rates 2019/20
Current Year Charges - 2019/20
Monitoring Period % Collected at 31.12.2019 Target 31.12.2019 2019/20 Target
83.85% 84.50% 98.85% The collection rate for the end of December is below the target. We continue to
monitor the position closely
Comparison with 2018/19 31.12.2018 % Collected 31.03.2019
85.12% 98.83%
Previous Years Charges Outstanding in 2019/20
Monitoring Period Amount outstanding at 31.12.2019 Target 31.12.2019 2019/20 Target
£445,745 £575,000 £500,000 The arrears outstanding have reduced to well below the target level for the end of

Comparison with 2018/19

Amount outstanding at 31.12.2018

Amount outstanding at 31.03.2019

£671,301

£540,658

December.




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

at 02 January 2020

Value of
Value of Invoices
No. Invoices with | Value of awaiting Value of
Outstanding | Value of Invoices |Halted Invoices with |Credit Notes |Invoices for Customer Credits
Cost centre manager CostC CostC (T) Invoices in Payment Plans |Recovery * Legal ** Write Off ¥ [ *¥x Not Due 0-30 1-3 Mths 3-6 Mths 6mth-1Yr 1-2Yrs 2 Yrs+ Total
Dominic Stead ADB101 Total Cheltenham Municipal Offices 1 - - - - - - - 25,998.00 - - - - - 25,998.00
Dominic Stead ADB103 Total Cheltenham Depot 5 - 12.48 - - - - - 57,358.50 - - 29.67 - - 57,400.65
Dominic Stead ADB104 Total Miscellaneous Operational Properties 24 3,002.13 - - - - 1.00 - 393.34 7,070.49 3,523.89 - - - - 13,988.85
Paul Jones BAL100 Total General Fund Balance Sheet 34 79.76 360.00 3,751.00 - - - 9,620.70 - 274.00 - - - - - 5,155.94
lan Smith BUCO001 Total Building Control - Fee Earning Work 1 - - - - - - - 2,820.00 - - - - - 2,820.00
Benjamin Jenkins CCMO001 Total Cemetery, Crematorium and Churchyards 117 - 915.00 - - - - 55.00 38,134.00 73,174.00 4,095.00 6,275.00 2,950.00 - - 125,488.00
Richard Gibson COM101 Total Oakley Resource Centre 9 660.00 - - - - - 6,250.00 12,472.00 - - - - - 19,382.00
Richard Gibson COM103 Total St. Margaret's Hall 1 - - - - - - 202.50 - - - - - - 202.50
Paul Jones COR001 Total Corporate Management 1 - - - - - - - 4,618.00 - - - - - 4,618.00
Adam Reynolds ESR001 Total Highways Agency verges and trees 2 - - - - - - - 66,298.55 66,298.55 - - - - 132,597.10
Dominic Stead FIEO40 Total Income and Expenditure on Investment Prop| 17 7,808.77 845.15 - - - - 3,837.92 189,556.88 2,218.75 - - - - 204,267.47
Richard Gibson GBDO001 Total Community Welfare Grants 1 - - - - - - - 300.00 - - - - - 300.00
Paul Jones HLD102 Total Ubico Intercompany Account 1 - - - - - - - 4,641.41 - - - - - 4,641.41
Andrew Knott HLD170 Total Cheltenham Trust Intercompany Account 1 - - - - - - - - 7,490.71 - - - - 7,490.71
Mark Nelson HOS004 Total Housing Standards 9 - 602.70 1,422.80 - - - - - - - - - - 2,025.50
Dominic Stead NDC001 Total Non Distributed Costs 5 - - - - - - - 4,560.83 475.00 - - - - 5,035.83
Adam Reynolds OPS001 Total Parks & Gardens Operations 9 25,401.50 - - - - - - 14,265.60 - - - - - 39,667.10
Adam Reynolds OPS002 Total Sports & Open Spaces Operations 13 7,907.84 - - - - - 1,970.44 4,769.92 347.09 3,125.00 146.49 - - 18,266.78
Adam Reynolds OPS004 Total Allotments 703 - - - - - - 42,474.28 - 20.00 - - 870.54 20.00 43,384.82
Helen Thomas PUT102 Total Shopmobility 1 - - 204.00 - - - - - - - - - - 204.00
Yvonne Hope REGO001 Total Environmental Health General 3 3,175.00 1,668.98 - - - - - - 1,150.00 - - - - 5,993.98
Louis Krog REGO002 Total Licensing 22 - - - 180.00 - - 2,203.14 1,005.82 1,070.00 - - - - 4,458.96
Mark Nelson REGO003 Total Animal Control 1 - 101.72 - - - - - - - - - - - 101.72
Karen Watson RYC004 Total Recycling Centres 3 - - - - - - - 3,372.96 - - - - - 3,372.96
Karen Watson RYCO006 Total Recycling Collection Schemes 3 - - - - - - 60,878.52 53,321.34 - - - - - 114,199.86
Karen Watson RYC008 Total Bulking Facility 9 - - - - - - 7,156.13 30,000.00 30,091.11 22,697.26 - - - - 75,632.24
Martin Stacey SPP001 Total Supporting People 1 43.54 - - - - - - - - - - - - 43.54
Chris Morrall SPP002 Total Community Alarms 911 27,097.62 130.67 - 159.58 |- 29.11 - - 100.93 100.93 129.64 14.53 27.15 - - L.94
Mark Nelson STCO11 Total Abandoned Vehicles 9 - - 932.00 - 1,212.00 - - - 96.00 - - - - ).00
Dominic Stead SUP025 Total Property Services 1 - - - - - - - 6,210.00 - - - - - QJ ).00
Paul Jones SUP034 Total Fleet Management 1 - - - - - - - 362.88 - - - - - (Q 2.88
Helen Thomas SUP040 Total Built Environment 1 - - - - - - - 50.00 - - - - - ).00
David Jackson TOUO002 Total Tourist / Vistor Information Centre 12 - 7,593.30 3,600.00 - - - 1,521.00 - - 15,736.00 - - - CD ).30
Karen Watson TRWO001 Total Trade Waste 502 81,035.80 204.75 490.60 204.75 536.45 |- 291.63 119.05 49,022.00 420.75 1,767.92 908.49 - - l\) 3.93
o
Value of @ —
Value of Invoices
No. Invoices with | Value of awaiting Value of
Outstanding | Value of Invoices |Halted Invoices with |Credit Notes |Invoices for Customer Credits
Cost centre manager CostC CostC (T) Invoices in Payment Plans |Recovery * Legal ** Write Off ¥ [ *¥* Not Due 0-30 1-3 Mths 3-6 Mths 6mth-1Yr 1-2Yrs 2 Yrs+ Total
Matt Ward HRA100 Total Repairs and Maintenance 58 23,526.91 - 226.50 - - - - - - - 260.00 - - 24,013.41
Matt Ward HRA210 Total Non-dwelling Rents 35 1,202.15 - - - - - 8,208.13 16,308.35 2,722.00 105.55 - 10.00 20.00 28,576.18
Matt Ward HRA221 Total Service Charges to L 101 58,775.23 1,035.35 - - - - - - - - - 2,708.02 3,135.81 65,654.41
This Month's Position 2,628 239,716 13,470 10,627 544 1,718 |- 17,123 196,192 628,024 112,726 27,139 4,309 3,616 3,176 1,224,134
Last Month's Position 1,760 214,259.90 19,250.29 11,644.90 5,371.98 - - 27,244.21 156,543.45 229,808.73 52,922.18 53,031.24 210,090.34 2,851.02 3,155.81 931,685.63




This page is intentionally left blank



BUDGET VIREMENT 2018/19 APPENDIX 4
VIREMENT Report
Costc Costc Description Account(T) 2018/19 Reason Reference
£

Various Salary Contingency -30,000 Additional Salary Continency 2.2
CPK0O1 Car Parks - Off Street Operations Car Park Fees -355,000 Forecast surplus income 2.3
CCMO001 Cemetery income Cemetery and cremation fees 230,000 Net shortfall in income 2.4
RYC*** Waste and Recycling Ubico contract costs -162,000 Additional Ubico expenditure 2018/19 2.5-2.8
RYCO07 Waste and Recycling Marketing and Management  Ubico Saving challenge 200,000 Ubico Saving challenge not achieved 2.10
RYC*** Recycling / Bring Banks / Recycling Centre Recycling credits income -50,000 Increased tonnages 2.11
RYC008 Bulking Facility Tipping Charges 60,000 Wood Disposal Costs 2.12
RYC008 Bulking Facility Material Sales Income 28,000 Reduced Commodity Charges 2.13
TRWO001 Trade Waste Trade Waste Income 57,000 Reduced Customers 2.14
RYC002 Green Waste Green Waste Income -30,000 Increased Customers 2.14
RYC007 Waste and Recycling Marketing and Management  Professional Fees 10,000 JWC additional costs 2.15

T
DEV001 Planning Planning Applications 87,000 Planning Application Fees 2.16 g

D
OPS101 Arle Nursery Arle Nursery 127,000 Arle Nursery 2.17 N

\l
BAL103 Capital Charges MRP Savings -194,000 MRP Savings 218 H
TGIO18 Non-domestic rates income and expenditure NNDR Levy 211,000 NNDR Levy 2.19
TGI020 Non-ringfenced Government Grants S31 NDR compensation grants -121,000 S31 NDR compensation grants 2.20
Various Interest / Housing Benefits / Rent Allowances & Reb: Other Small Transactions under £50K 49,000 Other Small Transactions under £50K

117,000

RES109 |Cemetery income Equalisation reserve Contribution from reserve -117,000 net overspend contributed from reserve 9.1
Net Virements for approval 0




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	5 Reallocation of Funds to Support High Street Improvement Phase 2
	6 Proposed Compulsory Purchase action to support delivery of the proposed West Cheltenham Development Scheme
	2020_02_11_West Cheltenham Development Scheme_appendix 2_red outline

	7 Adoption of revised Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy
	2020_02_11_SEV Policy_appendix 2_consultation feedback
	2020_02_11_SEV Policy_appendix 3_policy review meeting minutes
	2020_02_11_SEV Policy_appendix 4_policy scrutiny group briefing paper
	2020_02_11_SEV Policy_appendix 5_revised policy statement
	2020_02_11_SEV Policy_appendix 6_community impact assessment

	8 Adoption of revised Street Trading Policy
	2020_02_11_Adoption of revised Street Trading Policy_appendix 2_full policy
	2020_02_11_Adoption of revised Street Trading Policy_appendix 3_public consultation

	9 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Source Policy/Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Acquisition of Communications Data Policy
	2020_02_11_RIPA and IPA_appendix 2_RIPA policy
	2020_02_11_RIPA and IPA_appendix 3_IPA policy

	10 Approval to consult on revised Homeseeker Plus Policy
	2020_02_11_Homeseeker Plus Policy_appendix 2_homeseeker policy
	2020_02_11_Homeseeker Plus Policy_appendix 3_common allocations policy document
	2020_02_11_Homeseeker Plus Policy_appendix 4_proposed banding table

	11 Quarterly Budget Monitoring Report October 2019 - December 2020
	2020_02_11_Quarterly Budget Monitoring Report_appendix 2_NNDR monitoring
	2020_02_11_Quarterly Budget Monitoring Report_appendix 3_aged debt report
	2020_02_11_Quarterly Budget Monitoring Report_appendix 4_budget virements for approval


